
PUBLIC NOTICE
Board Meeting of the:

Honey Lake Valley Resource Conservation District
170 Russell Ave. Suite C
Susanville, CA 96130
5302574127 ext. 100

Attachments available 05/20/24 at www.honeylakevalleyrcd.us

Date: Thursday, May 23rd, 2024
Location: 170 Russell Ave., Suite C, Susanville CA 96130

Time: 5:30 PM
AGENDA

NOTE: THE HONEY LAKE VALLEY RESOURCE CONSERVATION DISTRICT MAY ADVISE ACTION ON ANY OF
THE AGENDA ITEMS SHOWN BELOW.

NOTE: IF YOU NEED A DISABILITY-RELATED MODIFICATION OR ACCOMMODATION, INCLUDING AUXILIARY
AIDS OR SERVICES, TO PARTICIPATE IN THIS MEETING, PLEASE CONTACT THE DISTRICT OFFICE AT THE
TELEPHONE NUMBER AND ADDRESS LISTED ABOVE AT LEAST A DAY BEFORE THE MEETING.

I. CALL TO ORDER, ROLL CALL

II. APPROVAL OF AGENDA -

Tie to the Strategic Plan: Strategic Issue 1 – Build HLVRCD leadership & organizational capacity.

III. PUBLIC COMMENT

Per RCD Board Policy No. 5030.4.1, during this portion of the meeting, any member of the public is permitted to
make a brief statement, express his/her viewpoint, or ask a question regarding matters related to the District.
Five (5) minutes may be allotted to each speaker and a maximum of twenty (20) minutes to each subject matter.

IV. CONSENT ITEMS –

A. Correspondence
B. Meeting Minutes – 4/25/2024, 3/28/2024
C. Financial Reports - attached
D. Agreements/Contracts

http://www.honeylakevalleyrcd.us


Tie to the Strategic Plan: Strategic Issue 1 – Build HLVRCD leadership & organizational capacity.

V. ITEMS FOR BOARD ACTION AND/OR DISCUSSION – RCD

A. Presentation from NCCA and CARCD regarding legal cannabis
Tie to the Strategic Plan: Strategic Issue 1 – Build HLVRCD leadership & organizational capacity.

B. Consideration and approval of final Initial Study-MND and Notice of Determination (NOD) for the Lassen
Wildfire Recovery Project (attachment)

Tie to the Strategic Plan: Strategic Issue 1 – Build HLVRCD leadership & organizational capacity.

C. Consideration and approval of contract with California Reforestation to complete forest restoration for the
Susanville Ranch Park Restoration Project (attachment)

Tie to the Strategic Plan: Strategic Issue 1 – Build HLVRCD leadership & organizational capacity.

D. Consideration and approval of amended Policy 2003: Employee Status (attachment)
Tie to the Strategic Plan: Strategic Issue 1 – Build HLVRCD leadership & organizational capacity.

E. Consideration and approval of Policy 2827: Workplace Violence Prevention (attachment)
Tie to the Strategic Plan: Strategic Issue 1 – Build HLVRCD leadership & organizational capacity.

F. Discussion and Staff Assignment for development of a Workplace Violence Prevention Plan (attachment)

Tie to the Strategic Plan: Strategic Issue 1 – Build HLVRCD leadership & organizational capacity.

G. Discussion regarding District Manager handling Watermaster Duties

Tie to the Strategic Plan: Strategic Issue 1 – Build HLVRCD leadership & organizational capacity.

H. Consideration and approval of HLV RCD Strategic Plan (attachment)

Tie to the Strategic Plan: Strategic Issue 1 – Build HLVRCD leadership & organizational capacity.

VI. ITEMS FOR BOARD ACTION AND/OR DISCUSSION – WATERMASTER

A. Review of Draft FY24/25 apportionments

Tie to the Strategic Plan: Strategic Issue 1 – Build HLVRCD leadership & organizational capacity.

VII. REPORTS
A. District Manager Report – Siemer (attachment)

B. NRCS Agency Report – Stephens

C. SWAT - Hanson

D. Watermaster / WAC Report – Langston/Siemer

E. Modoc Regional RCD/CARCD Report – Hanson

F. Fire Safe Council Report – Johnson

G. Post-Fire Recovery Report – Wooster

H. IRWMP Report – Claypool



I. NRCS Partnership Report – Hanson

J. Unagendized reports by board members

Tie to the Strategic Plan: Strategic Issue 1 – Build HLVRCD leadership & organizational capacity.

VIII. ADJOURNMENT
The next Honey Lake Valley RCD meeting will be June 27th, 2024, at 5:30 PM. The location is the
USDA Service Center, 170 Russell Avenue, Suite C, Susanville, CA.

I certify that on Monday, May 20th, 2024 agendas were posted as required by Government Code Section 54956 and any other
applicable law.

X____________________
Kelsey Siemer
District Manager



PUBLIC NOTICE
Special Board Meeting of the:

Honey Lake Valley Resource Conservation District
170 Russell Ave. Suite C
Susanville, CA 96130
5302574127 ext. 100

Attachments available 03/25/2024 at www.honeylakevalleyrcd.us

Date: Thursday, March 28th, 2024
Location: 170 Russell Ave., Suite C, Susanville CA 96130

MEETING MINUTES
*votes taken via role call*

NOTE: THE HONEY LAKE VALLEY RESOURCE CONSERVATION DISTRICT MAY ADVISE
ACTION ON ANY OF THE AGENDA ITEMS SHOWN BELOW.

NOTE: IF YOU NEED A DISABILITY-RELATED MODIFICATION OR ACCOMMODATION,
INCLUDING AUXILIARY AIDS OR SERVICES, TO PARTICIPATE IN THIS MEETING, PLEASE
CONTACT THE DISTRICT OFFICE AT THE TELEPHONE NUMBER AND ADDRESS LISTED
ABOVE AT LEAST A DAY BEFORE THE MEETING.

I. CALL TO ORDER, PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE, ROLL CALL

Board member Jesse Claypool called the meeting to order at 3:47PM, and a quorum was noted.
Board member Laurie Tippin was absent.

II. APPROVAL OF AGENDA

Board member Robin Hanson made a motion to approve the agenda with changes to add consideration
and approval of Resolution 2024-02 as Item V (j) due to emergency need. Board member Will Johnson
seconded, and the motion passed. All.

Tie to the Strategic Plan: Strategic Issue 1 – Build HLVRCD leadership & organizational capacity.

III. PUBLIC COMMENT

http://www.honeylakevalleyrcd.us


Per RCD Board Policy No. 5030.4.1, during this portion of the meeting, any member of the
public is permitted to make a brief statement, express his/her viewpoint, or ask a question
regarding matters related to the District. Five (5) minutes may be allotted to each speaker and a
maximum of twenty (20) minutes to each subject matter.

Dave Brazil gave public comment regarding the timeline of the Old Channel pipeline. Tonya Clark gave
public comment about water user Russ Fields’ concern over pipeline outlet size.

IV. CONSENT ITEMS –

a. Correspondence
b. Meeting Minutes – 12/07/2023, 1/12/2024
c. Financial Reports
d. Agreements/Contracts

Board Member Wayne Langston made a motion to approve the consent items, Board member Will
Johnson seconded, and the motion passed. All.
Tie to the Strategic Plan: Strategic Issue 1 – Build HLVRCD leadership & organizational capacity.

I. ITEMS FOR BOARD ACTION AND/OR DISCUSSION – RCD

A. Consideration and approval of amended Policy 5010 due to incorrect meeting day in
5010.1 (attachment).

Board member Wayne Langston made the motion to approve the amended policy, Board Member Robin
Hanson seconded, and the motion passed. All.
Tie to the Strategic Plan: Strategic Issue 1 – Build HLVRCD leadership & organizational capacity.

B. Consideration and approval of new Policy 1030, rescission of policy 1060, and minor
updates/edits to Section I Table of Contents & subsequent policies (attachment).

Board member Robin Hanson made a motion to approve the new policy, Board member Wayne Langston
seconded and the motion passed. All.
Tie to the Strategic Plan: Strategic Issue 1 – Build HLVRCD leadership & organizational capacity.

C. Consideration and approval of agreement with Lassen Land and Trails Trust to be CEQA
Lead Agency for Mountain Meadow Restoration in Lassen County Project (attachment).

Board member Robin Hanson made a motion to approve the agreement, Board member Will Johnson
seconded and the motion passed. All.
Tie to the Strategic Plan: Strategic Issue 1 – Build HLVRCD leadership & organizational capacity.

D. Consideration and approval of CEQA Notice of Exemption for Mountain Meadow
Restoration in Lassen County Project (attachment).

Board member Robin Hanson made a motion to approve and file the NOE, Board member Will Johnson
seconded and the motion passed. All.
Tie to the Strategic Plan: Strategic Issue 1 – Build HLVRCD leadership & organizational capacity.

E. Consideration of and submit vote for CARCD Election (attachment).
Board member Wayne Langston made the motion to approve the ballot, Board member Will Johnson
seconded and the motion passed. All.



Tie to the Strategic Plan: Strategic Issue 1 – Build HLVRCD leadership & organizational capacity.

F. Consideration of and submit vote for CSDA Seat A Election timeline and Election
Materials (attachment).

Board member Robin Hanson made a motion to submit vote to CSDA, Board member Wayne Langston
seconded, and the motion passed. All.
Tie to the Strategic Plan: Strategic Issue 1 – Build HLVRCD leadership & organizational capacity.

G. Consideration and approval of draft Notice of Intent and Initial Study-Mitigated Negative
Declaration for the Lassen County Wildfire Recovery Project.

Board member Will Johnson made a motion to approve the NOI and MND, Board member Robin Hanson
seconded, and the motion passed. All.
Tie to the Strategic Plan: Strategic Issue 1 – Build HLVRCD leadership & organizational capacity.
.

H. Consideration and approval of entering a Good Neighbor Authority Agreement with the
Bureau of Land Management - Eagle Lake Field Office.

Board gave direction to staff to continue pursuing the agreement with the BLM-ELFO.
Tie to the Strategic Plan: Strategic Issue 1 – Build HLVRCD leadership & organizational capacity.

I. First Reading of the Draft Budget for Fiscal Year 2024/2025 (attachment).
Held.
Tie to the Strategic Plan: Strategic Issue 1 – Build HLVRCD leadership & organizational capacity.

II. ITEMS FOR BOARD ACTION AND/OR DISCUSSION – WATERMASTER

A. Discussion regarding the Deputy Watermaster job description and posting.
Held. Direction given to staff to proceed with posting after edits to the description.
Tie to the Strategic Plan: Strategic Issue 1 – Build HLVRCD leadership & organizational capacity.

III. REPORTS
A. District Manager Report – Siemer (attachment)

Kelsey gave updates on all grant projects, financial standing, and current
issues/successes.

B. NRCS Agency Report – Stephens
NONE

C. SWAT - Hanson
NONE - chose to disband SWAT committee until funding becomes available.

D. Watermaster / WAC Report – Langston/Siemer
Wayne and Kelsey gave updates about the WAC meeting held March 14th, and
upcoming WAC meeting in May. Discussed upcoming water season and current issues /



successes.

E. Modoc Regional RCD/CARCD Report – Hanson
Robin gave a report on the CARCD election proceedings and regional updates.

F. Fire Safe Council Report – Johnson
NONE

G. Post-Fire Recovery Report – Wooster
Catherine updated on the new spraying/planting schedule for this year as well the FMPs
she has been working on.

H. IRWMP Report – Claypool
NONE

I. NRCS Partnership Report – Hanson
NONE

J. Unagendized reports by board members
Jesse gave SDRMA updates

Tie to the Strategic Plan: Strategic Issue 1 – Build HLVRCD leadership & organizational capacity.

IV. ADJOURNMENT - 6:31PM
The next Honey Lake Valley RCD meeting will be April 25th, 2024, at 5:30 PM. The
location is the USDA Service Center, 170 Russell Avenue, Suite C, Susanville, CA.

Respectfully Submitted,
APPROVED: _________________________________

Jesse Claypool, RCD Board
Chairperson

DATE: 2/22/2024
Kelsey Siemer
District Manager



PUBLIC NOTICE
Special Board Meeting of the:

Honey Lake Valley Resource Conservation District
170 Russell Ave. Suite C
Susanville, CA 96130
5302574127 ext. 100

Attachments available 04/22/2024 at www.honeylakevalleyrcd.us

Date: Thursday, April 25th, 2024
Location: 170 Russell Ave., Suite C, Susanville CA 96130

MEETING MINUTES
*votes taken via role call*

NOTE: THE HONEY LAKE VALLEY RESOURCE CONSERVATION DISTRICT MAY ADVISE
ACTION ON ANY OF THE AGENDA ITEMS SHOWN BELOW.

NOTE: IF YOU NEED A DISABILITY-RELATED MODIFICATION OR ACCOMMODATION,
INCLUDING AUXILIARY AIDS OR SERVICES, TO PARTICIPATE IN THIS MEETING, PLEASE
CONTACT THE DISTRICT OFFICE AT THE TELEPHONE NUMBER AND ADDRESS LISTED
ABOVE AT LEAST A DAY BEFORE THE MEETING.

I. CALL TO ORDER, PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE, ROLL CALL

Board member Jesse Claypool called the meeting to order at 5:37PM, and a quorum was noted.
Board members Wayne Langston and Robin Hanson were absent.

II. APPROVAL OF AGENDA

Board member Llaurie Tippin made a motion to approve the agenda. Board member Will Johnson
seconded, and the motion passed. All.

Tie to the Strategic Plan: Strategic Issue 1 – Build HLVRCD leadership & organizational capacity.

III. PUBLIC COMMENT - NONE

Per RCD Board Policy No. 5030.4.1, during this portion of the meeting, any member of the

http://www.honeylakevalleyrcd.us


public is permitted to make a brief statement, express his/her viewpoint, or ask a question
regarding matters related to the District. Five (5) minutes may be allotted to each speaker and a
maximum of twenty (20) minutes to each subject matter.

IV. CONSENT ITEMS –

A. Correspondence
B. Meeting Minutes – 12/07/2023, 1/12/2024
C. Financial Reports
D. Agreements/Contracts

Board Member Will Johnson made a motion to approve the consent items, except for Item B, which was
tabled. Board member Laurie Tippin seconded, and the motion passed. All.
Tie to the Strategic Plan: Strategic Issue 1 – Build HLVRCD leadership & organizational capacity.

V. ITEMS FOR BOARD ACTION AND/OR DISCUSSION – RCD
A. Consideration and approval of final Initial Study-MND and Notice of Completion (NOC) for

the Lassen National Forest Eagle Lake Ranger District Hazardous Tree Management
Project.

Item tabled due to lack of attachment.
Tie to the Strategic Plan: Strategic Issue 1 – Build HLVRCD leadership & organizational capacity.

B. Set Special Meeting date for consideration and approval of final Initial Study-MND and
Notice of Completion (NOC) for the Lassen County Wildfire Recovery Project.

Board member Laurie Tippin made a motion to approve May 8th at 5:30pm as the Special Meeting
date/time, Board member Will Johnson seconded and the motion passed. All.
Tie to the Strategic Plan: Strategic Issue 1 – Build HLVRCD leadership & organizational capacity.

C. Second Reading of the Draft Budget for FY 2024/2025 (attachment)
Held
Tie to the Strategic Plan: Strategic Issue 1 – Build HLVRCD leadership & organizational capacity.

D. Consideration and approval of amended Policy 2003: Employee Status (attachment)
Item dies due to lack of motion
Tie to the Strategic Plan: Strategic Issue 1 – Build HLVRCD leadership & organizational capacity.

E. Consideration & approval of new Policy 2005: Position Descriptions and rescission of
Policies 2906, 2908, and 2950.

Board member Will Johnson made the motion to approve the Policy with modifications discussed, Board
member Laurie Tippin seconded and the motion passed. All.
Tie to the Strategic Plan: Strategic Issue 1 – Build HLVRCD leadership & organizational capacity.

VI. ITEMS FOR BOARD ACTION AND/OR DISCUSSION – WATERMASTER

A. Discussion regarding purchase of a side-by-side trailer



B. Held
VII. REPORTS

A. District Manager Report – Siemer (attachment)
Kelsey gave updates on all grant projects, financial standing, and current
issues/successes.

B. NRCS Agency Report – Stephens
Anne gave updates on current contracts and the upcoming LWG meeting

C. SWAT - Hanson
NONE

D. Watermaster / WAC Report – Langston/Siemer
Kelsey gave updates about the WM service, and upcoming WAC meeting in May.
Discussed upcoming water season and current issues / successes.

E. Modoc Regional RCD/CARCD Report – Hanson
NONE

F. Fire Safe Council Report – Johnson
Will gave updates on the green waste project successes

G. Post-Fire Recovery Report – Wooster
Catherine updated on the spraying being complete for this Spring

H. IRWMP Report – Claypool
NONE

I. NRCS Partnership Report – Hanson
NONE

J. Unagendized reports by board members
NONE

Tie to the Strategic Plan: Strategic Issue 1 – Build HLVRCD leadership & organizational capacity.

C. ADJOURNMENT - 8:20PM
The next Honey Lake Valley RCD meeting will be May 23rd, 2024, at 5:30 PM. The
location is the USDA Service Center, 170 Russell Avenue, Suite C, Susanville, CA.

Respectfully Submitted,
APPROVED: _________________________________

Jesse Claypool, RCD Board
Chairperson

DATE: 5/23/2024
Kelsey Siemer
District Manager



Statement of Activity
April 2024

CalRecyc
le FR 77 - 

Minch CEQA
DOC 

Riparian
General 

Fund
IRWMP 
Round 1

IRWMP 
Round 2

Modoc 
SNC 966

NACD 
TA2022

NRCS 
Equity

Old 
Channel 

Grant PBA
USFS Post 

Fire
Watermas
ter Fund

Work 
Force TOTAL

Revenue

   Grant Proceeds 1,500.00 € 10,479.38 € 1,425.00 € 1,402.23 € 703,187.86 € 717,994.47 €

   Watermasters 0.00 €

      Direct Billing 16,051.00 € 16,051.00 €

   Total Watermasters $ 0.00 €     $ 0.00 €   $ 0.00 €       $ 0.00 €         $ 0.00 €     $ 0.00 €     $ 0.00 €     $ 0.00 €   $ 0.00 €     $ 0.00 €         $ 0.00 €   $ 0.00 €           $ 16,051.00 € $ 0.00 €     $ 16,051.00 €

Total Revenue $ 1,500.00 € $ 0.00 €   $ 10,479.38 € $ 0.00 €         $ 1,425.00 € $ 0.00 €     $ 1,402.23 € $ 0.00 €   $ 0.00 €     $ 703,187.86 € $ 0.00 €   $ 0.00 €           $ 16,051.00 € $ 0.00 €     $ 734,045.47 €

Gross Profit $ 1,500.00 € $ 0.00 €   $ 10,479.38 € $ 0.00 €         $ 1,425.00 € $ 0.00 €     $ 1,402.23 € $ 0.00 €   $ 0.00 €     $ 703,187.86 € $ 0.00 €   $ 0.00 €           $ 16,051.00 € $ 0.00 €     $ 734,045.47 €

Expenditures

   Bank Charges & Fees 73.99 € 73.99 € 147.98 €

   Car & Truck 54.00 € 68.13 € 122.13 €

   CEQA 70.94 € 70.94 €

   Contractors 6,122.82 € 6,122.82 €

   Facilities 0.00 €

      Rent & Lease 500.00 € 500.00 €

      Utilities 37.99 € 68.82 € 37.99 € 144.80 €

   Total Facilities $ 0.00 €     $ 0.00 €   $ 0.00 €       $ 37.99 €       $ 0.00 €     $ 0.00 €     $ 0.00 €     $ 0.00 €   $ 0.00 €     $ 0.00 €         $ 0.00 €   $ 568.82 €       $ 37.99 €     $ 0.00 €     $ 644.80 €     

   Grant Expenditures 10.95 € 10.95 €

   Insurance 904.75 € 904.75 €

   Lease 511.10 € -511.10 € 0.00 €

   Legal & Professional Services 328.00 € 328.00 €

   Office Supplies & Software 830.55 € 294.93 € 1,125.48 €

   Payroll 0.00 €

      Payroll Taxes 29.55 € 35.02 € -167.36 € 5.47 € 20.79 € 28.33 € 5.47 € 27.36 € 55.85 € 6.57 € 374.81 € 132.45 € 15.98 € 570.29 €

      Payroll Wages 398.58 € 472.39 € 259.57 € 73.81 € 280.48 € 372.17 € 73.81 € 369.05 € 753.40 € 88.57 € 4,925.91 € 1,786.75 € 208.90 € 10,063.39 €

   Total Payroll $ 428.13 € $ 0.00 €   $ 507.41 €   $ 92.21 €       $ 79.28 €   $ 301.27 € $ 400.50 € $ 79.28 € $ 396.41 € $ 809.25 €     $ 95.14 € $ 5,300.72 €    $ 1,919.20 € $ 224.88 € $ 10,633.68 €

   Payroll Platform Expenses 109.70 € 109.70 € 219.40 €

   Telecommunications 84.64 € 54.26 € 56.76 € 195.66 €

   Trainings + Conferences 25.00 € 25.00 €

   WM Gas 64.36 € 64.36 €

Total Expenditures $ 428.13 € $ 70.94 € $ 507.41 €   $ 1,283.08 €  $ 79.28 €   $ 301.27 € $ 425.50 € $ 79.28 € $ 396.41 € $ 809.25 €     $ 95.14 € $ 13,473.42 €  $ 2,441.96 € $ 224.88 € $ 20,615.95 €

Net Operating Revenue $ 1,071.87 € -$ 70.94 € $ 9,971.97 € -$ 1,283.08 € $ 1,345.72 € -$ 301.27 € $ 976.73 € -$ 79.28 € -$ 396.41 € $ 702,378.61 € -$ 95.14 € -$ 13,473.42 € $ 13,609.04 € -$ 224.88 € $ 713,429.52 €

Other Revenue

   Interest Income 0.18 € 2.79 € 2.97 €

Total Other Revenue $ 0.18 €         $ 2.79 €       $ 2.97 €         

Net Other Revenue $ 0.00 €     $ 0.00 €   $ 0.00 €       $ 0.18 €         $ 0.00 €     $ 0.00 €     $ 0.00 €     $ 0.00 €   $ 0.00 €     $ 0.00 €         $ 0.00 €   $ 0.00 €           $ 2.79 €       $ 0.00 €     $ 2.97 €         

Net Revenue $ 1,071.87 € -$ 70.94 € $ 9,971.97 € -$ 1,282.90 € $ 1,345.72 € -$ 301.27 € $ 976.73 € -$ 79.28 € -$ 396.41 € $ 702,378.61 € -$ 95.14 € -$ 13,473.42 € $ 13,611.83 € -$ 224.88 € $ 713,432.49 €

Friday, May 17, 2024 10:46:19 AM GMT-7 - Accrual Basis



Honey Lake Valley Resource Conservation District
Statement of Financial Position

As of April 30, 2024

Total

ASSETS

   Current Assets

      Bank Accounts

         US - Grants Checking (7921) 70,459.52 €

         US - RCD Checking (7897) 31,261.64 €

         US - RCD Savings (7905) 2,455.54 €

         US - Restricted RCD Savings (7913) 0.00 €

         US - WaterMaster Checking (7947) 427,467.02 €

         US - WaterMaster Savings (7954) 37,946.05 €

      Total Bank Accounts $ 569,589.77 €                                                                           

      Accounts Receivable

         Accounts Receivable - Other 2,220.80 €

         Accounts Receivable - Watermaster Fund 0.00 €

         Grants Receivable 1,854,972.52 €

      Total Accounts Receivable $ 1,857,193.32 €                                                                        

      Other Current Assets

         Due from Other Funds 27,737.11 €

         Other Current Assets 0.00 €

         Prepaid Expense 0.00 €

         Undeposited Funds 0.00 €

      Total Other Current Assets $ 27,737.11 €                                                                             

   Total Current Assets $ 2,454,520.20 €                                                                        

   Fixed Assets

      Vehicles 0.00 €

   Total Fixed Assets $ 0.00 €                                                                                      

TOTAL ASSETS $ 2,454,520.20 €                                                                        

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

   Liabilities

      Current Liabilities

         Accounts Payable

            Accounts Payable (A/P) 748,224.27 €

         Total Accounts Payable $ 748,224.27 €                                                                           

         Credit Cards

            Ramp Card 203.18 €

         Total Credit Cards $ 203.18 €                                                                                  

         Other Current Liabilities

            Deferred Revenue - 120 Days 0.00 €

            Deferred Revenue - Advance 0.00 €

               Deferred Revenue DWR Old Channel Grant 992,500.00 €

               Deferred Revenue NACD TA2022 -8,077.00 €

               Deferred Revenue PBA 0.00 €

               Deferred Revenue USFS Post Fire -335,998.01 €

            Total Deferred Revenue - Advance $ 648,424.99 €                                                                           

            Deferred Revenue - Retention 7,004.08 €

            Due to Other Funds 27,737.11 €

            Payroll Clearing 0.00 €

            Unpaid Payroll - Both 0.00 €

         Total Other Current Liabilities $ 683,166.18 €                                                                           

      Total Current Liabilities $ 1,431,593.63 €                                                                        

   Total Liabilities $ 1,431,593.63 €                                                                        

   Equity

      Opening Balance Equity 324,921.03 €

      Restricted Opening Equity 0.00 €

      Retained Earnings 137,926.19 €

      Net Revenue 560,079.35 €

   Total Equity $ 1,022,926.57 €                                                                        

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY $ 2,454,520.20 €                                                                        

Friday, May 17, 2024 10:41:27 AM GMT-7 - Accrual Basis



Honey Lake Valley Resource Conservation District
Statement of Activity

April 2024

Total

Revenue

   Grant Proceeds 717,994.47 €

   Watermasters

      Direct Billing 16,051.00 €

   Total Watermasters $ 16,051.00 €                                                                             

Total Revenue $ 734,045.47 €                                                                           

Gross Profit $ 734,045.47 €                                                                           

Expenditures

   Bank Charges & Fees 147.98 €

   Car & Truck 122.13 €

   CEQA 70.94 €

   Contractors 6,122.82 €

   Facilities

      Rent & Lease 500.00 €

      Utilities 144.80 €

   Total Facilities $ 644.80 €                                                                                  

   Grant Expenditures 10.95 €

   Insurance 904.75 €

   Lease 0.00 €

   Legal & Professional Services 328.00 €

   Office Supplies & Software 1,125.48 €

   Payroll

      Payroll Taxes 570.29 €

      Payroll Wages 10,063.39 €

   Total Payroll $ 10,633.68 €                                                                             

   Payroll Platform Expenses 219.40 €

   Telecommunications 195.66 €

   Trainings + Conferences 25.00 €

   WM Gas 64.36 €

Total Expenditures $ 20,615.95 €                                                                             

Net Operating Revenue $ 713,429.52 €                                                                           

Other Revenue

   Interest Income 2.97 €

Total Other Revenue $ 2.97 €                                                                                      

Net Other Revenue $ 2.97 €                                                                                      

Net Revenue $ 713,432.49 €                                                                           

Friday, May 17, 2024 10:43:25 AM GMT-7 - Accrual Basis



 

 

Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration 

for the proposed 

Lassen County Wildfire Recovery Project 

Lassen County, California 
 

 
 

Prepared by: 
 

Honey Lake Valley Resource Conservation District 

Lassen County, CA  
 

May 2024  



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed Lassen County Wildfire Recovery Project 

ii 

 

Contents 
MITIGATED NEGATIVE DECLARATION ................................................................................................... 1 

Introduction and Regulatory Context ............................................................................................................ 1 

Stage of CEQA Document Development ................................................................................................... 1 

Introduction ................................................................................................................................................ 1 

Regulatory Guidance .................................................................................................................................. 1 

Purpose of the Initial Study ........................................................................................................................ 2 

Project Description and Environmental Setting ............................................................................................ 3 

Project Location .......................................................................................................................................... 3 

Background and Need for the Project ........................................................................................................ 3 

Project Objectives ....................................................................................................................................... 5 

Project Start Date ........................................................................................................................................ 5 

Project Description ..................................................................................................................................... 5 

Environmental Setting of the Project Region ............................................................................................. 8 

Description of the Local Environment ....................................................................................................... 9 

Current Land Use and Previous Impacts .................................................................................................... 9 

Environmental Permits ............................................................................................................................. 12 

Mitigation Measures ................................................................................................................................. 12 

Summary of Findings ............................................................................................................................... 22 

Initial Study-Environmental Checklist ......................................................................................................... 23 

Environmental Factors Potentially Affected ................................................................................................ 23 

Determination ................................................................................................................................................. 23 

Environmental Checklist and Discussion ..................................................................................................... 24 

Aesthetics ................................................................................................................................................. 24 

Agricultural Resources ............................................................................................................................. 25 

Air Quality ................................................................................................................................................ 26 

Biological Resources ................................................................................................................................ 27 

Cultural Resources .................................................................................................................................... 54 

Energy ....................................................................................................................................................... 55 

Geology and Soils ..................................................................................................................................... 56 

Greenhouse Gas Emissions ...................................................................................................................... 59 

Hazards and Hazardous Materials ............................................................................................................ 61 

Hydrology and Water Quality .................................................................................................................. 63 

Land Use and Planning ............................................................................................................................. 66 

Mineral Resources .................................................................................................................................... 67 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed Lassen County Wildfire Recovery Project 

iii 

 

Noise ......................................................................................................................................................... 67 

Population and Housing ........................................................................................................................... 68 

Public Services ......................................................................................................................................... 68 

Recreation ................................................................................................................................................. 70 

Transportation ........................................................................................................................................... 70 

Tribal Cultural Resources ......................................................................................................................... 71 

Utilities and Service Systems ................................................................................................................... 73 

Wildfire ..................................................................................................................................................... 74 

Mandatory Findings of Significance ........................................................................................................ 75 

Appendix A: Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Plan ................................................................................ 77 

Appendix B: Comments and Response to Comments ...................................................................................... 95 

PREPARERS OF THIS DOCUMENT .......................................................................................................... 113 

EXPERTS CONSULTED .............................................................................................................................. 114 

REFERENCES CITED .................................................................................................................................. 117 

Figures: 

Figure 1: Project Vicinity……………………………………………………………………………………..10 

Figure 2: Project Location…………………………………………………………………………………….11 

 

Tables: 

Table 1: Watercourse classifications and Watercourse Lake Protection Zones (WLPZs)………………...….20 

Table 2 Biological Assessment – Botany…………………………………………………………………….34 

Table 3:Biological Assessment – Wildlife…………………………………………………………………...44 

 

 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed Lassen County Wildfire Recovery Project 

1 

 

MITIGATED NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

Introduction and Regulatory Context 

STAGE OF CEQA DOCUMENT DEVELOPMENT 

  Administrative Draft. This California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) document is in 

preparation by Honey Lake Valley Resource Conservation District (HLVRCD) staff. 

 
  Public Document.  This completed CEQA document has been filed by the Honey Lake 

Valley Resource Conservation Distinct (HLV RCD) at the State Clearinghouse on March 

29, 2024, and is being circulated for a 30-day state agency and public review period. The 

review period ends on April 27, 2024. 

 
  Final CEQA Document.  This final CEQA document contains the changes made by the 

RCD following consideration of comments received during the public and agency review 

period. The CEQA administrative record supporting this document is on file, and available 

for review, at Honey Lake Valley RCD, 170 Russell Ave., Susanville, CA 96130. 

INTRODUCTION 

This initial study-mitigated negative declaration (IS-MND) describes the environmental impact 

analysis conducted for the proposed project. This document was prepared by HLVRCD staff 

utilizing information gathered from a number of sources including research, field review of the 

proposed project area and consultation with environmental planners and other experts on staff at 

other public agencies. Pursuant to § 21082.1 of CEQA, the lead agency, HLVRCD, has prepared, 

reviewed, and analyzed the IS-MND and declares that the statements made in this document reflect 

HLVRCD’s independent judgment as lead agency pursuant to CEQA. HLVRCD further finds that 

the proposed project, which includes revised activities and mitigation measures designed to 

minimize environmental impacts, will not result in a significant effect on the environment. 

REGULATORY GUIDANCE 

This IS-MND has been prepared by HLVRCD to evaluate potential environmental effects that 

could result following approval and implementation of the proposed project. This document has 

been prepared in accordance with current CEQA Statutes (Public Resources Code §21000 et seq.) 

and current CEQA Guidelines (California Code of Regulations [CCR] §15000 et seq.) 

 

An initial study is prepared by a lead agency to determine if a project may have a significant effect 

on the environment (14 CCR § 15063(a)), and thus, to determine the appropriate environmental 

document.  In accordance with CEQA Guidelines §15070, a “public agency shall prepare…a 

proposed negative declaration or mitigated negative declaration…when: (a) The initial study shows 

that there is no substantial evidence…that the project may have a significant impact upon the 

environment, or (b) The initial study identifies potentially significant effects but revisions to the 

project plans or proposal are agreed to by the applicant and such revisions will reduce potentially 

significant effects to a less-than-significant level.”  In this circumstance, the lead agency prepares a 

written statement describing its reasons for concluding that the proposed project will not have a 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed Lassen County Wildfire Recovery Project 

2 

 

significant effect on the environment and, therefore, does not require the preparation of an 

environmental impact report.  This IS-MND conforms to these requirements and to the content 

requirements of CEQA Guidelines § 15071.  

PURPOSE OF THE INITIAL STUDY 

The purpose of this IS-MND is to present to the public and reviewing agencies the environmental 

consequences of implementing the proposed project and to describe the adjustments made to the 

project to avoid significant effects or reduce them to a less-than-significant level. This disclosure 

document is being made available to the public and reviewing agencies for review and comment.  

The IS-MND was circulated for public and state agency review and comment for a review period of 

30 days as indicated on the Notice of Intent to Adopt a Mitigated Negative Declaration (NOI).  

The 30-day public review period for this project began on April 2, 2024 and ended on May 1, 2024. 

 

The requirements for providing an NOI are found in CEQA Guidelines §15072. These guidelines 

require HLVRCD to notify the general public by providing the NOI to the county clerk for posting, 

sending the NOI to those who have requested it, and utilizing at least one of the following three 

procedures: 

 

 Publication in a newspaper of general circulation in the area affected by the proposed project, 

 Posting the NOI on and off site in the area where the project is to be located, or 

 Direct mailing to the owners and occupants of property contiguous to the project. 

 

HLVRCD elected to utilize posting the NOI on and off site in the area where the project is to be 

located, the second of the three notification options.  An electronic version of the NOI and the 

CEQA document were available for review during the entire 30-day review period through their 

posting at: https://www.honeylakevalleyrcd.us/ , and the project will be posted on 

https://ceqanet.opr.ca.gov/ . 

 

If submitted prior to the close of public comment, views and comments were welcomed from 

reviewing agencies or any member of the public on how the proposed project may affect the 

environment. Written comments must be postmarked or submitted on or prior to the date the public 

review period will close (as indicated on the NOI) for HLVRCD’s consideration. Written comments 

may also be submitted via email (using the email address that appears below), but comments sent 

via email must also be received on or prior to the close of the 30-day public comment period.   

Comments should be addressed to: 

 

Kelsey Siemer, Distinct Manager 

Honey Lake Valley Resource Conservation District 

170 Russell Ave., Suite C 

Susanville, CA 96130 

(530) 260-0067 

kmarks@honeylakevalleyrcd.us  

 

After comments are received from the public and reviewing agencies, HLVRCD will consider those 

comments and may (1) adopt the mitigated negative declaration and approve the proposed project; 

(2) undertake additional environmental studies; or (3) abandon the project. 

https://www.honeylakevalleyrcd.us/
https://ceqanet.opr.ca.gov/
mailto:kmarks@honeylakevalleyrcd.us


Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed Lassen County Wildfire Recovery Project 

3 

 

Project Description and Environmental Setting 

PROJECT LOCATION 

The project area is located on +/-27,750 acres of non-industrial private timberlands, woodlands, and 

sagebrush scrub in Lassen County, CA impacted by the Hog Fire (220), Sheep Fire (2020), Sugar 

Fire (2021), and Dixie Fire (2021). The project area is within the: Pine Lake (8637.310101); Upper 

Robbers Creek (5518.450102); Moonlight Pass (5518.450400); Papoose Creek (8637.200201); 

Goat Mountain (8637.200202); Lower Willard Creek (8637.200302); Cheney Creek (8637.200400); 

Upper Gold Run (8637.200803); Lower Gold Run (8637.200801); Lassen Creek (8637.200802); 

Sand Slough (8637.200901); Wales Canyon (8637.200904); McDermott Creek (8637.100.307); 

Clarks Creek (5518.550201); Bird Canyon (8637.100305); Downing Canyon (8637.100304); 

Willow Ranch Creek (8637.100303); Rhodesi Creek (8637.100301); Red Rock (8637.100308); and 

Raccoon Creek (8637.100202) watersheds.  

Mount Diablo Base and Meridian (MDBM) Township 23N, Range 17E, portions 

of Sections 2-5, 8-10; T24N, R17E, portions of Sections 4,5,8-11, 13-16, 24-26, 

34, & 35; T25N, R17E, portions of Sections 7, 17-20, & 29-33; T25, R16, portions 

of Sections 2,3,9-16, 22-26, & 36; T26N, R15, Section 13; T26N, R16E, portions 

of Sections 18-20, 28,29, 32-34; T27N, 13E, portions of Sections 1, 3,10,12 & 15; 

T27, R14, portions of Sections 5-8, 17, & 20; T28N, R13E, portions of Section 23, 

26-27, & 36; T28, R14E, portions of Sections 30, 31;T29N, R10E, portions of 

Sections 1,22;  T29N, R11E, portions of Sections 7,12, 22-26, 33 & 35; T29N, 

R12E, portions of Sections 19, 20, 22-24, & 27-34; T30N, R8E, portions of 

Sections 2,3,8; T30N, R10E, portions of Section 27; and T31, R7, portions of 

Sections 13,24, & 25. 

The project area ranges in slope from flat to very steep with elevation ranges from 4,000 – 6,800 

feet, and average annual precipitation of 12 inches at the lower elevations on the east side of the 

project to 55 inches in the higher elevations of the project. The project area lies within a wildland 

urban interface zone (WUI), which is an area where human habitation is mixed with areas of 

flammable wildland vegetation. The majority of the project area burned at medium to high severity 

during the Hog, Sheep, Sugar, and Dixie Fires in 2020 and 2021. 

BACKGROUND AND NEED FOR THE PROJECT 

The Hog Fire began on July 18, 2020 from an unknown source and was contained by Cal Fire on 

August 17, 2020. The wildfire burned 6,621 private acres and a little over 2,946 on federally-

managed lands for a total of 9,567 acres. The Sheep Fire was a lightning-caused wildfire that 

burned 9,134 acres of federally-managed land in the Diamond Mountains and spread onto 19,023 

acres of private land at the base of the mountains toward the city of Susanville, CA. The Sheep Fire 

began in the lightning siege on August 17, 2020 and spread across Plumas into Lassen County 

burning federal (Forest Service) and private land until September 4, 2020. The Sugar Fire started on 

July 2, 2021 and was part of the Beckwourth complex started by lightning strikes, and was 

contained on September 22, 2021. The combined fires burned 105,670 acres, and destroyed 33 

homes in the community of Doyle, CA. The Dixie Fire began on July 13, 2021 by a PG&E 

powerline and was contained on October, 25,2021. The wildfire burned 963,309 acres. It was the 

largest single source wildfire in recorded California history. The communities of Greenville, 

Canyondam, and Warner Springs. The Lassen County Wildfire Recovery project areas were 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed Lassen County Wildfire Recovery Project 

4 

 

primarily comprised of upland Eastside Pine (EPN) stands with Jeffrey and ponderosa pine as the 

dominant conifer vegetation along with Sierran Mixed Conifer (SMC) consisting of pine, Douglas 

fir, white fir, sugar pine, incense cedar, and Black oak.  There are also areas of Montane Hardwood 

Conifer (MHC) consisting of ponderosa pine, incense cedar, and California black oak. Understory 

vegetation was thick in portions of the project area prior to the fire with brush including, bitterbrush 

(Purshia tridentata) and sagebrush (Artemisia sp.). Areas of unburned eastside pine and Sierran 

mixed conifer forest remain within the fire footprint and adjacent areas and are overly dense with 

high levels of ladder fuels, primarily white fir, in the understory. The project is needed to remove 

the abundant standing, fire-killed trees adjacent to these areas to reduce fire risk. Restoration of 

vegetation within the project is needed to remove dead and dying vegetation and restore these areas 

in a way that provides safe conditions for fire fighters and safety personnel to fight future 

catastrophic wildfires threatening the communities of Westwood, Lake Forest, Susanville, and 

Janesville. 

 

The project is also needed to address the potential for increased surface runoff and erosion post-

fires. The Plumas and Lassen National Forests prepared Burned Area Emergency Response 

(BAER) Reports reviewing the severity and likelihood of post-fire disasters. These reports are used 

as a proxy for post-fire conditions on all lands within the fire footprints. The majority of all the 

burned areas resulting from these burned at moderate to high soil severity. Due to hillslope gradient 

and loss of vegetation, the first, large runoff-producing storms resulted in increased surface flows in 

many streams within the fire footprints.  

 

Threats to hydrologic function and water quality are considered very high due to the likelihood of: 

degraded channel condition and bank erosion from increased flows; the potential for significant 

sediment contributions; reduction in water quality; increased runoff resulting in higher 

concentrations of runoff on roads, resulting in exacerbated erosion of road fill slopes; and 

surrounding land; increased flooding and potential for debris flows. 

 

Currently, the remaining fire-killed trees pose risk to life and property by increasing fuel loading. 

The project area has high densities of dead and dying trees, especially in areas of high-severity 

burn. Increased fuel loading may extend resident burn times, increase flame length, increase fire 

heat and soil damage, and increase firefighter labor to suppress the fire (difficulty moving in jack-

strawed or dense downed wood material). If not felled and removed, these trees will elevate fire 

hazard and impede fire suppression.  Management of activity-related slash and smaller fuels and 

removal of logs would reduce the severity and intensity of the next fire, create a safe and defensible 

space for firefighters in future advancing fires, and provide for safer ingress and egress.  

Delays in decision-making and implementation will likely lead to loss of the most intensely burned 

area to cycles of shrubs, hardwoods, and recurring fires for many decades (Sessions et al. 2004). 

 

Not all downed logs and woody biomass pose a serious fire hazard or impede safe and effective fire 

suppression. Downed woody biomass provides both ecological and recreational values. Therefore, 

our objective is to remove enough of the dead/dying fuels to support low fire-hazard and low 

resistance-to-control conditions and to retain biomass and logs where soil cover or habitat is 

insufficient after fires.  

 

An effective balance between these competing objectives may be met by felling, but not removing, 

some hazard trees in treated areas and by entirely foregoing treatment in other areas. In the areas 

selected for treatment, some felled hazard trees may be left on the forest floor, as long as downed 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed Lassen County Wildfire Recovery Project 

5 

 

woody biomass does not constitute a residual safety hazard, increase fuel loading above desired 

levels, or pose a significant impediment to economic and operational efficiency.  

PROJECT OBJECTIVES 

The project objective is to restore areas on private non-industrial timber and woodlands that were 

damaged by the Hog Fire (2020), Sheep Fire (2020), and the Dixie Fire (2021), address erosion and 

hydrologic issues, and replant areas with conifer and oak seedlings. 

PROJECT START DATE 

Summer 2024 

PROJECT DESCRIPTION 

The project will result in up to 28,650 acres of private non-industrial timberlands and woodlands 

receiving site preparation to remove dead and dying trees and shrubs and regrowth of competing 

vegetation resulting from the Hog, Sheep, Sugar, and Dixie Fires, planting of seedlings to reforest 

areas prepped as a result of this project and other areas previously cleared by private landowners.  

The project proposes removal of standing dead biomass material for site preparation in burned 

stands of Eastside Pine (EPN), Sierra Mixed Conifer (SMC), and Montane Hardwood Conifer 

(MHC) habitats (See Project Vicinity and  Project Area Map). Clearing dead and dying trees which 

will fall down over time and become a fuel hazard to the reforested area is a key step in ensuring 

successful regeneration and protecting the investment from reburning. Long-term, downed fire-

killed trees inhibit reforestation treatments, increase watershed degradation, decompose and 

increase fuel loads for a highly probable reburn event. Both occurrences release excess greenhouse 

gases into the atmosphere. Projects will be implemented within the project area over several years 

as funding becomes available. 

 

Site preparation will begin as soon as possible and will remain continuous as weather permits. 

Variable prescriptions will be applied to promote Habitat Retention Areas (HRA). HRAs will be 

established to preserve some snag and thicket structure where appropriate. Up to 10% of the total 

area would be left untreated as HRA. The largest tree snags (over 18” DBH) will be left onsite for 

habitat value. Steep areas (>40% slope) will not be treated. To complete site preparation, all areas 

cleared will have follow-up herbicide treatment to remove resprouting woody vegetation and 

grasses from competition with the new conifer seedlings. Herbicide treatments will occur in early 

summer to fall. Watercourses and springs will be buffered per herbicide label requirements.  

 

The spring after site preparation, trees will be planted. Variable density silviculture prescriptions 

will be used to promote a mixture of tree sizes and structural diversity throughout the project area. 

“Islands” of area will be established using native plant seed. These seeded patches will vary in size, 

from two up to ten acres. The seed mix is certified weed free and composed of native grasses, forbs, 

and brush. Seed will be broadcast in the fall. Residual stands will be more open, increasing the 

amount of available soil moisture and sunlight for individual trees. Allowing some shrub cover in 

regenerating forests, in balance with tree seedlings, will increase the resilience and habitat diversity 

of reforested areas. Erosion control will be installed on disturbed areas and all roads used for 

hauling and yarding per Forest Practice Rules (14 CCR §943). 

 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed Lassen County Wildfire Recovery Project 

6 

 

Much of the thinning activity and removal of trees >11” dbh will be conducted under California 

Forest Practice Exemptions. The balance of the treatment activities, including the mastication of brush 

and small trees, hand treatments of brush and small trees, prescribed fire, herbicide treatments, and 

tree planting will be conducted under this Notice of Exemption (NOE).   

 

1.1. Mastication and Hand Treatment of Brush and Small Trees 

Mastication and hand treatments involve the pulverization and removal of standing dead/dying 

biomass.  Dead/dying trees and brush that are over 18” in height and less than 11” diameter at 

breast height (dbh) will be treated.  Brush greater than 18” in height will be treated.  Snags less than 

12” dbh will be treated, unless they show signs of use by wildlife or are marked with an “L”, “W”, 

or tag identifying them as a “Wildlife Tree”.  Woody debris less than 12” diameter which extends 

greater than 12” from the ground will be treated.  Areas with concentrations of activity fuels (i.e. 

logging slash) will be treated.Treated materials will not extend greater than 12” from the ground.  

Good form should be considered when selecting leave trees in order to reduce the number of trees 

with crooks, doglegs, multiple tops, or other defects.  Trees exhibiting poor vigor, mechanical 

damage, or disease and or insect infestation shall not be retained unless they are the best available 

tree.  Trees that have a likelihood of creating a “ladder” for fire to move into the crowns of overstory 

trees have a lower priority as leave trees. Trees that do not exceed the maximum size and that are 

within 10’ of roads that have the potential to affect vehicular traffic use or to allow a fire to spread 

across the road shall be treated.  Leave trees will be prioritized in the following order: 1) incense 

cedar; 2) Douglas fir, 3) sugar pine, 4)ponderosa pine; 5)white fir, and 6) western juniper.  Oaks and 

other hardwoods showing signs of stump sprouting will be retained. 

 

1.2. Emergent Brush Treatments: 

Emergent brush treatment involves the use of herbicides to treat emergent vegetation in order to 

remove competition from planted conifer seedlings and maintain forest spacing established by the 

mastication and hand thinning.  

 

After brushflelds and dense tree stands are cleared, native and non-native woody species 

aggressively reoccupy the site, regardless of the method of initial brush removal. The regrowth is 

typically from both old, vigorously sprouting plants and new dense stands of small seedlings, but in 

certain situations either seedlings or sprouts alone make up most of the regrowth. Control of this 

brush regrowth has been the most persistent and perplexing problem in converting dense stands of 

small diameter, unhealthy trees and shrubs that are subject to stand replacing and dangerous fire 

conditions to productive timber stands that can withstand a low to medium intensity fire and 

provide increased wildfire protection to communities. Sprouts from previously dormant buds on 

root crowns, stems, or roots left after initial brush removal have been most difficult to control.  

Herbicides have been shown to be an efficient cost-effective method of meeting this objective. 

The following alternatives were considered, in addition to the one selected, and were disregarded 

for the following reasons: 

1) Do Nothing.  Loss of vegetation control investments, loss of property values due to 

associated fire hazard, and watershed impacts from anticipated wildfire. 

2) Mechanical or Manual Treatment.  Mechanical and manual treatments alone are not cost 

effective and would require multiple re-entries to re-treat the re-sprouting brush.  This method 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed Lassen County Wildfire Recovery Project 

7 

 

would result in scarification of additional weed seeds that would result in ongoing germinate 

brush. 

3) Biological Treatment.  There is no known effective biological treatment.  Cattle and sheep 

are grazers and not browsers and would not effectively forage on the target brush species.  

Goats are browsers and could be used to forage on the target brush species; however, the brush 

would re-sprout resulting in the need for ongoing treatments.  There are very few goat herds 

available for brush control in the region.  Goats can be very selective on which brush species 

they will browse. 

4) Other Herbicides.  Of the herbicides registered for this use, these were determined to be the 

most appropriate when considering cost-effectiveness and safety to desirable crop trees and the 

environment. 

All vegetation control shall be with the use of herbicides.  The landowner does not have any other 

cost-effective alternative to consider. Herbicide use will be limited to late winter (February – 

March) prior to the flowering period, and fall (October – November), after the flowering period, in 

order to protect pollinators. Herbicides with the EPA bee hazard icon, or high residual toxicity to 

bees, will not be used, and flowering plants will be avoided. 

 

1.3. Prescribed Fire 

Prescribed fire is a very cost and time efficient management tool. The native species within the 

project boundary have all evolved with and are adapted to frequent fire intervals.  Using low 

intensity, more frequent prescribed fires allows native species to thrive and can also reduce invasive 

species populations.  Prescribed burning, in this project, will be used to reduce the fuel load of 

ground fuels, coarse woody debris, as well as a portion of the above ground biomass.  The purpose 

of the fire is to reduce the risk of large damaging fires by creating conditions that increase 

effectiveness of fire suppression.   

 

Through prescribed fire, land managers can have a say in the timing and intensity of the fire. Land 

managers can also lessen the impacts or provide benefits for other environmental resources.  Fire 

hazard reduction may be an objective of prescribed fire; however, there are other objectives such as 

wildlife habitat improvement, range improvement, enhancement of the project areas appearance, 

and improved safety by reducing the amount of dead and dying vegetation.  If a wildfire does 

happen to enter an area that was treated, the wildfire may be contained sooner with reduced area 

burned at high intensity. The reduced number of acres or fire intensity will have benefits to other 

resource, including environmental resources, public health, and public and firefighter safety. 

 

All prescribed fires will be subject to local and state regulation to maintain air quality and reduce 

fire escape risk. Prescribed burning is regulated by the Lassen County Air Pollution Control District 

(LCAPCD) in compliance with the state smoke management plan, Title 17. Prescribed burn projects 

must submit a Smoke Management Plan to LCAPCD for review and approval.  The plan is 

developed to minimize air quality impacts of the project.  Burning is done on approved burn days as 

determined by LCAPCD.  This process ensures that there are no significant smoke impacts to public 

health from the project. 

 

The desired fire intensity is low to moderate. A prescribed burn plan will be developed for 

prescribed fires within the project area prior to implementation that outlines the parameters (timing, 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed Lassen County Wildfire Recovery Project 

8 

 

weather, fuel moisture, etc.) necessary to implement the project to ensure that the fire remains low 

to moderate intensity and does not escape the project perimeter. In addition the plan will identify 

protocols should the fire escape.  All prescribed fire activities carry a risk of fire escape, but the 

project design has reduced this risk below a significant level. By conducting burns in the off-season 

and with highly trained fire professionals (CAL FIRE) on site, the project reduces the risk of 

wildfire below the level of risk associated with the no-project alternative.  Spotting outside of fire 

lines should not be a problem with correct firing methods and weather patterns as prescribed in the 

burn plan. By reducing fuels while leaving slope and other factors unchanged, the project will 

reduce, not exacerbate the effects of any future wildfire. 

 

1.4. Erosion Control 

Erosion control may include reseeding with native seed for stabilization of degraded areas and 

installation of brow logs to trap sediment from entering waterways. Erosion control will be installed 

on disturbed areas and all roads used for hauling and yarding per Forest Practice Rules (14 CCR 

§934 and §943). 

 

1.5. Tree Planting 

Bare root/containerized seedlings from the appropriate seed zone (523, 732, and 771) will be hand 

planted when soils are moist, not saturated or dry. Variable density silviculture prescriptions will be 

used to promote a mixture of tree sizes and structural diversity throughout the project area. 

ENVIRONMENTAL SETTING OF THE PROJECT REGION 

The project area is located in a region where the Southern Cascades Mountain Range, Northern 

Sierra Nevada Mountain Range, Modoc Plateau, and Great Basin ecoregions merge. These regions 

are the ancestral home of the Maidu, Northern Paiute, Pit River, and Washoe Tribes and represented 

today by several bands within the county and surrounding areas.  Members of those bands continue 

to maintain a relationship with this landscape as a place of residence, ceremony, harvesting, 

stewardship, and other traditional activities. The region has cold winters, and hot summers with 

variability in annual precipitation as you move from mountainous forested regions on the west 

toward the dry, high desert to the east. The project area ranges in slope from flat to very steep with 

elevation ranges from 4,000 – 6,800 feet, and average annual precipitation of 12 inches at the lower 

elevations on the east side of the project to 55 inches in the higher elevations of the project. The wet 

season produces vegetation growth that may be subject to seasonal drought, and prone to fire.  

California native plants have evolved with relatively frequent fires, and in many cases require fire 

or fire byproducts to remain healthy or to reproduce.  This fire history includes lightning and 

anthropogenic sources, and it is certainly true for the project area.  Frequent burning by local 

Indigenous peoples created a landscape that was fire-maintained by low to moderate intensity fires 

that self regulated. Forest/Woodland conditions were historically open with grass and herbaceous 

undergrowth and scattered shrubs, which resulted in a fire resistant and resilient landscape.  While 

fire suppression policies have been in place for more than a century, there is a history of wildfires 

and prescribed burns within the project area.  The project recently burned in the Dixie Fire (2021), 

cause by faulty PG&E powerlines.  The fires had variable effects on vegetation within the 

landscape, with the majority burning at high severity. The project area lies within a wildland urban 

interface zone (WUI), which is an area where human habitation is mixed with areas of flammable 

wildland vegetation. The purpose of this CEQA evaluation is to analyze the potential environmental 

impacts of restoring forest and woodland habitat impacted by the Dixie Fire. 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed Lassen County Wildfire Recovery Project 

9 

 

DESCRIPTION OF THE LOCAL ENVIRONMENT 

Portions of the project area have high densities of drought- and fire-killed standing trees in forest 

stands that generally were denser than the natural range of variation. In the proposed treatment area, 

a mosaic burn pattern resulted from the recent fires including unburned to low severity, low 

severity, with the majority of the project area burning at moderate severity to high fire severity. As 

a result, in some areas, tree mortality is 100 percent, while other areas still support a green forest. 

This range of fire severity leaves the existing landscape with a wide range of potential fire behavior 

depending on vegetation burn severity, fuel loading changes from dead and dying trees, and the 

regrowth of non-forest vegetation over time.  

Literature indicates that post-disturbance fuel loadings are expected to be extreme in many portions 

of the project area. A recent study (Fettig et al. 2019, updated by Homicz 2022) of ponderosa pine 

stands in the central and southern Sierra Nevada found significant increases in fuel loadings caused 

by severe drought followed by western pine beetle outbreak. The study included plots on the 

Eldorado, Stanislaus, Sierra, and Sequoia National Forests. Fallen dead trees were the largest class 

size of surface fuels and were the primary driver of fuel load increases. These data indicated 

extreme surface fuel loadings in these areas prior to recent wildfires or treatment. The Eldorado had 

a total average of 279 to 384 tons per acre; the Stanislaus had 292 to 340 tons per acre; the Sierra 

was the highest at 376 to 428 tons per acre; and the Sequoia had 269 to 276 tons per acre.  

 

In dry forest such as in the Sierra Nevada, high to extreme fire hazard potential exists when downed 

coarse woody debris (materials with a diameter of 3 inches or greater) exceeds 30 to 40 tons per 

acre. The range of woody debris larger than 3 inches in diameter considered optimal is between 5 

and 20 tons per acre. This balances acceptable risks of fire hazards and fire severity while at the 

same time providing desirable quantities of ground cover for soil productivity, soil protection, and 

wildlife needs. A wildfire with fuel loadings greater than this range could create control problems, 

higher suppression costs, and higher smoke emissions (Brown et al. 2003). 

CURRENT LAND USE AND PREVIOUS IMPACTS 

Until the late nineteenth century, the site was primarily used by Indigenous peoples as part of their 

daily lives.  They maintained open, sunny mixed conifer/oak woodland conditions with regular, 

low-intensity fire.  Brush communities were maintained in a fine grain mosaic interspersed with 

grasses and forbs.  Collectively, these fire maintained areas achieved numerous ecocultural 

objectives including high-quality food, medicine, and fiber.  The tending to these places was 

disrupted by American settlement.  In the late 1800s and 1900s, the site was considered valuable 

timberland, as well as cattle and sheep ranching land. . Lands within the project area are used for 

full and part time residence, recreation, timber management, agriculture, wildlife habitat, and 

watershed protection. 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed Lassen County Wildfire Recovery Project 

10 

 

 
Figure 1: Lassen County Wildfire Recovery Project Vicinity 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed Lassen County Wildfire Recovery Project 

11 

 

 
Figure 2: Lassen County Wildfire Recovery Project Location. 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed Lassen County Wildfire Recovery Project 

12 

 

ENVIRONMENTAL PERMITS 

No other permits are needed to implement this project. 

MITIGATION MEASURES 

Mitigation measures applicable to the project to minimize or eliminate potential negative effects or 

to comply with laws, regulations, and policy are described below (Mitigation Measures). More 

restrictive measures may be applied if determined necessary by the responsible official. 

Implementation of these mitigation measures will reduce the environmental impacts of the proposed 

project to a less than significant level.  

 

Botany: 

Mitigation Measure BIO-BOT-1: Sensitive Plants - Known populations of federally threatened, 

endangered, proposed, and candidate, and State threatened, endangered, and rare (Ranks 1 and 2) 

sensitive plant, lichen, or fungi species shall be flagged for avoidance. Ground-disturbing activities 

and spreading chips or slash materials shall be prohibited within flagged areas. When necessary, 

hand felling of trees and end-lining of logs may be conducted within occurrences if it is determined 

by a botanist that effects would be minimal or there will be beneficial effects based on the site or 

habitat conditions. Piles and fire lines shall be located outside of flagged areas.  

 

Mitigation Measure BIO-BOT-2: New Sensitive Plant Discoveries - In the event any new 

populations of federally threatened, endangered, proposed, and candidate, and State threatened, 

endangered, and sensitive (California Native Plant Society Rare plants Ranks 1 and 2) plant, lichen 

or fungi species are discovered during pre-construction surveys using California Department of Fish 

and Wildlife Survey and Monitoring Protocols and Guidelines or during project implementation, the 

area will be flagged and avoided until a botanist is consulted for mitigation measure applicability.  

 

Mitigation Measure BIO-BOT-3: Felling Adjacent to Sensitive Plant Populations – Dead/dying 

trees adjacent to flagged populations of federally threatened, endangered, proposed, and candidate, 

and State threatened, endangered, and rare (Ranks 1 and 2) plant, lichen, or fungi species will be 

directionally felled away from the flagged area to avoid disturbing the population. Only remove 

directionally felled trees if ground disturbance within the flagged area can be avoided. If directional 

felling cannot be done due to safety concerns, fell as necessary and leave on-site. This requirement 

may be waived by a botanist depending on the species present and its phenology. Flagging will be 

used to delineate avoidance boundaries.  

 

Mitigation Measure BIO-BOT-4: Felling within Flagged Sensitive Plant Populations – 

Dead/dying  trees located within flagged avoidance areas may be felled but must be left on-site to 

avoid ground disturbance unless removal can occur with minimal effects in consultation with a 

botanist. Flagging will be used to delineate avoidance areas.  

 

Mitigation Measure BIO-BOT-5: Special Plant Habitats - Special habitat types which support 

unique plant communities (such as serpentine, lava caps, pumice flats, rock outcrops, and seeps and 

springs) will be avoided. This requirement may be waived by a botanist if ground disturbance can 

be avoided.  

 

 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed Lassen County Wildfire Recovery Project 

13 

 

Non-Native Invasive Species: 

Mitigation Measure BIO-INV-1: Cleaning of Equipment - All equipment to be used off-road 

would be cleaned using either washing or high-pressure air and visually inspected before moving 

into the project area to ensure equipment is free of soil, plant propagules, or other debris that may 

contain invasive plant seeds. All equipment working in infested areas will be cleaned prior to 

leaving the infested area.  

 

Mitigation Measure BIO-INV-2: Weed Free Materials - Any source that provides material such 

as rock, gravel, or boulders to be used in the project area would be inspected and determined to 

have limited potential for the spread of invasive plants. Material stockpiles must be noxious weed 

free.  

 

Mitigation Measure BIO-INV-3: Weed Free Straw - Any straw or seed placed within the project 

area must be California-certified weed-free and the seed mix approved by a botanist. Other 

materials to be used as mulch, for which a state inspection protocol does not exist (such as wood 

chips, local materials) would be inspected by a botanist to determine the potential for spread of 

invasive plants. Post-project monitoring would occur in areas where imported materials are used.  

 

Mitigation Measure BIO-INV-4: Equipment and Flagged Sites - Equipment, vehicles, and 

personnel will avoid working within flagged invasive plant sites. Flagging will be used to delineate 

avoidance boundaries. If infestation cannot be avoided, consult with a botanist for risk minimization 

strategies.  

 

Mitigation Measure BIO-INV-5: Invasive Discoveries - Any additional infestations discovered 

during pre-implementation surveys or during project implementation would be flagged and avoided. 

Report new infestations to a botanist.  

 

Fisheries and Aquatics: 

Mitigation Measure BIO-AQUA-1: Burn pile placement - No burn piles shall be placed within the 

Watercourse and Lake Protection Zone (WLPZ) for watercourses, lakes, meadows, fens, or springs. 

 

Mitigation Measure BIO-AQUA-2: Water drafting sites - Identify water sources on project 

implementation maps. Consult with the Registered Professional Forester to obtain approval for use 

of additional water drafting locations and to determine whether the location represents suitable 

habitat for sensitive aquatic species.  

 

Mitigation Measure BIO-AQUA-3: In-Channel drafting sites - In-channel water drafting locations 

shall include rocking of approaches, barrier rock, straw bales, or other measures to prevent overflow 

and leaks from entering the watercourse.  

 

Mitigation Measure BIO-AQUA-4: Water drafting site survey and approval- Survey all proposed 

water drafting locations for sensitive and listed amphibians and receive approval from a biologist 

prior to use. Use drafting devices with 2 millimeter or less screening, and place hose intake into 

bucket in the deepest part of the pool. Use a low velocity water pump, do not exceed 50% of the 

flow, and do not pump ponds to low levels beyond which they cannot recover quickly 

(approximately 1 hour).  

 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed Lassen County Wildfire Recovery Project 

14 

 

Mitigation Measure BIO-AQUA-5: Water drafting in fish-bearing streams - For fish-bearing 

streams, the water drafting rate should not exceed 350 gallons per minute for streamflow greater 

than or equal to 4 cubic feet per second, nor exceed 20 percent of surface flows for streamflow less 

than 4 cubic feet per second. For non-fish-bearing streams, the drafting rate should not exceed 350 

gallons per minute for streamflow greater than or equal to 2 cubic feet per second, nor exceed 50 

percent of surface flows. Water drafting should cease when bypass surface flows drop below 1.5 

cubic feet per second on fish-bearing streams and 10 gallons per minute on non-fish-bearing 

streams.  

 

Mitigation Measure BIO-AQUA-6: Dust Abatement in Riparian Areas with Sensitive Species - 

Only use water as dust abatement in riparian areas known to be occupied with sensitive status 

species.  

 

Mitigation Measure BIO-AQUA-7: Hazardous spills - Any hazardous spills will be immediately 

cleaned up and reported to the responsible party.  

 

Mitigation Measure BIO-AQUA-8: Western pond turtle - Within areas identified as high-quality 

western pond turtle habitat by the biologist during pre-implementation surveys, avoid placing piles 

in open, grassy patches. Do not fell trees across these habitats wherever practical.  

 

Mitigation Measure BIO-AQUA-9: Vernal Pools - Activities within 250 feet of vernal pools will 

occur only once the ground surface is completely dry (typically June 1 to October 31 but will vary 

year to year). No activity will occur within the vernal pool. A biologist will be present for ground- 

and vegetation-disturbing activities conducted within 250 feet of vernal pool habitat. Personnel will 

utilize existing roadways within 250 feet of vernal pools whenever possible. If not using an existing 

roadway, only rubber-tired vehicles will be utilized within vernal pool upland areas. Driving 

through vernal pools at any time of year will be avoided. Any trees felled within 250 feet of a vernal 

pool will be directionally felled away from the vernal pool.  

 
Mitigation Measure BIO-AQUA-10: Fiber netting and Frogs - Tightly woven fiber netting, 

synthetic materials, or similar material shall not be used for erosion control or other purposes within 

suitable habitat to ensure the foothill yellow-legged frog, Sierra Nevada yellow-legged frog, or 

cascade frog do not get trapped, injured, or killed.  

  

Mitigation Measure BIO-AQUA-11: Stream Crossings and Water Drafting Sites - Ensure that 

culverts or other stream crossings do not create barriers to upstream or downstream passage for 

aquatic-dependent species. Locate water drafting sites to avoid adverse effects to in-stream flows 

and depletion of pool habitat. Where possible, maintain and restore the timing, variability, and 

duration of floodplain inundation and water table elevation in meadows, wetlands, and other special 

aquatic features.  

 

Mitigation Measure BIO-AQUA-12: Frogs and Rain - Foothill yellow-legged frog, Sierra 

Nevada yellow-legged frog, and Cascade Frog: For all activities in occupied or suitable habitat, if 

there is a 70 percent or greater forecasted rain event of 0.25-inch or greater, work activities will be 

postponed until site conditions are dry enough to avoid potential impacts.  

 

Mitigation Measure BIO-AQUA-13: Buffers for Frogs - Foothill yellow-legged frog, Sierra 

Nevada yellow-legged frog, and Cascade Frog: Within the riparian areas with known or suspected 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed Lassen County Wildfire Recovery Project 

15 

 

occupancy or their designated or proposed critical habitat, use handheld equipment (chainsaws) and 

walk in and out using the same pathway. Do not create any skid trails or burn piles within these 

areas. Areas of occurrence for all species include reaches 0.3 miles upstream and downstream plus 

all associated wet meadows. Areas of occurrence are as follows into the uplands areas: California 

red-legged frog: 0.3 mile Sierra Nevada yellow-legged frog and Mountain yellow-legged frog: 82 

feet Foothill yellow-legged frog: 100 feet (distance may change) Yosemite toad: 0.78 mile  

 

Wildlife: 

Mitigation Measure BIO-WILD-1: Large downed woody material - To the greatest extent 

possible, retain downed woody material with a large end diameter greater than 30 inches, or of the 

largest size class available, that was present prior to the wildfire. Do not buck up, and avoid moving 

these large, pre-existing downed logs during treatment wherever practicable.  

 

Mitigation Measure BIO-WILD-2: Pre-Fire Snags and Downed Logs - Unless a hazard to a road, 

structure, or a threat to human safety, retain all snags and downed logs that were present prior to the 

recent fires. If large diameter pre-fire, old-growth, legacy trees (old trees that have been spared 

during harvest or have survived stand replacing natural disturbance), or snags are fallen as hazards, 

retain them whole as downed logs and do not buck or pile. If the downed log is a safety threat, 

move it to a safe location as intact as possible. Large-diameter (>30” dbh at stump height) and old-

growth conifer snags or legacy trees with deformities such as cat faces, broken tops, hollows, or 

cavities are prioritized for retention when evaluating fuel levels.  

 

Mitigation Measure BIO-WILD-3: Hardwood snags - Unless a hazard to a road, or human safety 

retain all hardwood snags (larger than 16 inches diameter at breast height). 

 

Mitigation Measure BIO-WILD-4: Downed Logs - Unless a hazard to a road, structure, or human 

safety where available retain an average of 5 to 8 downed logs per acre in uplands and 4 to 6 

downed logs per acre in riparian areas of the largest size class (larger than 20 inches diameter at 

breast height, over 10 feet in length). Preference is to retain logs within riparian areas and away 

from roads. Numbers of downed logs can vary on any particular acre and should be an average for 

the landscape or treatment area.  

 

Mitigation Measure BIO-WILD-5: Bald Eagle: Dead/dying trees located within 0.25 mile of 

active bald eagle territory will be evaluated by a biologist prior to felling to establish whether they 

contain nests or are important pilot or perch trees. If a tree contains a nest, or is an important pilot 

tree, it will not be felled between January 1 and August 31 unless it is an immediate threat to human 

safety. No project actions that result in loud or continuous noise above ambient levels within 0.5 

mile of an active bald eagle nest will occur from January 1 through August 31 or an occupied bald 

eagle winter roost from November through March 1.  

 

Mitigation Measure BIO-WILD-6: Sensitive Bats: Where caves or mines are located within 250 

feet of the project boundaries, a Registered Professional Forester, in coordination with a biologist, 

would be consulted and a buffer flagged on the ground identifying an equipment exclusion zone. 

The following protective measures would apply: No noise generating or habitat modification 

activities will take place within 250 feet from caves, mines, and mine adits to protect known or 

potential sensitive bat species (Townsend’s big-eared bat, pallid bat, and fringed myotis) roost sites. 

Options for pile burning and felling around caves or mines include the following: pile burning and 

felling imminent safety threats only outside the March 1 through August 31 breeding season or pile 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed Lassen County Wildfire Recovery Project 

16 

 

burning during the March 1 through August 31 breeding season only under prevailing wind 

conditions that disperse smoke away from cave and mine entrances.  

 

Mitigation Measure BIO-WILD-7: Limited Operating Periods (LOPs) - Limited operating period 

is a period of time to protect species from disturbance that could result in loss of fecundity (this 

year’s young would not be conceived or birthed, young or eggs would be kicked out of den or nest, 

or otherwise be disturbed and not successfully survive to a juvenile or adult state) or a loss of life 

(migration).  

Limited operating period timeframes examples (not all inclusive; others are listed in other 

mitigation measures):  

-- Fisher: March 1 to June 30  

-- Marten: May 1 to July 31  

-- Sierra Nevada red fox: January 1 to June 30  

The limited operating period could be lifted if one of the assumptions is met:  

-- Species is not within the area as determined by protocol level surveys  

-- Area no longer has appropriate habitat or habitat components for the species to reproduce in the 

area (post-fire no longer meets species needs)  

 

Mitigation Measure BIO-WILD-8: Marten and Fisher - Retain some slash piles for marten 

escape cover and prey habitat, where biologists have determined that cover and/or connectivity 

could benefit marten or fisher habitat (i.e., along outer edges of canopy openings and riparian 

buffers). The number and location of slash piles will vary and will be determined by biologists on a 

site-specific basis. When feasible, piles should contain large and small diameter logs, have enough 

interstitial space to allow for marten or fisher occupancy, and be at least 6 feet by 8 feet in diameter. 

Piles would be clearly marked to not be burned. Pile specifications will be adapted to on-the-ground 

conditions.  

 

Mitigation Measure BIO-WILD-9: Marten Dens - Maintain a 100-acre buffer from May 1 to July 

31 for all active marten den sites.  Protect marten den site buffers from disturbance from vegetation 

treatments with a limited operating period from May 1 through July 31 as long as habitat remains 

suitable or until another regionally approved management strategy is implemented. The limited 

operating period may be waived for individual projects of limited scope and duration, when a 

biological evaluation documents that such projects are unlikely to result in breeding disturbance 

considering their intensity, duration, timing, and specific location.  

 

Mitigation Measure BIO-WILD-10: Fisher: In high quality reproductive and potential fisher 

denning habitat, implement hazard mitigation options other than complete removal for conifer snags 

larger than 35 inches diameter at breast height and hardwood snags larger than 27 inches diameter 

at breast height when it is safe to do so. Such options include cutting the hazard tree as high as 

possible to leave a portion of the trunk (10 to 20 feet tall) standing to provide potential microsites. 

Leave 15 to 20 feet of the thickest part of the trunk behind as a large log, particularly if it is 

decayed. When hazard tree removal creates continuous areas with canopy cover less than 40 

percent, leave 1 to 2 large trees (larger than 30 inches diameter at breast height) per acre on the 

ground as coarse woody debris to enhance habitat quality and connectivity. This will facilitate 

crossing by fishers and limit the potential for habitat fragmentation.  

 

Mitigation Measure BIO-WILD-11: Fisher Dens - Protect any known fisher den site buffers from 

vegetation treatments disturbance with a limited operating period from March 1 through June 30, as 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed Lassen County Wildfire Recovery Project 

17 

 

long as habitat remains suitable or until another regionally approved management strategy is 

implemented. The limited operating period may be waived for individual projects of limited scope 

and duration, when a biological evaluation documents that such projects are unlikely to result in 

breeding disturbance considering their intensity, duration, timing, and specific location. Avoid fuel 

treatments within any known fisher den site buffers to the extent possible. If areas within den site 

buffers must be treated to achieve fuels objectives for the urban wildland intermix zone, limit 

treatments to hand clearing of fuels. Use piling to treat surface fuels during initial treatment. 

Burning of piled debris is allowed in fall and winter.  

 

Mitigation Measure BIO-WILD-12: Fisher Habitat - In high and moderate quality reproductive 

fisher habitat (Thompson et al. 2021; habitat model) in low severity and unburned areas, apply a 

limited operating period during the denning season (March 1 through June 30). Use the 

programmatic biological opinion definitions for potential and high-quality denning habitat for areas 

that the habitat model does not cover. The limited operating period may be waived for individual 

projects of limited scope and duration if pre-project surveys document absence of denning fisher 

(Tucker et al. 2020). In areas of moderate burn severity (25 to 75 percent basal area loss), a 

biologist will assess the area to determine if potential habitat remains and the limited operating 

period should be applied.  

 

Mitigation Measure BIO-WILD-13: Sierra Nevada red fox: A biologist will validate detection of 

a Sierra Nevada red fox. When verified sightings occur, conduct an analysis to determine if 

activities within 5 miles of the detection have a potential to affect the species. If necessary, apply a 

limited operating period from January 1 to June 30 to avoid adverse impacts to potential breeding. 

Evaluate activities for a 2-year period for detections not associated with a den site.  

 

Mitigation Measure BIO-WILD-14: Gray wolf: To determine whether gray wolves have been 

documented in or in the vicinity of a treatment area, Project Proponents will contact CDFW before 

implementation of project activities to obtain general information about documented gray wolf 

activity within the vicinity and the need for protection measures.  

 A limited operating period (LOP) restricting all noise or smoke generating activities would 

be instated from April 1 through July 15 within one mile of the den site. Further discussions 

and coordination with CDFW and the Service may result in a modified distances or more 

flexible dates for this specific conservation measure.  In addition, if the den or rendezvous 

sites are clearly separated from project-generated disturbances by topographic features or 

terrain, seasonal restrictions may be adjusted or eliminated, as approved by the Service.  

These conservation measures would avoid or minimize disturbance at active den or 

rendezvous sites that could disrupt reproductive success or result in adverse effects.  Dens 

that are known to be used in consecutive years but not used in the current year may require a 

LOP if CDFW or the Service determines it is necessary. 

 Early rendezvous sites are typically close to dens: implementing a LOP within 1 mile of den 

sites will generally mitigate effects to early rendezvous sites when pups are still vulnerable.  

Coordination with CDFW and the Service prior to implementation would be done to ensure 

protection of all known and/or newly discovered den and rendezvous sites. 

 If a den is discovered during implementation of the proposed project, the LOP shall be 

implemented and coordination with CDFW and the Service shall be pursued. 

 

Mitigation Measure BIO-WILD-15: Snags - Retain four of the largest snags per acre larger than 

15 inches diameter at breast height following plan direction, and where possible, retain 5 to 10 tons 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed Lassen County Wildfire Recovery Project 

18 

 

per acre of the largest downed logs. Preference is to retain the largest downed logs present prior to 

the fire at least 20 inches in diameter and more than 10 feet in length. If areas are deficient in logs, 

retain these large, downed logs whole in stands and do not buck or pile. Within perennial stream 

riparian buffers retain large, downed woody material for wildlife. Follow all relevant plan direction.  

 

Mitigation Measure BIO-WILD-16: LOPs for Northern Goshawks and CA Spotted Owls - 

Maintain a seasonal limited operating period within 0.25-mile of known California spotted owl 

and northern goshawk nests during the breeding season (March 1 to August 15 for spotted owls; 

February 15 to September 15 for goshawks) unless surveys confirm they are not nesting. The 

limited operating period would prohibit mechanical activities such as tree felling, machine piling, 

major road maintenance, or other operations that generate loud or continuous noise within 

approximately 0.25-mile of the nest site, unless surveys confirm that California spotted owls or 

northern goshawks are not nesting.  

 

Mitigation Measure BIO-WILD-17: Great gray owl: Apply a limited operating period, 

prohibiting vegetation treatments within 0.5 mile of an active great gray owl nest stand, during the 

nesting period (typically March 1 to August 15). The limited operating period may be waived for 

vegetation treatments of limited scope and duration, if a biologist determines that such projects are 

unlikely to result in breeding disturbance considering their intensity, duration, timing, and specific 

location. Where a biologist concludes that a nest site would be shielded from planned activities by 

topographic features that would minimize disturbance, the limited operating period buffer distance 

may be reduced.  

 

Mitigation Measure BIO-WILD-18: Sandhill Cranes - If sandhill cranes are observed within the 

project area during pre-implementation surveys or during project implementation, a limited 

operating period will be in effect from April 1 through August 1 within one-half mile from occupied 

areas. If surveys indicate that cranes are not nesting, then the limited operating period for that year 

would not be required. Surveys of potential meadows are needed each year to establish nesting 

status.  

 

Mitigation Measure BIO-WILD 19: Western bumblebee - Suitable bumblebee habitat within 

treatment areas, including areas of woodlands, grasslands and upland scrub that contain requisite 

habitat elements, such as small mammal burrows will be surveyed prior to implementation using 

"June 2023 Survey Considerations for California Endangered Species Act (CESA) Candidate 

Bumble Bee Species" as a guide. Nest sites or hibernacula discovered during implementation shall 

be protected with equipment exclusion buffers of 25 feet. 

 

Mitigation Measure BIO-WILD-20: Herbicides and pollinators – Herbicide use will be limited to 

late winter (February – March) prior to the flowering period, and fall (October – November), after 

the flowering period, in order to protect pollinators. Herbicides with the EPA bee hazard icon, or 

high residual toxicity to bees, will not be used, and flowering plants will be avoided. 

 

Mitigation Measure BIO-WILD-21: Pre-implementation surveys – Surveys will be conducted for 

the species identified in the BIO-WILD mitigation measures, and BIO-AQUA #12 and #13 (Frogs) 

prior to project implementation using California Department of Fish and Wildlife Survey and 

Monitoring Protocols and Guidelines. https://wildlife.ca.gov/Conservation/Survey-Protocols  

 

 

https://wildlife.ca.gov/Conservation/Survey-Protocols


Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed Lassen County Wildfire Recovery Project 

19 

 

Cultural Resources: 

Mitigation Measure CUL-1: Avoidance of Cultural Resources: Cultural resources present within 

the project area have not been formally evaluated to determine eligibility for listing on the CRHR. 

For the purposes of this project these cultural resources will be assumed potentially eligible for 

state and federal registers and will be avoided. Project proponents will ensure that cultural 

resources are not adversely affected by ground disturbing activities. If cultural resources cannot be 

avoided and ground disturbance will occur within the recorded site limits than the site(s) will be 

formally evaluated to determine if they meet the regulatory criteria for eligibility to the CRHR.  

Mitigation Measure CUL-2: Unanticipated Discovery of Cultural Resources:  If a cultural resource 

is discovered within a project area after the project has been approved, the following procedures 

apply:  

1. Project activities within 100 feet of the newly discovered cultural resource shall be 

immediately halted. 

2. A qualified professional archaeologist or RPF with CALFIRE Archaeological Training 

Certification, as well as the Susanville Indian Rancheria (SIR) Tribal Historic Preservation 

Officer (THPO) shall be immediately notified. 

3. The archaeologist shall evaluate the new discovery and develop appropriate protection 

measures in consultation with the SIR THPO. 

4. The archaeologist shall ensure that the newly discovered site is recorded and its discovery 

and protection measures are documented in the project files. 

5. If the newly discovered site is a Native American Archaeological or Cultural Site, the 

Archaeologist shall notify the appropriate Native American tribal group, the NAHC, and the 

SIR THPO, if appropriate. 

Mitigation Measure CUL-3 Encountering Native American Remains: Although unlikely, if 

human remains are encountered, all work must stop in the immediate vicinity of the discovered 

remains and the County Coroner, a qualified archaeologist, and the SIR THPO must be notified 

immediately so that an evaluation can be performed. If the remains are deemed to be Native 

American and prehistoric, the Native American Heritage Commission must be contacted by the 

Coroner so that a “Most Likely Descendant” can be designated and further recommendations 

regarding treatment of the remains is provided. 

Geology and Soils: 

Mitigation Measure GEO-1: Detrimental disturbance – Limit total soil detrimental disturbance 

(compaction, displacement, and total porosity loss) to less than 15 percent of an activity area.  

 

Mitigation Measure GEO-2: Slopes – Limit all mechanical operations to slopes less than 35 

percent.  

 

Mitigation Measure GEO-3: Soil Moisture - Operate mechanical equipment when soil moisture is 

less than 20 percent by weight.  

 

Mitigation Measure GEO-4: Pivoting of Machinery – Pivoting of machinery should be avoided to 

prevent soil displacement in high soil burn severity areas. 

 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed Lassen County Wildfire Recovery Project 

20 

 

Mitigation Measure GEO-5: Slash – Activity generated slash may be machine or hand piled on 

slopes less than 35 percent; and hand piled on slopes greater than 35 percent. 

 

Mitigation Measure GEO-6: Soil Cover - During management activities, maintain (or add to the 

extent feasible in deficient areas) an average of 50 percent effective soil cover in treatment areas 

that is well-distributed and generally in the form of fine organic matter. Where feasible, maintain 85 

percent or more effective soil cover in riparian areas and on slopes greater than 25 percent, and 70 

percent effective soil cover on areas with high soil burn severity. Management activities in areas 

with ecological types that cannot normally support 50 percent soil cover shall be considered 

individually for soil cover needs.  

 

Mitigation Measure GEO-7: Woody debris – Maintain coarse woody debris for soil organisms 

based on ecological type and in consultation with wildlife and fuels specialists. 

 

Hydrology: 

Mitigation Measure HYD-1: Project Best Management Practices (BMPs): Protect water quality 

through the use of best management practices (BMPs) to prevent water quality degradation and to 

meet state water quality objectives relating to non-point sources of pollution. Best management 

practices utilized for this project are procedures and techniques that are incorporated in project 

actions and have been determined by the State of California to be the most effective, practicable 

means of preventing or reducing the amount of pollution generated by nonpoint sources to a level 

compatible with water quality goals. 

Watercourse and Lake Protection Zones (WLPZ) will be classified based on the California Forest 

Practice Rules §936.5 – Procedures for Determining Watercourse and Lake Protection Zones Widths 

and Protective Measures.  WLPZs shall be identified on the ground with flagging prior to 

implementation of treatments.  These zones will be: 

 
Table 1: Watercourse classifications and Watercourse Lake Protection Zones (WLPZs) 

Watercourse Classification Slope 0-30% Slope 30-50% Slope >50% 

Class I  75’ 100’ 150’ 

Class II (including all springs with surface water) 50’ 75’ 100’ 

Class III 25’ 50’ 50’ 

 

The standard best management practices for protecting water quality include: 

 Within the WLPZ, at least 50% of the total canopy covering the ground shall be left in a 

well-distributed multi-storied stand configuration composed of a diversity of species similar 

to that found before the start of operations.  The residual overstory canopy shall be 

composed of at least 25% of the existing overstory conifers. 

 No heavy equipment shall operate within the WLPZ except on existing roads and crossings. 

Light weight equipment, including a mini-excavator, mini-chipper, and/or skid steer, may 

operate within the WLPZ when conditions are dry within the WLPZ. Equipment within the 

WLPZ will not turn around within the WLPZ, but will make minimal tracks perpendicular 

to the watercourse.  Any other types of light equipment that are used will not exceed the 

weights of those listed above.  Exposed soils within WLPZ shall be 90% covered with 

operational slash or hay/straw to a minimum 2” depth prior to the winter period (Nov. 15 – 

April 1). This will occur after the conclusion of each individual operation and prior to each 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed Lassen County Wildfire Recovery Project 

21 

 

winter period for the life of the Project.  

 No equipment shall refuel, be cleaned, or lubricated within the WLPZ.  

 Road based equipment being used for project implementation shall not be used during any 

time of the year when soils are saturated and excessive damage can occur as well as the 

potential discharge of sediment to watercourses.  

 There will be no mechanical fireline construction within the WLPZ. 

 No ignitions of broadcast (prescribed) burns would occur within the WLPZ. Broadcast 

burning would be allowed to back burn into the WLPZ, but in order to maintain stream 

temperatures and avoid sediment discharge to Class I and II streams piles and broadcast 

prescribed burns are restricted within the WLPZ  to the following distances from the 

stream. 

 

Mitigation Measure HYD-2: Tree Cutting –Trees providing bank stability on fish-bearing streams 

should not be cut where possible (where they don’t pose an imminent threat to life and safety). 

Trees will be directionally felled away from streambank where possible and as safety allows or 

unless otherwise approved by an aquatics specialist or designee.  

 

Mitigation Measure HYD-3: Streambed Alteration Permit – Before any riparian vegetation 

removal or work within the bed bank or channel of a stream, creek, or river, including 

temporary watercourse crossings, project proponents will coordinate with the California 

Department of Fish and Wildlife to ensure compliance with Section 1602 of the Fish and 

Game Code. 

Mitigation Measure HYD-4 Timber waiver, Proposed activities will abide by the Lahontan 

Regional Water Quality Control Board (LRWQCB) Timber Waiver program, and project 

proponents will consult with the LRWQCB if there are proposed activities that could potentially 

impact water quality. 

Mitigation Measure HYD-5 Protection of Caltrans and County Assets, The project proponent and 

project contractors shall protect Caltrans and Lassen County assets, including but not limited to, 

road culverts and drainage inlets and water channels within road easements and right of way on 

roads down-slope of the project site or roads used to access the project site. This may include, but is 

not limited to, adding temporary debris control features to keep drainage assets from clogging. 

Wildfire: 

Mitigation Measure FIRE-1: Prescribed (Rx) burn plan: Mitigation measures will include and be 

dependent upon: 
 Rx burns and pile burns can be scheduled for fall months into spring. Burn days will be 

dependent upon California Air Resources Board (CARB) forecasts, Cal Fire approval and 

will comply with all local and state regulations. 

 Rx broadcast burns will coincide with ecological emergence to promote a heterogeneous 

forest structure, reduce the abundance of invasive and limit impact to desired native 

species. 
 To reduce impacts to surrounding community’s Rx burn timing, planning and 

implementation will all be dictated by smoke management mitigations through CARB.  
 Prescribed burns will be coordinated with other planned burns in the area to avoid 

cumulative impacts to air quality and wildfire safety. 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed Lassen County Wildfire Recovery Project 

22 

 

SUMMARY OF FINDINGS 

This IS-MND has been prepared to assess the project’s potential effects on the environment and an 

appraisal of the significance of those effects.  Based on this IS-MND, it has been determined that 

the proposed project will not have any significant effects on the environment after implementation 

of mitigation measures.  This conclusion is supported by the following findings: 

 

1. The proposed project will have no effect related to Agriculture Resources, Energy, Land 

Use Planning, Mineral Resources, Population and Housing, Public Facilities, Recreation, 

and Utilities. 

 

2. The proposed project will have a less than significant impact on Aesthetics, Air Quality, 

Greenhouse Gas Emissions, Hazards and Hazardous Materials, Noise, Transportation, and 

Wildfire. 

 

3. Mitigation is required to reduce potentially significant impacts related to Biological 

Resources, Cultural Resources, Geology and Soils, Hydrology and Water Quality, and 

Tribal Cultural Resources. 

 

The Initial Study-Environmental Checklist included in this document discusses the results of 

resource-specific environmental impact analyses that were conducted by the District. This initial 

study revealed that potentially significant environmental effects could result from the proposed 

project. However, project proponents have revised project plans and have developed mitigation 

measures that will eliminate impact or reduce environmental impacts to a less than significant level. 

Honey Lake Valley RCD has found, in consideration of the entire record, that there is no substantial 

evidence that the proposed project as currently revised and mitigated would result in a significant 

effect upon the environment. The IS-MND is therefore the appropriate document for CEQA 

compliance. 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed Lassen County Wildfire Recovery Project 

23 

 

INITIAL STUDY-ENVIRONMENTAL CHECKLIST 

The environmental factors checked below would be potentially affected by this project involving at 

least one impact that is a potentially significant impact as indicated by the checklist on the 

following pages. 

Environmental Factors Potentially Affected 
 Aesthetics   Greenhouse Gas Emissions  Public Services 

 Agriculture Resources  Hazards & Hazardous Materials  Recreation 

 Air Quality   Hydrology and Water Quality  Transportation 

 Biological Resources  Land Use and Planning  Tribal Cultural Resources 

 Cultural Resources  Mineral Resources  Utilities and Service Systems 

 Energy  Noise  Wildfire 

 Geology and Soils  Population and Housing  Mandatory Findings of Significance 

Determination 

On the basis of this initial evaluation: 

 
 I find that the proposed project COULD NOT have a significant effect on the environment, and a NEGATIVE 

DECLARATION would be prepared. 

 

 I find that although the proposed project COULD have a significant effect on the environment, there WOULD 

NOT be a significant effect in this case because revisions in the project have been made by or agreed to by the 

project proponent.  A MITIGATED NEGATIVE DECLARATION would be prepared. 

 

 I find that the proposed project MAY have a significant effect on the environment, and an 

ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT REPORT is required. 

 

 I find that the proposed project MAY have a “potentially significant impact” or “potentially significant unless 

mitigated” impact on the environment, but at least one effect 1) has been adequately analyzed in an earlier 

document pursuant to applicable legal standards, and 2) has been addressed by mitigation measures based on 

the earlier analysis as described on attached sheets.  An ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT REPORT is required, 

but it must analyze only the effects that remain to be addressed. 

 

 I find that although the proposed project COULD have a significant effect on the environment, because all 

potentially significant effects (a) have been analyzed adequately in an earlier ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT 

REPORT or NEGATIVE DECLARATION pursuant to applicable standards, and (b) have been avoided or 

mitigated pursuant to that earlier ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT REPORT or NEGATIVE DECLARATION, 

including revisions or mitigation measures that are imposed upon the proposed project, nothing further is 

required. 

 

 

 

__________________________________________  __________________ 

Name: Jesse Claypool       Date 

Title: HLVRCD Chairman 

 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed Lassen County Wildfire Recovery Project 

24 

 

Environmental Checklist and Discussion 

 

AESTHETICS 

a) Except as provided in Public Resources Code 

§ 21099, would the project have a substantial 

adverse effect on a scenic vista? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

Scenic vistas were already impacted by the Dixie Fire (2021). Portions of the project area have high 

densities of drought- and fire-killed standing trees in forest stands that generally were denser than 

the natural range of variation. A mosaic burn pattern resulted from the fires and included areas of 

unburned, very low, low, moderate, and high fire severity. As a result, in some areas, tree mortality 

is 100 percent, while other areas still support a green forest. In moderate- and high-severity burn 

areas, the landscape has been dramatically altered. Treatments will result in better scenic vistas in 

the long-term as burned stands are restored to productive forest. 

 

Direct and Indirect Effects: In moderate- and high-severity burn areas, the landscape has been 

dramatically altered. By treating dead and dying trees, slash and activity fuels, vegetation would 

regrow that provides visually pleasing contrast to surrounding features and landforms. The overall 

result of the proposed treatments would be an improved visual quality. The majority of what can be 

perceived as negative effects to the visual resource (flush cut stumps, hand or machine piles, 

treatment edges, ground disturbance, and untreated slash) occurs during implementation. This initial 

phase is short term in duration and does not represent the completed treatment. At the conclusion of 

treatment, visual signs of activity (such as cut stumps or track and tire marks) may still be evident in 

the short term but would be anticipated to dissipate over time. Evidence of burning on trees and 

ground would be naturally occurring in forests where wildfire regimes are common. When growth 

of shrubs, grasses, and forbs is underway, most of the evidence left behind by management 

activities would not be anticipated to be evident to the casual forest visitor.  

 

Cumulative Effect: Cumulative scenic quality effects were evaluated from multiple viewpoints. It is 

anticipated that proposed management activities would appear visually subordinate to the 

characteristic landscape. All viewsheds would be natural or near natural-appearing. It is unlikely 

that the incremental effects from this project and any additional future foreseeable project would 

have a significant impact on the scenery of the project area. 

b) Except as provided in Public Resources Code § 

21099, would the project substantially damage 

scenic resources, including, but not limited to, 

trees, rock outcroppings, and historic buildings 

within a state scenic highway? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

Scenic resources, including, but not limited to, trees, rock outcroppings, and historic buildings 

within a state scenic highway were previously impacted by the Dixie Fire. Treatments will remove 

dead/dying trees, and restore areas to more aesthetically pleasing conditions.  

  



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed Lassen County Wildfire Recovery Project 

25 

 

c) Except as provided in Public Resources Code 

§ 21099, in non-urbanized areas, would the 

project substantially degrade the existing 

visual character or quality of public views of 

the site and its surroundings? (Public views 

are those that are experienced from publicly 

accessible vantage point.) If the project is in 

an urbanized area, would the project conflict 

with applicable zoning and other regulations 

governing scenic quality? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

Existing visual character or quality of public views of the site and its surroundings will be 

improved by proposed treatments as dead/dying trees are removed, and natural vegetation is 

restored. 

 

d) Except as provided in Public Resources Code § 

21099, would the project create a new source 

of substantial light or glare which would 

adversely affect day or nighttime views in the 

area? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

Prescribed fire activities associated with the project could create a faint temporary glow on some 

nights, but the glow will not be substantial and affect day or nighttime views of the area. 

 

AGRICULTURAL RESOURCES 

a) Would the project convert Prime Farmland, 

Unique Farmland, or Farmland of Statewide 

Importance (Farmland), as shown on the maps 

prepared pursuant to the Farmland Mapping 

and Monitoring Program of the California 

Resources Agency, to non-agricultural use? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

The project is not located on land identified as Prime Farmland, Unique Farmland, or Farmland of 

Statewide Importance (Farmland).  

b) Would the project conflict with existing zoning 

for agricultural use or a Williamson Act 

contract? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

The project is consistent with the existing zoning and Williamson Act contracts.  

c) Would the project conflict with existing zoning 

for, or cause rezoning of forest land (as defined 

in Public Resources Code §12220(g)), 

timberland (as defined by Public Resources 

Code §4526), or timberland zoned Timberland 

Production (as defined by Government Code 

§51104(g))? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed Lassen County Wildfire Recovery Project 

26 

 

Much of the project area is zoned for timberland production. The project is consistent with existing 

zoning. 

d) Would the project result in the loss of forest 

land or conversion of forest land to non-forest 

use? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

Dead and dying trees will be removed from forests substantially impacted by the Dixie Fire (2021), 

and will continue to be managed as forest land. 

 

e) Would the project involve other changes in the 

existing environment, which, due to their 

location or nature, could result in conversion of 

farmland to non-agricultural use? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

The project takes place entirely onsite and requires no improvement or expansion of auxiliary 

facilities; therefore, the project has no foreseeable indirect, offsite, or cumulative impacts that could 

degrade or convert forestlands or agricultural lands. 

 

AIR QUALITY 

a) Would the project conflict with or obstruct 

implementation of the applicable air quality 

plan? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

Project prescribed burning would produce PM10. Prescribed burning is regulated by the Lassen 

County Air Pollution Control District (LCAPCD 2023) in compliance with federal and State Clean 

Air Acts. Prescribed burn projects must submit a Smoke Management Plan to LCAPCD for review 

and approval.  The plan is developed to minimize air quality impacts of the project.  Burning is 

done on approved burn days as determined by LCAPCD.  This process ensures that there are not 

any significant smoke impacts to public health from the project.  The primary effect to air quality in 

the region is from smoke produced by wildland fires. Prescribed burning is regulated by the air 

districts, whereas uncontrolled wildfires are not regulated. 

 

b) Would the project result in a cumulatively 

considerable net increase of any criteria 

pollutant for which the project region is non-

attainment under an applicable federal or state 

ambient air quality standard? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

Lassen County is currently in attainment for all federal and state ambient air quality standards.  
 

There are no class I airsheds within the project area. 

 

Effects to air quality and visibility could result from prescribed burning; and a very small increase 

in air pollutants could result from equipment use under the proposed action.  

 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed Lassen County Wildfire Recovery Project 

27 

 

Effects to air quality could result from fugitive dust caused by project implementation.  Best 

management practices (BMPs) will be implemented in order to minimize impacts. Fugitive dust 

generally quickly settles back down to the ground and typically does not spread far downwind.  

 

Potential adverse effects from equipment used in project implementation would be very small as the 

equipment would mostly operate in remote areas that are not occupied. Limited amounts of 

equipment would be used over a broad area and equipment emissions would disperse quickly.  

 

Effects to visibility from project prescribed burning would be temporary and minimized by burning 

only during designated burn days when adequate weather conditions would disperse smoke quickly. 

Most prescribed burning would occur on a single day or over several days. Fire managers are 

required by the air district to plan for controlling smoke emissions through contingency planning as 

part of the smoke management plans. 

 

Project emissions would temporarily increase air pollutants in the airshed and Lassen County. 

However, their direct, indirect and cumulative effects would be regulated by the LCAPCD in order 

to prevent adverse impacts and exceedances of health standards. The proposed prescribed fire 

treatments would reduce future potential wildfire smoke. 

 

c) Would the project expose sensitive receptors to 

substantial pollutant concentrations? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

Due to the above factors and the remoteness of the location, the project will not expose sensitive 

receptors to substantial pollutant concentrations. 

 

d)  Would the project result in other emissions 

(such as those leading to odors) adversely 

affecting a substantial number of people? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

The project will not result in emissions other than those mentioned above.  

 

BIOLOGICAL RESOURCES  

 

a) Would the project have a substantial adverse 

effect, either directly or through habitat 

modifications, on any species identified as a 

candidate, sensitive, or special-status species in 

local or regional plans, policies, or regulations, 

or by the California Department of Fish and 

Wildlife or the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

A biological assessment was conducted to analyze the effects of the project on several categories of 

sensitive species. This includes federally threatened, endangered, proposed, and candidate species, 

as well as California threatened, endangered, species of special concern, and rare plant species. 

Species listed as endangered by the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service (Federal) and California 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed Lassen County Wildfire Recovery Project 

28 

 

Department of Fish and Wildlife (State) are species currently in danger of extinction throughout all 

or a significant portion of their range. Species listed as threatened are likely to become endangered 

within the foreseeable future throughout all or a significant portion of their range. A proposed 

species is any species that is proposed in the Federal Register to be listed as a threatened or 

endangered species under the Endangered Species Act (50 CFR 402.03). A candidate species is a 

species for which the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service has on file enough information to warrant or 

propose listing as endangered or threatened. California species of special concern are wildlife species 

at risk of becoming threatened or endangered. The California Native Plant Society (CNPS) has 

developed an inventory of rare plants that is widely accepted as the standard for information on the 

rarity and endangerment status of California flora. 

 

An assessment of potential threatened, endangered, and rare (California Native Plant Society Rank 

1 and 2) vascular plants, bryophytes, lichens, and fungi was conducted including a CNDDB 2-mile 

search around the project area and a nine-quad search for rare plants using the California 

Department of Fish and Wildlife (CDFW) BIOS system (https://wildlife.ca.gov/Data/BIOS ) (i.e. 

the 7.5’ quadrangles where the project is primarily located along with the eight surrounding quads).  

The Calflora (https://www.calflora.org/ ), and California Native Plant Society inventory of rare 

plants (http://www.rareplants.cnps.org/ ) were also used, as well as consideration to past 

experience in the area. 

All federal and state threatened endangered, proposed, candidate or sensitive wildlife, aquatic, and 

fisheries species that could potentially occur within the project area were considered by reviewing 

the CNDDB 2-mile search and search of the BIOS system, to ensure threatened and endangered and 

sensitive species or their designated critical habitat that might be affected by the proposed action 

were adequately considered. A 2-mile buffer was used as the analysis area for wide ranging species 

as a known observation may not be within the project area but still may be utilizing the project area. 

For fish species, the subwatershed was used for analysis.  

 

See Tables 2 and 3 for a complete list of species considered in this analysis.  

 

Botanical Resources – Threatened, Endangered, Rare, and Sensitive: 

Recent wildfires greatly altered the forested landscape in and around the project area. Impacted 

areas are in a state of change in terms of soil nutrients, watershed function, understory vegetation, 

canopy cover, and tree survival. The fires killed many trees outright, resulting in a reduced forest 

canopy cover compared to pre-fire conditions. This change decreased shading, changed growing 

conditions for many sensitive plants, increased solar penetration to the forest floor, and created 

suitable habitat for invasive plants to establish and spread.  

 

Currently, the nature or extent of effects to sensitive plant populations from the fires and fire 

suppression activities is not known, but it is likely some plants were killed. It is also likely that 

sensitive plant habitat was degraded or lost in some areas. Invasive plants often establish or spread 

on disturbed ground after wildfire events, depending on the species involved and fire severity. An 

increase in invasive plants would indirectly adversely affect sensitive plants by increasing 

competition between different species and habitat loss through displacement.  

 

Activities that have affected baseline conditions for sensitive and invasive plants and their habitat 

within the project area include wildfires, fire suppression, fuels management, livestock grazing, 

https://wildlife.ca.gov/Data/BIOS
https://www.calflora.org/
http://www.rareplants.cnps.org/


Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed Lassen County Wildfire Recovery Project 

29 

 

mining, timber harvest, road construction and maintenance, off-highway vehicle use, utility line 

installation, recreation, and nonnative plant introductions. These activities have altered the present 

landscape to various degrees, with varying effects to species.  

 

Climate change may be shifting species to higher elevations and cooler aspects (Chen et al. 2011, 

Dukes and Mooney 1999). Although the effects of climate change on sensitive plants and nonnative 

invasive plants are uncertain at this time, some researchers predict that the increase in temperature 

and moisture may cause a shift in suitable habitat for some species. Nonnative invasive plants such 

as cheatgrass and spotted knapweed may experience a shift in range that leads to both an expansion 

and a contraction depending on moisture and temperature (Bradley 2009). It has also been shown 

that some species may move downhill due to increases in water availability (Crimmins et al. 2011). 

There is evidence indicating a potentially longer growing season, with increases in summer 

photosynthetic capacity. Kelly and Goulden (2008) found that rapid shifts in the distribution of 

plants can be expected with climate change and that global climate change may already be 

impacting vegetation distribution.  

 

If climate change is severe enough to turn the moister areas into hot dry sites, nonnative invasive 

plants would likely thrive because many thrive in hot dry conditions. Models for climate change 

predict that habitat is vulnerable to nonnative invasive plant establishment and spread (Julius et al. 

2013). Literature suggests that climate change is likely to increase the range and abundance of 

nonnative invasive species, as these species are not as limited by dispersal and pollination as are 

native plants (Dukes and Mooney 1999). However, the issue is complex and there is uncertainty 

about future invasion risk at the local level. Such changes would be incremental and may only be 

obvious over several years (Bradley et al. 2010).  

 

Approximately 59 percent of the project area burned at moderate to high severity in these large 

wildfires. Prior to the fires, the dominant forest types were Sierra Mixed Conifer (SMC), white fir 

(WTF) and Eastside pine (EPN). Based on known and potential occurrence in the project area, 83 

sensitive plant species were evaluated. Table 2 lists sensitive plant species, effects determinations, 

and rationale for the project area.  

 

Approximately 6 invasive plant species have been documented in the project area. Species with the 

largest infestations mapped include: Centaurea solstitialis (Yellow star-thistle), Centaurea stoebe 

ssp. micranthos (Spotted knapweed), Cirsium arvense (Canada thistle), Lepidium latifolium 

(Broadleaved pepperweed), Rubus armeniacus (Himalayan blackberry) and Taeniatherum caput-

medusae (Medusahead). The full effects of the Dixie Fire (2021) on populations of sensitive plant 

species in the proposed action area will not be known for several years, as response to fire is highly 

variable and dependent on a species’ life history, the severity and intensity of the burn, time since 

last fire, pre-fire vegetation assemblages, colonization by nonnative invasive species, and a 

multitude of other factors.  

 

Mitigation measures BIO-BOT #1-5 and BIO-INV #1-5 have been proposed to reduce the impact to 

sensitive plant species to less than significant. 

 

Aquatics and Fisheries Resources: 

Portions of the project area were riparian habitat prior to the fires, and large portions of these 

burned at high severity and no longer constitutes riparian habitat. In addition to removal of riparian 

habitat, these fires likely decreased riparian canopy cover, altered current large woody debris 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed Lassen County Wildfire Recovery Project 

30 

 

(variation is expected depending on burn severity, but likely generally increased), reduced future 

woody debris supply, and increased sediment delivery. Aquatic species in the zone therefore have 

experienced habitat loss as well as a likely reduction in remaining habitat quality. The zone contains 

6 endangered, threatened, and sensitive species including one fish, four amphibians, and the western 

pond turtle (See Table 3). 

 

Mitigation Measures BIO-AQUA #1-13 and HYD-#1-5 have been proposed to reduce impacts to 

aquatic and fisheries sensitive species to less than significant. 

 

Wildlife Resources:  

Fire is a natural process that can be beneficial for a diverse ecosystem and for species associated 

with post-fire habitats such as primary cavity excavators (such as woodpeckers) or species 

associated with early seral shrub and herbaceous vegetation. But, very large fire events, also known 

as mega-fires, with large extents and proportions of high severity fire can be devastating for wildlife 

species associated with closed canopy, mixed conifer, late-successional habitat such as California 

spotted owl, northern goshawk, fisher, and marten, which can be greatly affected by the loss and 

fragmentation of habitat.  

 

The recent wildfires impacted a variety of habitat types, including a large proportion of mature and 

late successional mixed conifer habitat, and resulted in very large, homogeneous blocks of high 

severity fire. Because of the enormous amount of change in the quantity, quality, and distribution of 

habitat across the recent fire areas, behavior patterns of many of the species in these areas have been 

substantially disrupted. For many of the species that historically occupied the project areas, their 

habitat use patterns have been disrupted and they have been displaced, so these species are 

dispersing to new areas and may be using marginal, lower quality habitat, at least in the short term 

if that is the only available option. This may include foraging in areas of fire-affected edge habitat. 

For these species, habitat that provides enough cover from predators and a sufficient microclimate, 

as well as foraging opportunities, is likely to be used until such time as new territories are 

established in presumably higher quality habitat; a process that may take multiple years, during 

which time their reproductive efforts may be lost.  

 

Habitat for California spotted owls, American goshawk, Sierra marten, Pacific fisher, sensitive bat 

species, riparian obligate birds, amphibians, reptiles, and invertebrates was  heavily impacted by the 

recent wildfires. Where the fires burned at a high and moderate intensity, many, if not all, of the 

important habitat features were consumed, such as herbaceous vegetation, shrub cover, downed logs 

and woody debris, stumps, leaf litter and other ground cover, in addition to the overstory canopy 

needed for shade and moisture retention.  

 

Thirty-six (36) terrestrial endangered, threatened, candidate, or sensitive wildlife species (CA 

Species of Special Concern and Region 5 Forest Sensitive Species) have potential to occur in the 

proposed action area. These species have been analyzed in detail in the project Wildlife Biological 

Assessment to establish whether the proposed action is likely to result in a loss of species viability 

or create significant trends toward federal listing under the Endangered Species Act.  

 

When considering effects to endangered, threatened, candidate, and sensitive species, the primary 

factors of change and impact include those factors that influence habitat suitability, habitat use, or 

species behavior. Effects from the proposed action were evaluated using a combination of 

qualitative and quantitative indicators. These indicators help determine the degree (magnitude, 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed Lassen County Wildfire Recovery Project 

31 

 

duration, and intensity) to which the proposed action may affect individuals or their habitat 

components, including predicted changes in an individual species’ response to a disturbance or 

habitat manipulation, or changes in habitat function at relevant spatial scales.  

 

Areas that have burned at high intensity do not contain enough cover or structure to be suitable 

habitat for the endangered, threatened, candidate, and sensitive species that may have been present 

in the analysis area prior to the fires. In the many areas of very large, homogeneous blocks of high 

severity fire, any species that requires moderate or high canopy cover and structural diversity for 

protection from predators and temperature regulation, and whose prey requires ground vegetation 

and woody debris, would not persist in these areas in the first several years following the fire. 

Species such as spotted owls, goshawks, great gray owls, and Sierra marten, are highly unlikely to 

venture into these very large, open, homogeneous, severely burned areas, which make up the 

majority of the treatment areas. Species that require ground cover and structure in order to regulate 

temperature and moisture levels, such as terrestrial salamanders, are also intolerant of these very 

open and dry sites.  

 

In addition, fire-killed trees are unlikely to be used by these endangered, threatened, candidate, and 

sensitive species in the time period immediately following the fire because these trees tend to be 

“case hardened” whereby the outer bark is charred and the tree has been killed by the intense heat of 

the fire, but the internal wood is still sound. These trees do not yet contain the defect, decay, or 

enough internal rot to be easily excavated by primary cavity excavators (such as woodpeckers) 

(Hutto 1995) and so do not contain cavities or other features that would be used for denning, 

nesting, or roosting, as would be present in older, pre-fire snags. So, while there is an abundance of 

fire-killed trees currently on the landscape following these widespread fires, their relative value to 

the endangered, threatened, candidate, and sensitive species that may have occurred in the fire areas 

is very limited until the overstory canopy recovers and natural processes occur that break down the 

fire-killed trees, which can take many years (Hutto 1995; Peterson et al. 2009). As these processes 

occur across the burned areas, there will be no shortage of fire-killed snags across the landscape due 

to the extremely large areas of forest that burned at high severity. Although where large snags occur 

close to high-use roads, they can be of a lower value to wildlife due to fragmentation and increased 

disturbance generally associated with roads, particularly for more heavily used roads. Therefore, the 

removal of fire-killed trees in the first few years following these fires, particularly from within very 

large blocks of high severity burn areas, is not expected to have meaningful or measurable impacts 

to listed or sensitive species, because these species do not require or utilize these wide expanses of 

high burn severity in a meaningful way.  

 

Where currently suitable unburned, or low burn severity habitat occurs within treatment areas, it 

may be somewhat degraded with the removal of dead/dying trees, by removing important elements 

of the habitat (snags). Dead/dying trees in these areas are assumed to exist as the occasional single 

tree, or in scattered small pockets of trees. Felling these trees may reduce potential nesting, 

roosting, and denning sites from within suitable habitat. But mitigation measures specifying more 

conservative marking guidelines when within riparian areas as well as for retaining extra-large, old-

growth and legacy trees and snags would reduce impacts to these habitats, as well as benefit the 

current and future habitat in the analysis areas. Because, if these trees and snags pose a hazard and 

need to be felled, these important habitat elements will be kept on the landscape as downed logs and 

much of their value for the development of future stand is retained. So, felling of these scattered 

trees and dispersed small groups of hazard trees surrounded by suitable habitat would leave the 

remaining stand intact and would not change the function of the habitat. Therefore, because only a 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed Lassen County Wildfire Recovery Project 

32 

 

minimal number of scattered individual or small pockets of dead/dying trees within unburned or 

low burn severity areas would be felled, this action is unlikely to cause adverse, population-level 

impacts to the endangered, threatened, candidate, and sensitive species, or their habitats that may 

occur in the analysis areas.  

 

Several mitigation measures were also created to benefit endangered, threatened, candidate, and 

sensitive species and help to reduce fragmentation and provide ground-level structure within 

severely burned areas. For example, certain slash piles will be retained and left unburned 

specifically for marten or fisher escape cover and prey habitat, which would improve connectivity 

between habitat patches, particularly along outer edges of canopy openings and riparian corridors. 

These mitigation measures in combination with the retention of old-growth, legacy, and extra-large 

trees and snags as down logs would benefit species such as marten and fisher, or prey species that 

could use the subnivean spaces created by retained logs and piles in these areas in winter. Also, in 

order to avoid removing high value habitat elements where possible, for treatments located in high 

quality fisher habitat, options other than complete tree removal for trees or snags greater than 35 

inches diameter at breast height and hardwood snags larger than 27 inches diameter at breast height 

would be considered. Such options may include cutting the dead/dying tree as high as possible to 

leave a portion of the trunk (10 to 20 feet tall) standing and leaving 15 to 20 feet of the thickest part 

of the trunk behind, particularly if it is decayed, to provide potential microsites for denning or 

resting.  

 

There is potential for the proposed actions to disturb or disrupt reproductive behaviors and normal 

activity patterns of the wildlife species that may occur adjacent to, or near, treatment areas. 

Increased noise, ground disturbance, human activity, and smoke are all associated with project 

activities, and can result in negative impacts to any wildlife species in the area. To reduce the 

potential for negative impacts, mitigation measures would be implemented to protect these species 

during their reproductive time periods, as this is when species are most vulnerable and disturbances 

can cause the loss of the year’s reproductive effort. Mitigation measures with protective measures 

such as limited operating periods, equipment exclusion zones, no-treatment buffers, smoke 

mitigations, and pre-implementation surveys are designed to minimize or avoid detrimental impacts 

to wildlife species.  

 

So, while habitat for endangered, threatened, candidate, and sensitive species has been greatly 

impacted by the recent wildfires, in areas burned at high severity, which have a limited value to 

these  species in the years directly following the fires, as well as the numerous mitigation measures 

for the protection of endangered, threatened, candidate, and sensitive species and their habitats, no 

population-level impacts or impacts to the viability of the  species are expected beyond what the 

fires have already done.  

 

The proposed action including mitigation measures BIO-WILD #1-18 would avoid or minimize 

impacts to threatened, endangered, and sensitive terrestrial wildlife species to less than significant.  

 

Cumulative effects to Biological Resources: 

The existing condition reflects the changes of all activities that have occurred in the past. The 

analysis of cumulative effects evaluates the impact on sensitive species from the existing condition 

within the analysis area.  To understand the contribution of past actions to the cumulative effects of 

the proposed action, this analysis relies on current environmental conditions as a proxy for the 

impacts of past actions. This is because existing conditions reflect the aggregate impact of all prior 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed Lassen County Wildfire Recovery Project 

33 

 

human actions and natural events that have affected the environment and might contribute to 

cumulative effects to threatened, endangered, and sensitive wildlife, plants, and their habitats.  

 

The spatial bounding for the cumulative effects analysis for most of the species analyzed the area 

within 0.25 mile of the treatment units. This spatial bounding would capture the physical change to 

the habitat within the approximate area where noise or smoke from implementation may impact 

threatened, endangered, and sensitive species outside or within the treatment unit itself. Where 

relevant, the discussion of effects may consider past, current, ongoing, and reasonably foreseeable 

actions outside of this bounding.  

 

Actions within this spatial and temporal bounding that may occur in the foreseeable future that 

overlap both in space and time with the proposed actions were analyzed for their potential to result 

in additive impacts to threatened, endangered, and sensitive species or their habitats within the 

project Biological Assessment.  

 

On federal land, ongoing actions with the potential to affect terrestrial wildlife species and their 

habitats include timber harvest and fuels reduction, fire management (suppression, post-fire repair 

and prescribed fire), watershed restoration, road and facility maintenance, nonnative invasive plant 

management, special use permit implementation (such as utility corridors, rights-of-ways), 

recreation, water diversions, livestock grazing, and ongoing minerals exploration and mining 

activities. Additional ongoing and planned federal actions within the analysis area include Federal 

Energy Regulatory Commission relicensing and Federal Highway Administration projects. Ongoing 

or future actions initiated by federal agencies would be designed or mitigated to minimize effects to 

threatened, endangered, and sensitive wildlife species and their habitats, and would therefore, avoid 

cumulative impacts where that potential may exist, as required under various laws such as the 

National Forest Management Act and the Endangered Species Act.  

 

On lands of other ownership, planned and ongoing actions include vegetation management (for 

example, timber projects and fire suppression), State highway projects and maintenance, 

agriculture, livestock grazing, private and county road maintenance, and building and development. 

State and local regulations will provide some protections for threatened, endangered, and sensitive 

wildlife species and their habitats including stream and riparian habitats. Ground-disturbing and 

noise-generating activities may worsen human disturbance within the project area in the short term 

where the activities overlap in space and time with the proposed federal activities.  

 

Overall, given the broad geographical scope of the project, but relatively small, spatially 

intermittent treatments, paired with applied mitigation measures BIO-BOT #1-5, BIO-INV #1-5, 

BIO-AQUA #1-13, and BIO-WILD #1-18 and best management practices, cumulative impacts to 

threatened, endangered, and sensitive species and their habitats from the proposed action, in 

combination with planned and ongoing activities and climate change are expected to be minor or 

negligible. 

 

 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed Lassen County Wildfire Recovery Project 

34 

 

Table 2: Biological Assessment – Botany 

Federal and CA Endangered, Threatened, and/or Candidate Species, and CA Rare Plants (CNPS Rank 1 and 2) 

Scientific 

Name 

Common 

Name 

Federal 

Status 

State Status Flowering 

Period 

Elevation 

(m) 

Habitat/Ecology Impact Rationale 

Alisma 

gramineum 
Grass alisma None 2B.2 June-Aug 1200-1800 

Occurs in wetlands; wetland-

riparian; Ponds 
No 

Mitigation Measures 

BIO-BOT #1-5, and 

HYD-1 should minimize 

and avoid impacts to 

habitat 

Allium 

atrorubens var. 

atrorubens 

Great Basin 

onion 
None 2B.3 May-June 1200-1400 

Rocky or sandy soil in Great Basin 

scrub and pinyon/juniper woodland 
No 

Found in Great Basin 

scrub north and east of 

Honey Lake 

Arnica fulgens Hillside arnica None 2B.2 Apr-May 1495-2700 
Open, damp depressions in 

sagebrush or grassland 
No 

Treatments not likely to 

occur in preferred 

habitat; Mitigation 

Measures BIO-BOT #1-

5, and HYD-1 should 

minimize and avoid 

impacts to habitat 

Artemisia 

tripartita ssp. 

tripartita 

Threetip 

sagebrush 
None 2B.3 Aug 2200-2600 

Rocky, volcanic; Upper montane 

coniferous forest (openings) 
No 

Open areas at higher 

elevations not affected 

by proposed project. 

Astragalus 

pulsiferae var. 

pulsiferae 

Pulsifer’s 

milk-vetch 
FS Sensitive 1B.2 May-June 1300-1900 

Sandy or rocky soil, often with 

pines, sagebrush 
No 

Mitigation Measures 

BIO-BOT #1-5 should 

minimize and avoid 

impacts to habitat. Found 

east of the project area in 

Great Basin scrub. 

Astragalus 

pulsiferae var. 

suksdorfii 

Suksdorf;s 

milk-vetch 
FS Sensitive 1B.2 May-Aug 1300-2000 

Loose, often rocky soil, often with 

pines, sagebrush 
No 

Mitigation Measures 

BIO-BOT #1-5 should 

minimize and avoid 

impacts to habitat. 

Astragalus 

geyeri var. 

geyeri 

Geyer’s milk-

vetch 
None 2B.2 May-Aug 1200 

Sandy areas; Great Basin scrub; 

Shadescale scrub 
No 

No habitat within 

treatment areas. Found 

east of  Honey Lake. 

Astragauls 

lemmonii 

Lemmon’s 

milk-vetch 
FS Sensitive 1B.2 May-Aug 1007-2200 

Moist alkaline meadows, lake 

shores 
No 

Mitigation Measures 

BIO-BOT #1-5, and 

HYD-1 should minimize 

and avoid impacts to 

habitat 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed Lassen County Wildfire Recovery Project 

35 

 

Astragalus 

lentiformis 

Lens-pod 

milk-vetch 
FS Sensitive 1B.2 May-July 1460-1910 

Volcanic, sandy soils; Great Basin 

scrub; Lower montane coniferous 

forest 

No 

Nearest occurrence 5 

miles west of project 

area. 

Atriplex 

gardneri var. 

falcate 

Falcate 

saltbush 
None 2B.2 May-Aug 1200-1700 

Open, generally alkaline soils, 

sagebrush scrub, chenopod scrub 
No 

Found east and north of 

Honey Lake; No habitat 

within project area 

Betula 

glandulosa 

Dwarf resin 

birch 
None 2B.2 May-June 1300-2300 

Streams, bogs and fens, meadows 

and seeps, marshes and swamps, 

meadow edges in Lower montane 

coniferous forest up to sub-alpine 

coniferous forest. 

No 

Mitigation Measures 

BIO-BOT #1-5, and 

HYD-1 should minimize 

and avoid impacts to 

habitat 

Boechera 

constancei 

Constance’s 

rock cress 
None 1B.1 May-July 975-2025 

Rocky, serpentine slopes, ridges in 

chaparral, lower and upper montane 

coniferous forest 

No 
No habitat within the 

project area. 

Botrychium 

ascendens 

Upswept 

moonwort 
FS Sensitive 2B.3 July-Aug 1500-3200 

Moist meadows, open woodlands 

near streams and seeps 
No 

Mitigation Measures 

BIO-BOT #1-5, and 

HYD-1 should minimize 

and avoid impacts to 

habitat 

Botrychium 

crenulatum 

Scalloped 

moonwort 
FS Sensitive 2B.2 June-Sept 1500-3600 

Saturated hard water seeps and 

stream margins, moist meadow, 

seeps, bogs, fens 

No 

Mitigation Measures 

BIO-BOT #1-5, and 

HYD-1 should minimize 

and avoid impacts to 

habitat 

Botrychium 

montanum 

Western 

goblin 
FS Sensitive 2B.1 July-Sept 1500-2100 

Shady conifer woodland, especially 

under Calocedrus along streams 
No 

Mitigation Measures 

BIO-BOT #1-5, and 

HYD-1 should minimize 

and avoid impacts to 

habitat 

Botrychium 

pinnatum 

Northwestern 

moonwort 
FS Sensitive 2B.3 July-Oct 1770-2040 Moist fields, shrubby slopes No 

Mitigation Measures 

BIO-BOT #1-5, and 

HYD-1 should minimize 

and avoid impacts to 

habitat Nearest 

occurrence 15 miles 

southwest of project 

area. 

Brasenia 

schreberi 
Watershield None 2B.3 June-Sept <2200 

Wetlands; Wetland-riparian; Ponds; 

slow streams; marshes; swamps 
No 

Mitigation Measures 

BIO-BOT #1-5, and 

HYD-1 should minimize 

and avoid impacts to 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed Lassen County Wildfire Recovery Project 

36 

 

habitat 

Carex davyi Davy’s sedge None 1B.3 May-Aug 1400-3300 
Usually in wetlands; sub-alpine and 

red fir forests 
No 

Mitigation Measures 

BIO-BOT #1-5, and 

HYD-1 should minimize 

and avoid impacts to 

habitat; usually found 

higher than project area. 

Carex 

lasiocarpa 

Woolly-fruited 

sedge 
None 2B.3 June-July 1700-2100 

Lake, pond shores, generally 

standing water 
No 

Mitigation Measures 

BIO-BOT #1-5, and 

HYD-1 should minimize 

and avoid impacts to 

habitat 

Carex limosa Mud sedge None 2B.2 June-Aug 1200-1700 Spaghum bogs No 
No habitat within the 

project area. 

Carex petasata Liddons sedge None 2B.3 May-July 600-3320 Dry to wet meadows, open forest No 

Known occurrences 

north of project area. 

Treatments will not 

occur in preferred habitat 

Carex sheldonii 
Sheldon’s 

sedge 
None 2B.2 May-Aug 1200-2000 

Wetlands; riparian; Lower montane 

coniferous forest (mesic); marshes 

and swamps 

No 

Mitigation Measures 

BIO-BOT #1-5, and 

HYD-1 should minimize 

and avoid impacts to 

habitat 

Castilleja 

lassenensis 

Lassen 

paintbrush 
None 1B.3 July-Sept 955-3120 

Volcanic soils in meadows and 

seeps and subalpine coniferous 

forest 

No 

Mitigation Measures 

BIO-BOT #1-5, and 

HYD-1 should minimize 

and avoid impacts to 

habitat 

Chylismia 

claviformis ssp. 

cruciformis 

Cruciform 

evening-

primrose 

None 2B.3 
March-

May 
600-1400 

Clay soils in chenopod and Great 

Basin  scrub 
No 

Nearest occurrences east 

and north of Honey Lake 

Claytonia 

umbellate 

Great Basin 

claytonia 
None 2B.3 May-Aug 1900-3500 

Talus slopes, stony flats, rock 

crevices 
No 

Treatments unlikely to 

occur with preferred 

habitat. 

Dalea ornate Ornate dalea None 2B.1 June 1365-1700 
Open, rocky hillsides in juniper 

woodland 
No 

Nearest occurrence near 

Shaffer Mtn. 15 miles 

northeast of project area. 

Downingia 

laeta 

Great Basin 

downingia 
None 2B.2 May-July 1200-2200 

Mesic soils in ditches, ponds, 

streams, and vernal pools in Great 

Basin scrub and pinyon/juniper 

woodlands 

No 

Mitigation Measures 

BIO-BOT #1-5, and 

HYD-1 should minimize 

and avoid impacts to 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed Lassen County Wildfire Recovery Project 

37 

 

habitat 

Drosera anglica 
English 

sundew 
None 2B.3 June-Sept 1300-2255 

Mesic soils in bogs, fens, swamps, 

peatlands, meadows and seeps often 

with Sphagnum 

No 

No habitat within project 

area; Mitigation 

Measures BIO-BOT #1-

5, and HYD-1 should 

minimize and avoid 

impacts to habitat 

Eremothera 

minor 

Nelson’s 

evening-

primrose 

None 2B.3 Apr-July 1200-1380 
Sandy slopes, flats, and sagebrush 

scrub and chenopod scrub 
No 

Nearest occurrence 14 

miles east of project 

area. 

Erigeron eatonii 

var. 

nevadincola 

Nevada daisy None 2B.3 May-July 1400-2900 

Open grassland, rocky flats, 

generally in sagebrush or 

pinyon/juniper scrub 

No 

Habitat not likely to 

occur within treatment 

areas. 

Erigeron 

lassenianus var 

deficiens 

Plumas rayless 

daisy 
None 1B.3 June-Sept 1360-1750 

Serpentine, disturbed soils; gravelly 

disturbed sites, lower montane 

forests 

No 

Habitat not likely to 

occur within treatment 

areas. 

Erigeron nivalis 
Snow fleabane 

daisy 
None 2B.3 July-Aug 1735-2900 

Volcanic rocks, meadows, and seeps 

in sub-alpine coniferous forests , 

alpine boulder, and rock fields 

No 

Found at higher 

elevations than project 

area. 

Eriogonum 

microthecum 

var. 

schoolcraftii 

Schoolcraft’s 

buckwheat 
FS Sensitive 1B.2 July-Sept 1300-1750 

Sandy to rocky soils; Great Basin 

scrub and pinyon/juniper woodlands 
No 

Treatments not likely to 

occur in preferred 

habitat. 

Eriogonum 

nutans var. 

nutans 

Dugway wild 

buckwheat 
None 2B.3 May-Sept 1200-3000 

Sand in chenopod and Great Basin 

scrub 
No 

No habitat within 

treatment areas; nearest 

occurrence 15 miles to 

the east of project area 

Eriogonum 

ochrocephalum 

var. 

ochrocephalum 

Ochre-

flowered 

buckwheat 

None 2B.2 May – June 1300-1700 
Volcanic or clay; Great Basin scrub, 

pinyon and juniper woodland 
No 

No observations within 

the project area. Nearest 

occurrence in Herlong 

30 miles east of the 

project area. 

Eriogonum 

ovalifolium var. 

depressum 

Depressed 

buckwheat 
None 2B.1 June-Aug 1725-1740 Dry playas No 

No habitat within 

treatment areas. 

Eriogonum 

spectabile 

Barron’s 

buckwheat 
FS Sensitive  1B.2 July-Sept 2010-2050 

Rocky, gravelly, sandy glaciated 

andesite soils in upper coniferous 

forests 

No 

Found at higher 

elevations; not likely to 

occur within treatment 

areas. 

Geum 

aleppicum 
Aleppo avens None 2B.2 June-Aug 1000-1600 

Meadows in sagebrush scrub and 

ponderosa pine forest 
No 

Mitigation Measures 

BIO-BOT #1-5, and 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed Lassen County Wildfire Recovery Project 

38 

 

HYD-1 should minimize 

and avoid impacts to 

habitat 

Hymenoxys 

lemmonii 

Alkali 

hymenoxys 
None 2B.2 June-Aug 240-3390 

Roadsides, open areas, meadows 

and seeps (sub-alkaline), slopes, 

drainage areas, stream banks in 

Great Basin scrub and lower 

montane coniferous forest. 

No 

Mitigation Measures 

BIO-BOT #1-5, and 

HYD-1 should minimize 

and avoid impacts to 

habitat; Treatments not 

likely to occur within 

preferred habitat. 

Ivesia aperta 

var. aperta 

Sierra Valley 

ivesia 
FS Sensitive 1B.2 Jun-Sept 

1500-
2300 

Dry, rocky meadows, generally 
volcanic soils; in sagebrush scrub, 

ponderosa pine, or juniper 
woodland 

 

1500-2300 

Dry, rocky meadows, generally 

volcanic soils; in sagebrush scrub, 

ponderosa pine, or juniper 

woodland 

No 

Treatments not likely to 

occur in preferred 

habitat. 

Ivesia baileyi 

var. baileyi 
Bailey’s ivesia None 2B.3 May-Aug 1340-2600 

Volcanic crevices in Great Basin 

scrub and lower montane coniferous 

forest. 

No 

Nearest occurrence to 

project area South of 

Frenchman Lake 

Ivesia 

sericoleuca 
Plumas ivesia FS Sensitive 1B.2 May – Oct 1300-2320 

Vernally mesic, generally volcanic 

meadows, vernal pools, Great Basin 

scrub, lower montane coniferous 

forest, freshwater wetlands, 

wetland-riparian 

No 

Mitigation Measures 

BIO-BOT #1-5, and 

HYD-1 should minimize 

and avoid impacts to 

habitat 

Ivesia webberi 
Webber’s 

ivesia 
Threatened 1B.1 May-July 1000-2075 

Rocky clay (volcanic ash) in Great 

Basin scrub, lower montane 

coniferous forest, and 

pinyon/juniper woodland 

No 

Occurrence half-mile 

east of southern portion 

of project area. No 

known occurrences 

within project area. 

Juncus dudleyi Dudley’s rush None 2B.3 July-Aug <2000 
Wet areas in montane coniferous 

forest 
No 

Mitigation Measures 

BIO-BOT #1-5, and 

HYD-1 should minimize 

and avoid impacts to 

habitat 

Juncus luciensis 
Santa Lucia 

dwarf rush 
FS Sensitive 1B.2 Apr-July 300-2040 

Wet, sandy soils of seeps, meadows, 

vernal pools, streams, roadsides, 

chaparral, lower montane coniferous 

forest 

No 

Mitigation Measures 

BIO-BOT #1-5, and 

HYD-1 should minimize 

and avoid impacts to 

habitat 

Ladeania 

lancelata 

Lance-leaved 

scurf-pea 
None 2B.3 May-July <2500 

Alluvial plains, sand in Great Basin 

schrub 
No 

Not found in the project 

area. Nearest occurrence 

east and north of Honey 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed Lassen County Wildfire Recovery Project 

39 

 

Lake. 

         

Lomatium 

roseanum 

Adobe 

lomatium 
FS Sensitive 1B.2 June-July 1460-2250 

Openings, gravelly or rocky; Great 

Basin scrub; Lower montane 

coniferous forest 

No 

Habitat not likely to 

occur in treatment areas. 

Mitigation Measures 

BIO-BOT #1-5 should 

minimize and avoid 

impacts to habitat 

Lomatium 

foeniculaceum 

ssp. 

macdougalii 

MacDougal’s 

lomatium 
None 2B.2 June-July 1390-1800 Sagebrush scrub, pine woodland No 

Nearest occurrence 6 

miles east of the 

southern portion of the 

project area. 

Lomatium 

ravenii var. 

paiutense 

Paiute 

lomatium 
None 2B.3 Apr-June 880-1680 

Flats, slopes, ridges, generally 

alkaline soils; sagebrush; 

pinyon/juniper woodland 

No 
Nearest occurrence in 

Nevada 

Lomatium 

ravenii var. 

ravenii 

Raven’s 

lomatium 
None 1B.3 Apr-June 1615-1775 

Flats, generally alkaline soils, 

sagebrush 
No 

Nearest occurrence in 

Karlo, 20 miles northeast 

of the project area. 

Luponus 

pusillus var. 

intermontanus 

Intermontane 

lupine 
None 2B.3 May-June 1220-2060 Open, sandy areas, sagebrush scrub No 

No habitat within the 

project area; Nearest 

occurrences east and 

north of Honey Lake. 

Meesia ulginosa 
Broad-nerved 

hump moss 
FS Sensitive 2B.2 Oct 1210-2804 

Damp soils in bogs, fens, meadows, 

seeps in upper montane and sub-

alpine forests 

No 

Nearest occurrence to 

project area at Lake 

Davis 20 miles east of 

the southern portion of 

the project. Protected 

within WLPZ. 

Mertensia 

longiflora 
Long bluebells None 2B.2 Apr-June 1500-2200 

Open, generally spring-moist, 

drying places of plains, foothills, 

especially sagebrush or sparse 

ponderosa pine forest 

No 

Mitigation Measures 

BIO-BOT #1-5, and 

HYD-1 should minimize 

and avoid impacts to 

habitat 

Navarretia 

leucocephala 

ssp. bakeri 

Baker’s 

navarretia 
None 1B.1 Apr-July <1700 Vernal pools, meadows, and seeps. No 

Mitigation Measures 

BIO-BOT #1-5, and 

HYD-1 should minimize 

and avoid impacts to 

habitat 

Oruttia tenuis 
Slender orcutt 

grass 
Threatened Endangered May-Sept 35-1760 Vernal pools, often gravelly No 

Treatments unlikely to 

occur within preferred 

habitat; Mitigation 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed Lassen County Wildfire Recovery Project 

40 

 

Measures BIO-BOT #1-

5, and HYD-1 should 

minimize and avoid 

impacts to habitat 

Oreostemma 

elatum 

Tall alpine-

aster 
FS Sensitive 1B.2 June-Aug 1005-2100 

Mesic soils in bogs, fens, peatlands, 

marshy areas, wet meadow, upper 

montane coniferous forest 

No 

Treatments unlikely to 

occur within preferred 

habitat; Mitigation 

Measures BIO-BOT #1-

5, and HYD-1 should 

minimize and avoid 

impacts to habitat 

Orthocarpus 

bracteosus 

Rosy 

orthocarpus 
None 2B.1 June-Aug 1030-1850 Moist meadows and seeps No 

Mitigation Measures 

BIO-BOT #1-5, and 

HYD-1 should minimize 

and avoid impacts to 

habitat 

Packera 

indecora 

Rayless 

mountain 

ragwort 

None 2B.2 July-Aug 1450-2000 
Damp areas along streams, 

meadows, woodlands 
No 

Mitigation Measures 

BIO-BOT #1-5, and 

HYD-1 should minimize 

and avoid impacts to 

habitat 

Penstemon 

janishiae 

Janish’s 

beardtongue 
None 2B.2 May-July 1065-2350 

Generally igneous-clay soils in 

sagebrush scrub, juniper/shrub 

savanna, ponderosa pine forests 

No 

Closest observation on 

Diamond Mountains 

south of the project area. 

Phacelia 

inundata 
Playa phacelia FS Sensitive 1B.3 May – Aug 1300-2000 

Alkaline flats, dry lake margins in 

Great Basin scrub, lower montane 

coniferous forests, and playas. 

No 

Mitigation Measures 

BIO-BOT #1-5, and 

HYD-1 should minimize 

and avoid impacts to 

habitat 

Phlox 

muscoides 

Squarestem 

phlox 
None 2B.3 Jun-Aug 1400-2700 Open rocky area; alpine rock No 

Habitat within project 

area will not be disturbed 

by project activities. 

Polyctenium 

williamsiae 

William’s 

combleaf 
None 1B.2 Mar-July 1347-2700 

Vernal pools, playas, marshes and 

swamps in pinyon/juniper woodland 

and Great Basin scrub 

No 

Nearest occurrence in 

Mud Flat 18 miles 

northeast of the project 

area. Mitigation 

Measures BIO-BOT #1-

5, and HYD-1 should 

minimize and avoid 

impacts to habitat 

Polygala Spiny None 2B.2 May-Aug  Sagebrush scrub No Nearest occurrence in 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed Lassen County Wildfire Recovery Project 

41 

 

subspinosa milkwort Viewland, 14 miles 

northeast of project area. 

Polygonum 

polygaloides 

ssp. esotericum 

Modoc County 

knotweed 
None 1B.3 May-Sept 885-1690 

Vernal pools, seasonally wet places, 

pinyon/juniper woodlands 
No 

Mitigation Measures 

BIO-BOT #1-5, and 

HYD-1 should minimize 

and avoid impacts to 

habitat 

Potamogeton 

epihydrus 

Nuttall’s 

ribbon-leaved 

pondweed 

None 2B.2 July-Sept 370-2170 
Shallow water, ponds, lakes, 

streams 
No 

Mitigation Measures 

BIO-BOT #1-5, and 

HYD-1 should minimize 

and avoid impacts to 

habitat 

Pyrrocoma 

lucida 

Sticky 

pyrrocoma 
FS Sensitive 1B.2 July-Oct 700-2050 

Alkaline clay flats; sagebrush scrub; 

openings in lower montane 

coniferous forest; meadows and 

seeps 

No 

No known occurrences 

within the project area; 

habitat not likely to 

occur in treatment area. 

Ranunculus 

macounii 

Macoun’s 

buttercup 
None 2B.2 June-July 1200-1500 Wet meadows, shallow water No 

Mitigation Measures 

BIO-BOT #1-5, and 

HYD-1 should minimize 

and avoid impacts to 

habitat 

Rhamnus 

alnifolia 

Alder 

buckthorn 
None 2B.2 May – July 1370-2130 

Wetlands, red fir, lodgepole pine, 

wetland-riparian 
No 

Mitigation Measures 

BIO-BOT #1-5, and 

HYD-1 should minimize 

and avoid impacts to 

habitat 

Rorippa 

columbiae 

Columbia 

yellow cress 
FS Sensitive 1B.2 May-Sept 1200-1800 

Streambanks, lake or pond margins, 

meadows, wet fields, vernal pools 
No 

Mitigation Measures 

BIO-BOT #1-5, and 

HYD-1 should minimize 

and avoid impacts to 

habitat 

Rumex venosus Winged dock None 2B.3 May-June 1200-1800 
Dry, sandy places; Great Basin 

scrub 
No 

Lack of suitable habitat 

in project area. 

Scheuchzeria 

palustris 

American 

scheuchzeria 
None 2B.1 July-Aug 1370-2000 Floating mats, bogs, lake margins No 

Mitigation Measures 

BIO-BOT #1-5, and 

HYD-1 should minimize 

and avoid impacts to 

habitat. No known 

occurrences in Lassen 

Co. 

Schoenoplectus Water bulrush None 2B.3 June-Aug 750-2250 Fresh lakes, streams low in nutrients No Protected within the 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed Lassen County Wildfire Recovery Project 

42 

 

subterminalis WLPZ. No known 

occurrences in Lassen 

Co. 

Scutellaria 

galericulata 

Marsh 

skullcap 
None 2B.2 June-Sept 1000-2100 

Wetlands in pine forest, freshwater 

wetlands, wet meadows, wetland-

riparian 

No 

Mitigation Measures 

BIO-BOT #1-5, and 

HYD-1 should minimize 

and avoid impacts to 

habitat 

Stanleya 

viridiflora 

Green-

flowered 

princes plume 

None 2B.3 May-Aug 1300-1600 

Cliffs, shale, clay knolls, steep 

bluffs, white ash deposits in Great 

Basin scrub. 

No 

Nearest occurrence in 

Karlo 20 miles northeast 

of project area. 

Stellaria 

longifolia 

Long-leaved 

starwort 
None 2B.2 May-Aug 900-1830 

Bogs, fens, mesic areas in riparian 

woodland and upper montane 

coniferous forest. 

No 

Mitigation Measures 

BIO-BOT #1-5, and 

HYD-1 should minimize 

and avoid impacts to 

habitat 

Stipa exigua Little ricgrass None 2B.3 June 2345-2420 Rocky slopes in sagebrush scrub No 

Treatments not likely to 

occur in preferred 

habitat. Occurs at higher 

elevations than project 

area. 

Stuckenia 

filiformis ssp. 

alpine 

Northern 

slender 

pondweed 

None 2B.2 May-July 300-2150 

Shallow clear water of lakes, 

drainage channels, marshes and 

swamps. 

No 

Mitigation Measures 

BIO-BOT #1-5, and 

HYD-1 should minimize 

and avoid impacts to 

habitat 

Suaeda 

occidentalis 

Western 

seablite 
None 2B.3 July-Sept <2200 Dry, saline, or alkaline wetlands No 

No habitat within the 

project area; Nearest 

occurrence 15 miles 

north and east of project 

area. 

Thelypodium 

milleflorum 

Many-

flowered 

thelypodium 

None 2B.2 Apr-June 1300-2500 
Sandy soils in Great Basin scrub 

and chenopod scrub 
No 

Nearest occurrence 15 

miles east of project 

area. 

Trichodon 

cylindricus 

Cylindrical 

trichodon 
None 2B.2 moss 35-2075 

Broad-leafed upland forest, upper 

montane coniferous forest; Occurs 

on a variety of moist soil types, 

including sandstone, clay, mineral, 

silty soils, on road-cuts, ocean 

bluffs, near springs, open grassy 

fields, in coastal scrub, and on soil 

No 

Treatments not likely to 

occur within preferred 

habitat; Mitigation 

Measures BIO-BOT #1-

5, and HYD-1 should 

minimize and avoid 

impacts to habitat 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed Lassen County Wildfire Recovery Project 

43 

 

on a rock outcrop 

Trifolium 

gymnocarpon 

ssp. plummerae 

Plummer’s 

clover 
None 2B.3 May-June 1500-1800 Sagebrush scrub, juniper woodland No 

Occurrences adjacent to 

project area in the 

southern portion of the 

project area; Mitigation 

Measures BIO-BOT #1-

5 should minimize and 

avoid impacts to habitat 

Utricularia 

intermedia 

Flat-leaved 

bladderwort 
None 2B.2 July-Aug 1200-2700 Shallow water, <1 m No 

Treatments will not 

occur within preferred 

habitat ; Mitigation 

Measures BIO-BOT #1-

5, and HYD-1 should 

minimize and avoid 

impacts to habitat No 

known occurrences in 

Lassen Co. 

State Status - CNPS Rare Plant Rank 

1B – Plant rare, threatened, or endangered in CA and elsewhere 

2B – Plant rare, threatened, or endangered in CA, but common elsewhere 

3    - More information needed 

4   -  Watch list – Plants of limited distribution 

 

.1 - Seriously threatened in CA 

.2 – moderately threatened in CA 

.3 – not very threatened in CA 

 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed Lassen County Wildfire Recovery Project 

44 

 

Table 3 – Biological Assessment – Wildlife 

Scientific 

Name 

Common 

Name 

Federal 

Status 

State 

Status 
Habitat 

Habitat 

in the 

Project 

Area 

Potential 

Impact 

Insects 

Bombus 

occidentalis 

Western 

bumblebee 
FS Sensitive 

Candidate 

Endangered 

Three basic habitat requirements: 

suitable nesting sites for the colonies, 

nectar and pollen from floral resources 

available throughout the duration of 

the colony period (spring, summer and 

fall), and suitable overwintering sites 

for the queens. Nests occur primarily 

in underground cavities such as old 

squirrel or other animal nests and in 

open west-southwest slopes bordered 

by trees. 

Yes 

Although impacts to individuals may occur, 

they are not expected, and suitable habitat 

for this species is not targeted for treatment. 

Therefore, population level impacts to this 

species are not expected.  

Fish 

Castomus 

lahontan 

Lahontan 

mountain 

sucker 

None 

Species of 

Special 

Concern 

(SSC) 

Mountain suckers are characteristically 

found in shallow water and have a high 

tolerance for organic pollution and 

warm temperatures. Mountain suckers, 

unlike most stream-dwelling fishes in 

western North America, spawn in 

summer (June to early August) rather 

than spring In California, adults have 

been observed moving into small 

streams during later July to feed on 

algae and to spawn  Spawning 

probably occurs at night in riffles 

located immediately below 

pools,  Mountain suckers feed 

primarily on algae and diatoms but will 

feed on aquatic invertebrates as well  

Yes 

Mitigation Measures BIO-AQUA #1-13, 

and HYD-1 should minimize and avoid 

impacts to habitat  

Amphibians 

Rana sierrae 
Sierra 

Nevada 
Endangered Threatened 

Associated with streams, lakes and 

ponds in montane riparian, lodgepole 
Yes 

Project would create short-term increase in 

sediment. Individuals could be crushed or 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed Lassen County Wildfire Recovery Project 

45 

 

Scientific 

Name 

Common 

Name 

Federal 

Status 

State 

Status 
Habitat 

Habitat 

in the 

Project 

Area 

Potential 

Impact 

yellow-

legged frog 

pine, subalpine conifer, and wet 

meadow habitats at elevations from 

4,500 - 11,980 ft. Aquatic species 

usually found within a few feet of 

water. Eggs are usually laid in shallow 

water attached to gravel or rocks. 

Tadpoles may require up to two over-

wintering periods to complete their 

aquatic development. 

disturbed in the upland areas. Mitigation 

measures for soils, watershed, and 

fisheries/aquatic species would minimize 

the potential for direct and indirect effects, 

including EEZs and LOPs during wet 

weather would reduce potential for 

individuals to be crushed or disturbed (BIO-

AQUA-23 and BIO AQUA-24). 

Rana boylii, 

pop. 2 

Foothill 

yellow-

legged frog 

Threatened Endangered 

They inhabit partially shaded, rocky 

perennial streams and their life cycle is 

synchronized with the seasonal timing 

of streamflow conditions. They breed 

in streams with riffles containing 

cobble-sized or larger rocks as 

substrate. These frogs need perennial 

water where they can forage through 

the summer and fall months. Usually 

found within a few feet of water. 

Yes 

Project would create short-term increase in 

sediment. Individuals could be crushed or 

disturbed in the upland areas. Mitigation 

measures for soils, watershed, and 

fisheries/aquatic species would minimize 

the potential for direct and indirect effects, 

including EEZs and LOPs during wet 

weather would reduce potential for 

individuals to be crushed or disturbed (BIO-

AQUA-12 and BIO AQUA-13). 

Rana cascadae 
Cascades 

frog 
FS Sensitive 

Candidate – 

Endangered 

This species can be found in water and 

surrounding vegetation in mountain 

lakes, small streams, and ponds in 

meadows up to timber line. It is 

closely restricted to water. Individuals 

are active during late spring and 

summer. 

Yes 

Species ranges throughout Cascades with 

many extant populations. Common in areas, 

although declining in others. Recorded 

occurrences fall within the project area. 

Mitigation measures including EEZs, limits 

on stream crossings, and protections for 

sediment delivery, would limit direct and 

indirect effects to species and its habitat 

within treatments. 

Ambystoma 

macrodactylum 

sigillatum 

Southern 

Long-Toed 

Salamander 

None SSC 

Adults spend much of their lives 

underground, often utilizing the 

tunnels of burrowing mammals such 

as moles and ground squirrels.   

Transformed adults are rarely found 

Yes 

Common in areas, although declining in 

others. Recorded occurrences fall within the 

project area. Mitigation measures including 

EEZs, limits on stream crossings, and 

protections for sediment delivery, would 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed Lassen County Wildfire Recovery Project 

46 

 

Scientific 

Name 

Common 

Name 

Federal 

Status 

State 

Status 
Habitat 

Habitat 

in the 

Project 

Area 

Potential 

Impact 

outside of the breeding season.  They 

are mostly found under wood, logs, 

rocks, bark and other objects near 

breeding sites which can include 

ponds, lakes, and streams, or when 

they are breeding in the water.  

limit direct and indirect effects to species 

and its habitat within treatments. 

Reptiles 

Emys 

marmorata 

Western 

pond turtle 

Proposed 

Threatened 
SSC 

This species lives in and near large 

slow-water pools where basking spots 

are available. Eggs are laid uphill of 

the water up to 100 yards away. 

Yes 

Species has large range, but distribution and 

abundance have declined. Recorded 

occurrences fall within the proposed 

treatment area. While some direct effects 

may occur, mitigation measures, especially 

EEZs would protect the turtles while using 

aquatic habitat. Mitigation measure BIO-

AQUA-8 will substantially limit the risk of 

direct effects to turtles while nesting or 

overwintering in upland habitat. 

Birds 

Haliaeetus 

leucocephalus 
Bald Eagle Delisted Endangered 

Occupy various woodland, forest, 

grassland, and wetland habitats. Large 

nests are normally built in the upper 

canopy of large trees, and snags 

typically conifers near water sources 

with fish. 

Yes 

There are no known nests within the project 

areas and nesting habitat is not targeted for 

treatment. Protection buffers and seasonal 

restrictions, implemented for activities 

within .25 miles of bald eagle nest sites, if 

discovered, would avoid or minimize 

adverse direct and indirect effects to the 

species and its habitat. 

Strix 

occidentalis 

occidentalis 

California 

Spotted Owl 

FS 

Sensitive; 

Proposed 

Threatened 

SSC 

This species is closely related to the 

Northern spotted owl and has a similar 

life history utilizing mature forests for 

habitat. 

 

Yes 

Mitigation measures such as LOPs on noise 

generation activities within 0.25 miles of 

nests or PACs during the breeding season 

and restrictions on treatments within PACs, 

would avoid or minimize adverse direct or 

indirect effects to the species and its habitat. 

Strix nebulosa Great gray FS Sensitive Endangered Prefer forest and meadow associations Yes There are no confirmed observations within 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed Lassen County Wildfire Recovery Project 

47 

 

Scientific 

Name 

Common 

Name 

Federal 

Status 

State 

Status 
Habitat 

Habitat 

in the 

Project 

Area 

Potential 

Impact 

owl across their range and nest in mature 

old growth coniferous and deciduous 

forests 

Lassen County in the last 20 years. 

Mitigation measures such as LOPs on noise 

generation activities within 0.5 miles of 

nests during the breeding season would 

avoid or minimize adverse direct or indirect 

effects to the species and its habitat. 

Asio otus 
Long-eared 

owl 
None SSC 

Frequents dense, riparian and live oak 

thickets near meadow edges, and 

nearby woodland and forest habitats, 

as well as dense conifer stands at 

higher elevations. 

Yes 

Nest location south of Doyle, CA will be 

monitored and protected per FPR §939. 

Mitigation measures such as LOPs on noise 

generation activities, if a nest is located, 

would avoid or minimize adverse direct or 

indirect effects to the species and its habitat. 

Accipiter 

atricapillus 

American 

Goshawk 
FS Sensitive SSC 

Generally, prefer dense forests with 

large trees and relatively high canopy 

closures like late successional forest 

stands. 

Yes 

Mitigation measures such as LOPs on noise 

generation activities within 0.25 miles of 

nests during the breeding season would 

avoid or minimize adverse direct or indirect 

effects to the species and its habitat. 

Aquila 

chrysaetos 

 

Golden 

Eagle 
None 

Fully 

Protected 

(FP), Watch 

List (WL) 

Live in open and semi open country; 

avoid developed areas and 

uninterrupted stretches of forest. 

Canyonlands, rimrock terrain, and 

riverside cliffs and bluffs. Nest on 

cliffs and steep escarpments in 

grasslands, chaparral, scrublands, 

forest, and other vegetated areas. 

Yes 

No known nest sites within the project area; 

may forage or fly over. Mitigation measures 

such as LOPs on noise generation activities 

within 0.5 miles of nests during the 

breeding season would avoid or minimize 

adverse direct or indirect effects to the 

species and its habitat. 

Buteo 

swainsoni 

Swainson’s 

hawk 
None Threatened 

Open desert, grassland, or cropland 

containing scattered, large trees or 

small groups 

Yes 

Known nest sites in the Doyle, CA area will 

be monitored and protected per FPR §939. 

Mitigation measures such as LOPs on noise 

generation activities within 0.25 miles of 

nests during the breeding season would 

avoid or minimize adverse direct or indirect 

effects to the species and its habitat. 

Circus Northern None SSC Found in flat, or hummocky, open Yes Habitat will not be impacted by proposed 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed Lassen County Wildfire Recovery Project 

48 

 

Scientific 

Name 

Common 

Name 

Federal 

Status 

State 

Status 
Habitat 

Habitat 

in the 

Project 

Area 

Potential 

Impact 

hudsonius harrier areas of tall, dense grasses, moist or 

dry shrubs, and edges for nesting, 

cover, and feeding. 

project activities. Mitigation Measures, 

including EEZs would avoid or minimize 

adverse direct or indirect effects to the 

species and its habitat. 

Antigone 

canadensis 

tabida 

Greater 

Sandhill 

Crane 

FS Sensitive 
Threatened, 

FP 

Winter in the Central Valley and nest 

in six northeastern CA counties. Nest 

in healthy undisturbed wetland 

ecosystems. 

Yes 

No known nesting areas located within the 

project area. Habitat for this species is not 

targeted for treatment and mitigation 

measures in place for riparian species and 

habitats would provide protections for this 

species. 

Empidonax 

traillii 

Willow 

Flycatcher 
FS Sensitive Endangered 

A rare to locally uncommon, summer 

resident in wet meadow and montane 

riparian habitats at 600-2500 m (2000-

8000 ft) in the Sierra Nevada and 

Cascade Range. Most often occurs in 

broad, open river valleys or large 

mountain meadows with lush growth 

of shrubby willows. Nesting site 

usually near languid stream, standing 

water, or seep. 

No 

No known nesting areas located within the 

project area. Habitat for this species is not 

targeted for treatment and mitigation 

measures in place for riparian species and 

habitats would provide protections for this 

species. 

Setophaga 

petechia 

Yellow 

warbler 
None SSC 

Breeds in riparian woodlands, montane 

chaparral, and in open ponderosa pine 

and mixed conifer habitats with 

substantial amounts of brush 

Yes 

No known observations within the project 

area Habitat for this species is not targeted 

for treatment and mitigation measures in 

place for riparian species and habitats would 

provide protections for this species. 

Riparia riparia 
Bank 

Swallow 
None Threatened 

A neotropical migrant found primarily 

in riparian and other lowland habitats 

in California west of the deserts during 

the spring-fall period. In summer, 

restricted to riparian, lacustrine, and 

coastal areas with vertical banks, 

bluffs, and cliffs with fine-textured or 

sandy soils, into which it digs nesting 

No 

Known nesting colony south of Doyle. 

Habitat for this species is not targeted for 

treatment and mitigation measures in place 

for riparian species and habitats would 

provide protections for this species. 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed Lassen County Wildfire Recovery Project 

49 

 

Scientific 

Name 

Common 

Name 

Federal 

Status 

State 

Status 
Habitat 

Habitat 

in the 

Project 

Area 

Potential 

Impact 

holes. Predominantly a colonial 

breeder. 

Agelaius 

tricolor 

Tricolored 

Blackbird 
None Threatened 

Forms the largest breeding colonies of 

any North American landbird. 

Breeding sites are open accessible 

water; a protected nesting substrate, 

including either flooded or thorny or 

spiny vegetation; and a suitable 

foraging space providing adequate 

insect prey within a few kilometers of 

the nesting colony. 

No 

No known nesting areas within the project 

area. Habitat for this species is not targeted 

for treatment and mitigation measures in 

place for riparian species and habitats would 

provide protections for this species. 

Xanthocephalus 

xanthocephalus 

Yellow-

headed 

blackbird 

None SSC 

Breed almost exclusively in marshes 

with tall emergent vegetation, such as 

tules (Scirpus sp.) or cattails (Typha 

sp.), generally in open areas and edges 

over relatively deep water 

Yes 

No known nesting areas within the project 

area. Habitat for this species is not targeted 

for treatment and mitigation measures in 

place for riparian species and habitats would 

provide protections for this species. 

Coturnicops 

noveboracensis 
Yellow rail FS Sensitive SSC 

Require densely vegetated sedge 

marshes/meadows with moist soil or 

shallow standing water. 
Yes 

No known nesting areas within the project 

area. Habitat for this species is not targeted 

for treatment and mitigation measures in 

place for riparian species and habitats would 

provide protections for this species. 

Progne subis 
Purple 

martin 
None SSC 

Frequents old-growth, multi-layered, 

open forest and woodland with snags 

in breeding season. Forages over 

riparian areas, forest, and woodland. 

Found in a variety of open habitats in 

migration 

Yes 

No known nesting areas within the project 

area. Habitat for this species is not targeted 

for treatment and mitigation measures in 

place for riparian species and habitats would 

provide protections for this species. 

Contopus 

cooperi 

Olive-sided 

flycatcher 
None SSC 

Most numerous in montane conifer 

forests where tall trees overlook 

canyons, meadows, lakes, or other 

open terrain. Extent and density of 

forest habitat less important than the 

Yes 
Proposed treatments will not impact 

preferred habitat. 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed Lassen County Wildfire Recovery Project 

50 

 

Scientific 

Name 

Common 

Name 

Federal 

Status 

State 

Status 
Habitat 

Habitat 

in the 

Project 

Area 

Potential 

Impact 

amount of air space that can be 

scanned from its highest perches 

Mammals 

Martes cuarina 

sierra 

Pacific 

marten 
FS Sensitive None 

Habitat with limited human use is 

important. Martens require a variety of 

different-aged stands, particularly old-

growth conifers and snags, which 

provide abundant cavities for denning 

and nesting. Tend to travel along 

ridgetops, and rarely move across large 

areas devoid of canopy cover. Small 

clearings, meadows, and riparian areas 

provide foraging habitats, particularly 

during snow-free periods.  

Yes 

Mitigation measures that restrict activities 

near den sites and an overall lack of impacts 

to suitable habitat would result in relatively 

minor impacts to this species. The proposed 

action would not contribute to a significant 

additional decline in suitable habitat beyond 

what has already occurred from the 

wildfires. 

Pekania 

pennanti 
Fisher  FS Sensitive SSC 

High cover and structural complexity 

in large tracts of mature and old 

growth forests 

No 

Mitigation measures that restrict activities 

near den sites and an overall lack of impacts 

to suitable habitat would result in relatively 

minor impacts to this species. The proposed 

action would not contribute to a significant 

additional decline in suitable habitat beyond 

what has already occurred from the 

wildfires. 

Vulpes vulpes 

necator 

Sierra 

Nevada Red 

Fox 

FS Sensitive Threatened 

High mountains of the Sierra Nevada 

in open conifer woodlands and 

mountain meadows near treeline. 

No 

Mitigation measures that restrict activities 

near den sites and an overall lack of impacts 

to suitable habitat would result in relatively 

minor impacts to this species. The proposed 

action would not contribute to a significant 

additional decline in suitable habitat beyond 

what has already occurred from the 

wildfires. 

Canis lupus 

 
Gray Wolf Endangered Endangered 

Wolves have historically occupied 

diverse habitats in North America, 

including tundra, forests, grasslands, 

Yes 

Gray wolves are highly mobile and have a 

broad range of habitat tolerances. Noise 

disturbance could create a temporary 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed Lassen County Wildfire Recovery Project 

51 

 

Scientific 

Name 

Common 

Name 

Federal 

Status 

State 

Status 
Habitat 

Habitat 

in the 

Project 

Area 

Potential 

Impact 

and deserts (Mech 1970). As a 

consequence, and because they travel 

long distances and require large home 

ranges, wolves are considered habitat 

generalists (Paquet and Carbyn 2003). 

change in behavior. Mitigation measures 

include no activity within 1 mile of an 

active den or rendezvous site from April 1 

to July 15 (LOP). CDFW actively monitors 

wolf packs within the area and project 

proponents will ensure that no disturbance 

to the den will occur during the LOP (BIO-

WILD-14). 

Gulo gulo Wolverine 
Proposed 

Threatened 
Threatened 

In Northern Sierra Nevada, have been 

found in mixed conifer, red fir, and 

lodgepole habitats, and probably use 

subalpine conifer, wet meadow, and 

montane riparian habitats at elevations 

from 4,300 – 7,300 ft. Prefers areas of 

low human disturbance 

Yes 

The nearest wolverine sighting is 2.5 miles 

south of the project area. Proposed 

treatments are not expected to affect the 

suitability of habitat for wolverine, as they 

are somewhat generalist and use a variety of 

conditions. 

Taxidea taxus 
American 

badger 
None SSC 

Most abundant in drier open stages of 

most shrub, forest, and herbaceous 

habitats, with friable soils 

Yes 
Based on the species preferred habitat, not 

likely to be impacted by the current project. 

Aplodontia rufa 

californica 

Sierra 

Nevada 

Mountain 

Beaver 

 SSC 

Not related to true beavers, this 

nocturnal rodent prefers moist cool 

deciduous and coniferous forests. 

Burrows usually consist of a network 

of tunnels built in deep soil. Burrow 

entrances often contain clumps of 

wilted vegetation which the animal 

likely uses as a kind of food cache as 

well as a source of nesting material. . 

Yes 

Habitat for this species is not targeted for 

treatment and mitigation measures in place 

for riparian species and habitats would 

provide protections for this species. 

Antrozous 

pallidus 
pallid bat FS Sensitive SSC 

Wide variety of habitats is occupied, 

including grasslands, shrublands, 

woodlands, and forests from sea level 

up through low elevation mixed 

conifer forests. Most common in open, 

dry habitats with rocky areas for 

Yes 

Mitigation measures that protect roost sites 

will be implemented to avoid adverse direct 

and indirect effects to the species and its 

habitat. 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed Lassen County Wildfire Recovery Project 

52 

 

Scientific 

Name 

Common 

Name 

Federal 

Status 

State 

Status 
Habitat 

Habitat 

in the 

Project 

Area 

Potential 

Impact 

roosting. Day roosts are in caves, 

crevices, mines, and occasionally in 

hollow trees and buildings. 

Corynorhinus 

townsendii 

Townsend's 

big-eared 

bat 

None SSC 

Found in all but subalpine and alpine 

habitats. Most abundant in mesic 

habitats. Requires caves, mines, 

tunnels, buildings, or other human-

made structures for roosting and 

nesting. 

Yes 

While no caves or mines are known to exist 

within or near proposed activities, if caves 

are found, protection measures that limit 

activities within 250 feet of caves or mines 

will be implemented to protect this species 

and habitat. 

Lasiurus 

frantzii 

Western red 

bat 
None SSC 

Roosting habitat includes forests and 

woodlands from sea level up through 

mixed conifer forests. Feeds over a 

wide variety of habitats including 

grasslands, shrublands, open 

woodlands and forests, and croplands. 

Roosts and nests primarily in trees, 

often in edge habitats adjacent to 

streams, fields, or urban areas that 

have trees for roosting and open areas 

for foraging. 

Yes 

No known roosting sites within the project 

area and no activity detected. Mitigation 

measures that protect roost sites will be 

implemented to avoid adverse direct and 

indirect effects to the species and its habitat. 

Myotis 

thysanodes 

Fringed 

myotis 
FS Sensitive None 

Maternity colonies of up to 200 

individuals are located in caves, mines, 

buildings, or crevices. Adult males are 

absent from maternity colonies, which 

are occupied from late April through 

September. Maternity group members 

may remain together during 

hibernation. Uses open habitats, early 

successional stages, streams, lakes, and 

ponds as foraging areas. 

Yes 

Mitigation measures that protect roost sites 

will be implemented to avoid adverse direct 

and indirect effects to the species and its 

habitat. 



 

53 

 

 

b) Would the project have a substantial adverse 

effect on any riparian habitat or other sensitive 

natural community identified in local or 

regional plans, policies, or regulations or by 

the California Department of Fish and Wildlife 

or the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

Portions of the project area were riparian habitat prior to the fires. Approximately 20% of this burned at high 

severity and no longer constitutes riparian habitat. In addition to removal of riparian habitat, these fires likely 

decreased riparian canopy cover, altered current large woody debris (variation is expected depending on burn 

severity, but likely generally increased), reduced future woody debris supply, and increased sediment 

delivery. Aquatic species in the zone therefore have experienced habitat loss as well as a likely reduction in 

remaining habitat quality.  

 

Mitigation Measures BIO-AQUA #1-13 and HYD-#1-5 have been proposed to reduce impacts to riparian 

habitat, vernal pools, and aquatic and fisheries sensitive species to less than significant. 

 

c) Would the project have a substantial adverse 

effect on state or federally protected wetlands 

(including, but not limited to, marsh, vernal 

pool, coastal, etc.) through direct removal, 

filling, hydrological interruption, or other 

means? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

The project area does encompass some wetlands, vernal pools, meadows and springs.  

 

Mitigation Measures BIO-AQUA #1-13 and HYD-#1-5 have been proposed to reduce impacts to wetlands, 

vernal pools, and aquatic and fisheries sensitive species to less than significant. 

 

d) Would the project interfere substantially with 

the movement of any native resident or 

migratory fish or wildlife species or with 

established native resident or migratory 

wildlife corridors, or impede the use of native 

wildlife nursery sites? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

The proposed project area does not interfere substantially with the movement of any native resident or 

migratory fish or wildlife species or with established native resident or migratory wildlife corridors, or 

impede the use of native wildlife nursery sites. There may be short-term impacts to mule deer migration, but 

will not impede the overall migration of the herd. 

 

e) Would the project conflict with any local 

policies or ordinances protecting biological 

resources, such as a tree preservation policy or 

ordinance? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 

 
 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 

 
 

No Impact 
 
 
 

 
 

The proposed project does not conflict with any local policies or ordinances protecting biological resources. 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed Lassen County Wildfire Recovery Project 

54 

 

 

f) Would the project conflict with the provisions 

of an adopted Habitat Conservation Plan, 

Natural Community Conservation Plan, or 

other approved local, regional, or state habitat 

conservation plan? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

The project does not conflict with the provisions of an adopted Habitat Conservation Plan, Natural 

Community Conservation Plan, or other approved local, regional, or state habitat conservation plan. 

 

CULTURAL RESOURCES 

a) Would the project cause a substantial adverse 

change in the significance of a historical 

resource pursuant to § 15064.5? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

The project is located in the ancestral home of Maidu, Northern Paiute, Pit River, and Washoe Tribes 

represented today by several bands within the county and surrounding areas.   

Early settlers in the 19
th

 century transmitted diseases that had a catastrophic effect on native peoples. The 

mass insurgence of Euroamericans during the Gold Rush in 1848-9 led to additional waves of disease spread, 

violence, and environmental destruction. By the mid19th century, Native Americans were forced to move on 

reservations. 

Three historic themes relevant to the history of the project area include: lumber and logging, homesteading, 

and livestock ranching. The Gold Rush (1848-9) brought a wave of immigrants to California. The 

Homestead Act of 1862 accelerated the settlement of the western territory by granting families 160 acres of 

surveyed public lands for settlement. Claimants were required to “improve” the plot by building a dwelling 

and cultivating the land and after 5 years the original filer was entitled to the property, free and clear, except 

for a small registration fee. Many of these homesteaders conducted livestock ranching 

Direct and Indirect Effects: The affected environment refers to the current condition of cultural sites and 

their setting prior to implementation of proposed treatments. The values placed on cultural sites by living 

communities, and their physical ability to portray significant historic events, people, craftsmanship and serve 

as meaningful sources of scientific information, are fundamental considerations of their National Register of 

Historic Places eligibility. Management efforts are directed toward protecting the important values and 

physical characteristics of National Register listed, eligible and unevaluated cultural sites.  

Direct effects to cultural resources are those that physically alter, damage, or destroy all or part of a 

resource; alter characteristics of the surrounding environment that contribute to the resource’s significance; 

introduce visual or audible elements out of character with the property or that alters its setting; or neglect a 

resource to the extent that it deteriorates or is destroyed.   

Not all treatment areas have been surveyed and not all cultural sites are known. At least 9 pre-historic and 

29 historic sites have been identified in the project area, and 6 pre-historic sites and 11 historic sites 

adjacent to the project area have been identified by past survey efforts. Most of these have not been 

evaluated. Damage and destruction to some cultural sites from the wildfires and emergency suppression has 

been documented, but the full nature or extent of these effects to sites in the project area is not known. 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed Lassen County Wildfire Recovery Project 

55 

 

Surveys, tribal consultation, and other methods will be used to identify cultural resources at risk in advance 

of project implementation. New sites will be documented, and the post-wildfire conditions of more sites will 

become known. Measures to protect cultural resources from project impacts will be incorporated into 

implementation methods. The controlled felling of hazardous trees in and near cultural sites will reduce the 

risk of damage or loss that might occur under natural conditions. The potential for unnatural fuel 

accumulations to develop in and near cultural sites that increases their risk of damage from future wildfires 

and suppression responses will be reduced. Indirectly and cumulatively, more sites in the project area will 

become known through identification surveys and thus better protected and considered by future 

management actions and emergencies.  

 

Mitigation measures CUL-1 through CUL-3 have proposed to reduce impacts to cultural and historic 

resources to less than significant. 

 

Cumulative Effects: Successful utilization of standard protection measures will result in no significant 

cumulative impacts to heritage resources within the project area. 

 

b) Would the project cause a substantial adverse 

change in the significance of an archaeological 

resource pursuant to § 15064.5? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

See answer above to question (a). 

 

c) Would the project disturb any human remains, 

including those interred outside of formal 

cemeteries? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

Mitigation Measures CUL-1 through CUL-3 have been proposed to avoid impacts to human remains that 

may be encountered during project implementation. 

 

ENERGY 

a) Would the project result in potentially 

significant environmental impact due to 

wasteful, inefficient, or unnecessary 

consumption of energy resources, during 

project construction or operation? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

The project is in a remote location and will require transport of personnel and equipment to the project site.  

The project will not result in wasteful or inefficient energy use because equipment can be securely left on 

site overnight and between project phases, saving on travel fuel. The project is likely to result in slowing the 

rate of wildfire spread and providing a defensible space where crews can stop fire before it spreads to 

neighboring communities; therefore, the project could reduce the overall amount of energy and fuel spent 

combating wildfires.  The project will not violate or obstruct any State or local renewable energy or energy 

efficiency plan; all operations will comply with law. 

 

There will be minimal impact to energy resources from this project and potentially energy savings resulting 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed Lassen County Wildfire Recovery Project 

56 

 

from a reduction in wildfire fighting energy needs due to the resulting fuel break.  Biomass generated by the 

project may be used to develop energy at local cogeneration facilities. 

 

b) Would the project conflict with or obstruct a 

state or local plan for renewable energy or 

energy efficiency? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

The project will not violate or obstruct any State or local renewable energy or energy efficiency plan; all 

operations will comply with law.  The project will result in renewable energy as biomass from thinning 

operations will be chipped and delivered to local cogeneration facilities. 

 

GEOLOGY AND SOILS 

a) Would the project directly or indirectly cause 

potential substantial adverse effects, including 

the risk of loss, injury, or death involving 

rupture of a known earthquake fault, as 

delineated on the most recent Alquist-Priolo 

Earthquake Fault Zoning Map issued by the 

State Geologist for the area or based on other 

substantial evidence of a known fault? (Refer 

to California Geological Survey Special 

Publication 42.) 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

No activities associated with this project are substantial enough to rupture a known earthquake fault. 

 

b) Would the project directly or indirectly cause 

potential substantial adverse effects, including 

the risk of loss, injury, or death involving 

strong seismic ground shaking? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

Although the project is in a seismically active area (as is true for all of Northern California), the project does 

not include any blasting, new construction, or any other impact strong enough to influence seismic activity.  

 

c) Would the project directly or indirectly cause 

potential substantial adverse effects, including 

the risk of loss, injury, or death involving 

seismic-related ground failure, including 

liquefaction? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

Although the project is in a seismically active area (as is true for all of Northern California), the project does 

not include any blasting, new construction, or any other impact strong enough to influence seismic activity.  

 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed Lassen County Wildfire Recovery Project 

57 

 

d) Would the project directly or indirectly cause 

potential substantial adverse effects, including 

the risk of loss, injury, or death involving 

landslides? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

Land management operations associated with the project are unlikely to increase the risk of landslide in the 

area. Small landslides and slumps are a normal part of the local landscape. The remote location further 

decreases the impact of any possible landslide. Mitigation measure GEO-2: Slopes has been proposed to 

limit mechanical operations to slopes less than 35%, and mitigation measure GEO-6: Soil Cover has been 

proposed to maintain soil cover on steep slopes and sensitive areas. These mitigation measures should reduce 

the potential for the project to directly or indirectly cause a landslide. 

 

e) Would the project result in substantial soil 

erosion or the loss of topsoil? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

Past management activities and natural processes including recent fires have impacted and shaped existing 

soil conditions in the project area. The primary means of discussing post-fire conditions of soils is soil burn 

severity, which was mapped following the fires. Burn severity describes the fire-caused damage to the soil 

and is a measure of the effects of fire on soil conditions including how water moves into and through the soil 

(hydrologic properties). Together with slope, burn severity influences the amount of soil erosion following a 

fire.  

 

The dominant soil texture within the project area is sandy loam. The dominant parent materials in the zone 

are residuum weathered from basalt and granite.  

 

Past activities have impacted the productivity of the soil. Much of the area within the proposed treatment 

areas were previously harvested using ground-based equipment. These areas treated in the past are assumed 

to be in “fair” soil condition (USDA Forest Service 2017) based on soil disturbance from those past activities 

and also effects from the recent fires. Some localized areas may be in “poor” soil condition based on past 

activities and soil burn severity, especially if recent activities occurred in areas where high soil burn severity 

levels exist. The majority of the proposed treatment areas burned at moderate to high soil burn severity (59 

percent). 

 

Direct and Indirect Effects: Localized areas with detrimental levels of soil compaction, displacement, and 

other physical disturbances would reduce the ability of soils to exchange oxygen and carbon dioxide, thus 

affecting the ability of soil organisms to survive. However, large areas (greater than 100 square feet) of 

detrimental levels of soil disturbance are not expected because of mitigation measures. 

 

Expected impacts to soil condition are greater on slopes above 25 percent where soil burn severity is high 

(Beschta et al. 2004; Wagenbrenner et al. 2015). Where these conditions exist, residual cover following 

treatments would be greater and buffer widths to sensitive locations would also increase, per the mitigation 

measures. In addition, favorable habitat for soil organisms would be maintained. Any reduction of 

productivity attributable to soil organisms would be short-term (less than 5 years). Mastication treatments are 

also proposed in the project areas. Effects of mastication would include fuel rearrangement and increased 

soil cover, temperature, and moisture and microbe activity.  



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed Lassen County Wildfire Recovery Project 

58 

 

 

Although performed with ground-based equipment, mastication generally occurs over an existing slash mat 

created during the mastication process. This material on the surface reduces the risks of compaction.  
 

Burning slash piles could create extremely high temperatures in concentrated areas and would lead to 

volatilization of nitrogen and loss of phosphorus and potassium (DeBano 1981). However, because litter 

layers and organic matter would be kept intact throughout the rest of the stand (per mitigation measure 

GEO-6: Soil Cover) nutrient losses due to slash burning would be minimal and localized.  

 

Per the mitigation measures, limiting total soil detrimental disturbance to less than 15 percent of an activity 

area, avoiding turning machinery in areas with high soil burn severity, leaving extra cover on areas with high 

soil burn severity, conducting treatments during times of low soil moisture, and maintaining effective soil 

cover would ensure that the soil functions remain intact in good or fair condition. These mitigation measures 

should provide adequate protection for erosive soils. The recovery of organic matter following fire is key to 

restoring ecosystem productivity (Beschta et al. 2004).  

 

Following a fire, soil can become water-repellent (hydrophobic), which can increase runoff and erosion. 

These characteristics tend to develop on sites with moderate to high fire severity (Neary et al. 2005; McIver 

and Starr 2000; DeBano 2000). Water repellency in soils can occur under natural conditions as well 

(Robichaud et al. 2000) and generally is eliminated within the year following fire events (Wagenbrenner et 

al. 2015; Neary et al. 2005); therefore, in areas that burned prior to 2021, fire-induced hydrophobicity would 

be near background levels.  

 

Wildfires can also increase soil erosion potential. This is especially important in the proposed treatment area 

on steeper slopes where fire consumed the protective forest floor layer, leaving the soil vulnerable to erosion 

because there is nothing left to catch the sediment (Neary et al. 2005). Keeping debris on-site can decrease 

soil loss by up to 95 percent (McIver and Starr 2000). Generally, increased erosion because of wildfire 

occurs during the year following the fire, but as vegetation recolonizes sites, erosion decreases (Neary et al. 

2005). Proposed activities would take place at least 1 year after the fire. As noted above, the recovery of 

organic matter following fire is key to restoring ecosystem productivity (Beschta et al. 2004).  

 

Cumulative Effect: Recent wildfires likely compromised soil conditions within the project and surrounding 

areas. Present, ongoing, or proposed activities within and adjacent to the wildfires are not expected to further 

impair soil conditions because projects are largely restorative. Due to proposed mitigation measures 

vegetation treatments proposed under this project would likely lead to reduced soil erosion within the project 

area.  

f) Would the project be located on a geologic unit 

or soil that is unstable, or that would become 

unstable as a result of the project, and 

potentially result in on- or off-site landslide, 

lateral spreading, subsidence, liquefaction, or 

collapse? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

Land management operations associated with the project are unlikely to increase the risk of landslide in the 

area. Small landslides and slumps are a normal part of the local landscape. The remote location further 

decreases the impact of any possible landslide. Mitigation measure GEO-2: Slopes has been proposed to 

limit mechanical operations to slopes less than 35%, and mitigation measure GEO-6: Soil Cover has been 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed Lassen County Wildfire Recovery Project 

59 

 

proposed to maintain soil cover on steep slopes and sensitive areas. These mitigation measures should reduce 

the potential for the project to directly or indirectly cause a landslide. 

 

g) Would the project be located on expansive soil, 

as defined in Table 18-1-B of the Uniform 

Building Code (1994, as updated), creating 

substantial direct or indirect risks to life or 

property? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

There is no building construction involved with this project. 

 

h) Would the project have soils incapable of 

adequately supporting the use of septic tanks 

or alternative waste water disposal systems 

where sewers are not available for the disposal 

of waste water? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

The project does not involve the installation of septic tanks or alternative waste water disposal systems. 

 

i) Would the project directly or indirectly 

destroy a unique paleontological resource or 

site or unique geologic feature? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

There are no known unique paleontological resources/sites or unique geologic features within the project 

area. 

 

GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS 

a) Would the project generate greenhouse gas 

emissions, either directly or indirectly, that 

may have a significant impact on the 

environment? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

Across the project area, the primary factors related to climate change include: (1) the effects of greenhouse 

gas emissions in wildland fire smoke to climate, and (2) the effects of climate change to forest ecosystems. 

Recent wildfires produced large amounts of greenhouse gases. Prior to the wildfires, a significant drought 

period from 2012 to 2016 and during 2021, concurrent insect mortality, warmer winters, smaller snowpacks, 

and earlier runoff periods resulted in high levels of tree mortality and heavy fuel loads across the region. 

 

Prolonged drought can promote drought-tolerant species, including invasive species. Additionally, drought 

can either positively or negatively affect pathogens and insects, depending on their life history requirements 

and the characteristics of the drought. Moderate drought, for example, can reduce bark beetle outbreaks, 

whereas long-term, severe droughts can weaken trees enough to cause an increase in outbreaks. The climatic 

features of drought (such as high temperatures, low relative humidity, higher minimum temperatures) can 

also change the fuel characteristics of an area. Examples of these drought-induced changes include increased 

dead fuels, lower live and dead fuel moisture, and lower soil moisture. Further, a drought may change the 

overall vegetation structure and composition that can lead to changes in fire behavior (Vose et al. 2016). 

 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed Lassen County Wildfire Recovery Project 

60 

 

Wildfires in untreated areas (no action) would produce more greenhouse gases than treated areas (proposed 

action). In addition, in untreated areas, heavy fuel loads combined with more frequent and severe droughts 

would increase the intensity of wildfires and increase damage to forest ecosystems.  

 

The Sierra Nevada region, which includes the project area, has already begun experiencing climate change in 

the form of higher nighttime temperatures, lower proportions of precipitation falling as snow rather than rain, 

decreased snowpack, and earlier peak flow in snow-fed streams. Climate models predict that these trends 

will continue and likely accelerate. By the end of the 21st century, temperatures in the Sierra Nevada are 

predicted to increase by as much as 6 to 10 degrees Fahrenheit. While climate models forecast a less 

dramatic change in total precipitation over this region, they indicate a shift toward greater extremes, 

including an increase in both the number of dry days and the amount of precipitation from the largest storms 

(Stephens and Frederick 2020).  

 

Although uncertainties abound, multiyear severe drought conditions in the Sierra Nevada correlate with an 

increase in both wildfire size and severity, a trend that is consistent throughout the Western United States. 

Drought conditions, which can perhaps more accurately be characterized by measures of climate water 

deficit, depend on the interplay between temperature, precipitation, and evapotranspiration demand.  Some 

researchers hypothesize that snowpack drives the relationship between drought and fire, where higher spring 

temperatures cause earlier and more rapid snowmelt. Rapid snowmelt is thought to contribute to a decrease 

in water uptake, lower live fuel moisture, and cause longer periods of dry soil conditions. Other researchers 

suggest that the timing of snowmelt is less important in determining fire activity than the direct effect of 

higher temperatures (and lower precipitation) in drying both live and dead fuels during the fire season. 

Warming and drying effects due to climate change were found to be a major factor in the 8-fold increase of 

summertime forest-fire area acres burned in California since the 1970s, although the best metric to evaluate 

wildfire effects over time is fire severity because it describes forest mortality patterns (Stephens and 

Frederick 2020).  

 

This information suggests that droughts are increasing in occurrence and severity in the project area and 

would increase mortality in dense green forest stands and stress and mortality to fire-damaged and unhealthy 

trees. Future fuel loadings would increase in the project area along with increases in wildfire intensity and 

extent.  

 

Direct and Indirect Effects: The primary effect of the proposed action to climate change would be 

greenhouse gases produced from burning slash piles. However, wildfires in treated areas (proposed action) 

would produce less greenhouse gases than untreated areas (no action).  

 

Equipment use over the project implementation timeframe would include dozens of gasoline or diesel fuel 

powered vehicles, chainsaws, and transportation trucks on any given day. The emissions the equipment 

would produce would be minor. In most circumstances, vehicle and equipment emissions disperse rapidly 

and in the potential concentrations caused by only dozens of vehicles or equipment would not cause National 

Ambient Air Quality Standards exceedances.  

 

Concerning the effects of climate change to future wildfire severity, some researchers and fire managers 

suggest that weather conditions have become more important than fuels in driving fire behavior. Steel et al. 

(2015) examined the relationship between fuels and fire behavior by examining how fire suppression has 

affected fire severity in different forest ecosystems in California. The authors tested the hypothesis that fire 

behavior is limited by fuel availability in some California forests where climatic conditions during the fire 

season are nearly always conducive to burning and the primary limiting factor for fire ignition and spread is 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed Lassen County Wildfire Recovery Project 

61 

 

the presence of sufficient fuel. In fuel-limited ecosystems, fire suppression results in increased fuels, leading 

to an increase in fire severity. The authors used time since last fire and fire return interval a surrogate for 

fuels accumulation resulting from fire suppression. They found that both are strongly positively related to 

fire severity in yellow pine and mixed conifer forests, and to a lesser extent in mixed evergreen and bigcone 

Douglas-fir forests, demonstrating that fire severity in these forest types is still driven by fuels. On the other 

hand, they found that time since last fire and fire return interval were not related to fire severity in red fir and 

redwood forest types and the Klamath Mountains bioregion where fire may be more limited by factors other 

than fuel loads, such as climatic conditions or ignition rates.  

 

This research shows that in yellow pine, mixed conifer, and mixed evergreen forest types there is a strong 

correlation between fuel accumulation and wildfire severity (fuel limited), and less so in the bigcone 

Douglas-fir forest type. It also shows that climate is the main driver of fire severity in red fir and redwood 

forest types and the Klamath Mountains bioregion. In both fuel-limited and climate-limited project areas, 

removing and reducing fuels would reduce wildfire severity and reduce some greenhouse gas emissions.  

 

Cumulative Effects: This project, in combination with current and future proposed fuels projects and 

continued interagency collaborative efforts to address fuels, could reduce the risk of recurring damaging 

wildfires in the future. Frequent prescribed fire and other fuels reduction and ecosystem maintenance 

treatments in and around the project area would cumulatively move the areas toward meeting desired 

conditions for fuels and greenhouse gas emissions. 

 

b) Would the project conflict with an applicable 

plan, policy or regulation adopted for the 

purpose of reducing the emissions of 

greenhouse gases? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

The project does not conflict with an applicable plan, policy or regulation adopted for the purpose of 

reducing the emissions of greenhouse gases. 

 

 

HAZARDS AND HAZARDOUS MATERIALS 

a) Would the project create a significant hazard to 

the public or the environment through the 

routine transport, use, or disposal of hazardous 

materials? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

Project operations would involve the routine transportation, use, or disposal of gasoline, oil and diesel used 

in the power equipment and as a fuel for torches, and herbicides for noxious weed treatments. Operations 

will follow all applicable state and federal laws.  

 

b) Would the project create a significant hazard to 

the public or the environment through 

reasonably foreseeable upset and/or accident 

conditions involving the release of hazardous 

materials into the environment? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed Lassen County Wildfire Recovery Project 

62 

 

Equipment used to implement the project will be fueled with diesel fuel.  A spill of this fuel could be 

hazardous to the environment.  Mitigation Measures BIO-AQUA #2-7, and HYD-1 are proposed to ensure 

that an accidental spill will not harm the environment.   

 

All personnel will wear the appropriate personal protection equipment.  Equipment used on this project will 

not be serviced in locations where grease, oil, or fuel could pass into a watercourse. The project does not 

present any unusual risks because all fuels will be handled safely and in accordance with standard best 

practices.  Furthermore, even in a worst-case spill scenario, the impacts of a spill of 10-100 gallons of diesel 

or gasoline, the maximum likely to be present on site at any time, in a remote area far from human habitation 

are not likely to be significant. 

c) Would the project emit hazardous emissions or 

handle hazardous or acutely hazardous 

materials, substances, or waste within one-

quarter mile of an existing or proposed school? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

No project activities are planned within ¼ miles of an existing or proposed school.  

 

d) Would the project be located on a site which is 

included on a list of hazardous materials sites 

compiled pursuant to Government Code § 

65962.5 and, as a result, would it create a 

significant hazard to the public or the 

environment? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

The project is not located on a hazardous materials site.  

 

e) For a project located within an airport land use 

plan or, where such a plan has not been 

adopted, within two miles of a public airport or 

public use airport, would the project result in a 

safety hazard or excessive noise for people 

residing or working in the project area? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

The project is not inside the Airport Overlay for any airport under the Lassen County General Plan, and it is 

not within 2 miles of any airport.  

 

f) Would the project impair implementation of 

or physically interfere with an adopted 

emergency response plan or emergency 

evacuation plan? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

Only a few people would be on the project site, so their evacuation would only add one or two vehicles to the 

remote rural roads that service the area.  This increase in evacuation traffic would be insignificant. The 

project is intended to slow future wildfire rate of spread, giving community residents more time to evacuate 

during any future wildfire event.  

 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed Lassen County Wildfire Recovery Project 

63 

 

g) Would the project expose people or structures, 

either directly or indirectly, to a significant risk 

of loss, injury, or death involving wildland 

fires? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

The project involves some prescribed fire, i.e., intentional fire ignition. However, the ignitions will take 

place under such controlled conditions and with such advanced levels of professional supervision that the 

risk of wildfire escape is not significant. While about 1-1.5% of prescribed fires do escape control, the vast 

majority of human-caused wildfires do not start as prescribed fires. Furthermore, the project will decrease 

future wildfire hazards.  This is because the thinner, patchier fuel profile post-project is expected to slow 

future wildfire rate of spread, decreasing the exposure of people and structures to risks from wildfire. 

 

 

HYDROLOGY AND WATER QUALITY 

a) Would the project violate any water quality 

standards or waste discharge requirements or 

otherwise substantially degrade surface or 

ground water quality? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

Post-fire soil erosion and sediment delivery are framed in terms of risk because the probability of sediment 

delivery is linked to weather events, which are unpredictable. For example, a burned watershed may see 

extensive hillslope erosion on high and moderate burn severity areas in the event of high-intensity 

precipitation but may not have measurable sediment inputs if storms are mild for the first few years 

following the fire.  

 

Sediment delivery risk falls over time, with most subwatersheds dropping to pre-fire conditions within 3 

years on low soil burn severity areas and typically within 5 to 10 years on high soil burn severity areas.  

 

Direct and Indirect Effects: Post-fire watersheds are at high risk of increased soil erosion and sediment 

delivery to streams until ground cover (vegetation, duff, and leaf litter) recovers. Wildfires typically result in 

increases in overland flow because organic matter and other vegetation consumed by fire no longer capture 

soil-water. This leads to higher streamflow and stream sediment, which could benefit or harm streams and 

water quality, depending on the quantity and duration. For example, higher baseflows can ameliorate effects 

of the current drought, whereas higher peak flows could increase sediment delivery and transport. Wildfires 

also increase coarse and large wood to streams over time. This is also largely beneficial, unless wood 

volumes are so high, they lead to fuel loadings outside the historical range, and set up the landscape for 

adverse soil burn severities from future fires. A wide range of conditions is found throughout the project 

area. 

 

Over time, dead and dying trees will fall to the ground and contribute to coarse and large wood volumes on 

the forest floor and within stream channels. The timeframe is highly variable; some trees will fall relatively 

quickly, while some may take many years. Initially, downed woody material can help stabilize hillslopes and 

riparian areas and help store sediment in stream channels. Wood recruitment is a natural and beneficial 

process; however, in excess can have adverse consequences. If the project is not implemented, an 

accumulation of excess fuels is likely. Where post-fire wood creates excessive fuel, it could lead to adverse 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed Lassen County Wildfire Recovery Project 

64 

 

fire effects in the event of a subsequent wildfire, such as high burn severity, elevated hydrophobicity (water 

repellency), and accelerated erosion 

 

Recent studies have shown that when successive high-severity fires occur, the negative impacts can be long-

lasting and even lead to shrub replacement of forest cover types (Coppoletta et al. 2020; Steele et al. 2021). 

The long-term effects of forest conversion on sediment delivery are not easily predicted, but forest 

conversion to shrubland is generally not desired. A forest floor, when functioning properly, provides much 

needed needle cast, leaf litter, duff, and ground cover vegetation to protect soils during disturbances. In the 

absence of treatments, there is a higher probability that successive wildfires would lead to adverse effects to 

watershed processes. The absence of treatment would likely contribute to the build-up of fuels, which could 

lead to accelerated soil erosion after subsequent fires.  

 

Equipment exclusion zone buffers protect streams from hillslope erosion resulting from project activities. 

Streams within and downstream of the project area are at very low risk of accelerated erosion and sediment 

delivery from treatments due to proposed mitigation measures. Thus, sediment delivery from treatments 

would be minor and short-term due to project-specific mitigation measures developed specifically for the 

post-fire condition.  

 

If the project is not implemented, road sediment delivery would continue, consistent with the existing 

condition. Wildfires would contribute to higher stream sediment, down wood, and debris that could increase 

the risk of culvert plugging and/or road failure in the absence of treatment. The long-term benefit of the 

proposed action is that fuels reduction can reduce the risk of detrimental impacts from successive high-

severity wildfires. Additional beneficial impacts would occur where long-term improvements to the road 

network are applied (for example, adding aggregate or installing drainage features).  Sediment increases 

would be reduced by applying mitigation measures, such as avoiding wet weather and improving road 

drainage at high delivery road segments.  

 

Mitigation measures BIO-AQUA #1-13, GEO #1-7 and HYD #1-5 have been proposed to reduce impacts to 

ground and surface waters to less than significant. 

Cumulative effects: The existing condition reflects the changes of all activities that have occurred in the past. 

The analysis of cumulative effects evaluates the impact on hydrology and water quality from the existing 

condition within the analysis area.  To understand the contribution of past actions to the cumulative effects of 

the proposed action, this analysis relies on current environmental conditions as a proxy for the impacts of 

past actions. This is because existing conditions reflect the aggregate impact of all prior human actions and 

natural events that have affected the environment and might contribute to cumulative effects to hydrology 

and water quality. Direct and indirect effects from proposed vegetation treatments are minimal and short in 

duration, and therefore long term cumulative effects are not expected.  

 

Implementing best management practices and project mitigation measures such as streamside equipment 

exclusion zones would effectively protect streams from excessive project generated sediment, assuring that 

cumulative effects of the project do not adversely affect beneficial uses of water. 

The design of this project is such that minimal effects to hydrology resources would be expected from the 

proposed action as discussed above.  Possible effects to water quality and riparian areas depend upon the 

extent and intensity of the treatments particularly those involving ground disturbances. Potential effects on 

water quality and cumulative watershed effects may include increases in sediment delivered to streams. Some 

of the riparian areas may be lightly burned, but the effect should not be significant. Although a short-term 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed Lassen County Wildfire Recovery Project 

65 

 

degradation could occur, reintroduction of fire into this landscape and movement toward a more natural fire 

regime would have a long-term benefit. Mitigation measures and best management practices all contribute to 

the prevention of sediment delivery to streams and impacts to riparian areas. The amount of actual sediment 

delivery is expected to be negligible. Therefore streams, water bodies and riparian area are expected to 

experience minimal, short-term and negligible effects within the project area. 

b) Would the project substantially decrease 

groundwater supplies or interfere substantially 

with groundwater recharge such that the 

project may impede sustainable groundwater 

management of the basin? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

The project involves no on-site water pumping and the off-site water pumping to fill water tender trucks will 

not be significant.   

 

c) Would the project substantially alter the 

existing drainage pattern of the site or area, 

including through the alteration of the course 

of a stream or river or through the addition of 

impervious surfaces, in a manner which 

would result in substantial on- or off-site 

erosion or siltation? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

The project will not alter drainage patterns or streamcourses or install any new impervious surfaces. 

 

d) Would the project substantially alter the 

existing drainage pattern of the site or area, 

including through the alteration of the course 

of a stream or river or through the addition of 

impervious surfaces, or substantially increase 

the rate or amount of surface runoff in a 

manner which would result in on- or off-site 

flooding? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

The project will not alter drainage patterns or streamcourses or install any new impervious surfaces. 

 

e) Would the project substantially alter the 

existing drainage pattern of the site or area, 

including through the alteration of the course 

of a stream or river or through the addition of 

impervious surfaces, or substantially increase 

the rate or amount of surface runoff in a 

manner which would create or contribute 

runoff water which would exceed the capacity 

of existing or planned stormwater drainage 

systems or provide substantial additional 

sources of polluted runoff? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

The project will not alter drainage patterns or streamcourses or install any new impervious surfaces. 

 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed Lassen County Wildfire Recovery Project 

66 

 

f) Would the project substantially alter the 

existing drainage pattern of the site or area, 

including through the alteration of the course 

of a stream or river or through the addition of 

impervious surfaces, or substantially increase 

the rate or amount of surface runoff in a 

manner which would impede or redirect flows 

 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

The project will not alter drainage patterns or streamcourses or install any new impervious surfaces. 

 

g) In flood hazard, tsunami, or seiche zones, 

would the project risk release of pollutants 

due to project inundation? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

The project is not in a flood hazard, tsunami, or seiche zone. 

 

h) Would the project conflict with or obstruct 

implementation of a water quality control plan 

or sustainable groundwater management plan? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

The project does not obstruct implementation of a water quality control plan or sustainable groundwater 

management plan. 

 

LAND USE AND PLANNING 

a) Would the project physically divide an 

established community? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

The project would not physically divide an established community. 

 

b) Would the project cause a significant 

environmental impact due to a conflict with 

any land use plan, policy, or regulation 

adopted for the purpose of avoiding or 

mitigating an environmental effect? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

Project activities will not alter any existing land use. The project complies with zoning and plan designations 

as documented in the Lassen County General Plan (2010).  

 

 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed Lassen County Wildfire Recovery Project 

67 

 

MINERAL RESOURCES 

a) Would the project result in the loss of 

availability of a known mineral resource that 

would be of value to the region and the 

residents of the state? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

The project site does not contain any known mineral resources of value or of local importance. 

 

b) Would the project result in the loss of 

availability of a locally important mineral 

resource recovery site delineated on a local 

general plan, specific plan, or other land use 

plan? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

The project does not change the future availability of any mineral resources. 

 

 

NOISE 

a) Would the project result in generation of a 

substantial temporary or permanent increase 

in ambient noise levels in the vicinity of the 

project in excess of standards established in 

the local general plan or noise ordinance, or in 

other applicable local, state, or federal 

standards? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

Project implementation will require equipment use.  Once the work is complete, the project site will return to 

its natural state with no new sources of noise other than those already existing. There will be temporary noise 

during project implementation.  

 

b) Would the project result in generation of 

excessive groundborne vibration or 

groundborne noise levels? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

The land management activities contemplated in the project description will not generate groundborne noise 

or vibrations.  

 

c) For a project located within the vicinity of a 

private airstrip or an airport land use plan or, 

where such a plan has not been adopted, 

within two miles of a public airport or public 

use airport, would the project expose people 

residing or working in the project area to 

excessive noise levels? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

The project is not within an airport land use plan overlay or within 2 miles of any airport. 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed Lassen County Wildfire Recovery Project 

68 

 

 

 

POPULATION AND HOUSING 

a) Would the project induce substantial 

unplanned population growth in an area, either 

directly (for example, by proposing new homes 

and businesses) or indirectly (for example, 

through extension of roads or other 

infrastructure)? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

There are no proposed activities that would directly or indirectly promote population growth in the area. 

 

b) Would the project displace substantial numbers 

of existing people or housing, necessitating the 

construction of replacement housing 

elsewhere? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

The proposed project activities will not result in the displacement of people or housing 

 

PUBLIC SERVICES 

a) Would the project result in substantial adverse 

physical impacts associated with the provision 

of new or physically altered governmental 

facilities, or the need for new or physically 

altered governmental facilities, the 

construction of which could cause significant 

environmental impacts, in order to maintain 

acceptable service ratios, response times, or 

other performance objectives for fire 

protection? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

The project will not impact the provision, or the need for governmental facilities.  The project will not 

impact existing fire protection services. 

 

b) Would the project result in substantial adverse 

physical impacts associated with the provision 

of new or physically altered governmental 

facilities, or the need for new or physically 

altered governmental facilities, the 

construction of which could cause significant 

environmental impacts, in order to maintain 

acceptable service ratios, response times, or 

other performance objectives for police 

protection? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

The project will not impact the provision, or the need for governmental facilities.  The project will not 

impact existing police protection services. 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed Lassen County Wildfire Recovery Project 

69 

 

 

c) Would the project result in substantial adverse 

physical impacts associated with the provision 

of new or physically altered governmental 

facilities, or the need for new or physically 

altered governmental facilities, the 

construction of which could cause significant 

environmental impacts, in order to maintain 

acceptable service ratios, response times, or 

other performance objectives for schools? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

The project will not impact the provision, or the need for governmental facilities.  The project will not 

impact existing school services. 

 

d) Would the project result in substantial 

adverse physical impacts associated with the 

provision of new or physically altered 

governmental facilities, or the need for new 

or physically altered governmental facilities, 

the construction of which could cause 

significant environmental impacts, in order to 

maintain acceptable service ratios, response 

times, or other performance objectives for 

parks? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

The project will not impact the provision, or the need for governmental facilities.  The project will not 

impact existing park services. 

 

e) Would the project result in substantial adverse 

physical impacts associated with the provision 

of new or physically altered governmental 

facilities, or the need for new or physically 

altered governmental facilities, the 

construction of which could cause significant 

environmental impacts, in order to maintain 

acceptable service ratios, response times, or 

other performance objectives for other public 

facilities? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

The project will not impact the provision, or the need for governmental facilities.  The project will not 

impact existing public facilities. 

 

 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed Lassen County Wildfire Recovery Project 

70 

 

RECREATION 

a) Would the project increase the use of existing 

neighborhood and regional parks or other 

recreational facilities such that substantial 

physical deterioration of the facility would 

occur or be accelerated? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

The project will not increase the use of existing neighborhood and regional parks or other recreation 

facilities. 

 

b) Would the project include recreational 

facilities or require the construction or 

expansion of recreational facilities that might 

have an adverse physical effect on the 

environment? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

The project does not include, construct, or expand any recreational facilities. 

 

 

TRANSPORTATION 

a) Would the project conflict with a program, 

plan, ordinance or policy addressing the 

circulation system, including transit, roadway, 

bicycle and pedestrian facilities? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

There are seasonal private roads within the project area that are accessed through locked property gates and 

are used only by those with permission to access the properties. The project does not alter any existing 

roadways. Because of locked gates, these internal roads have no users other than those with permission. 

Therefore, this project will have no impact on traffic circulation patterns. Roads used to access the project 

site include Hwy 395, Hwy 36, and Hwy 44 and numerous County Roads. Mitigation Measure HYD-3 

stipulates that project proponents and project contractors will be responsible for protecting Caltrans and 

Lassen County assets, including waterways and culverts within road easements on roads used to access the 

project site. 

b) Would the project conflict or be inconsistent 

with CEQA Guidelines § 15064.3(b)? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

While this project will require some vehicle miles traveled, the increase will be temporary and project-

focused and will not exceed a threshold of significance. The project will not result in any sustained change in 

vehicle miles traveled in the region. 

c) Would the project substantially increase 

hazards due to a geometric design feature (e.g., 

sharp curves or dangerous intersections) or 

incompatible uses (e.g., farm equipment)? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed Lassen County Wildfire Recovery Project 

71 

 

The project does not include any alteration in the design or use of existing transportation systems. 

d) Would the project result in inadequate 

emergency access? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

No road will be altered in such a way as to decrease emergency access. A goal of the project is to improve 

ingress and egress within the project area for wildfire protection and recreational use. 

 

TRIBAL CULTURAL RESOURCES 

a) Would the project cause a substantial adverse 

change in the  significance of a tribal cultural 

resource, defined in Public Resources Code § 

21074 as either a site, feature, place, cultural 

landscape that is geographically defined in 

terms of the size and scope of the landscape, 

sacred place, or object with cultural value to a 

California Native American tribe, and that is 

listed or eligible for listing in the California 

Register of  Historical Resources, or in a local 

register of historical resources as defined in 

Public Resources Code § 5020.1(k)? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

The CAL FIRE Native American contact list (Cal FIRE 2024) and CA Native American Heritage 

Commission contact list (NAHC 2024) identifies the following Tribes and tribal groups as having aboriginal 

ties to, and interest in, projects that occur in Lassen County: 

 Estom Yumeka Maidu Tribe of the Enterprise Rancheria 

 Greenville Rancheria of Maidu Indians; 

 Honey Lake Maidu 

 Maidu Cultural and Development Group;  

 Mooretown Rancheria; 

 Pit River Tribe of California 

 Susanville Indian Rancheria 

 Tasman Koyom Indian Foundation 

 Tsi Akim Maidu; 

 United Auburn Indian Community of the Auburn Rancheria 

 Wadatakuta Band of Northern Paiute of the Honey Lake Valley 

 Washoe Tribe of California and Nevada 

 

These Tribes and groups have sacred sites that are not always identified through archaeological surveys, 

including cemeteries, places of prayer, and unique geologic features that are important to their creation 

stories and history. 

 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed Lassen County Wildfire Recovery Project 

72 

 

Scoping letters, including a description of the proposed action, request for confidential information, and an 

invitation to consult on the project was mailed or emailed to the Tribes and groups listed above, as well as the 

Native American Heritage Commission (NAHC) on February 6, 2024. The NAHC Sacred Lands File (SLF) 

search was positive, and consultation with Tribes is underway to ensure that the sacred site is not impacted 

by the proposed project.  Susanville Indian Rancheria (SIR) lands are within the project area, and SIR is 

interested in participating in the project to restore native habitats on their lands. SIR is also interested in 

reintroducing cultural burns and supportive of efforts to restore habitats within the region to pre-contact 

conditions. One of projects main goals is to provide for the safe and permanent re-introduction of prescribed 

and cultural fire as a stewardship tool.  

 

The project will enhance living cultural resources (e.g. plants and animals). Mitigation Measure CUL-1: 

Avoidance of Cultural Resources; Mitigation Measure CUL-2: Unanticipated Discovery of Cultural 

Resources; and Mitigation Measure CUL-3: Encountering Native American Remains all detailed on page 

13, would be employed and applied to all cultural resources within the project area, including those 

identified by Tribes as significant. The project would have positive indirect and cumulative effects on 

cultural resources because of reduced potential for high intensity wildfire to impact sites. 

 

b) Would the project cause a substantial adverse 

change in the  significance of a tribal cultural 

resource, defined in Public Resources Code § 

21074 as either a site, feature, place, cultural 

landscape that is geographically defined in 

terms of the size and scope of the landscape, 

sacred place, or object with cultural value to a 

California Native American tribe, and that is: 

A resource determined by the lead agency, in 

its discretion and supported by substantial 

evidence, to be significant pursuant to criteria 

set forth in subdivision (c) of Public 

Resources Code § 5024.1?  In applying the 

criteria set forth in subdivision (c) of Public 

Resource Code § 5024.1, the lead agency shall 

consider the significance of the resource to a 

California Native American tribe. 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

The project will enhance living cultural resources (e.g. plants and animals). Mitigation Measure 

CUL-1: Avoidance of Cultural Resources; Mitigation Measure CUL-2: Unanticipated Discovery of 

Cultural Resources; and Mitigation Measure CUL-3: Encountering Native American Remains all 

detailed on page 13 will be employed and applied to all cultural resources within the project area, 

including those identified by Tribes as significant. The project would have a positive indirect effect on 

cultural resources because of reduced potential for high intensity wildfire. 

 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed Lassen County Wildfire Recovery Project 

73 

 

UTILITIES AND SERVICE SYSTEMS 

a) Would the project require or result in the 

relocation or construction of new or expanded 

water, wastewater treatment or storm water 

drainage, electric power, natural gas, or 

telecommunications facilities, the 

construction or relocation of which could 

cause significant environmental effects? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

The project will not result in the relocation or construction of new utilities. 

 

b) Would the project have sufficient water 

supplies available to serve the project and 

reasonably foreseeable future development 

during normal, dry and multiple dry years? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

The project is a restoration project that will not affect utilities. 

 

c) Would the project result in a determination by 

the wastewater treatment provider that serves 

or may serve the project that it has adequate 

capacity to serve the project’s projected 

demand, in addition to the provider’s existing 

commitments? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

The project does not involve the use of utilities or public service systems. 

 

d) Would the project generate solid waste in 

excess of State or local standards, or in excess 

of the capacity of local infrastructure, or 

otherwise impair the attainment of solid waste 

reduction goals? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 

 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

The project will not generate solid waste in excess of State or local standards, or in excess of the capacity of 

local infrastructure 

 

e) Would the project comply with federal, state, 

and local management and reduction statutes 

and regulations related to solid waste? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

The project will comply with federal, state, and local management and reduction statutes and regulations 

related to solid waste. 

 

 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed Lassen County Wildfire Recovery Project 

74 

 

WILDFIRE 

a) If located in or near state responsibility areas 

or lands classified as very high fire hazard 

severity zones, would the project substantially 

impair an adopted emergency response plan 

or emergency evacuation plan? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

Recent wildfires have resulted in an abundance of dead and dying trees, especially in areas of high burn 

severity (the majority of the project area). Over time, dead and dying trees will fall to the ground and 

contribute to coarse and large wood volumes on the forest floor. The timeframe is highly variable; some trees 

will fall relatively quickly, while some may take many years. Wood recruitment is a natural and beneficial 

process; however, in excess can have adverse consequences. If the project is not implemented, an 

accumulation of excess fuels is likely. Where post-fire wood creates excessive fuel, it could lead to adverse 

fire effects in the event of a subsequent wildfire, such as high burn severity. The project, as designed, will 

reduce fire intensity, thereby making it safer for emergency personnel to respond to a future fire. The 

wildfire may be contained sooner with reduced area burned at high intensity. The reduced number of acres or 

fire intensity will have benefits to other resource, including environmental resources, public health, and 

public and firefighter safety.  

 

The project places such small and incidental demands on local roads and fire protection services that it will 

not substantially impair an adopted emergency response plan or emergency evacuation plan. 

b) If located in or near state responsibility areas 

or lands classified as very high fire hazard 

severity zones, would the project due to slope, 

prevailing winds, and other factors, 

exacerbate wildfire risks, and thereby expose 

project occupants to, pollutant concentrations 

from a wildfire or the uncontrolled spread of a 

wildfire? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

The desired fire intensity is low to moderate for proposed prescribed fires. A prescribed burn plan will be 

developed for each proposed prescribed fire prior to implementation that outlines the parameters (timing, 

weather, fuel moisture, etc…) necessary to implement the project to ensure that the fire remains low to 

moderate intensity and does not escape the project perimeter as well as identify protocols should the fire 

escape (See Mitigation Measure FIRE-1: Burn Plan).  All prescribed fire activities carry a risk of fire 

escape, but the project design has reduced this risk below a significant level. By conducting burns in the off-

season and with highly trained fire professionals on site, the project reduces the risk of wildfire below the 

level of risk associated with the no-project alternative.  Spotting outside of fire lines should not be a problem 

with correct firing methods and weather patterns as prescribed in the burn plan. Tree ringing (clearing fuel 

away from the base of trees) in advance of burning will reduce tree mortality and spotting potential.  

Perimeter fire lines (roads and existing trails) will be in place and black line will be added to strengthen 

control lines as needed. Furthermore, by reducing fuels while leaving slope and other factors unchanged, the 

project will reduce, not exacerbate the effects of any future wildfire. 

 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed Lassen County Wildfire Recovery Project 

75 

 

c) If located in or near state responsibility areas 

or lands classified as very high fire hazard 

severity zones, would the project require the 

installation or maintenance of associated 

infrastructure (such as roads, fuel breaks, 

emergency water sources, power lines or other 

utilities) that may exacerbate fire risk or that 

may result in temporary or ongoing impacts to 

the environment? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 

 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

The project will require some road maintenance, which comes with an extremely small incidental fire risk.  

Most project personnel will be trained fire professionals, which reduces the risk that the project will start an 

uncontrolled wildfire. 

d) If located in or near state responsibility areas 

or lands classified as very high fire hazard 

severity zones, would the project expose 

people or structures to significant risks, 

including downslope or downstream flooding 

or landslides, as a result of runoff, post-fire 

slope instability, or drainage changes? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

All prescribed fire carries some risk of increased runoff and siltation during subsequent storms, but the 

project’s remote location and buffers to perennial streams reduce the hazard of runoff/flooding and 

landslides resulting from the prescribed fire component of the project.  Furthermore, by reducing the likely 

severity of future fires, the project reduces the future flooding/landslide hazard to people and structures 

downstream, compared to the no-project alternative. 

 

MANDATORY FINDINGS OF SIGNIFICANCE 

a) Would the project have the potential to 

substantially degrade the quality of the 

environment, substantially reduce the habitat 

of a fish or wildlife species, cause a fish or 

wildlife population to drop below self-

sustaining levels, threaten to eliminate a plant 

or animal community, substantially reduce the 

number or restrict the range of an endangered, 

rare, or threatened species, or eliminate 

important examples of the major periods of 

California history or prehistory? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

The project will restore forests and woodland impacted by recent fires. In the long-term these treatments will 

increase habitat suitability for a wide range of native species while reducing invasive species, reduce fuel 

loads to lower burn severity for future fires, and improve ingress/egress for emergency personnel.  The 

project will result in some species being less abundant and some being more abundant, but these shifts in 

abundance will be within the natural range of variation and will not lead to listing of any species.  Careful 

study has resulted in a project design extremely unlikely, in the opinion of wildlife and botany specialists, to 

substantially degrade the quality of the environment, substantially reduce the habitat of a fish or wildlife 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed Lassen County Wildfire Recovery Project 

76 

 

species, cause a fish or wildlife population to drop below self-sustaining levels to eliminate a plant or animal 

community, substantially reduce the number or restrict the range of a rare or endangered plant or animal.  

 

According to the opinions of archaeologists and tribal cultural resources experts, the project, with mitigations 

incorporated, will not eliminate any important examples of the major periods of California history or 

prehistory. 
 

With the implementation of mitigation measures included in the Initial Study, the proposed project would not 

degrade the quality of the environment; result in an adverse impact on fish, wildlife, or plant species 

including special status species, or prehistoric or historic cultural resources.  

 

b) Would the project have impacts that are 

individually limited, but cumulatively 

considerable? (“Cumulatively considerable” 

means that the incremental effects of a project 

are considerable when viewed in connection 

with the effects of past projects, the effects of 

other current projects, and the effects of 

probable future projects.) 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

The cumulative effects of wide scale efforts to remove dead/dying trees impacted by wildfire and restore 

these areas, overall, is ecologically positive.  Cumulative negative impacts could include that some species 

will be less abundant and some drainages could experience transient peaks in siltation, however, these 

impacts will be less than significant when compared to the likely catastrophic wildfire impacts of not 

improving ecosystem health and reducing fuel loads.   

 

Individual impacts are limited with this project and cumulatively are not considerable when viewed in 

connection to past or future projects.   

 

c) Would the project have environmental effects 

that would cause substantial adverse effects on 

human beings, either directly or indirectly? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

This project does not have environmental effects which will cause substantial adverse effects on human 

beings. Restoring forests and woodlands impacted by recent fires, will improve aesthetics, economics, and 

recreational opportunities for human beings. 

 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed Lassen County Wildfire Recovery Project 

77 

 

APPENDIX A 

Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Plan 

In accordance with CEQA Guidelines § 15074(d), when adopting a mitigated negative declaration, the lead 

agency will adopt a mitigation monitoring and reporting plan (MMRP) that ensures compliance with 

mitigation measures required for project approval. Honey Lake Valley RCD is the lead agency for the above-

listed project and has developed this MMRP as a part of the final IS-MND supporting the project. This 

MMRP lists the mitigation measures developed in the IS-MND that were designed to reduce environmental 

impacts to a less-than-significant level.  This MMRP also identifies the party responsible for implementing 

the measure, defines when the mitigation measure must be implemented, and which party or public agency is 

responsible for ensuring compliance with the measure. 

 

POTENTIALLY SIGNIFICANT EFFECTS AND MITIGATION MEASURES 

The following is a list of the resources that will be potentially affected by the project and the mitigation 

measures made part of the Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration. 

 

Botany: 

Mitigation Measure BIO-BOT-1: Sensitive Plants - Known populations of federally threatened, 

endangered, proposed, and candidate, and State threatened, endangered, and rare (Ranks 1 and 2) sensitive 

plant, lichen, or fungi species shall be flagged for avoidance. Ground-disturbing activities and spreading 

chips or slash materials shall be prohibited within flagged areas. When necessary, hand felling of trees and 

end-lining of logs may be conducted within occurrences if it is determined by a botanist that effects would be 

minimal or there will be beneficial effects based on the site or habitat conditions. Piles and fire lines shall be 

located outside of flagged areas.  

Schedule: Prior to and during project implementation 

Responsible Party: Project partners implementing the project and project contractors 

Verification of Compliance: 

Monitoring Party: Project partner implementing the project. 

Initials:  ____________ 

Date:     ____________ 
 

 

Mitigation Measure BIO-BOT-2: New Sensitive Plant Discoveries - In the event any new populations of 

federally threatened, endangered, proposed, and candidate, and State threatened, endangered, and sensitive 

(California Native Plant Society Rare plants Ranks 1 and 2) plant, lichen or fungi species are discovered 

during the various phases of the project, the area will be flagged and avoided until a botanist is consulted for 

mitigation measure applicability.  

Schedule: Prior to and during project implementation 

Responsible Party: Project partners implementing the project and project contractors 

Verification of Compliance: 

Monitoring Party: Project partner implementing the project. 

Initials:  ____________ 

Date:     ____________ 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed Lassen County Wildfire Recovery Project 

78 

 

 

Mitigation Measure BIO-BOT-3: Felling Adjacent to Sensitive Plant Populations – Dead/dying trees 

adjacent to flagged populations of federally threatened, endangered, proposed, and candidate, and State 

threatened, endangered, and rare (Ranks 1 and 2) plant, lichen, or fungi species will be directionally felled 

away from the flagged area to avoid disturbing the population. Only remove directionally felled trees if 

ground disturbance within the flagged area can be avoided. If directional felling cannot be done due to safety 

concerns, fell as necessary and leave on-site. This requirement may be waived by a botanist depending on the 

species present and its phenology. Flagging will be used to delineate avoidance boundaries.  

Schedule: During project implementation 

Responsible Party: Project partners implementing the project and project contractors 

Verification of Compliance: 

Monitoring Party: Project partner implementing the project. 

Initials:  ____________ 

Date:     ____________ 

 

Mitigation Measure BIO-BOT-4: Felling within Flagged Sensitive Plant Populations – Dead/dying trees 

located within flagged avoidance areas may be felled but must be left on-site to avoid ground disturbance 

unless removal can occur with minimal effects in consultation with a botanist. Flagging will be used to 

delineate avoidance areas.  

Schedule: During project implementation 

Responsible Party: Project partners implementing the project and project contractors 

Verification of Compliance: 

Monitoring Party: Project partner implementing the project. 

Initials:  ____________ 

Date:     ____________ 
 

Mitigation Measure BIO-BOT-5: Special Plant Habitats - Special habitat types which support unique plant 

communities (such as serpentine, lava caps, pumice flats, rock outcrops, and seeps and springs) will be 

avoided. This requirement may be waived by a botanist if ground disturbance can be avoided.  

Schedule: Prior to and during project implementation 

Responsible Party: Project partners implementing the project and project contractors 

Verification of Compliance: 

Monitoring Party: Project partner implementing the project. 

Initials:  ____________ 

Date:     ____________ 
 

Non-Native Invasive Species: 

Mitigation Measure BIO-INV-1: Cleaning of Equipment - All equipment to be used off-road would be 

cleaned using either washing or high-pressure air and visually inspected before moving into the project area 

to ensure equipment is free of soil, plant propagules, or other debris that may contain invasive plant seeds. 

All equipment working in infested areas will be cleaned prior to leaving the infested area.  

Schedule: During project implementation 

Responsible Party: Project partners implementing the project and project contractors 

Verification of Compliance: 

Monitoring Party: Project partner implementing the project. 

Initials:  ____________ 

Date:     ____________ 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed Lassen County Wildfire Recovery Project 

79 

 

 

Mitigation Measure BIO-INV-2: Weed Free Materials - Any source that provides material such as rock, 

gravel, or boulders to be used in the project area would be inspected and determined to have limited potential 

for the spread of invasive plants. Material stockpiles must be noxious weed free.  

Schedule: During project implementation 

Responsible Party: Project partners implementing the project and project contractors 

Verification of Compliance: 

Monitoring Party: Project partner implementing the project. 

Initials:  ____________ 

Date:     ____________ 
 

Mitigation Measure BIO-INV-3: Weed Free Straw - Any straw or seed placed within the project area must 

be California-certified weed-free and the seed mix approved by a botanist. Other materials to be used as 

mulch, for which a state inspection protocol does not exist (such as wood chips, local materials) would be 

inspected by a botanist to determine the potential for spread of invasive plants. Post-project monitoring 

would occur in areas where imported materials are used.  

Schedule: During project implementation 

Responsible Party: Project partners implementing the project and project contractors 

Verification of Compliance: 

Monitoring Party: Project partner implementing the project. 

Initials:  ____________ 

Date:     ____________ 
 

Mitigation Measure BIO-INV-4: Equipment and Flagged Sites - Equipment, vehicles, and personnel will 

avoid working within flagged invasive plant sites. Flagging will be used to delineate avoidance boundaries. 

If infestation cannot be avoided, consult with a botanist for risk minimization strategies.  

Schedule: Prior to and during project implementation 

Responsible Party: Project partners implementing the project and project contractors 

Verification of Compliance: 

Monitoring Party: Project partner implementing the project. 

Initials:  ____________ 

Date:     ____________ 
 

Mitigation Measure BIO-INV-5: Invasive Discoveries - Any additional infestations discovered prior to or 

during project implementation would be flagged and avoided. Report new infestations to a botanist.  

Schedule: Prior to and during project implementation 

Responsible Party: Project partners implementing the project and project contractors 

Verification of Compliance: 

Monitoring Party: Project partner implementing the project. 

Initials:  ____________ 

Date:     ____________ 
 

Fisheries and Aquatics: 

Mitigation Measure BIO-AQUA-1: Burn pile placement - No burn piles shall be placed within the 

Watercourse and Lake Protection Zone (WLPZ) for watercourses, lakes, meadows, fens, or springs. 

Schedule: During project implementation 

Responsible Party: Project partners implementing the project and project contractors 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed Lassen County Wildfire Recovery Project 

80 

 

Verification of Compliance: 

Monitoring Party: Project partner implementing the project. 

Initials:  ____________ 

Date:     ____________ 
 

 

Mitigation Measure BIO-AQUA-2: Water drafting sites - Identify water sources on project implementation 

maps. Consult with the Registered Professional Forester to obtain approval for use of additional water 

drafting locations and to determine whether the location represents suitable habitat for sensitive aquatic 

species.  

Schedule: Prior to and during project implementation 

Responsible Party: Project partners implementing the project and project contractors 

Verification of Compliance: 

Monitoring Party: Project partner implementing the project. 

Initials:  ____________ 

Date:     ____________ 
 

Mitigation Measure BIO-AQUA-3: In-Channel drafting sites - In-channel water drafting locations shall 

include rocking of approaches, barrier rock, straw bales, or other measures to prevent overflow and leaks 

from entering the watercourse.  

Schedule: During project implementation 

Responsible Party: Project partners implementing the project and project contractors 

Verification of Compliance: 

Monitoring Party: Project partner implementing the project. 

Initials:  ____________ 

Date:     ____________ 
 

Mitigation Measure BIO-AQUA-4: Water drafting site survey and approval- Survey all proposed water 

drafting locations for sensitive and listed amphibians and receive approval from a biologist prior to use. Use 

drafting devices with 2 millimeter or less screening, and place hose intake into bucket in the deepest part of 

the pool. Use a low velocity water pump, do not exceed 50% of the flow,  and do not pump ponds to low 

levels beyond which they cannot recover quickly (approximately 1 hour).  

Schedule: Prior to and during project implementation 

Responsible Party: Project partners implementing the project and project contractors 

Verification of Compliance: 

Monitoring Party: Project partner implementing the project. 

Initials:  ____________ 

Date:     ____________ 
 

Mitigation Measure BIO-AQUA-5: Water drafting in fish-bearing streams - For fish-bearing streams, the 

water drafting rate should not exceed 350 gallons per minute for streamflow greater than or equal to 4 cubic 

feet per second, nor exceed 20 percent of surface flows for streamflow less than 4 cubic feet per second. For 

non-fish-bearing streams, the drafting rate should not exceed 350 gallons per minute for streamflow greater 

than or equal to 2 cubic feet per second, nor exceed 50 percent of surface flows. Water drafting should cease 

when bypass surface flows drop below 1.5 cubic feet per second on fish-bearing streams and 10 gallons per 

minute on non-fish-bearing streams.  

Schedule: During project implementation 

Responsible Party: Project partners implementing the project and project contractors 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed Lassen County Wildfire Recovery Project 

81 

 

Verification of Compliance: 

Monitoring Party: Project partner implementing the project. 

Initials:  ____________ 

Date:     ____________ 
 

Mitigation Measure BIO-AQUA-6: Dust Abatement in Riparian Areas with Sensitive Species - Only use 

water as dust abatement in riparian areas known to be occupied with sensitive status species.  

Schedule: During project implementation 

Responsible Party: Project partners implementing the project and project contractors 

Verification of Compliance: 

Monitoring Party: Project partner implementing the project. 

Initials:  ____________ 

Date:     ____________ 
 

Mitigation Measure BIO-AQUA-7: Hazardous spills - Any hazardous spills will be immediately cleaned 

up and reported to the responsible party.  

Schedule: During project implementation 

Responsible Party: Project partners implementing the project and project contractors 

Verification of Compliance: 

Monitoring Party: Project partner implementing the project. 

Initials:  ____________ 

Date:     ____________ 
 

Mitigation Measure BIO-AQAU-8: Western pond turtle - Within areas identified as high-quality western 

pond turtle habitat by the biologist prior to implementation, avoid placing piles in open, grassy patches. Do 

not fell trees across these habitats wherever practical.  

Schedule: Prior to and during project implementation 

Responsible Party: Project partners implementing the project and project contractors 

Verification of Compliance: 

Monitoring Party: Project partner implementing the project. 

Initials:  ____________ 

Date:     ____________ 
 

Mitigation Measure BIO-AQUA-9: Vernal Pools - Activities within 250 feet of vernal pools will occur 

only once the ground surface is completely dry (typically June 1 to October 31 but will vary year to year). 

No activity will occur within the vernal pool. A biologist will be present for ground- and vegetation-

disturbing activities conducted within 250 feet of vernal pool habitat. Personnel will utilize existing 

roadways within 250 feet of vernal pools whenever possible. If not using an existing roadway, only rubber-

tired vehicles will be utilized within vernal pool upland areas. Driving through vernal pools at any time of 

year will be avoided. Any trees felled within 250 feet of a vernal pool will be directionally felled away from 

the vernal pool.  

Schedule: Prior to and during project implementation 

Responsible Party: Project partners implementing the project and project contractors 

Verification of Compliance: 

Monitoring Party: Project partner implementing the project. 

Initials:  ____________ 

Date:     ____________ 
 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed Lassen County Wildfire Recovery Project 

82 

 

Mitigation Measure BIO-AQUA-10: Fiber netting and Frogs - Tightly woven fiber netting, synthetic 

materials, or similar material shall not be used for erosion control or other purposes within suitable habitat to 

ensure the foothill yellow-legged frog, Sierra Nevada yellow-legged frog, or cascade frog do not get trapped, 

injured, or killed.  

Schedule: During project implementation 

Responsible Party: Project partners implementing the project and project contractors 

Verification of Compliance: 

Monitoring Party: Project partner implementing the project. 

Initials:  ____________ 

Date:     ____________ 
 

Mitigation Measure BIO-AQUA-11: Stream Crossings and Water Drafting Sites - Ensure that culverts or 

other stream crossings do not create barriers to upstream or downstream passage for aquatic-dependent 

species. Locate water drafting sites to avoid adverse effects to in-stream flows and depletion of pool habitat. 

Where possible, maintain and restore the timing, variability, and duration of floodplain inundation and water 

table elevation in meadows, wetlands, and other special aquatic features.  

Schedule: During project implementation 

Responsible Party: Project partners implementing the project and project contractors 

Verification of Compliance: 

Monitoring Party: Project partner implementing the project. 

Initials:  ____________ 

Date:     ____________ 
 

Mitigation Measure BIO-AQUA-12: Frogs and Rain - Foothill yellow-legged frog, Sierra Nevada 

yellow-legged frog, and Cascade Frog: For all activities in occupied or suitable habitat, if there is a 70 

percent or greater forecasted rain event of 0.25-inch or greater, work activities will be postponed until site 

conditions are dry enough to avoid potential impacts.  

Schedule: During project implementation 

Responsible Party: Project partners implementing the project and project contractors 

Verification of Compliance: 

Monitoring Party: Project partner implementing the project. 

Initials:  ____________ 

Date:     ____________ 
 

Mitigation Measure BIO-AQUA-13: Buffers for Frogs - Foothill yellow-legged frog, Sierra Nevada 

yellow-legged frog, and Cascade Frog: Within the riparian areas with known or suspected occupancy or 

their designated or proposed critical habitat, use handheld equipment (chainsaws) and walk in and out using 

the same pathway. Do not create any skid trails or burn piles within these areas. Areas of occurrence for all 

species include reaches 0.3 miles upstream and downstream plus all associated wet meadows. Areas of 

occurrence are as follows into the uplands areas: California red-legged frog: 0.3 mile Sierra Nevada yellow-

legged frog and Mountain yellow-legged frog: 82 feet Foothill yellow-legged frog: 100 feet (distance may 

change) Yosemite toad: 0.78 mile  

Schedule: During project implementation 

Responsible Party: Project partners implementing the project and project contractors 

Verification of Compliance: 

Monitoring Party: Project partner implementing the project. 

Initials:  ____________ 

Date:     ____________ 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed Lassen County Wildfire Recovery Project 

83 

 

 

Wildlife: 

Mitigation Measure BIO-WILD-1: Large downed woody material - To the greatest extent possible, retain 

downed woody material with a large end diameter greater than 30 inches, or of the largest size class 

available, that was present prior to the wildfire. Do not buck up, and avoid moving these large, pre-existing 

downed logs during treatment wherever practicable.  

Schedule: During project implementation 

Responsible Party: Project partners implementing the project and project contractors 

Verification of Compliance: 

Monitoring Party: Project partner implementing the project. 

Initials:  ____________ 

Date:     ____________ 
 

Mitigation Measure BIO-WILD-2: Pre-Fire Snags and Downed Logs - Unless a hazard to a road, 

structure, or a threat to human safety, retain all snags and downed logs that were present prior to the recent 

fires. If large diameter pre-fire, old-growth, legacy trees (old trees that have been spared during harvest or 

have survived stand replacing natural disturbance), or snags are fallen as hazards, retain them whole as 

downed logs and do not buck or pile. If the downed log is a safety threat, move it to a safe location as intact 

as possible. Large-diameter (>30” dbh at stump height) and old-growth conifer snags or legacy trees with 

deformities such as cat faces, broken tops, hollows, or cavities are prioritized for retention when evaluating 

fuel levels.  

Schedule: During project implementation 

Responsible Party: Project partners implementing the project and project contractors 

Verification of Compliance: 

Monitoring Party: Project partner implementing the project. 

Initials:  ____________ 

Date:     ____________ 
 

Mitigation Measure BIO-WILD-3: Hardwood snags - Unless a hazard to a road, or human safety retain all 

hardwood snags (larger than 16 inches diameter at breast height). 

Schedule: During project implementation 

Responsible Party: Project partners implementing the project and project contractors 

Verification of Compliance: 

Monitoring Party: Project partner implementing the project. 

Initials:  ____________ 

Date:     ____________ 
 

Mitigation Measure BIO-WILD-4: Downed Logs - Unless a hazard to a road, structure, or human safety 

where available retain an average of 5 to 8 downed logs per acre in uplands and 4 to 6 downed logs per acre 

in riparian areas of the largest size class (larger than 20 inches diameter at breast height, over 10 feet in 

length). Preference is to retain logs within riparian areas and away from roads. Numbers of downed logs can 

vary on any particular acre and should be an average for the landscape or treatment area.  

Schedule: During project implementation 

Responsible Party: Project partners implementing the project and project contractors 

Verification of Compliance: 

Monitoring Party: Project partner implementing the project. 

Initials:  ____________ 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed Lassen County Wildfire Recovery Project 

84 

 

Date:     ____________ 
 

Mitigation Measure BIO-WILD-5: Bald Eagle: Dead/dying trees located within 0.25 mile of active bald 

eagle territory will be evaluated by a biologist prior to felling to establish whether they contain nests or are 

important pilot or perch trees. If a tree contains a nest, or is an important pilot tree, it will not be felled 

between January 1 and August 31 unless it is an immediate threat to human safety. No project actions that 

result in loud or continuous noise above ambient levels within 0.5 mile of an active bald eagle nest will occur 

from January 1 through August 31 or an occupied bald eagle winter roost from November through March 1.  

Schedule: Prior to and during project implementation 

Responsible Party: Project partners implementing the project and project contractors 

Verification of Compliance: 

Monitoring Party: Project partner implementing the project. 

Initials:  ____________ 

Date:     ____________ 

 

Mitigation Measure BIO-WILD-6: Sensitive Bats: Where caves or mines are located within 250 feet of the 

project boundaries, a Registered Professional Forester, in coordination with a biologist, would be consulted 

and a buffer flagged on the ground identifying an equipment exclusion zone. The following protective 

measures would apply: No noise generating or habitat modification activities will take place within 250 feet 

from caves, mines, and mine adits to protect known or potential sensitive bat species (Townsend’s big-eared 

bat, pallid bat, and fringed myotis) roost sites. Options for pile burning and felling around caves or mines 

include the following: pile burning and felling imminent safety threats only outside the March 1 through 

August 31 breeding season or pile burning during the March 1 through August 31 breeding season only 

under prevailing wind conditions that disperse smoke away from cave and mine entrances.  

Schedule: Prior to and during project implementation 

Responsible Party: Project partners implementing the project and project contractors 

Verification of Compliance: 

Monitoring Party: Project partner implementing the project. 

Initials:  ____________ 

Date:     ____________ 
 

Mitigation Measure BIO-WILD-7: Limited Operating Periods (LOPs) - Limited operating period is a 

period of time to protect species from disturbance that could result in loss of fecundity (this year’s young 

would not be conceived or birthed, young or eggs would be kicked out of den or nest, or otherwise be 

disturbed and not successfully survive to a juvenile or adult state) or a loss of life (migration).  

Limited operating period timeframes examples (not all inclusive; others are listed in other mitigation 

measures):  

-- Fisher: March 1 to June 30  

-- Marten: May 1 to July 31  

-- Sierra Nevada red fox: January 1 to June 30  

The limited operating period could be lifted if one of the assumptions is met:  

-- Species is not within the area as determined by protocol level surveys  

-- Area no longer has appropriate habitat or habitat components for the species to reproduce in the area (post-

fire no longer meets species needs)  

Schedule: During project implementation 

Responsible Party: Project partners implementing the project and project contractors 

Verification of Compliance: 

Monitoring Party: Project partner implementing the project. 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed Lassen County Wildfire Recovery Project 

85 

 

Initials:  ____________ 

Date:     ____________ 
 

Mitigation Measure BIO-WILD-8: Marten and Fisher - Retain some slash piles for marten escape cover 

and prey habitat, where biologists have determined that cover and/or connectivity could benefit marten or 

fisher habitat (i.e., along outer edges of canopy openings and riparian buffers). The number and location of 

slash piles will vary and will be determined by biologists on a site-specific basis. When feasible, piles should 

contain large and small diameter logs, have enough interstitial space to allow for marten or fisher occupancy, 

and be at least 6 feet by 8 feet in diameter. Piles would be clearly marked to not be burned. Pile 

specifications will be adapted to on-the-ground conditions.  

Schedule: During project implementation 

Responsible Party: Project partners implementing the project and project contractors 

Verification of Compliance: 

Monitoring Party: Project partner implementing the project. 

Initials:  ____________ 

Date:     ____________ 
 

Mitigation Measure BIO-WILD-9: Marten Dens - Maintain a 100-acre buffer from May 1 to July 31 for all 

active marten den sites.  Protect marten den site buffers from disturbance from vegetation treatments with a 

limited operating period from May 1 through July 31 as long as habitat remains suitable or until another 

regionally approved management strategy is implemented. The limited operating period may be waived for 

individual projects of limited scope and duration, when a biological evaluation documents that such projects 

are unlikely to result in breeding disturbance considering their intensity, duration, timing, and specific 

location.  

Schedule: Prior to and during project implementation 

Responsible Party: Project partners implementing the project and project contractors 

Verification of Compliance: 

Monitoring Party: Project partner implementing the project. 

Initials:  ____________ 

Date:     ____________ 
 

Mitigation Measure BIO-WILD-10: Fisher: In high quality reproductive and potential fisher denning 

habitat, implement hazard mitigation options other than complete removal for conifer snags larger than 35 

inches diameter at breast height and hardwood snags larger than 27 inches diameter at breast height when it 

is safe to do so. Such options include cutting the hazard tree as high as possible to leave a portion of the 

trunk (10 to 20 feet tall) standing to provide potential microsites. Leave 15 to 20 feet of the thickest part of 

the trunk behind as a large log, particularly if it is decayed. When hazard tree removal creates continuous 

areas with canopy cover less than 40 percent, leave 1 to 2 large trees (larger than 30 inches diameter at breast 

height) per acre on the ground as coarse woody debris to enhance habitat quality and connectivity. This will 

facilitate crossing by fishers and limit the potential for habitat fragmentation.  

Schedule: Prior to and during project implementation 

Responsible Party: Project partners implementing the project and project contractors 

Verification of Compliance: 

Monitoring Party: Project partner implementing the project. 

Initials:  ____________ 

Date:     ____________ 
 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed Lassen County Wildfire Recovery Project 

86 

 

Mitigation Measure BIO-WILD-11: Fisher Dens - Protect any known fisher den site buffers from 

vegetation treatments disturbance with a limited operating period from March 1 through June 30, as long as 

habitat remains suitable or until another regionally approved management strategy is implemented. The 

limited operating period may be waived for individual projects of limited scope and duration, when a 

biological evaluation documents that such projects are unlikely to result in breeding disturbance considering 

their intensity, duration, timing, and specific location. Avoid fuel treatments within any known fisher den site 

buffers to the extent possible. If areas within den site buffers must be treated to achieve fuels objectives for 

the urban wildland intermix zone, limit treatments to hand clearing of fuels. Use piling to treat surface fuels 

during initial treatment. Burning of piled debris is allowed in fall and winter.  

Schedule: Prior to and during project implementation 

Responsible Party: Project partners implementing the project and project contractors 

Verification of Compliance: 

Monitoring Party: Project partner implementing the project. 

Initials:  ____________ 

Date:     ____________ 
 

Mitigation Measure BIO-WILD-12: Fisher Habitat - In high and moderate quality reproductive fisher 

habitat (Thompson et al. 2021; habitat model) in low severity and unburned areas, apply a limited operating 

period during the denning season (March 1 through June 30). Use the programmatic biological opinion 

definitions for potential and high-quality denning habitat for areas that the habitat model does not cover. The 

limited operating period may be waived for individual projects of limited scope and duration if pre-project 

surveys document absence of denning fisher (Tucker et al. 2020). In areas of moderate burn severity (25 to 

75 percent basal area loss), a biologist will assess the area to determine if potential habitat remains and the 

limited operating period should be applied.  

Schedule: During project implementation 

Responsible Party: Project partners implementing the project and project contractors 

Verification of Compliance: 

Monitoring Party: Project partner implementing the project. 

Initials:  ____________ 

Date:     ____________ 
 

Mitigation Measure BIO-WILD-13: Sierra Nevada red fox: A biologist will validate detection of a Sierra 

Nevada red fox. When verified sightings occur, conduct an analysis to determine if activities within 5 miles 

of the detection have a potential to affect the species. If necessary, apply a limited operating period from 

January 1 to June 30 to avoid adverse impacts to potential breeding. Evaluate activities for a 2-year period 

for detections not associated with a den site.  

Schedule: Prior to and during project implementation 

Responsible Party: Project partners implementing the project and project contractors 

Verification of Compliance: 

Monitoring Party: Project partner implementing the project. 

Initials:  ____________ 

Date:     ____________ 
 

Mitigation Measure BIO-WILD-14: Gray wolf: To determine whether gray wolves have been documented 

in or in the vicinity of a treatment area, Project Proponents will contact CDFW before implementation of 

project activities to obtain general information about documented gray wolf activity within the vicinity and 

the need for protection measures.  



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed Lassen County Wildfire Recovery Project 

87 

 

 A limited operating period (LOP) restricting all noise or smoke generating activities would be 

instated from April 1 through July 15 within one mile of the den site. Further discussions and 

coordination with CDFW and the Service may result in a modified distances or more flexible dates 

for this specific conservation measure.  In addition, if the den or rendezvous sites are clearly 

separated from project-generated disturbances by topographic features or terrain, seasonal restrictions 

may be adjusted or eliminated, as approved by the Service.  These conservation measures would 

avoid or minimize disturbance at active den or rendezvous sites that could disrupt reproductive 

success or result in adverse effects.  Dens that are known to be used in consecutive years but not used 

in the current year may require a LOP if CDFW or the Service determines it is necessary. 

 Early rendezvous sites are typically close to dens: implementing a LOP within 1 mile of den sites will 

generally mitigate effects to early rendezvous sites when pups are still vulnerable.  Coordination with 

CDFW and the Service prior to implementation would be done to ensure protection of all known 

and/or newly discovered den and rendezvous sites. 

 If a den is discovered during implementation of the proposed project, the LOP shall be implemented 

and coordination with CDFW and the Service shall be pursued. 

Schedule: Prior to and during project implementation 

Responsible Party: Project partners implementing the project and project contractors 

Verification of Compliance: 

Monitoring Party: Project partner implementing the project. 

Initials:  ____________ 

Date:     ____________ 
 

Mitigation Measure BIO-WILD-15: Snags - Retain four of the largest snags per acre larger than 15 inches 

diameter at breast height following plan direction, and where possible, retain 5 to 10 tons per acre of the 

largest downed logs. Preference is to retain the largest downed logs present prior to the fire at least 20 inches 

in diameter and more than 10 feet in length. If areas are deficient in logs, retain these large, downed logs 

whole in stands and do not buck or pile. Within perennial stream riparian buffers retain large, downed woody 

material for wildlife. Follow all relevant plan direction.  

Schedule: Prior to and during project implementation 

Responsible Party: Project partners implementing the project and project contractors 

Verification of Compliance: 

Monitoring Party: Project partner implementing the project. 

Initials:  ____________ 

Date:     ____________ 
 

Mitigation Measure BIO-WILD-16: LOPs for Northern Goshawks and CA Spotted Owls - Maintain a 

seasonal limited operating period within 0.25-mile of known California spotted owl and northern 

goshawk nests during the breeding season (March 1 to August 15 for spotted owls; February 15 to 

September 15 for goshawks) unless surveys confirm they are not nesting. The limited operating period would 

prohibit mechanical activities such as tree felling, machine piling, major road maintenance, or other 

operations that generate loud or continuous noise within approximately 0.25-mile of the nest site, unless 

surveys confirm that California spotted owls or northern goshawks are not nesting.  

Schedule: During project implementation 

Responsible Party: Project partners implementing the project and project contractors 

Verification of Compliance: 

Monitoring Party: Project partner implementing the project. 

Initials:  ____________ 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed Lassen County Wildfire Recovery Project 

88 

 

Date:     ____________ 
 

Mitigation Measure BIO-WILD-17: Great gray owl: Apply a limited operating period, prohibiting 

vegetation treatments within 0.5 mile of an active great gray owl nest stand, during the nesting period 

(typically March 1 to August 15). The limited operating period may be waived for vegetation treatments of 

limited scope and duration, if a biologist determines that such projects are unlikely to result in breeding 

disturbance considering their intensity, duration, timing, and specific location. Where a biologist concludes 

that a nest site would be shielded from planned activities by topographic features that would minimize 

disturbance, the limited operating period buffer distance may be reduced.  

Schedule: During project implementation 

Responsible Party: Project partners implementing the project and project contractors 

Verification of Compliance: 

Monitoring Party: Project partner implementing the project. 

Initials:  ____________ 

Date:     ____________ 
 

Mitigation Measure BIO-WILD-18: Sandhill Cranes - If sandhill cranes are observed within the project 

area before or during project implementation, a limited operating period will be in effect from April 1 

through August 1 within one-half mile from occupied areas. If surveys indicate that cranes are not nesting, 

then the limited operating period for that year would not be required. Surveys of potential meadows are 

needed each year to establish nesting status.  

Schedule: During project implementation 

Responsible Party: Project partners implementing the project and project contractors 

Verification of Compliance: 

Monitoring Party: Project partner implementing the project. 

Initials:  ____________ 

Date:     ____________ 
 

Mitigation Measure BIO-WILD 19: Western bumblebee - Suitable bumblebee habitat within treatment 

areas, including areas of woodlands, grasslands and upland scrub that contain requisite habitat elements, such 

as small mammal burrows will be surveyed prior to implementation using "June 2023 Survey Considerations 

for California Endangered Species Act (CESA) Candidate Bumble Bee Species" as a guide. Nest sites or 

hibernacula discovered during implementation shall be protected with equipment exclusion buffers of 25 

feet. 

Schedule: Prior to project implementation 

Responsible Party: Project partners implementing the project and project contractors 

Verification of Compliance: 

Monitoring Party: Project partner implementing the project. 

Initials:  ____________ 

Date:     ____________ 
 

Mitigation Measure BIO-WILD-20: Herbicides and pollinators – Herbicide use will be limited to late 

winter (February – March) prior to the flowering period, and fall (October – November), after the flowering 

period, in order to protect pollinators. Herbicides with the EPA bee hazard icon, or high residual toxicity to 

bees, will not be used, and flowering plants will be avoided. 

Schedule: During project implementation 

Responsible Party: Project partners implementing the project and project contractors 

Verification of Compliance: 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed Lassen County Wildfire Recovery Project 

89 

 

Monitoring Party: Project partner implementing the project. 

Initials:  ____________ 

Date:     ____________ 
 

Mitigation Measure BIO-WILD-21: Pre-implementation surveys – Surveys will be conducted for the 

species identified in the BIO-WILD mitigation measures, and BIO-AQUA #12 and #13 (Frogs) prior to 

project implementation using California Department of Fish and Wildlife Survey and Monitoring Protocols 

and Guidelines. https://wildlife.ca.gov/Conservation/Survey-Protocols  

Schedule: Prior to project implementation 

Responsible Party: Project partners implementing the project and project contractors 

Verification of Compliance: 

Monitoring Party: Project partner implementing the project. 

Initials:  ____________ 

Date:     ____________ 
 

Cultural Resources: 

Mitigation Measure CUL-1: Avoidance of Cultural Resources: Cultural resources present within the 

project area have not been formally evaluated to determine eligibility for listing on the CRHR. For the 

purposes of this project these cultural resources will be assumed potentially eligible for state and federal 

registers and will be avoided. Project proponents will ensure that cultural resources are not adversely 

affected by ground disturbing activities. If cultural resources cannot be avoided and ground disturbance 

will occur within the recorded site limits than the site(s) will be formally evaluated to determine if they 

meet the regulatory criteria for eligibility to the CRHR.  

Schedule: Prior to project implementation 

Responsible Party: Project partners implementing the project and project contractors 

Verification of Compliance: 

Monitoring Party: Project partner implementing the project. 

Initials:  ____________ 

Date:     ____________ 
 

Mitigation Measure CUL-2: Unanticipated Discovery of Cultural Resources:  If a cultural resource is 

discovered within a project area after the project has been approved, the following procedures apply:  

 

1. Project activities within 100 feet of the newly discovered cultural resource shall be immediately 

halted. 

2. A qualified professional archaeologist or RPF with CALFIRE Archaeological Training Certification, 

as well as the Susanville Indian Rancheria (SIR) Tribal Historic Preservation Officer (THPO) shall be 

immediately notified. 

3. The archaeologist shall evaluate the new discovery and develop appropriate protection measures in 

consultation with the SIR THPO. 

4. The archaeologist shall ensure that the newly discovered site is recorded and its discovery and 

protection measures are documented in the project files. 

5. If the newly discovered site is a Native American Archaeological or Cultural Site, the Archaeologist 

shall notify the appropriate Native American tribal group, the NAHC, and the SIR THPO, if 

appropriate. 

Schedule: During project implementation 

Responsible Party: Project partners implementing the project and project contractors 

https://wildlife.ca.gov/Conservation/Survey-Protocols


Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed Lassen County Wildfire Recovery Project 

90 

 

Verification of Compliance: 

Monitoring Party: Project partner implementing the project. 

Initials:  ____________ 

Date:     ____________ 
 

Mitigation Measure CUL-3 Encountering Native American Remains: Although unlikely, if human 

remains are encountered, all work must stop in the immediate vicinity of the discovered remains and the 

County Coroner, a qualified archaeologist, and the SIR THPO must be notified immediately so that an 

evaluation can be performed. If the remains are deemed to be Native American and prehistoric, the Native 

American Heritage Commission must be contacted by the Coroner so that a “Most Likely Descendant” can 

be designated and further recommendations regarding treatment of the remains is provided. 

Schedule: During project implementation 

Responsible Party: Project partners implementing the project and project contractors 

Verification of Compliance: 

Monitoring Party: Project partner implementing the project. 

Initials:  ____________ 

Date:     ____________ 
 

Geology and Soils: 

Mitigation Measure GEO-1: Detrimental disturbance – Limit total soil detrimental disturbance 

(compaction, displacement, and total porosity loss) to less than 15 percent of an activity area.  

Schedule: During project implementation 

Responsible Party: Project partners implementing the project and project contractors 

Verification of Compliance: 

Monitoring Party: Project partner implementing the project. 

Initials:  ____________ 

Date:     ____________ 
 

Mitigation Measure GEO-2: Slopes – Limit all mechanical operations to slopes less than 35 percent.  

Schedule: During project implementation 

Responsible Party: Project partners implementing the project and project contractors 

Verification of Compliance: 

Monitoring Party: Project partner implementing the project. 

Initials:  ____________ 

Date:     ____________ 
 

Mitigation Measure GEO-3: Soil Moisture - Operate mechanical equipment when soil moisture is less than 

20 percent by weight.  

Schedule: During project implementation 

Responsible Party: Project partners implementing the project and project contractors 

Verification of Compliance: 

Monitoring Party: Project partner implementing the project. 

Initials:  ____________ 

Date:     ____________ 
 

Mitigation Measure GEO-4: Pivoting of Machinery – Pivoting of machinery should be avoided to prevent 

soil displacement in high soil burn severity areas. 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed Lassen County Wildfire Recovery Project 

91 

 

Schedule: During project implementation 

Responsible Party: Project partners implementing the project and project contractors 

Verification of Compliance: 

Monitoring Party: Project partner implementing the project. 

Initials:  ____________ 

Date:     ____________ 
 

Mitigation Measure GEO-5: Slash – Activity generated slash may be machine or hand piled on slopes less 

than 35 percent; and hand piled on slopes greater than 35 percent. 

Schedule: During project implementation 

Responsible Party: Project partners implementing the project and project contractors 

Verification of Compliance: 

Monitoring Party: Project partner implementing the project. 

Initials:  ____________ 

Date:     ____________ 
 

Mitigation Measure GEO-6: Soil Cover - During management activities, maintain (or add to the extent 

feasible in deficient areas) an average of 50 percent effective soil cover in treatment areas that is well-

distributed and generally in the form of fine organic matter. Where feasible, maintain 85 percent or more 

effective soil cover in riparian areas and on slopes greater than 25 percent, and 70 percent effective soil cover 

on areas with high soil burn severity. Management activities in areas with ecological types that cannot 

normally support 50 percent soil cover shall be considered individually for soil cover needs.  

Schedule: During project implementation 

Responsible Party: Project partners implementing the project and project contractors 

Verification of Compliance: 

Monitoring Party: Project partner implementing the project. 

Initials:  ____________ 

Date:     ____________ 
 

Mitigation Measure GEO-7: Woody debris – Maintain coarse woody debris for soil organisms based on 

ecological type and in consultation with wildlife and fuels specialists. 

Schedule: During project implementation 

Responsible Party: Project partners implementing the project and project contractors 

Verification of Compliance: 

Monitoring Party: Project partner implementing the project. 

Initials:  ____________ 

Date:     ____________ 
 

Hydrology: 

Mitigation Measure HYD-1: Project Best Management Practices (BMPs): Protect water quality through 

the use of best management practices (BMPs) to prevent water quality degradation and to meet state water 

quality objectives relating to non-point sources of pollution. Best management practices utilized for this 

project are procedures and techniques that are incorporated in project actions and have been determined by 

the State of California to be the most effective, practicable means of preventing or reducing the amount of 

pollution generated by nonpoint sources to a level compatible with water quality goals. 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed Lassen County Wildfire Recovery Project 

92 

 

Watercourse and Lake Protection Zones (WLPZ) will be classified based on the California Forest Practice 

Rules §936.5 – Procedures for Determining Watercourse and Lake Protection Zones Widths and Protective 

Measures.  WLPZs shall be identified on the ground with flagging prior to implementation of treatments.  

These zones will be: 

 

 

Watercourse Classification Slope 0-30% Slope 30-50% Slope >50% 

Class I  75’ 100’ 150’ 

Class II (including all springs with surface water) 50’ 75’ 100’ 

Class III 25’ 50’ 50’ 

 

The standard best management practices for protecting water quality include: 

 Within the WLPZ, at least 50% of the total canopy covering the ground shall be left in a well-

distributed multi-storied stand configuration composed of a diversity of species similar to that found 

before the start of operations.  The residual overstory canopy shall be composed of at least 25% of the 

existing overstory conifers. 

 No heavy equipment shall operate within the WLPZ except on existing roads and crossings. Light 

weight equipment, including a mini-excavator, mini-chipper, and/or skid steer, may operate within 

the WLPZ when conditions are dry within the WLPZ. Equipment within the WLPZ will not turn 

around within the WLPZ, but will make minimal tracks perpendicular to the watercourse.  Any other 

types of light equipment that are used will not exceed the weights of those listed above.  Exposed 

soils within WLPZ shall be 90% covered with operational slash or hay/straw to a minimum 2” depth 

prior to the winter period (Nov. 15 – April 1). This will occur after the conclusion of each individual 

operation and prior to each winter period for the life of the Project.  

 No equipment shall refuel, be cleaned, or lubricated within the WLPZ.  

 Road based equipment being used for project implementation shall not be used during any time of the 

year when soils are saturated and excessive damage can occur as well as the potential discharge of 

sediment to watercourses.  

 There will be no mechanical fireline construction within the WLPZ. 

 No ignitions of broadcast (prescribed) burns would occur within the WLPZ. Broadcast burning 

would be allowed to back burn into the WLPZ, but in order to maintain stream temperatures and 

avoid sediment discharge to Class I and II streams piles and broadcast prescribed burns are 

restricted within the WLPZ  to the following distances from the stream: 

Schedule: Prior to and during project implementation 

Responsible Party: Project partners implementing the project and project contractors 

Verification of Compliance: 

Monitoring Party: Project partner implementing the project. 

Initials:  ____________ 

Date:     ____________ 
 

Mitigation Measure HYD-2: Tree Cutting –Trees providing bank stability on fish-bearing streams should 

not be cut where possible (where they don’t pose an imminent threat to life and safety). Trees will be 

directionally felled away from streambank where possible and as safety allows or unless otherwise approved 

by an aquatics specialist or designee.  

Schedule: During project implementation 

Responsible Party: Project partners implementing the project and project contractors 

Verification of Compliance: 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed Lassen County Wildfire Recovery Project 

93 

 

Monitoring Party: Project partner implementing the project. 

Initials:  ____________ 

Date:     ____________ 
 

Mitigation Measure HYD-3: Streambed Alteration Permit – Before any riparian vegetation removal or 

work within the bed bank or channel of a stream, creek, or river, including temporary watercourse 

crossings, project proponents will coordinate with the California Department of Fish and Wildlife to 

ensure compliance with Section 1602 of the Fish and Game Code. 

Schedule: Prior to project implementation 

Responsible Party: Project partners implementing the project and project contractors 

Verification of Compliance: 

Monitoring Party: Project partner implementing the project. 

Initials:  ____________ 

Date:     ____________ 
 

Mitigation Measure HYD-4 Timber waiver, Proposed activities will abide by the Lahontan Regional Water 

Quality Control Board (LRWQCB) Timber Waiver program, and project proponents will consult with the 

LRWQCB if there are proposed activities that could potentially impact water quality. 

Schedule: Prior to project implementation 

Responsible Party: Project partners implementing the project and project contractors 

Verification of Compliance: 

Monitoring Party: Project partner implementing the project. 

Initials:  ____________ 

Date:     ____________ 
Mitigation Measure HYD-5 Protection of Caltrans and County Assets, The project proponent and project 

contractors shall protect Caltrans and Lassen County assets, including but not limited to, road culverts and 

drainage inlets and water channels within road easements and right of way on roads down-slope of the 

project site or roads used to access the project site. This may include, but is not limited to, adding temporary 

debris control features to keep drainage assets from clogging. 

Schedule: Prior to and during project implementation 

Responsible Party: Project partners implementing the project and project contractors 

Verification of Compliance: 

Monitoring Party: Project partner implementing the project. 

Initials:  ____________ 

Date:     ____________ 
 

 

Wildfire: 

Mitigation Measure FIRE-1: Prescribed (Rx) burn plan: Mitigation measures will include and be 

dependent upon: 
 Rx burns and pile burns can be scheduled for fall months into spring. Burn days will be dependent 

upon California Air Resources Board (CARB) forecasts, Cal Fire approval and will comply with 

all local and state regulations. 
 Rx broadcast burns will coincide with ecological emergence to promote a heterogeneous forest 

structure, reduce the abundance of invasive and limit impact to desired native species. 
 To reduce impacts to surrounding community’s Rx burn timing, planning and implementation will 

all be dictated by smoke management mitigations through CARB.  



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed Lassen County Wildfire Recovery Project 

94 

 

 Prescribed burns will be coordinated with other planned burns in the area to avoid cumulative 

impacts to air quality and wildfire safety. 
Schedule: Prior to and during project implementation 

Responsible Party: Project partners implementing the project and project contractors 

Verification of Compliance: 

Monitoring Party: Project partner implementing the project. 

Initials:  ____________ 

Date:     ____________ 
 
A copy of the completed MMRP will be forwarded to: Honey Lake Valley Resource Conservation District 

(HLVRCD), 170 Russell Ave., Susanville, CA 96130.  



 

95 

 

APPENDIX B 

Comments and Response to Comments 

 



State of California – Natural Resources Agency GAVIN NEWSOM, Governor 

DEPARTMENT OF FISH AND WILDLIFE  CHARLTON H. BONHAM, Director  

Northern Region 
601 Locust Street 
Redding, CA  96001 
www.wildlife.ca.gov 

Conserving California’s Wildlife Since 1870 

   

May 1, 2024  
 

Kelsey Marks  

District Manager 

Honey Lake Valley Resource Conservation District 

170 Russell Avenue, Suite C 

Susanville, CA 89509 

kmarks@honeylakevalleyrcd.us  

  

SUBJECT:  LASSEN COUNTY WILDFIRE RECOVERY PROJECT,  

STATE CLEARINGHOUSE NUMBER 2024040088, LASSEN COUNTY 

 

Dear Kelsey Marks:  

 

The California Department of Fish and Wildlife (CDFW) has reviewed the Honey 

Lake Resource Conservation District (Lead Agency) Draft Initial Study and 

Mitigated Negative Declaration (ISMND), for the above-referenced project 

(Project). CDFW appreciates this opportunity to provide comments on the 

Project, pursuant to the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) Guidelines1. 

CDFW’s Role  

CDFW is California’s Trustee Agency for fish and wildlife resources and holds 

those resources in trust by statute for all the people of the state (Fish and G. 

Code, §§ 711.7, subd. (a) & 1802; Public Resources Code, § 21070; CEQA 

Guidelines § 15386, subd. (a)). CDFW, in its Trustee Agency capacity, has 

jurisdiction over the conservation, protection, and management of fish, wildlife, 

native plants, and habitat necessary for biologically sustainable populations of 

those species (Id., § 1802). Similarly, for purposes of CEQA, CDFW is charged by 

law to provide, as available, biological expertise during public agency 

environmental review efforts, focusing specifically on projects and related 

activities that have the potential to adversely affect fish and wildlife resources.  
 

CDFW is also submitting comments as a Responsible Agency under CEQA (Public 

Resources Code, § 21069; CEQA Guidelines, § 15381). CDFW expects that it may 

                                            

1 CEQA is codified in the California Public Resources Code in section 21000 et seq. The “CEQA Guidelines” 

are found in Title 14 of the California Code of Regulations, commencing with section 15000. 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 131908B5-19E6-4BEF-886A-F70BD69C856E

http://www.cdfw.ca.gov/
mailto:kmarks@honeylakevalleyrcd.us


Kelsey Marks, District Manager 

Honey Lake Resource Conservation District 

May 1, 2024 

Page 2 

 

need to exercise regulatory authority as provided by the Fish and Game Code. 

Likewise, to the extent implementation of the Project as proposed may result in 

“take”, as defined by state law, of any species protected under the California 

Endangered Species Act (CESA) (Fish and G. Code, § 2050 et seq.), or state 

listed rare plants pursuant to the Native Plant Protection Act (NPPA; Fish and G. 

Code  § 1900 et seq.) authorization as provided by the applicable Fish and 

Game Code will be required.   

 

Project Description 

The Project summary, as described in the ISMND, is as follows: 

“The project will result in up to 28,650 acres of private non-industrial timberlands 

and woodlands receiving site preparation to remove dead and dying trees and 

shrubs and regrowth of competing vegetation resulting from the Hog, Sheep, 

Sugar, and Dixie Fires, planting of seedlings to reforest areas prepped as a result 

of this project and other areas previously cleared by private landowners. The 

project proposes removal of standing dead biomass material for site preparation 

in burned stands of Eastside Pine (EPN), Sierra Mixed Conifer (SMC), and 

Montane Hardwood Conifer (MHC) habitats (See Project Vicinity and Project 

Area Map). Clearing dead and dying trees which will fall down over time and 

become a fuel hazard to the reforested area is a key step in ensuring successful 

regeneration and protecting the investment from reburning. Long-term, downed 

fire killed trees inhibit reforestation treatments, increase watershed degradation, 

decompose, and increase fuel loads for a highly probable reburn event. Both 

occurrences release excess greenhouse gases into the atmosphere. Projects will 

be implemented within the project area over several years as funding becomes 

available...” 

Comments and Recommendations 

CDFW finds that most of the proposed Avoidance and Minimization Measures 

(AMM’s) included in the ISMND are adequate for avoiding and minimizing 

potentially significant impacts to biological resources. However, CDFW offers the 

following comments and recommendations to assist the Lead Agency in further 

minimizing and/or mitigating the Project’s significant, or potentially significant, 

direct and indirect impacts on fish and wildlife.  

 

 

 

 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 131908B5-19E6-4BEF-886A-F70BD69C856E



Kelsey Marks, District Manager 

Honey Lake Resource Conservation District 

May 1, 2024 

Page 3 

 

Nesting Birds 

The Project includes removal of hazard trees (defined as dead and dying trees) 

and shrubs which may provide suitable nesting habitat for migratory birds, 

especially cavity nesting birds; however, the ISMND does not include any AMM’s 

to avoid or reduce potentially significant impacts to nesting birds.  

 

Nesting migratory birds, if present, could be directly or indirectly impacted by 

Project activities. Direct effects include mortality from pruning tree limbs and/or 

felling trees containing eggs or young.  Indirect effects could include nest 

abandonment by adults in response to higher-than-ambient noise levels, human 

encroachment, visual disturbance and/or a reduction in food availability for 

young birds due to disruption of feeding behavior of adult birds. Including the 

following AMM into the final ISMND would ensure that potential impacts to 

nesting birds are less than significant.  

 

To avoid impacts to all nesting birds and/or raptors protected under Fish & 

Game Code Sections 3503 and 3503.5 and the federal Migratory Bird Treaty Act, 

one of the following should be implemented:  

 

a. Construction activities should occur between September 1 and  

January 31, when birds are not anticipated to be nesting; or  

 

b. If construction activities are to occur during the nesting season, a pre- 

construction nesting bird survey should be conducted by a qualified 

biologist to identify any active nests adjacent to the Project area.   

 

Pre-construction surveys should begin prior to sunrise and continue until 

vegetation and nests have been sufficiently observed. The survey should 

consider acoustic impacts and line of sight Project disturbances to determine a 

sufficient survey radius. A nesting bird survey report should be prepared and, at a 

minimum, the report should include a description of the area surveyed, date 

and time of the survey, ambient conditions, bird species observed, a description 

of any active nests observed, any evidence of breeding behaviors (e.g., 

courtship, carrying nest materials or food, etc.), and a description of any 

outstanding conditions that may have impacted the survey results (e.g., weather 

conditions, excess noise, presence of predators).   

 

If an active nest is located during pre-construction surveys, a non-disturbance 

buffer should be established around the nest by a qualified biologist in 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 131908B5-19E6-4BEF-886A-F70BD69C856E



Kelsey Marks, District Manager 

Honey Lake Resource Conservation District 

May 1, 2024 

Page 4 

 

consultation with CDFW and U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service to comply with Fish & 

Game Code Sections 3503 and 3503.5 and the Migratory Bird Treaty Act. 

Compliance measures may include, but are not limited to, exclusion buffers, 

sound-attenuation measures, seasonal work closures based on the known 

biology and life history of the species identified during the survey, as well as 

ongoing monitoring by biologists.  

 

Nesting bird surveys should be conducted no more than one week prior to the 

initiation of construction. If construction activities are delayed or suspended for 

more than one week after the pre-construction nesting bird survey, the site 

should be resurveyed.  

 

Bats 

While the ISMND offers Mitigation Measure BIO-WILD-6 for the avoidance and 

protection of bats that may utilize caves or cave-like structures, AMM’s are not 

offered for individual roosting bats. Bats are considered non-game mammals 

and are afforded protection by state law from take and/or harassment (Fish 

and Game Code, Section 4150; California Code of Regulations, Section 251.1).  

Trees that contain cavities, crevices and/or exfoliated bark have high potential 

to be used by various bat species. Since this Project includes tree removal and 

may impact trees with the above-referenced characteristics, a thorough pre-

construction survey should be conducted by a qualified biologist to determine if 

bat roosting features are present prior to tree removal. Trees with potentially 

suitable roosting features should be clearly marked by a qualified biologist and 

the following should occur prior to tree removal: 

1) To avoid impacts to roosting bats, removal of marked trees 12” diameter at 

breast height (DBH) or greater should occur only during the following time 

frames and subject to the following weather conditions, or as otherwise 

approved/recommended by a qualified biologist:  

 Between March 1 (or after evening temperatures rise above 45°F, 

and/or no more than ½” of rainfall within 24 hours occurs), and April 

15; and 

 Between September 1 and October 15 (or before evening 

temperatures fall below 45°F, and/or more than ½” of rainfall within 

24 hours occurs). 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 131908B5-19E6-4BEF-886A-F70BD69C856E



Kelsey Marks, District Manager 

Honey Lake Resource Conservation District 

May 1, 2024 

Page 5 

 

2) Marked trees greater than 12” DBH shall be removed using a two-step 

process to allow bats the opportunity to abandon the roost prior to 

removal. The two-sept removal process is as follows:  

 Day 1: Remove small-diameter trees, brush, and non-habitat features 

of large trees (branches without cavities, crevices, or exfoliating bark) 

to create noise and vibration disturbance on the tree and to alter the 

air flow and temperature around the roost feature thus encouraging 

bats to vacate roost features on their own. The tree shall then be left 

for 24 hours to allow the bats to move to another roost site. 

Excavators, grinders, or other heavy equipment shall not be used for 

first day trimming of habitat trees. 

 Day 2: Remove the remainder of the tree. If bats may be in branches 

that can be removed from the tree and set aside, cut the branches 

off intact and set them upright against trees away from the Project 

site to allow any bats present to passively escape. 

This two-step process changes the microhabitat of the area, causing bats to 

vacate under their own volition, therefore minimizing direct and indirect impacts 

to bat species. 

Western Bumble Bee 

On September 30, 2022, the California Fish and Game Commission accepted a 

petition to list western bumble bee (WBB; Bombus occidentalis) as endangered 

under CESA, advancing the species to the candidacy stage of the CESA listing 

process.  Candidate species are granted full protection under CESA during this 

period.  Take of any endangered, threatened, or candidate species that results 

from the Project is prohibited, except as authorized by State law (Fish & G. Code, 

§§ 86, 2062, 2067, 2068, 2080, 2085; Cal. Code Regs., tit. 14, § 786.9). Additionally, 

WBB has a state ranking of S1/S2, of which are imperiled/critically imperiled and 

extremely rare (often five or fewer populations) and is listed as an invertebrate of 

conservation priority under the Terrestrial and Vernal Pool Invertebrates of 

Conservation Priority2.  

 

Suitable WBB habitat includes areas of woodlands, grasslands and upland scrub 

that contain requisite habitat elements, such as small mammal burrows. WBB 

primarily nest in late February through late November in abandoned 

                                            

2 https://nrm.dfg.ca.gov/FileHandler.ashx?DocumentID=149499&inline 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 131908B5-19E6-4BEF-886A-F70BD69C856E

https://nrm.dfg.ca.gov/FileHandler.ashx?DocumentID=149499&inline
https://nrm.dfg.ca.gov/FileHandler.ashx?DocumentID=149499&inline


Kelsey Marks, District Manager 

Honey Lake Resource Conservation District 

May 1, 2024 

Page 6 

 

underground small mammal burrows but may also nest under perennial bunch 

grasses or thatched annual grasses, under brush piles, in old bird nests, and in 

dead trees or hollow logs3,4. Overwintering sites utilized by WBB mated queens 

include soft, disturbed soil5 or under leaf litter or other debris. Post forest-fire 

environments have been linked to increases in bumble bee probability6 

therefore, ground disturbance and vegetation removal associated with Project 

implementation has the potential to significantly impact local WBB populations.  

 

Without appropriate AMM’s for WBB, direct mortality and potentially significant 

indirect impacts associated with ground- and vegetation-disturbing activities 

may occur as a result of the Project.  Indirect impacts may include loss of 

foraging plants, changes in foraging behavior, burrow collapse, nest 

abandonment, reduced nest success, and a reduction in health and vigor of 

eggs, young and/or queens. 

 

Due to potentially suitable habitat throughout the Project area and the potential 

for significant impacts to WBB, CDFW recommends including AMM’s for WBB in 

the ISMND and aligning the measures with survey considerations outlined in the 

June 2023 Survey Considerations for California Endangered Species Act (CESA) 

Candidate Bumble Bee Species7.  

 

Water Drafting 

ISMND offers Mitigation Measure BIO-AQUA-4, which states the project will, 

“Survey all proposed water drafting locations for sensitive and listed amphibians 

and receive approval from a biologist prior to use. Use drafting devices with 2 

millimeter or less screening, and place hose intake into bucket in the deepest 

part of the pool. Use a low velocity water pump and do not pump ponds to low 

levels beyond which they cannot recover quickly (approximately 1 hour).” 

However, for the protection of sensitive and listed amphibians that may be 

present, AMM’s are not offered for egg mass tadpole life stages stemmed from 

                                            

3 Williams, P. H., R. W. Thorp, L. L. Richardson, and S.R. Colla. 2014. Bumble bees of North America: An 

Identification guide. Princeton University Press, Princeton, New Jersey. 208pp. 
4 Hatfield, R., Jepsen, S., Thorp, R., Richardson, L., Colla, S. & Foltz Jordan, S. 2015. Bombus occidentalis. The 

IUCN Red List of Threatened Species 2015: e.T44937492A46440201. https://dx.doi.org/10.2305/IUCN.UK.2015- 

2.RLTS.T44937492A46440201.en. 
5 Goulson, D. 2010. Bumblebees: behaviour, ecology, and conservation. Oxford University Press, New York. 

317pp.  
6 Johnson, S. A., Jackson, H. M., Noth, H., & M’Gonigle, L. K. (2023). Positive impact of postfire environment 

on bumble bees not explained by habitat variables in a remote forested ecosystem. Ecology and 

Evolution, 13, e9743 
7 https://nrm.dfg.ca.gov/FileHandler.ashx?DocumentID=213150&inline 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 131908B5-19E6-4BEF-886A-F70BD69C856E

https://nrm.dfg.ca.gov/FileHandler.ashx?DocumentID=213150&inline
https://nrm.dfg.ca.gov/FileHandler.ashx?DocumentID=213150&inline


Kelsey Marks, District Manager 

Honey Lake Resource Conservation District 

May 1, 2024 

Page 7 

 

water level reductions. Foothill yellow-legged frog (Rana boylii) is a Priority 1 

Species of Special Concern (SSC, Northwest/North Coast Clade) and threatened 

under CESA (North Fork Feather River and Upper Feather River Watershed); 

Cascades frog (Rana cascadae) a candidate species under CESA. Priority 1 SSC 

are those taxa that are likely to experience severe future declines and/or 

extirpation without immediate conservation actions. CEQA provides protection 

not only for ESA or CESA listed species, but for any species including, but not 

limited to, SSC that can be shown to meet the criteria for state listing.  

Foothill yellow-legged frog and Cascades frog have ranges that extend 

adjacent to the project area and have the potential to occur within the project 

area. Both species reproduce by laying eggs in shallow, slow moving waters, 

between March and mid-August8,9. Flow rate reductions of 50% or more have a 

significant dewatering effect on the edges of a stream where egg masses and 

tad poles have potential to be present. 

  

CDFW recommends revising BIO-AQUA-4 to include a drafting rate restriction of 

no more than 50 percent of surface flows, similar to the language included in 

Mitigation Measure BIO-AQUA-5. This will ensure that shallow waters retain 

enough volume to support any amphibian egg masses or tadpoles that may be 

present. CDFW further recommends revising the language to require surveys be 

conducted by a biologist familiar with the life-stages of these species. 

 

California Endangered Species Act  

Please be advised that a CESA Incidental Take Permit10 must be obtained if the 

Project has the potential to result in “take” (hunt, pursue, catch, capture, kill, or 

attempt thereof) of plants or animals listed under CESA, either during 

construction or over the life of the project. Issuance of a CESA permit is subject 

to CEQA documentation; the CEQA document must specify impacts, mitigation 

measures, and a mitigation monitoring and reporting program. If the Project has 

the potential to result in take of a CESA-listed species, early consultation is 

encouraged, as significant modification to the Project may be 

necessary to minimize and fully mitigate impacts as required by Fish and Game 

Code Section 2081(b)(2).  

 

                                            

8 https://californiaherps.com/frogs/pages/r.boylii.html 
9  https://californiaherps.com/frogs/pages/r.cascadae.html 
10 https://wildlife.ca.gov/Conservation/CESA/Permitting  

DocuSign Envelope ID: 131908B5-19E6-4BEF-886A-F70BD69C856E

https://wildlife.ca.gov/Conservation/CESA/Permitting
https://cdfw-my.sharepoint.com/personal/colton_trent_wildlife_ca_gov/Documents/Desktop/CEQA-2024-0089_LAS_HLRCD_Lassen%20County%20Wildfire%20Recovery_Ltr_.docx#_ftnref1
https://californiaherps.com/frogs/pages/r.cascadae.html
https://wildlife.ca.gov/Conservation/CESA/Permitting


Kelsey Marks, District Manager 

Honey Lake Resource Conservation District 

May 1, 2024 

Page 8 

 

Additionally, some AMM’s only refer to federally listed and sensitive species, and 

omit state listed and sensitive species. For example, Mitigation Measure BIO-BOT-

2 states, “New Sensitive Plant Discoveries - In the event any new populations of 

federally threatened, endangered, proposed, and candidate, and State 

threatened, endangered, and rare (Ranks 1 and 2) plant, lichen or fungi species 

are discovered during the various phases of the project, the area will be flagged 

and avoided until a botanist is consulted for mitigation measure applicability.” 

CDFW recommends including reference to state listed and sensitive plants 

species in addition to federally listed and sensitive plant species.  

 

Herbicide Use 

The ISMND indicates the use of herbicides for emergent brush and noxious weed 

treatment. While herbicide use is sometimes most efficient for control of 

vegetation, CDFW discourages their use, especially in areas that provide habitat 

for CESA-listed bumble bees. If CESA-listed bumble bees occur on the Project 

area, CDFW recommends implementing alternatives to herbicide use, as 

outlined in the ISMND.  

If herbicides are used, the ISMND should specify specific methods for use to 

avoid or minimize direct and indirect impacts to bumble bees (i.e. applying 

herbicides outside of the blooming season). CDFW strongly encourages the 

preparation and implementation of a weed prevention and control plan. When 

applying herbicides, CDFW recommends: 

 Following the best management practices described by the Guidance to 

Protect Habitat from Pesticide Contamination11.  

 Avoid using pesticides marked with the US Environmental Protection 

Agency’s bee hazard icon.  

 Avoid spraying pesticides onto any flowering plant.  

 Use pesticides with a short residual toxicity to bees; bee pesticide toxicity 

can be checked via UC ANR’s Bee Precaution Database12.  

 Use targeted application instead of broadcast spraying whenever 

possible.  

 Avoid mixtures of pesticides as they are only evaluated in scenarios in 

which they are not mixed; thus, potentially harmful synergies are unknown.  

                                            

11 https://xerces.org/sites/default/files/2019-10/16-024_01_XercesSoc_Guidance-to-Protect-Habitat-from-

Pesticides_web.pdf 
12 https://ipm.ucanr.edu/bee-precaution-pesticide-ratings/ 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 131908B5-19E6-4BEF-886A-F70BD69C856E

https://xerces.org/sites/default/files/2019-10/16-024_01_XercesSoc_Guidance-to-Protect-Habitat-from-Pesticides_web.pdf
https://xerces.org/sites/default/files/2019-10/16-024_01_XercesSoc_Guidance-to-Protect-Habitat-from-Pesticides_web.pdf
https://www2.ipm.ucanr.edu/beeprecaution/


Kelsey Marks, District Manager 

Honey Lake Resource Conservation District 

May 1, 2024 

Page 9 

 

 All pesticide application must be conducted by a Licensed and Certified 

Pesticide Applicator and should be used as directed by the manufacturer.  

 

Additional guidance on this topic is provided by the United States Environmental 

Protection Agency13 and the California Department of Pesticide Regulation14. 

 

Erosion Control 

The ISMND indicates a need for erosion control. CDFW recommends using 

erosion control materials (e.g., geotextiles, fiber rolls) only made of loose-weave 

mesh, such as jute, hemp, coconut (coir) fiber, or other products without welded 

weaves. Synthetic (plastic or nylon) materials are strongly discouraged and 

should not be used.  

 

Pre-Construction Surveys 

Many of the AMM’s listed in the ISMND infer sensitive species will be protected if 

‘discovered’ but do not include targeted or general pre-construction surveys 

conducted by a biologist specifically for the purpose of detecting sensitive 

species and/or their habitats.  For example, Mitigation Measure BIO-BOT-2 states, 

“New Sensitive Plant Discoveries - In the event any new populations of federally 

threatened, endangered, proposed, and candidate, and State threatened, 

endangered, and rare (Ranks 1 and 2) plant, lichen or fungi species are 

discovered during the various phases of the project, the area will be flagged 

and avoided until a botanist is consulted for mitigation measure applicability.” 

However, there is no requirement to conduct pre-construction or appropriately 

timed botanical surveys within the ISMND.  

 

If appropriately timed botanical surveys and/or pre-construction surveys are 

planned for botanical species or other biological resources, CDFW recommends 

including such measures in the ISMND. If pre-construction surveys are not 

planned, CDFW recommends including pre-construction surveys, as they are 

directly correlated with the implementation and success of the AMM’s included 

throughout the ISMND.  

 

Where pre-construction surveys are specifically indicated in the ISMND, such as 

for amphibians, it is unclear what survey methods will be used. CDFW 

recommends including survey methods for each biological resource. Please visit 

                                            

13 https://www.epa.gov/pollinator-protection/epa-actions-protect-pollinators 
14 https://www.cdpr.ca.gov/docs/enforce/pollinators/ 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 131908B5-19E6-4BEF-886A-F70BD69C856E

https://www.epa.gov/pollinator-protection/epa-actions-protect-pollinators
https://www.epa.gov/pollinator-protection/epa-actions-protect-pollinators
https://www.cdpr.ca.gov/docs/enforce/pollinators/


Kelsey Marks, District Manager 

Honey Lake Resource Conservation District 

May 1, 2024 

Page 10 

 

CDFW’s Survey and Monitoring Protocols and Guidelines15 for accepted survey 

protocols for some biological resources, including rare plants and amphibians. 

Acceptable species-specific survey procedures may also be developed in 

consultation with CDFW and other applicable resource agencies. 

Lake and Streambed Alteration 

The ISMND indicates the use of water drafting for project operations, however, 

does not indicate authorization for potential impacts to bed, bank, or channel. 

Fish & Game Code Section 1602 requires any person, state or local 

governmental agency, or public utility to notify CDFW prior to beginning any 

activity that may do one or more of the following:  

  

1. Substantially divert or obstruct the natural flow of the bed, channel, or  

bank of any river, stream, or lake; or  

2. Substantially change or use any material from the bed, channel, or bank 

of any river, stream, or lake; or  

3. Deposit or dispose of debris, waste, or other material containing 

crumbled, flaked, or ground pavement where it may pass into any river, 

stream, or lake.   

  

To obtain more information about the 1602 Notification process, please access  

the Lake and Streambed Alteration Program16. 

 

Submitting Data 

CEQA requires that information in environmental documents is incorporated into 

a database which may be used to make subsequent or supplemental 

environmental determinations. (Public Resources Code, § 21003, subd. (e).) 

Accordingly, please report any observation of special status species to the 

CNDDB. Use this link to access the CNNDB field survey form17 and this link for 

additional information on the type of information reported to CNDDB18.  

 

Future CEQA Consultation 

CDFW would like to emphasize that our staff remain available for consultation at 

every stage of the project development process. CDFW strongly encourages the 

Lead Agency to continue to consult with CDFW before and during the 

                                            

15 https://wildlife.ca.gov/Conservation/Survey-Protocols 
16 https://wildlife.ca.gov/Conservation/Environmental-Review/LSA  
17 https://nrm.dfg.ca.gov/fieldSurvey/default.aspx 
18 https://wildlife.ca.gov/Data/CNDDB/Submitting-Data 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 131908B5-19E6-4BEF-886A-F70BD69C856E

https://wildlife.ca.gov/Conservation/Survey-Protocols
https://wildlife.ca.gov/Conservation/Environmental-Review/LSA
https://nrm.dfg.ca.gov/fieldSurvey/default.aspx
https://wildlife.ca.gov/Data/CNDDB/Submitting-Data
https://wildlife.ca.gov/Conservation/Environmental-Review/LSA


Kelsey Marks, District Manager 

Honey Lake Resource Conservation District 

May 1, 2024 

Page 11 

 

development of future projects and their equivalent CEQA documents, 

specifically regarding the analyses of biological resources and the formulation of 

avoidance, minimization, and mitigation measures for such resources. Engaging 

with CDFW early-on plays a critical role in allowing our agency to fulfill our 

mandate to conserve California’s valuable fish and wildlife resources and will 

simultaneously aid the Lead Agency in an efficient and comprehensive CEQA 

review.   

 

Conclusion 

CDFW appreciates the opportunity to comment on the Project to assist the Lead 

Agency in adequately analyzing and minimizing impacts to biological resources. 

If you have any questions regarding the information above, or for future CEQA 

consultation requests, please contact Colton Trent, Environmental Scientist, by 

email at R1CEQARedding@wildlife.ca.gov.  

  

Sincerely,  

  
 

 

 

Tina Bartlett, Regional Manager  

Northern Region  

  
 

ec:  State Clearinghouse  

State.Clearinghouse@opr.ca.gov  

  

Colton Trent 

California Department of Fish and Wildlife 

R1CEQARedding@wildlife.ca.gov   

DocuSign Envelope ID: 131908B5-19E6-4BEF-886A-F70BD69C856E

mailto:R1CEQARedding@wildlife.ca.gov
mailto:State.Clearinghouse@opr.ca.gov
mailto:R1CEQARedding@wildlife.ca.gov


Honey Lake Valley Resource Conservation District 
 
170 Russell Ave., Suite C.                                     www.honeylakevalleyrcd.us 
Susanville, CA 96130 
(530)252-7271 
 

Lassen Co. Wildfire Recovery Project – Response to CDFW Comments 1 
 

 

May 14, 2024 

Tina Bartlett, Regional Manager 
Northern Region 
California Department of Fish and Wildlife (CDFW) 
601 Locust St. 
Redding, CA 96001 

Subject: CDFW Comment Letter regarding the Lassen County Wildfire Recovery Project 
State Clearinghouse #2024040088, Lassen County 

Dear Tina Bartlett: 

Thank you for your review and comments regarding the Lassen County Wildfire Recovery 
Project (State Clearinghouse #2024040088).  Based on your comments CDFW is concerned as to 
whether there are adequate protections for nesting birds, bats, and bumblebees, as well as 
clarification regarding pre-implementation surveys.  

CDFW has suggested the following additional mitigation measures to protect nesting birds. 

Nesting Birds 

a) Construction activities should occur between September 1 and January 31, when birds are 
not anticipated to be nesting,; or 

b) If construction activities are to occur during the nesting season, a pre-construction nesting 
bird survey should be conducted by a qualified biologist to identify any active nests 
adjacent to the Project area. If an active nest is located during pre-construction surveys, a 
non-disturbance buffer should be established around the nest. 

Response: The project involves mastication, cutting, and removal of standing dead/dying 
biomass (<11” dbh) and hand thinning of small diameter conifers described in Section 1.1 of the 
Project Description (pg. 6 of the IS-MND). This project description has been modified in the 
Final IS-MND to more clearly state the proposed action related to tree/shrub treatments: 

1.1. Mastication and Hand Treatment of Brush and Small Trees 
Mastication and hand treatments involve the pulverization and removal of standing dead/dying 
biomass.  Dead/dying trees and brush that are over 18” in height and less than 11” diameter at 
breast height (dbh) will be treated.  Brush greater than 18” in height will be treated.  Snags less 
than 12” dbh will be treated, unless they show signs of use by wildlife or are marked with an 
“L”, “W”, or tag identifying them as a “Wildlife Tree”.  Woody debris less than 12” diameter 
which extends greater than 12” from the ground will be treated.  Areas with concentrations of 
activity fuels (i.e. logging slash) will be treated. 



Honey Lake Valley Resource Conservation District 
 
170 Russell Ave., Suite C.                                     www.honeylakevalleyrcd.us 
Susanville, CA 96130 
(530)252-7271 
 

Lassen Co. Wildfire Recovery Project – Response to CDFW Comments 2 
 

Lassen County is snow country. Limiting treatments to September to January as described in 
CDFW Nesting Birds #1 would drastically decrease the pace and scale of the project as some 
year’s project sites can be inaccessible from November to June. The longer it takes to reforest 
burned areas, the more labor intensive and expensive it becomes, and the likelihood of 
converting forest to shrubland increases. Once converted to shrubland, the site will no longer 
provide habitat for forest nesting birds.  

Conducting pre-activity bird nesting surveys may result in identifying the occurrence of some 
nesting activity that may be disturbed or interrupted by project implementation and a likelihood 
exists, even with the surveys, that nesting success may be disrupted due to project activities; 
however, the consequences are short-term and not expected to lead to a significant decline in bird 
population or the potential for listing. Additionally, trees less than 11” dbh do not provide great 
nesting habitat. Further, the following mitigation measures provide additional protections for 
nesting birds through the application of limited operating periods where these federally/state 
listed, sensitive, or species of special concern exist in the project area:  BIO-WILD-5, Bald 
Eagles, BIO-WILD-16, Northern Goshawks and California Spotted Owls, and BIO-WILD-17, 
Great Gray Owls. Other mitigation measures being applied also protect large snags and call for 
the retention of deformed legacy trees to provide important nesting habitat:  BIO-WILD-2 Pre-
fire Snags and Downed Logs, prioritizes large-diameter (>30” dbh at stump height) and old-
growth conifer snags or legacy trees with deformities such as cat faces, broken tops, hollows, or 
cavities for retention, BIO-WILD-3 Hardwood snags, call for the retention of all hardwood 
snags, and BIO-WILD-15, Snags, stipulates retention of the four largest snags per acre. 
Therefore, nesting habitat will be protected, will still be present post-treatment, and the area will 
be more resilient to future wildfires thereby improving habitat conditions for forest nesting birds 
over the long-term. 

Due to these considerations, the Honey Lake Valley RCD finds that existing mitigation measures 
adequately protect nesting habitat for endangered, threatened, and species of special concern, and 
additional mitigation measures for nesting birds will decrease the pace and scale of the project. 
Implementation of this project as proposed will not have significant direct or indirect impacts on 
nesting birds. 

CDFW has suggested the following additional mitigation measures: 
 
Bats:  

1. Pre-construction marking of leave trees with potentially suitable roosting features by a 
qualified biologist. 

2. To avoid impacts to roosting bats, removal of marked trees 12" dbh or greater should 
occur only during the following time frames and subject to the following weather 
conditions, or as otherwise approved/recommended by a qualified biologist. 



Honey Lake Valley Resource Conservation District 
 
170 Russell Ave., Suite C.                                     www.honeylakevalleyrcd.us 
Susanville, CA 96130 
(530)252-7271 
 

Lassen Co. Wildfire Recovery Project – Response to CDFW Comments 3 
 

a. Between March 1 (or after evening temperatures rise above 45 F and/or no more 
than 1/2" of rainfall within 24 hours occurs), and April 15; 

b. Between September 1 and October 15 (or before evening temperatures fall below 
45 F, and/or more than 1/2" of rainfall within 24 hours occurs). 

3. Marked trees greater than 12" dbh shall be removed using a two-step process to allow 
bats the opportunity to abandon the roost prior to removal. The two step removal process 
is as follows: 

a. Day 1: Remove small-diameter trees, brush, and non-habitat features of large 
trees (branches without cavities, crevices, or exfoliating bark), to encourage bats 
to vacate. The trees and any suitable branches shall then be left for 24 hours to 
allow the bats to vacate. Excavators, grinders, or other heavy equipment shall not 
be used for first day trimming of habitat trees. 

b. Day 2: Remove the remainder of the tree. If branches contain suitable bat habitat, 
set aside, cut the branches off intact and set them upright against trees away from 
the project site to allow any bats present to passively escape. 
 

Response: This project will only treat trees <11” dbh, and therefore CDFW suggested mitigation 
measures are not necessary. As discussed above, mitigation measures BIO-WILD-2, BIO-
WILD-3, and BIO-WILD-15 will protect the majority of the trees with potentially suitable 
roosting features for bats.  
Due to these considerations, the Honey Lake Valley RCD finds that additional mitigation 
measures for bats are not necessary, and implementation of this project as proposed will not have 
significant direct or indirect impacts on bat species. 

CDFW has suggested the following mitigation measure to protect the Western bumblebee: 

Western bumblebee: 
1. Survey for bumblebees prior to implementation using the June 2023 Survey 

Considerations for California Endangered Species Act (CESA) Candidate Bumble 
Species protocol. 
 

Response: Honey Lake Valley RCD agrees with CDFW that an additional mitigation measure is 
warranted to ensure the protection of bumblebee nests and hibernacula and has added a new 
mitigation measure in the final document: 

Mitigation Measure BIO-WILD 19: Western bumblebee - Suitable bumblebee habitat within 
treatment areas, including areas of woodlands, grasslands and upland scrub that contain requisite 
habitat elements, such as small mammal burrows will be surveyed prior to implementation using 
"June 2023 Survey Considerations for California Endangered Species Act (CESA) Candidate 
Bumble Bee Species" as a guide. Nest sites or hibernacula discovered during implementation 
shall be protected with equipment exclusion buffers of 25 feet. 
 



Honey Lake Valley Resource Conservation District 
 
170 Russell Ave., Suite C.                                     www.honeylakevalleyrcd.us 
Susanville, CA 96130 
(530)252-7271 
 

Lassen Co. Wildfire Recovery Project – Response to CDFW Comments 4 
 

An additional mitigation measure has been added and the project description has been modified 
in the final IS-MND to specify that herbicide use will take place in late winter (Feb./Mar.) prior 
to the flowering period, or late fall (Oct./Nov.), after the flowering period, to protect pollinators. 

Mitigation Measure BIO-WILD-20: Herbicides and pollinators – Herbicide use will be limited 
to late winter (February – March) prior to the flowering period, and fall (October – November), 
after the flowering period, in order to protect pollinator. Herbicides with the EPA bee hazard 
icon, or high residual toxicity to bees, will not be used, and flowering plants will be avoided. 

Pre-Construction Surveys: 

Botanical and wildlife surveys for the species identified in the Botany, Invasive Species, 
Aquatics, and Wildlife mitigation measures will be performed prior to project implementation.  
These surveys will be conducted using CDFW Survey and Monitoring Protocols and Guidelines. 
Additional language has been added to the final IS-MND to clarify this and the following 
Mitigation Measure has been added: 

Mitigation Measure BIO-WILD-21: Pre-implementation surveys – Surveys will be conducted 
for the species identified in the BIO-WILD mitigation measures, and BIO-AQUA #12 and #13 
(Frogs) prior to project implementation using California Department of Fish and Wildlife Survey 
and Monitoring Protocols and Guidelines. https://wildlife.ca.gov/Conservation/Survey-Protocols  

Drafting Rates: 

Mitigation measure BIO-AQUA-4 has been modified to include a drafting rate restriction to not 
exceed 50% of flow:  

Mitigation Measure BIO-AQUA-4: Water drafting site survey and approval- Survey all 
proposed water drafting locations for sensitive and listed amphibians and receive approval from 
a biologist prior to use. Use drafting devices with 2 millimeter or less screening, and place hose 
intake into bucket in the deepest part of the pool. Use a low velocity water pump, do not exceed 
50% of the flow, and do not pump ponds to low levels beyond which they cannot recover quickly 
(approximately 1 hour).  
 
It should be noted that BIO-AQUA-5 already includes this requirement for fish bearing streams. 

Synthetic Materials: 
Mitigation measure BIO-AQUA-10 has been modified to include the restriction of synthetic 
materials for erosion control: 
Mitigation Measure BIO-AQUA-10: Fiber netting and Frogs - Tightly woven fiber netting, 
synthetic materials, or similar material shall not be used for erosion control or other purposes 

about:blank


Honey Lake Valley Resource Conservation District 
 
170 Russell Ave., Suite C.                                     www.honeylakevalleyrcd.us 
Susanville, CA 96130 
(530)252-7271 
 

Lassen Co. Wildfire Recovery Project – Response to CDFW Comments 5 
 

within suitable habitat to ensure the foothill yellow-legged frog, Sierra Nevada yellow-legged 
frog, or cascade frog do not get trapped, injured, or killed.  
CA Sensitive Species: 

Mitigation measure BIO-BOT-2 has been modified to more clearly identify California sensitive 
plant species: 

Mitigation Measure BIO-BOT-2: New Sensitive Plant Discoveries - In the event any new 
populations of federally threatened, endangered, proposed, and candidate, and State threatened, 
endangered, and sensitive (California Native Plant Society Rare Plants Ranks 1 and 2) plant, 
lichen or fungi species are discovered during the various phases of the project, the area will be 
flagged and avoided until a botanist is consulted for mitigation measure applicability.  
 

Lake and Streambed Alteration Agreements: 

As project layout begins prior to implementation, occasionally there is an unforeseen need for a 
Lake And Streambed Alteration Agreement, in most cases for a temporary stream crossing. Per 
mitigation measure BIO-HYD-3, which was included in the draft IS-MND, project proponents 
will coordinate with CDFW to ensure compliance with Section 1602 of the Fish and Game code 
prior to any riparian vegetation removal or work within the bed, bank, or channel of a steam, 
creek, or river: 

Mitigation Measure HYD-3: Streambed Alteration Permit – Before any riparian 
vegetation removal or work within the bed bank or channel of a stream, creek, or river, 
including temporary watercourse crossings, project proponents will coordinate with the 
California Department of Fish and Wildlife to ensure compliance with Section 1602 of the 
Fish and Game Code. 

The Honey Lake Valley will be having a public hearing during the regularly scheduled RCD 
Board meeting on May 23, 2024 at 5:30 pm at the USDA Service Center, 170 Russell Ave., 
Susanville, CA to review and approve the final IS-MND for the Lassen County Wildfire 
Recovery Project. The Honey Lake Valley RCD and Lassen Fire Safe Council, Inc. are 
committed to assisting state agencies to meet the objectives of Governor Newsom’s goal to 
increase the pace and scale of forest health projects to meet the goals of the Forest Carbon Plan 
and Shared Stewardship Agreement, and Executive Order N-82-20 in October 2020, directing 
state agencies to accelerate actions to combat climate change, protect biodiversity, and build 
resilience nature-based solutions, including improved forest management.  

The Honey Lake Valley RCD appreciates your review and comments on the Lassen County 
Wildfire Recovery Project, and values CDFW as a partner.  Please let us know if you have any 
questions or need additional information. 



Honey Lake Valley Resource Conservation District 
 
170 Russell Ave., Suite C.                                     www.honeylakevalleyrcd.us 
Susanville, CA 96130 
(530)252-7271 
 

Lassen Co. Wildfire Recovery Project – Response to CDFW Comments 6 
 

Sincerely, 

 

 

Kelsey Marks 
Honey Lake Valley RCD District Manager 
 
Cc: Honey Lake Valley RCD Board of Directors 
 Cade Mohler, LFSC Managing Director 



 

113 

 

PREPARERS OF THIS DOCUMENT 

Tim Keesey 

Ecologist/Registered Professional Forest (RPF #3134) 

TCK Ecological Consulting 

P.O. Box 9335 

Chico, CA 95927 

(530) 260-0934 

timkeesey@tckecological.com  

 

Kelsey Siemer, Distinct Manager 

Honey Lake Valley Resource Conservation District 

170 Russell Ave., Suite C 

Susanville, CA 96130 

(530) 257-7271 

kmarks@honeylakevalleyrcd.us  

 

Cade Mohler (RPF #2986), Managing Director 

Lassen Fire Safe Council, Inc. 

P.O. Box 816 

Susanville, CA 96130 

  

mailto:timkeesey@tckecological.com
mailto:kmarks@honeylakevalleyrcd.us


 

114 

 

EXPERTS CONSULTED 

Specialists in Aquatics and Fisheries, Wildlife Biology, Botany, Archaeology, Climate Change, 

Hydrology, Fire and Fuels, Soils, Recreation, and Scenery from the: 

 

Brandie Cooper 

Natural Resources Director 

Susanville Indian Rancheria 

745 Joaquin St. 

Susanville, CA 96130 

bcooper@sir-nsn.gov  

(530) 251-5636 

 

Don Hankins 

Professor of Geography and Planning 

Chico State University 

Butte Hall, Room 539 

(530)-898-4104 

dhankins@csuchico.edu  

 

Ryan Hilburn 

Chief Forester, RPF #2782 

W.M. Beaty and Associates 

845 Butte St. 

Redding, CA 96001 

(530) 243-2783 

 

Ivan Houser 

Lassen/Modoc/Plumas Unit Forester, RPF #2649 

CALFIRE 

697-345 CA-36 

Susanville, CA 96130 

(530) 257-8503 

Ivan.houser@fire.ca.gov  

 

Karine Hunt 

Vegetation Management Specialist 

Sierra Pacific Industries (SPI) 

11605 Reading Rd. 

Red Bluff, CA 96080 

11605 Reading Rd. 

Red Bluff, CA 96080 

(530) 378-8307 

 

Adam Mattos 

Lassen-Modoc-Unit Assistant Chief of Operations 

CAL FIRE 

697-345 CA-36 

mailto:bcooper@sir-nsn.gov
mailto:dhankins@csuchico.edu
mailto:Ivan.houser@fire.ca.gov


 

115 

 

Susanville, CA 96130 

(530) 257-4171 

 

Phil Nemir (RPF #1666) 

P.O. Box 1717 

Susanville, CA 96130 

(530) 257-2294 

philnemir@hotmail.com  

 

Mark Pustejovsky 

Forester-Regen Manager, RPF #2583 

Sierra Pacific Industries (SPI) 

11605 Reading Rd. 

Red Bluff, CA 96080 

(530) 527-9620 

 

Silas Rojas 

Emergency Services Chief 

Lassen County Office of Emergency Services (OES) 

697-345 CA-36 

Susanville, CA 96130 

(530) 257-8504 

 

Tiffany Russell 

Rangeland Watershed Initiative Partner Biologist 

Point Blue/Natural Resource Conservation Service (NRCS) – Susanville Office 

170 Russell Ave., Suite C 

Susanville, CA 96130 

(530) 257-7272 

trussell@pointblue.org  

 

Glenn Schall 

Lassen-Plumas-Modoc Unit Vegetation Management Program (VMP), RPF #2958 

CAL FIRE 

697-345 CA-36 

Susanville, CA 96130 

(530) 257-4171 

 

Anne Stephens 

District Conservationist 

Natural Resource Conservation Service (NRCS) – Susanville Office 

170 Russell Ave., Suite C 

Susanville, CA 96130 

(530) 257-7272 

Anne.stephens@ca.usda.gov 

 

Todd Swickard 

Owner 

Five Dot Land & Cattle Co. 

mailto:philnemir@hotmail.com
mailto:trussell@pointblue.org
mailto:Anne.stephens@ca.usda.gov


 

116 

 

707-005 U.S. Hwy 395 

Standish, CA 96128 

(530) 254-6987 

 

Isaac Thornton 

Lassen-Modoc Unit Fire Captain  

CAL FIRE 

697-345 CA-36 

Susanville, CA 96130 

(530) 257-4171 

 

Dan Varney 

District Fuels Management Officer (FMO) 

477-050 Eagle Lake Rd. 

Susanville, CA 96130 

Lassen National Forest, Eagle Lake Ranger District 

(530) 257-4188 

Daniel.varney@usda.gov  

mailto:Daniel.varney@usda.gov


 

117 

 

REFERENCES CITED 

Alexander, E. B. and R. Poff. 1985.Soil Disturbance and Compaction in Wildland Management. USDA 

Forest Service, Pacific Southwest Region, Watershed Staff. Earth Resources Monograph 8.  

Angwin, P.A., D.R. Cluck, J. Rosen, W.C. Woodruf, A.E. Hawkins, C.W. Barnes, P.G. Cannon, and S. 

Hazelhurst. 2022. Hazard Tree Identification and Mitigation. USDA Forest Service Pacific Southwest 

Region, Forest Health Protection Technical Report #RO-22-01, March 2022.  

Anna, C. 2009. The forest, the fire and the fungi: studying the effects of prescribed burning on 

mycorrhizal fungi in Crater Lake National Park. JFSP Briefs. 61.  

Arkle, R.S. and D.S. Pilliod. 2010. Prescribed Fires as Ecological Surrogates for Wildfires: A Stream and 

Riparian Perspective. Forest Ecology and Management 259 (5): 893–903. Available online: 

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2009.11.029.  

Ashton, Don T, Amy J Lind, and Kary E Schlick. 1994. “Foothill Yellow-Legged Frog (Rana Boylii) 

Natural History.” Arcata, California.  

Bendix, J. and C.M. Cowell. 2010. “Fire, Floods and Woody Debris: Interactions between Biotic and 

Geomorphic Processes.” Geomorphology 116 (3–4): 297–304. Available online: 

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.geomorph.2009.09.043.  

Beschta, R.L., J.J. Rhodes, J.B. Kauffman, R.E. Greswell, G.W. Minshall, J.R. Karr, D.A. Perry, F.R. 

Hauer, and C.A. Frissell. 2004. Postfire management on forested public lands of the western United 

States. Conserv. Biol. 18, 957–967.  

Bradley, B.A. 2009. Regional analysis of the impacts of climate change on cheatgrass invasion shows 

potential risk and opportunity. Global Change Biology 15(1):196–208.  

Bradley, B.A., Blumenthal, D.M., Wilcove, D.S. and Ziska, L.H. 2010. Predicting plant invasions in an 

era of global change. Trends in Ecology and Evolution 25, 310–318.  

Brown, J.K., E.D. Reinhardt, and K.A. Kramer. 2003. Coarse woody debris: managing benefits and fire 

hazard in the recovering forest. General Technical Report RMRS GTR-105. USDA Forest Service, 

Rocky Mountain Research Station, Ogden, UT.  

Burton, T.A. 2005. Fish and Stream Habitat Risks from Uncharacteristic Wildfire: Observations from 17 

Years of Fire-Related Disturbances on the Boise National Forest, Idaho. Forest Ecology and 

Management 211 (1–2): 140–49. Available online: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2005.02.063.  

Busse, M. D., P.H. Cochran, W.E. Hopkins, W.H. Johnson, G.M. Reigel, G.O. Fiddler, A.W. Ratcliff, and 

C.J. Shestak. 2009. Developing resilient ponderosa pine forests with mechanical thinning and 

prescribed fire in central Oregon’s pumice region. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 39: 1171-

1185.  

Busse, M.D., K.R. Hubert, and E. E. Y. Moghaddas. 2014. Gen. Tech. Rep. PSW-GTR-241. Albany, CA: 

U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Pacific Southwest Research Station. 156 pp.  

California Department of Forestry and Fire Protection, 2023. 2023 Forest Practices Rules. Retrieved 

online Jan 2024 from https://bo f.fire.ca.gov/media/y5rfw50b/2023-fpr-and-fpa_ada.pdf  

CA Regional Water Quality Control Board Central Valley Region. 2017. Order R5-2017-0061. Waste 

discharge requirements general order for discharges related to timberland management activities for 

non-federal and federal lands: 39 pp.  



 

118 

 

CA Regional Water Quality Control Board Lahontan Region. 2019. Board order r6t-2019-0240. 

conditional waiver of waste discharge requirements for waste discharges resulting from timber harvest 

and vegetation management activities in the Lahontan region: 4 pp.  

CA Regional Water Quality Control Board North Coast Region. 2015. Order No. R1‐2015‐0021. Waiver 

of Waste Discharge Requirements for Nonpoint Source Discharges Related to Certain Federal Land 

Management Activities on National Forest System Lands in the North Coast Region: 32 pp.  

CA State Water Resources Control Board, 2018 Integrated Report. 2018. Accessed 2022 from 

https://www.waterboards.ca.gov/water_issues/programs/water_quality_assessment/2018_integrated_r

eport.html.  

CA State Water Resources Control Board. 2013. The Nine Regional Water Quality Control Boards in 

California Fact Sheet. Sacramento, CA: 2 pp.  

California State Water Resources Control Board, 2022. Total Maximum Daily Loads homepage. 

https://www.waterboards.ca.gov/northcoast/water_issues/programs/tmdls/?msclkid=ee91399fd0c311e

c8b68b72cc83cc3c6basins  

California Air Resources Board (CARB) 2022b. Current Air District Rules. California Air Resources 

Board, Sacramento, California. Website Accessed February 2022: https://ww2.arb.ca.gov/current-air-

district-rules.  

California Air Resources Board (CARB). 2022a. Maps of State and Federal Area Designations. California 

Air Resources Board, Sacramento, California. Website Accessed February 2022: 

https://ww2.arb.ca.gov/resources/documents/maps-state-and-federal-area-designations.  

California Manual on Uniform Traffic Control Devices (MUTCD) (2014 Edition) Revision 6. Includes 

Federal Highway’ Administration (FHWA) MUTCD 20009 edition and revised in 2012, as amended 

for use in California, 23 Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) Part 655, Subpart F.  

Certini, G. 2005. Effects of fire on properties of forest soils: a review. Oecologia 143:1-10.  

Cissel, R.; Black, T.; Nelson, N.; Luce, C.H. 2014. Monitoring the hydrologic and geomorphic effects of 

forest road decommissioning and road improvements, poster. Retrieved from 

http://www.fs.usda.gov/GRAIP  

Chen, I. C., Hill, J. K., Ohlemüller, R., Roy, D. B., & Thomas, C. D. 2011. Rapid range shifts of species 

associated with high levels of climate warming. Science, 333(6045), 1024-1026.  

Coop, Jonathan D., Sean A. Parks, Camille S. Stevens-Rumann, Shelley D. Crausbay, Philip E. Higuera, 

Matthew D. Hurteau, Alan Tepley, et al. 2020. “Wildfire-Driven Forest Conversion in Western North 

American Landscapes.” BioScience 70 (8): 659–73. https://doi.org/10.1093/biosci/biaa061.  

Coppoletta M., B. Collins, S. Markwith, and K. Merriam. 2020. Effects of post-fire management on 

vegetation and fuels following successive wildfires in mixed conifer forests. JFSP PROJECT ID: 16-

1-05-13. Accessible at: https://www.firescience.gov/projects/16-1-05-13/project/16-1-05-

13_final_report.pdf.  

Council on Environmental Quality (CEQ). 2005. Guidance on the consideration of past actions in 

cumulative effects analysis, memorandum to the heads of federal agencies. Washington, DC: U.S. 

Department of Agriculture, Forest Service. 4 pp.  

Cram, D., T. Baker, and J. Boren. 2006. Wildland fire effects in silviculturally treated vs. untreated stands 

of New Mexico and Arizona. Research Paper RMRS-RP-55. Fort Collins, CO: U.S. Department of 

Agriculture, Forest Service, Rocky Mountain Research Station. 28 p.  



 

119 

 

Crimmins, S.M., Dobrowski, S.Z., Greenberg, J.A., Abatzoglou, J.T., and Mynsberge, A.R. 2011. 

Changes in Climatic Water Balance Drive Downhill Shifts in Plant Species’ Optimum Elevations. 

Science 21(331):324-327.  

Cristan, C.; Aust, W.M.; Bolding, M.C.; Barrett, S.M.; Munsell, J.F.; Schilling, E. 2016. Effectiveness of 

forestry best management practices in the United States: Literature review. Forest Ecology and 

Management 360 (133-151).  

DeBano, L.F. 1981. Water repellent soils: a state-of-the-art. Gen. Tech. Rep. PSW-GTR-46. USDA 

Forest Service, Pacific Southwest Forest and Range Experiment Station. 25 pp.  

DeBano, L.F. 2000. The role of fire and soil heating on water repellency in wildland environments: a 

review. Journal of Hydrology 231-232: 195 – 206.BB.  

Dukes, J. S. and H.A. Mooney. 1999. Does global change increase the success of biological invaders? 

Tree 14(4): 135-139.  

Dwire, K.A., K.E Meyer, G. Riegel, and T. Burton. 2016. “Riparian Fuel Treatments in the Western USA: 

Challenges and Considerations.” USFS General Technical Report, no. September: RMRS-GTR-352. 

https://www.fs.usda.gov/rm/pubs/rmrs_gtr352.pdf.  

Edwards ,P.J; Wood, F.; Quinlivan, R.L. 2016. Effectiveness of Best Management Practices that have 

application to forest roads: A literature synthesis. Forest Service Northern Research Station General 

Technical Report NRS-163. USDA Forest Service, Newtown Square, PA.  

Environmental Protection Agency (EPA). 2022. Understanding global warming potentials. U.S. 

Environmental Protection Agency website accessed February 2022: 

https://www.epa.gov/ghgemissions/understanding-global-warming-potentials.  

Everest, Fred H, and R Dennis Harr. 1982. Influence of Forest and Rangeland Management on 

Anadromous Fish Habitat in Western North America: Silvicultural Treatments. Corvalis, Oregon.  

Fettig, C., L. Mortenson, B. Bulaon, and P. Foulk. 2019. Tree mortality following drought in the central 

and southern Sierra Nevada, California, U.S. Forest Ecology and Management. 432. 164-178.  

Graham, R.T., A.E. Harvey, M.F. Jurgenson, T.B. Jain, J.R. Tonn, and D.S. Page-Dumroese. 1994. 

Managing coarse woody debris in forests of the Rocky Mountains. Res. Pap. INT-RP-477. USDA 

Forest Service, Intermountain Research Station. 13 pp.  

Graham, R.T., S. McCaffrey, and T.B. Jain. 2004. Science basis for changing forest structure to modify 

wildfire behavior and severity. USDA Forest Service General Technical Report RMRS-GTR-120. 

52p.  

Greenlee D. and J. Greenlee. 2002. Changes in fire hazard as a result of the Cerro Grande Fire. Fire 

Management Today. 62:15–21.  

Griffith, J. S., and R. W. Smith. 1993. “Use of Winter Concealment Cover by Juvenile Cutthroat and 

Brown Trout in the South Fork of the Snake River, Idaho.” North American Journal of Fisheries 

Management 13 (4): 823–30. https://doi.org/10.1577/1548-8675(1993)013<0823:uowccb>2.3.co;2.  

Gulis, Vladislav, Keller Suberkropp, and Amy D. Rosemond. 2008. “Comparison of Fungal Activities on 

Wood and Leaf Litter in Unaltered and Nutrient-Enriched Headwater Streams.” Applied and 

Environmental Microbiology 74 (4): 1094–1101. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.01903-07.  

Halofsky, Jessica E., and David E. Hibbs. 2009. “Controls on Early Post-Fire Woody Plant Colonization 

in Riparian Areas.” Forest Ecology and Management 258 (7): 1350–58. 

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2009.06.038.  



 

120 

 

Harvey, A.E., M.J. Larsen, and M.F. Jurgensen. 1980. Partial cut harvesting and ectomycorrhizae: early 

effects in Douglas-fir-larch forests of western Montana. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 10: 436-

440.  

Homicz, C. 2022. Updated fuel loading information, excel spreadsheet that amends Fettig et al. (2019).  

Howard, Jeanette. 2010. “Sensitive Freshwater Mussel Surveys in the Pacific Southwest Region : 

Assessment of Conservation Status.” Vallejo, California.  

Hutto, R.L. 1995. Composition of bird communities following stand-replacement fires in northern Rocky 

Mountain (USA) conifer forests. Conservation Biology 9: 1041–1058. 

Jennings, Mark R, and Marc P. Hayes. 1994. “Amphibian and Reptile Species of Special Concern in 

California.” Rancho Cordova, California.  

Johnson, C.E., A.H. Johnson, T.G. Huntington, and T.G. Siccama. Whole-tree clear-cutting effects on soil 

horizons and organic-matter pools. 1991. Soil Science Society of America Journal 55: 497-502.  

Julius, S.H., J.M. West, D. Nover, R. Hauser, D.S. Schimel, A.C. Janetos, M.K. Walsh, and P. Backlund. 

2013. Climate Change and U.S. Natural Resources: Advancing the Nation’s Capability to Adapt. The 

Ecological Society of America. Report Number 18, pp. 1-18.  

Keane, R.E., K.C. Ryan, T.T. Veblen, and others. 2002. Cascading effects of fire exclusion in the Rocky 

Mountain ecosystems: a literature review. General Technical Report. RMRSGTR-91. Fort Collins, 

CO: U.S. Dept. of Agr., Forest Service, Rocky Mountain Research Station. 24 p.  

Kelly, A. E. and M.L. Gordan. 2007. Rapid shifts in plant distribution with recent climate change. 

Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. Volume 105, pg. 

11823-11826. Accessible at: https://www.pnas.org/content/105/33/11823.  

Kersey, J and D. Myrold. 2021. Response of soil health indicators to organic matter removal and 

compaction manipulations at six LTSP sites in the western US. Forest Ecology and Management 490: 

Article 119104, 10 pp.  

Laurent, T. 2007. Soils Report: Little Doe/Low Gulch Timber Sale. Six Rivers National Forest.  

Mann, L.K.; D.W. Johnson; D.C. West; D.W. Cole, J.W. Hornbeck, C.W. Martin, H. Riekerk, C.T. 

Smith, W.T. Swank, L.M. Tritton, and D.H. Van Lear. 1988. Effects of whole-tree and stem-only 

clearcutting on postharvest hydrologic losses, nutrient capital and regrowth. Forest Science 34(2): 

412–428. Available online at 

https://academic.oup.com/forestscience/article/34/2/412/4642443?login=true.  

McIver, J.D. and L. Starr. 2000. Environmental effects of postfire logging: literature review and annotated 

bibliography. Gen. Tech. Rep. PNW-GTR-486. Portland, OR: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest 

Service, Pacific Northwest Research Station. 72 pp.  

Morey, S. 2000. “Foothill Yellow-Legged Frog (in California Wildlife Habitat Relations System).” 

https://nrm.dfg.ca.gov/FileHandler.ashx?DocumentID=1500.  

Moyle, Peter B. 2002. Inland Fishes of California. Berkeley: University of California Press. Narayanaraj 

G. and M.C. Wimberly. 2012. Influences of forest roads on the spatial patterns of human- and 

lightning-caused wildfire ignitions. Applied Geography 32:878-888.  

National Council for Air and Stream Improvement, Inc. (NCASI). 2012. Assessing the effectiveness of 

contemporary forestry best management practices (BMPs): Focus on roads. Special Report No. 12-01. 

Research Triangle Park, NC: National Council for Air and Stream Improvement, Inc.  



 

121 

 

National Wildfire Coordinating Group (NWCG). 2017. Guide to Preventing Aquatic Invasive Species 

Transport by Wildland Fire Operations. PMS 444. 64 pp.  

Neary, D.G., K.C. Ryan, and L.F. DeBano, eds. 2005. Wildland fire in ecosystems: effects of fire on soils 

and water. Gen. Tech. Rep. RMRS-GTR-42-vol.4. Ogden, UT: U.S. Department of Agriculture, 

Forest Service, Rocky Mountain Research Station. 250 pp.  

Newcombe, Charles P, and Jorgen O T Jensen. 1996. “Channel Suspended Sediment and Fisheries: A 

Synthesis for Quantitative Assessment of Risk and Impact.” North American Journal of Fisheries 

Management 16: 693–727. https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1577/1548-

8675(1996)016%3C0693:CSSAFA%3E2.3.CO;2.  

NMFS. 1996. “Making Endangered Species Act Determinations of Effect for Individual or Grouped 

Actions at the Watershed Scale.”  

Peterson, D. L., J. K. Agee, G. H. Aplet, D. P. Dykstra, R. T. Graham, J. F. Lehmkuhl, D. S. Pilliod, D. F. 

Potts, R. F. Powers, and J. D. Stuart. 2009. Effects of timber harvest following wildfire in western 

North America. Page PNW-GTR-776. U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Pacific 

Northwest Research Station, Portland, OR. 

Philpott, T.J., J.S. Barker, C.E. Prescott, and S.J. Grayston. 2018. Limited effects of variable-retention 

harvesting on fungal communities decomposing fine roots in coastal temperate rainforests. Applied 

and Environmental Microbiology 84(3): 1-17.  

Pyle, C. and M.M. Brown. 2002. The effects of microsite (logs versus ground surface) on the presence of 

forest floor biota in a second-growth hardwood forest. USDA Forest Service, Gen. Tech. Rep. PSW-

GTR-181.  

Reiser, Dudley W., and Robert G. White. 1988. “Effects of Two Sediment Size-Classes on Survival of 

Steelhead and Chinook Salmon Eggs.” North American Journal of Fisheries Management 8 (4): 432–

37. https://doi.org/10.1577/1548-8675(1988)008<0432:eotssc>2.3.co;2.  

Robichaud, P.R., J.L. Beyers, and D.G. Neary. 2000. Evaluating the effectiveness of postfire 

rehabilitation treatments. General Technical Report RMRS-GTR-63. Fort Collins, CO: U.S. 

Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Rocky Mountain Research Station. 85 pp.  

Robichaud, Peter R., Edwin D. Bone, Sarah A. Lewis, Erin S. Brooks, and Robert E. Brown. 2021. 

Effectiveness of Post-Fire Salvage Logging Stream Buffer Management for Hillslope Erosion in the 

U.S. Inland Northwest Mountains. Hydrological Processes 35 (1): 1–15. 

https://doi.org/10.1002/hyp.13943.  

Ryan, Sandra, and Kathleen Dwire. 2012. “Wildfire Impacts on Stream Sedimentation: Re-Visiting the 

Boulder Creek Burn in Little Granite Creek, Wyoming, USA.” IAHS-AISH Publication 354 (June): 

75–80.  

Scheidt, Nicholas E. 2006. “Stream Succession: Channel Changes after Wildfire Disturbance.” University 

of Idaho.  

Smith S. and D.R. Cluck. 2011. Marking Guidelines for Fire-Injured Trees. Pacific Southwest Region, 

Report RO-11-01. Available online at: 

https://www.fs.usda.gov/Internet/FSE_DOCUMENTS/stelprdb5331724.pdf.  

Steel, Z.L., D. Foster, M. Coppoletta, J.M. Lydersen, S.L. Stephens, A. Paudel, S.H. Markwith, K. 

Merriam, and B.M. Collins. 2021. Ecological resilience and vegetation transition in the face of two 

successive large wildfires. Journal of Ecology; 16 pp.  



 

122 

 

Steel, Z.L., H.D. Safford, and J.H. Viers. 2015. The fire frequency-severity relationship and the legacy of 

fire suppression in California forests. Ecosphere 6(1):8. http://dx.doi.org/10.1890/ES14-00224.1.  

Stephens S. and S. Frederick 2020. Synthesis: Interactions Between Fire and Climate in the California 

Sierra Nevada. California Fire Science Consortium, 130 Mulford Hall MC #3114, Berkeley, CA.  

Stephens S.L. and L.W. Ruth. 2005. Federal forest-fire policy in the United States. Ecological 

Applications 15(2):532-542.  

Sudgen, B.D. 2018. Estimated sediment reduction with forestry best management practices 

implementation on a legacy forest road network in the northern rocky mountains. Forest Science 

00(00_: 1-11. doi: 10.1093/forsci/fxx006  

United States Department of Agriculture (USDA) Natural Resources Conservation Service (NRCS). 

2019. Soil Survey Geographic Database (SSURGO) for the Six Rivers National Forest (CA701), 

Mendocino National Forest (CA 709), Klamath National Forest (CA 702) and Shasta Trinity National 

Forests (CA 707). Via http://websoilsurvey.nrcs.usda.gov.  

USDA Forest Service. 1981. Management Agency Agreement Between the State Water Resources 

Control Board, State of California and the Forest Service, USDA.  

USDA Forest Service. 2018. Programmatic Agreement among the U.S.D.A. Forest Service Pacific 

Southwest Region (Region 5), the California State Historic Preservation Officer, the Nevada State 

Historic Preservation Officer, and the Advisory Council on Historic Preservation Regarding Processes 

for Compliance with Section 106 of the National Historic Preservation Act for Management of 

Historic Properties by the National Forests of the Pacific Southwest Region (R5 PA).  

USDA Forest Service. 1990. R-5 FSH 2509.22 – Soil and Water Conservation Handbook Region 5 

Amendment No.2. San Francisco, CA: 51 pp.  

USDA Forest Service. 2011a. Watershed Condition Framework, FS-977. Washington, D.C. May 2011; 

https://www.fs.usda.gov/sites/default/files/Watershed_Condition_Framework.pdf.  

USDA Forest Service. 2011b. Watershed Condition Classification Technical Guide, FS-978. Washington, 

DC; 

https://www.fs.usda.gov/biology/resources/pubs/watershed/maps/watershed_classification_guide2011

FS978.pdf.  

USDA Forest Service. 2012. National Best Management Practices for Water Quality Management on 

National Forest System Lands, Volume 1: National Core BMP Technical Guide. FS-990a. 

Washington, DC: USDA Forest Service. 165 pp. Available online at: 

https://www.fs.usda.gov/biology/resources/pubs/watershed/FS_National_Core_BMPs_April2012.pdf.  

USDA Forest Service. 2014. FSH-2509.19 National Best Management Practices Chapter 10 – National 

Core Best Management Practices. Accessed September 2021 from 

https://www.fs.usda.gov/naturalresources/watershed/bmp.shtml.  

USDA Forest Service. 2017. Forest Service Manual 2500-2017-1. Supplement. Soil Management 

Handbook. Pacific Southwest Region, Vallejo, CA. 11 pp.  

USDA Forest Service. 2018. Programmatic Agreement among the USDA Forest Service, Pacific 

Southwest Region (Region 5), California State Historic Preservation Officer, Nevada State Historic 

Preservation Officer, and the Advisory Council on Historic Preservation Regarding the Process for 

Compliance with Section 106 of the National Historic Preservation Act for Management of Historic 

Properties by the National Forests of the Pacific Southwest Region.  



 

123 

 

USDA Forest Service. 2021a. Best Management Practices Program general website, accessed September 

2021 from https://www.fs.usda.gov/naturalresources/watershed/bmp.shtml.  

USDA Forest Service. 2021b. Rocky Mountain Research Station, GRAIP lite. Accessed September 2021 

from https://www.fs.usda.gov/GRAIP/GRAIP_Lite.html.  

USDA Forest Service. 2022a. Climate Change Research Cooperative; Forests water and Climate Change. 

Accessed March 2022 from https://www.fs.usda.gov/ccrc/topics/forests-water-and-climate-change.  

USDA Forest Service. 2022b. Non-native invasive plant risk assessment. Region 5 Hazard Tree Removal 

Project.  

Vose, J. M., J.S. Clark, C.H. Luce, and T. Patel-Weynard, eds. 2016. Effects of drought on forests and 

rangelands in the United States: A comprehensive science synthesis. Gen. Tech. Rep. WO-93b. 

Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Washington Office. 289 pp. 

https://www.fs.usda.gov/treesearch/pubs/50261.  

Wagenbrenner, J.W., L.H. MacDonald, R.N. Coats, P.R. Robichaud, and R.E. Brown. 2015. Effects of 

post-fire salvage logging on ground cover, soils and sediment production in the interior western USA. 

Forest Ecol. Manage. 335: 179–193.  

Young, Michael K. 1994. “Movement and Characteristics of Stream-Borne Coarse Woody Debris in 

Adjacent Burned and Undisturbed Watersheds in Wyoming.” Canadian Journal of Forest Research 

24 (9): 1933–38.  

Zelt, Ronald B., and Ellen E. Wohl. 2004. “Channel and Woody Debris Characteristics in Adjacent 

Burned and Unburned Watersheds a Decade after Wildfire, Park County, Wyoming.” Geomorphology 

57 (3–4): 217–33. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0169-555X(03)00104-1. 

 



Forest Restoration Contract  1 
Susanville Ranch Park Mountain Meadow Restoration Project 

SUSANVILLE RANCH PARK FOREST RESTORATION PROJECT 
 

Susanville Ranch Park Mountain Meadow Restoration Project 
Lassen County, CA 

 
 THIS CONTRACT made this 23rd day of May 2024 between the Honey Lake Valley 
Resource Conservation District (hereinafter called "HLVRCD,") and California 
Reforestation, Inc.hereinafter called "CONTRACTOR", for the purpose of conducting a forest 
restoration project 
 
WITNESSETH THAT: 
1. CONTRACT TO PRACTICE INTENSIVE FORESTRY  - CONTRACTOR shall have 

the right to enter and work on the following described real property in the County of Lassen, 
State of California on County of Lassen (hereinafter called “LANDOWNER”, property, as 
shown on the attached project map marked Exhibit A and made a part hereof: 

Portion of Section 19 & 30 
Township 30 North, Range 12 East, MDBM 

 
2. TERM OF CONTRACT  - CONTRACTOR shall terminate performance under this 

Contract no later than November 15, 2024. There shall be no extensions beyond this date 
without HLVRCD’s permission.  Permission to extend the Contract shall not be withheld if 
additional time is needed due to factors beyond the CONTRACTOR'S control, but 
permission to extend may be withheld due to CONTRACTOR'S failure to undertake projects 
in a timely and efficient manner. 

 
3. PROJECT DESCRIPTION - CONTRACTOR shall perform the following described 

intensive forestry practices and operations for the purpose of restoring forest habitat through 
the removal of small diameter (<11” dbh) trees to improve spacing and remove ladder fuels 
on approximately 25 acres (gross including roads and open areas):  See Project Specifications 
in Exhibit B. 

• Forest Management: Hand thin unmarked conifers and scrub oaks <11” diameter at breast 
height (dbh), prune remaining trees, and broadcast chip slash and treated materials 
throughout treatment area  (+/- 25 acres). The boundaries of this project area will be marked 
with pink “Timber Harvest Boundary” and Red “Property Boundary” flagging. 

 
4. INSPECTION - Project completion requires the approval of HLVRCD or its representative. 
 
5. COMPENSATION - 

a) Payment - CONTRACTOR shall be paid a not to exceed amount of $61,072 for hand 
thinning, pruning, and chipping, on an estimated gross total area of +/- 25 acres. 
Completed work shall comply with the requirements of this Contract, and applicable 
standards of the California Department of Forestry (CALFIRE).  Partial payments shall 
be made as follows: (1) $27,482.18 upon completion of thinning and pruning; (2) 
$27,482.17 upon completion of broadcast chipping of slash; (3) the 10% Withholding 
Fund, or $6,107.15  shall be released upon completion of all project work. Payments shall 



Forest Restoration Contract  2 
Susanville Ranch Park Mountain Meadow Restoration Project 

be made within 45 days of receipt of an invoice. 
b) Withholding Fund - From payments which would otherwise become payable to 

CONTRACTOR, HLVRCD shall deduct for a guarantee fund, the sum of 10% of the 
invoiced amount as described above. Such fund may be used by HLVRCD if necessary to 
perform any obligation of CONTRACTOR under this Contract, which is not performed 
by CONTRACTOR.  When HLVRCD is assured all CONTRACTOR’S obligations 
hereunder have been performed, the amount then remaining in the guarantee fund will be 
paid to CONTRACTOR.  No partial refunds shall be made unless specially authorized by 
HLVRCD. 

 
6. RECORDS RETENTION – 

a) The CONTRACTOR shall establish an official file containing adequate documentation of 
all actions taken with respect to the Project, including copies of the Grant Agreement, 
changes, amendments, letters, email correspondence, financial records, and required 
reports for a minimum of four (4) years following the final payment of funds or until 
completion of any action and resolution of all issues which may arise as a result of an 
audit, whichever is later. 

b) The CONTRACTOR shall adequately protect all records, physical and electronic, from 
loss, damage, or destruction during the four (4) year retention period. 

 
7. AUDIT: 

a) Grant funded projects are subject to audit by the State of California during the grant term 
and for up to three years following the termination of the grant agreement.  
CONTRACTOR agrees that the HLVRCD, Department of Conservation, Department of 
Finance, Bureau of State Audits, or their designated representative shall have the right to 
review and to copy any records and supporting documentation pertaining to the 
performance of this Grant Agreement.  The audit may consist of examining and auditing 
pertinent books, documents, papers, and records including financial transactions and 
supporting documents, general accounting systems, internal controls, management 
practices, policies, and procedures pertaining to the performance of this Grant 
Agreement. 

b) At any time, the Department of Conservation, Department of Finance, Bureau of State 
Audits, or their designated representative may request to review CONTRACTOR’s 
records to ensure proper grant management.  CONTRACTOR shall be given advance 
notice when the grant-funded Project is selected for an audit or review by the Department 
of Conservation, Department of Finance, Bureau of State Audits, or their designated 
representative.  CONTRACTOR agrees to allow the auditor(s) access to such records 
during normal business hours, excluding State of California holidays, and to allow 
interviews of any employees who might reasonably have information related to such 
records.  Further, CONTRACTOR agrees to include a similar right of the Department of 
Conservation to audit records and interview staff in any subcontract related to 
performance of this Grant Agreement in accordance with Government Code section 
8546.7.  CONTRACTOR shall comply with the above and be aware of the penalties for 
violations of fraud and for obstruction of investigation as set forth in Public Contract 
Code section 10115.10. 

 



Forest Restoration Contract  3 
Susanville Ranch Park Mountain Meadow Restoration Project 

8. OPERATIONS UNDER CONTRACT – CONTRACTOR agrees to perform all forest 
operations in strict accordance with the following conditions: 

 
a) CONTRACTOR shall conduct operations required for its performance under this 

Contract on said real property and otherwise shall proceed in an orderly, workmanlike 
and progressive manner.   

b) CONTRACTOR shall only use power equipment that is equipped with a muffler and 
spark arrestor approved by the California Department of Forestry & Fire Protection.   

c)  CONTRACTOR shall provide fire protection tools on the worksite and shall take every 
precaution to prevent a wildfire occurring as a result of its operations.   

d) CONTRACTOR shall comply with all of the provisions of any required permits, and 
documents and agrees that they are reasonable for the objective of conducting forest 
restoration activities, in accordance with various governmental regulations and prudent 
land management: 

e) The following laws and regulations are hereby made a part of this Contract and the 
CONTRACTOR agrees to comply with each and all of the terms thereof in the same 
manner as if said laws and regulations were set forth at length herein.  It is further agreed 
that if from time to time said laws and regulations are changed, revised or amended 
during the term of this Contract, then the laws and regulations in their changed, revised or 
amended form shall become a part of this Contract, to be complied with by the 
CONTRACTOR from the date on which they became effective. 

• Z'Berg-Nejedly Forest Practices Act of 1973 as amended and Forest Practice 
Rules for the Northern Forest District  

• Fish and Game Code 
• Porter-Cologne Water Quality 

CONTRACTOR further agrees to abide by and comply with any and all other Federal, 
State and County laws and regulations that are or may become applicable to its 
operations. 

f) No operations shall begin without a pre-work field meeting between CONTRACTOR 
and HLVRCD'S agent unless waived in writing by HLVRCD.   

g) Any necessary rights-of-way on private properties other than that controlled by Lassen 
County shall be procured by and at the expense of Lassen County. 

h)  CONTRACTOR shall cut all of the trees identified for removal under this Contract.   
i) No unnecessary damage shall be done to reproduction, hardwoods or any tree not 

identified for removal. 
j) CONTRACTOR shall not yard any fuelwood or chipped material by equipment without 

first securing permission from LANDWOWNER to use said equipment, and 
CONTRACTOR shall take all necessary measures to ensure that the equipment is weed 
free.  

k) All vehicular equipment and debris shall be kept out of and away from live streams.   
l) All refuse (equipment parts, oil filters, fuel dumps, broken chokers, bottles, lunch papers, 

cans, trash, and non-forest debris resulting from CONTRACTOR'S operations) shall be 
carried off the property concurrently and by the completion of operations.  No oil, 
petroleum products or other hazardous materials shall be deposited upon or buried on the 
property. 

m) CONTRACTOR shall protect fences, roads, telephone, light, power and water pipelines, 



Forest Restoration Contract  4 
Susanville Ranch Park Mountain Meadow Restoration Project 

ditches, water developments and springs, campsites, foot trails and buildings and other 
structures against unnecessary injury, and shall repair damage caused by its activities by 
restoring them immediately to the condition found prior to damage.   

n) Section corners, quarter section corners, or meander monuments shall not be destroyed, 
defaced, changed or removed to another place, nor shall any witness tree be cut. 

o) CONTRACTOR shall avoid commission of trespass upon the lands of Lassen County or 
other property owners not included in this Contract.  CONTRACTOR agrees that should 
it commit any trespass that it will hold HLVRCD and Lassen County harmless from all 
damage, cost or expense arising out of such trespass. 

p) Nothing herein contained shall in any way affect the right of HLVRCD or 
LANDOWNER at all times to enter upon the project area for any purpose, including 
without limitation for the purpose of removing timber from any project area or part 
thereof on which CONTRACTOR shall have completed its operations. 

q) CONTRACTOR shall maintain locked gates, where existing and shall establish suitable 
barriers into operating areas on weekends and holidays.  In periods of extremely 
hazardous fire conditions during the course of the operations, CONTRACTOR shall 
provide a fire patrolman as required by HLVRCD.   

r) During periods of wet weather or high fire hazard, HLVRCD may require 
CONTRACTOR to suspend its operations if, in HLVRCD'S judgment, continued 
operations will cause excessive damage to its lands through soil compaction or creation 
of more hazardous fire conditions. 

s)  No vehicles or heavy machinery will be driven in the project area in wet conditions. Care 
will be taken to not damage vegetation or soil health in the project area, especially the 
meadow. 

t) CONTRACTOR agrees that all motor vehicles shall not exceed a speed of 15 miles per 
hour on any roadways on lands of Lassen County or other private roads utilized for this 
project. 

u) CONTRACTOR shall personally identify the boundaries of the project area to be treated 
and, where necessary, cause them to be given additional markings so that there will not 
be any question of location.  In the event that its activities destroy or damage such survey 
evidence, CONTRACTOR agrees to have it properly restored at its own expense by a 
licensed surveyor or registered engineer. 

v) If any archaeological sites are within the project area or discovered during the course of 
operations, CONTRACTOR and its agents and employees shall leave them undisturbed 
as required by State Forest Practice Rules. 

w) CONTRACTOR shall not fell any trees across any spring areas. CONTRACTOR shall 
not skid any trees across the equipment exclusion area flagged around springs or 
watercourses. 

x) CONTRACTOR shall not construct any new roads or undertake any major ground 
excavation. 

y) HLVRCD may terminate this Contract for any reason, including but not limited to failure 
of CONTRACTOR to perform work properly as per the Project Description in Exhibit B.  

z) Neither CONTRACTOR, employees or subcontractors shall smoke on the property other 
than in an enclosed motor vehicle. 

aa) Contractor will fell trees away from areas marked as sensitive, and work with the RPF on 
how to treat these sensitive areas. These areas will be marked in yellow and white stripe 



Forest Restoration Contract  5 
Susanville Ranch Park Mountain Meadow Restoration Project 

“Equipment Exclusion Zone” flagging and will be discussed at the pre-implementation 
meeting. 

 
9. LICENSES, PERMITS, AND COMPLIANCE WITH FEDERAL AND LOCAL LAWS 

- CONTRACTOR shall secure any and all licenses or permits required for its obligations 
under the terms of this Contract. CONTRACTOR agrees to comply with all applicable 
provisions of Federal and State statutes, municipal ordinances, regulations, and requirements 
issued or imposed by any governmental authority.  

 
10. FIRE -  

a) CONTRACTOR shall exercise all possible precaution against fire and agrees to 
accept full responsibility for all fires originating on the project area caused by its 
operation during the permissible operating period, except when caused by HLVRCD 
or Lassen County and without limiting its aforesaid responsibility. CONTRACTOR 
further agrees to indemnify and save harmless HLVRCD from any liability from fires 
legally caused by CONTRACTOR'S activities, burning onto other lands and without 
limiting his aforesaid responsibility. 

b) Responsibility of CONTRACTOR to suppress fires occurring upon said project area 
and land shall exist regardless of the responsibility of any political body or agency 
having jurisdiction or any fire protection organization or agency and regardless of any 
firefighting efforts which may be expended by any such agency or agencies. 

c) CONTRACTOR agrees to promptly report by telephone, radio or other expeditious 
means to such person or persons as HLVRCD and LANDOWNER shall designate 
from time to time all fires occurring on or threatening to run on to said project area 
and Lassen County’s property. 

d) CONTRACTOR agrees to have a fire tool cache and water on the harvest area at all 
times during the logging operation, and comply with all State fire regulations.  

 
11. INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR STATUS - All CONTRACTOR'S operations hereunder 

are for CONTRACTOR's own account exclusively and nothing herein contained shall 
operate to make CONTRACTOR the agent of HLVRCD or LASSEN COUNTY or be 
construed as authorizing or empowering CONTRACTOR to obligate or bind HLVRCD in 
any manner whatsoever. 
 

12. TAXES AND CHARGES:  LANDOWNER shall pay all severance taxes and forest 
products harvest taxes, where imposed, and shall prepare and file all necessary reports in 
connection therewith.  CONTRACTOR shall pay before delinquency all fees, charges, 
franchises and taxes in connection with CONTRACTOR'S operations hereunder. 

 
13. WORKMEN'S COMPENSATION AND UNEMPLOYMENT INSURANCE - Before 

any work is undertaken under the terms of this Contract, whether by CONTRACTOR OR 
CONTRACTORS subcontractors, state or private industrial accident insurance and 
unemployment security or insurance sufficient to meet statutory requirements shall be 
procured by CONTRACTOR at CONTRACTOR'S expense, covering all employees or 
CONTRACTOR who shall also be responsible for subcontractors obtaining like insurance 
for subcontractors' employees. Satisfactory proof of compliance with the requirements of this 



Forest Restoration Contract  6 
Susanville Ranch Park Mountain Meadow Restoration Project 

paragraph shall be provided by Mail to HLVRCD, 170 Russell Ave., Suite A, Susanville, 
California 96130. If CONTRACTOR has no employees, it shall provide a written 
confirmation of that fact to HLVRCD. 

 
14. INDEMNIFICATION OF HLVRCD, LANDOWNER, AND THEIR 

CONTRACTRACTORS- 
a) Damage to Persons or Property - CONTRACTOR agrees to indemnify and save harmless 

HLVRCD, LANDOWNER, and its family and heirs, employees, agents, contractors and 
licensees, and its Forester, Timothy C. Keesey, herein in this paragraph included in the 
term "HLVRCD”, and “LANDOWNER”  from any and all costs, expenses, damages, 
liens, charges, claims, demands or liabilities whatsoever (hereinafter in this paragraph 
referred to as "claim") arising out of or in any manner connected with or resulting from 
the operations hereunder of CONTRACTOR and the servants, employees and 
contractors, but excepting those claims and those only arising from the sole negligence of 
HLVRCD or LANDOWNER.  CONTRACTOR shall, at CONTRACTOR'S own cost 
and expense, defend against any and all actions, suits or other legal proceedings that may 
be brought or instituted against HLVRCD on any such claim or demand and shall pay or 
satisfy any judgment or decree that may be rendered against HLVRCD in such action, 
suit or legal proceeding or which may result there from. 

 
Without limiting the foregoing, in the event of assertion of any such claim against 
HLVRCD, LASSEN COUNTY, or its properties or in the event any sum payable or to 
become payable to CONTRACTOR hereunder is garnished, CONTRACTOR agrees that 
within three (3) days after notice from HLVRCD to do so, CONTRACTOR shall either 
cause the satisfaction, discharge or release of any such claim or garnishment, or deposit 
with HLVRCD cash or a corporate surety bond conditioned on satisfaction, release or 
discharge of such claim or garnishment, such bond to be in such form and issued by such 
guarantor as meets the approval of HLVRCD in an amount equal to such claim or the 
sum specified in such garnishment, plus such additional reasonable sum as HLVRCD 
specifies in such notice for anticipated expenses of HLVRCD in connection with such 
claim or garnishment is satisfied, discharged or released. 
 

b) Fire Protection and Fighting - CONTRACTOR agrees to pay and protect, indemnify and 
save HLVRCD, LANDOWNER, and Timothy C. Keesey harmless from any and all 
costs, expenses or liability in connection with or on account of the patrol or the project 
area against fire or the suppression of any fire or fires thereon or which may spread there 
from, howsoever caused and whether originating on said project area or any part thereof 
or spreading thereto from other lands.  CONTRACTOR further agrees to defend against 
any and all claims based upon or resulting from the occurrence of fire on or spreading of 
fire from any part of the project area to other lands, including the cost of suppressing the 
same and to pay and discharge any liability that may be established on account thereof 
and completely to protect, indemnify and save LANDOWNER harmless there from.  The 
foregoing covenants shall continue during the life of this Contract and, notwithstanding 
the expiration or sooner termination hereof, shall survey and continue so as to apply to 
and govern any and all costs, expenses, liability or claim of liability arising out of or on 
account of any fire or the protection against fire originating on or spreading to or from 



Forest Restoration Contract  7 
Susanville Ranch Park Mountain Meadow Restoration Project 

any part of said project area and land while they remain subject to this Contract. 
 

15. INSURANCE PROVIDED BY CONTRACTOR - 
 

a) CONTRACTOR shall, throughout the life of this Contract, carry and maintain, at 
CONTRACTOR'S expense, Comprehensive Public Liability and Property Damage 
Insurance with respect to automobiles and exposures other than automobiles, including 
Contractual and Completed Operations. 

b)  CONTRACTOR agrees to carry third party property liability insurance against fire 
damage in the amount of $1,000,000 and liability insurance for property damage caused 
by fire in the amount of $1,000,000. 

c) CONTRACTOR agrees to maintain public liability insurance in the amount of at least 
$1,000,000.  CONTRACTOR agrees to maintain public liability insurance and that of its 
contractors and licensees for death or personal injury, and property damage insurance in 
the amount of at least $1,000,000 covering the liability of such persons to third parties, 
but third party logging property damage insurance shall be in the amount of at least 
$1,000,000. 

d)  CONTRACTOR shall provide, in addition to the insurance described above, Property 
Damage Liability Insurance to include CONTRACTOR'S Property Damage - Form B 
Third Party Liability insurance with limits of at least $1,000,000 per occurrence.  All 
such policies of insurance listed above shall contain a provision that the same shall not be 
cancelled nor the coverage modified nor the limits changed without first giving ten (10) 
days written notice thereof to HLVRCD and LANDOWNER.  Such policies of insurance 
shall be written by insurance companies satisfactory to HLVRCD, and certificates of 
insurance evidencing the coverage required shall be provided to HLVRCD by mail, 
addressed to HLVRCD, c/o SRP Restoration, 1700 Russell Ave, Suite C, Susanville, CA 
96130 or sent by email to astuemky@honeylakevalleyrcd.us and 
timkeesey@tckecological.com  prior to the start of logging operations.  

e) A standard comprehensive policy is acceptable provided it provides at least the stated 
coverage listed. 

f) All the insurance required by this Contract shall name County of Lassen, Honey Lake 
Valley Resource Conservation District, and Timothy C. Keesey (RPF#3134) as 
additionally insured and shall carry a cross liability endorsement and shall include 
provisions for 30 days cancellation notice to the insured.  Operations shall not begin until 
County of Lassen, HLVRCD, and Timothy C. Keesey (#3134) receive a Certificate of 
Insurance and a copy of the endorsement. 

 
 
16. TIME FOR COMPLETION; SUSPENSION OF OPERATIONS - Time is of the essence 

of this Contract and each of its terms, covenants and conditions shall be fully performed and 
complied with and completed by CONTRACTOR on or before the date specified in 
paragraph 7 hereof.  Further, HLVRCD reserves the right to require CONTRACTOR, upon 
written notice, to suspend logging operations because of fire hazards, strikes or other 
conditions over which HLVRCD has no control; in such event the time of completion of 
performance shall be extended for a period of time equal to the suspension. 
 

mailto:astuemky@honeylakevalleyrcd.us
mailto:timkeesey@tckecological.com


Forest Restoration Contract  8 
Susanville Ranch Park Mountain Meadow Restoration Project 

17. LIENS - CONTRACTOR shall not permit or suffer any lien or liens to be enforced on or 
against the land of LANDOWNER covered by this Contract nor any of the improvements 
thereon, for work, labor, materials, supplies or equipment furnished by, or at the request of 
CONTRACTOR, and shall hold HLVRCD and the LANDOWNER harmless against any and 
all such liens.  HLVRCD shall have the right to pay any amount required to release and 
discharge any such lien or liens, or to defend any action brought thereon, and to pay any 
judgment entered therein and CONTRACTOR shall be liable to HLVRCD for all costs, 
damages and reasonable attorney's fees and any amounts expended in defending such actions 
(whether the defense thereof shall be successful or unsuccessful) or in the payment of any of 
said liens or any judgments obtained thereon. 

 
18. DEFAULT - 
 

a) In the event CONTRACTOR fails to perform any obligation or condition herein 
contained to be kept and performed by CONTRACTOR and such default is not remedied 
within five (5) days after notice, either written or oral, thereof is given to 
CONTRACTOR, HLVRCD may, at its option, declare this Contract in default, and either 
(1) suspend CONTRACTOR'S operations indefinitely until default is remedied and 
without compensatory extension therefore as provided in paragraph 16, or (2) without 
further notice, cancel and terminate the same and recover damages for CONTRACTOR'S 
preceding breach thereof, without prejudice, however, to any other remedy provided for 
herein. 

b)  If, during the term of this Contract: 
1. CONTRACTOR shall make an assignment for the benefit of creditors; or 
2. An involuntary petition is filed against CONTRACTOR which is not set aside or 

dismissed within thirty (30) days from the filing thereof, or a voluntary petition is 
filed by CONTRACTOR under any law having for its purpose the adjudication of 
bankruptcy, or for the extension of time payment, composition, adjustment, 
modification, settlement or satisfaction of liabilities; or 

3. A receiver be appointed for the property of CONTRACTOR by reason of the 
insolvency or alleged insolvency of CONTRACTOR and not set aside within thirty 
(30) days after appointment; or 

4. Any department of the state or federal government, or any officers thereof duly 
authorized, shall take possession of the business or property of CONTRACTOR by 
reason of the insolvency or alleged insolvency of CONTRACTOR; CONTRACTOR 
shall at HLVRCD’S option, deem the occurrence of any such contingency a breach of 
this Contract. 

c) The remedies provided for in this Contract shall not be deemed exclusive, and HLVRCD 
shall have in addition all other remedies available at law and in equity. 

 
19. COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS, ORDERS AND REGULATIONS - 
 

a) CONTRACTOR warrants that all material delivered or work performed hereunder shall 
be in compliance with the requirements of (1) the Fair Labor Standards Act of 1938, as 
amended, (2) Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, (3) the Age Discrimination in 
Employment Act of 1967, (4) the Occupational Safety and Health Act of 1970, (5) the 



Forest Restoration Contract  9 
Susanville Ranch Park Mountain Meadow Restoration Project 

Rehabilitation Act of 1973, and the rules, regulations and executive orders applicable 
thereto. 

b) If this Contract is subject to the terms of Executive Order No. 11246, as amended, and 
the Rules and Regulation promulgated thereunder, CONTRACTOR agrees that the Equal 
Opportunity Clause contained in Section 202, paragraphs (1) through (7), of Executive 
Order, shall by this reference by incorporated in and made a part hereof, and shall upon 
request by CONTRACTOR be annexed hereto.  CONTRACTOR shall also comply with 
the affirmative action requirements of the Executive Order, and file annually Standard 
Form 100 (EEO-1) or its substitute. 

c) If this Contract is subject to the terms of State of California Labor Code 1720 (a)(1) with 
respect to payment of prevailing wages, CONTRACTOR agrees that it is solely 
responsible for complying with the requirement. 

d) Notwithstanding the foregoing, HLVRCD agrees that any alleged non-compliance by 
CONTRACTOR with the foregoing laws, rules, regulations and executive orders shall 
not constitute a basis for HLVRCD to terminate this Contract, without HLVRCD first 
notifying CONTRACTOR in writing of the alleged noncompliance and giving 
CONTRACTOR a period of twenty (20) days in which to remedy same; provided 
CONTRACTOR'S operations hereunder for noncompliance with the standards and 
provisions of the Occupational Safety and Health Act of 1970, subject to extension rights 
granted in paragraph 16 hereof. 

e)  CONTRACTOR shall conduct operations under this Contract in a business-like and 
efficient manner, in accordance with modern and approved forestry practices and in 
accordance with directions of HLVRCD, and shall keep and observe all State and Federal 
laws, rules and regulations now or hereafter applicable to such operations and the 
employment of labor with respect thereto including without limiting the foregoing 
generality, laws rules and regulations pertaining to protection and conservation of fish 
and game and the prevention of pollution of any streams and water sources.  
CONTRACTOR shall secure all licenses and permits, excluding road use permits, and 
file all notices by law required relating to CONTRACTOR'S performance hereunder, and 
shall provide to HLVRCD evidence of compliance with said requirements.  

 
20. NONDISCRIMINATION CLAUSE: During the performance of this Contract, the 

CONTRACTOR and its subcontractors shall not unlawfully discriminate, harass, or allow 
harassment against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, color, 
ancestry, national origin, religion, creed, age (over 40), mental disability, physical disability, 
sex, gender (including pregnancy, childbirth, breastfeeding, or related medical conditions), 
sexual orientation, gender identity, gender expression, medical condition, genetic 
information, marital status, and military and veteran status.  The CONTRACTOR and 
subcontractors shall ensure that the evaluation and treatment of their employees and 
applicants for employment are free from such discrimination and harassment. The 
CONTRACTOR and subcontractors shall comply with the provisions of the Fair 
Employment and Housing Act (Gov. Code §12990 (a-f) et seq.) and the applicable 
regulations promulgated thereunder (California Code of Regulations, Title 2, Section 7285 et 
seq.).  The applicable regulations of the Fair Employment and Housing Commission 
implementing Government Code Section 12990 (a-f), set forth in Chapter 5 of Division 4 of 
Title 2 of the California Code of Regulations, are incorporated into this Grant Agreement by 



Forest Restoration Contract  10 
Susanville Ranch Park Mountain Meadow Restoration Project 

reference and made a part hereof as if set forth in full. The CONTRACTOR and its 
subcontractors shall give written notice of their obligations under this clause to labor 
organizations with which they have a collective bargaining or other Grant Agreement. 
 
The CONTRACTOR shall include the nondiscrimination and compliance provisions of this 
clause in all subcontracts to perform work under this Grant Agreement. 
 

21. AMERICANS WITH DISABILITIES ACT: CONTRACTOR assures the HLVRCD that 
it complies with the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) of 1990, which prohibits 
discrimination on the basis of disability, as well as all applicable regulations and guidelines 
issued pursuant to the ADA (42 U.S.C. 12101 et seq.). 
 

22. REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES: The CONTRACTOR will make no 
representations, warranties, or commitments binding HLVRCD without HLVRCD’s prior 
written consent. 

 
23. WAIVER - Failure by HLVRCD at any time to require strict performance by 

CONTRACTOR of any provision hereof shall in no way affect HLVRCD'S rights hereunder 
to enforce such provisions hereof be held to be a waiver of any succeeding breach of any 
such provision or as a waiver of the provisions itself. 

 
24. ASSIGNMENT - CONTRACTOR may not assign this Contract or any rights hereunder 

without the prior written consent of HLVRCD nor shall the same be transferred by operation 
or law or by any execution sale or by any receiver or trustee in bankruptcy or otherwise 
without a like written consent and any attempted or purported assignment or transfer thereof 
without such prior written consent shall be void and shall confer no rights on the assignee or 
transferee. Except as above provided, this Contract shall be binding upon the successors in 
interest of the parties. 

 
25. ATTORNEY’S FEES -  In the event of any suit, action or proceeding relating to any rights, 

suites or liabilities arising hereunder, the prevailing party shall be entitled to recover such 
sum, as the court may adjudge reasonable as attorney's fees in addition to the costs and 
disbursements provided by statute. 

 
26. TITLE - The title to all forest products hereunder shall at all times remain in owner until 

sold or otherwise disposed of by HLVRCD.  
 

27. NOTICES  - Any and all notices of other matters required or permitted by this Contract or 
by law to be served on, given to, or delivered to either party hereto HLVRCD or 
CONTRACTOR, by the other party to this Contract, shall be in writing and shall be deemed 
duly served, given or delivered to the party to whom it is directed, or to a supervisory 
employee of such party, or in lieu of such personal service, when deposited in the United 
States mail, first class, postage prepaid, addressed to HLVRCD, c/o SRP Restoration, 170 
Russell Ave., Suite C, Susanville, CA 96130, or CONTRACTOR, California Reforestation, 
Inc., 22230 A S. Colorado Dr., Sonora, CA 95370. 

 



Forest Restoration Contract  11 
Susanville Ranch Park Mountain Meadow Restoration Project 

28. PUBLICITY: CONTRACTOR agrees that it will acknowledge the Department of 
Conservation’s and HLVRCD’s support whenever activities or projects funded, in whole or 
in part, by this Contract are publicized in any news media, brochures, articles, seminars, 
websites, or other type of promotional material. 

 
CONTRACTOR shall also include in any publication resulting from work performed under 
this Contract an acknowledgment substantially as follows: 
 
“The work upon which this publication is based was funded in whole or in part through a 
grant awarded by the California Department of Conservation with funds from the California 
Drought, Water, Parks, Climate Coastal Protection and Outdoor Access for All Act of 2018.” 
 
Media: CONTRACTOR is required to identify a point of contact for all press inquiries and 
communications needs related to the Project and provide the name, phone number, and email 
address of this individual to the HLVRCD.  All press releases must be approved by the 
Department of Conservation and HLVRCD prior to distribution, and the Department of 
Conservation must be alerted and invited to participate in all press conferences related to the 
grant. 
 
Social Media: CONTRACTOR is encouraged to use social media to inform and share with 
the public activities under this Contract.  Furthermore, the Department of Conservation and 
HLVRCD should be tagged on all posts related to activities under this Contract. 

 
29. CONFIDENTIALITY OF DATA:  The CONTRACTOR shall not disclose data, reports, or 

other information collected or developed pursuant to this Contract without the express 
written permission of HLVRCD. 
 

30. SOLE AND ONLY CONTRACT - This Contract constitutes the sole and only Contract of 
the parties relating to the intensive forestry practices on said real property and correctly sets 
forth the rights duties, and obligations of each to the other as of this date.  Any prior 
Contracts, promises, negotiations, or representations, not expressly set forth in this Contract 
are of no force and effect. 

 
31. ASSIGNMENT  - This Contract shall be binding on the heirs, assigns, and successors of the 

parties thereto but no rights or duties under this Contract may be assigned, sold, or 
transferred in any manner by CONTRACTOR to any other person or entity whatsoever 
without the express written consent of HLVRCD. 

 
32. STOP WORK -  If it is determined, at the sole discretion of the HLVRCD, that the 

CONTRACTOR is not meeting the terms and conditions of this Contract, immediately upon 
receiving a written notice through certified mail from the HLVRCD to stop work, the 
CONTRACTOR shall cease all work under this Contract.  The HLVRCD has the sole 
discretion to determine that the CONTRACTOR meets the terms and conditions after a stop 
work order, and to send through certified mail a written notice to CONTRACTOR to resume 
work under this Contract. 

 



Forest Restoration Contract  12 
Susanville Ranch Park Mountain Meadow Restoration Project 

33. FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT - CONTRACTOR shall maintain accounting procedures 
which are sufficient to track funds to a level of expenditures adequate to establish that such 
funds have been used in accordance with the requirements of this Contract. 

 
34. SIGNATURES -  It is agreed that in all matters and things hereunder to be done and that in 

all payments hereunder to be made, time is and shall be of the essence of this Contract. 
 
 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Contract hereto on the date first 
above written. 
 
EXECUTED on _____________________________, 2024 in Susanville, Lassen County, 
California. 
 
 
___________________________________     Date:    
Jesse Claypool, HLVRCD Board Chairman 
 
 
          Date:    
Will Dorrell, California Reforestation, Inc. Vice President 



Forest Restoration Contract  13 
Susanville Ranch Park Mountain Meadow Restoration Project 

EXHIBIT A – Project Map 

 
 



Forest Restoration Contract  14 
Susanville Ranch Park Mountain Meadow Restoration Project 

EXHIBIT B – PROJECT SPECIFICATIONS 
Susanville Ranch Park Mountain Meadow Restoration Project 

Hand Thinning, Pruning, and Slash Treatment 
 

A. Hand Thinning (Forest Stand Improvement) 
1. Small trees 1.0” dbh to 11.0” dbh shall be thinned.  Trees to be harvested shall be chosen by 

CONTRACTOR based upon the following general spacing guidelines: 

 (i). Spacing of crop (leave) trees shall be approximately 15 to 20 feet.  Leave trees shall be thrifty 
dominants and codominants capable of responding to improved spacing.  

 (ii). Live trees over 9" DBH shall not be cut unless they are severely damaged, diseased, dead, or 
suppressed, and are marked to be cut. 

 (iii) Healthy trees less than 11” dbh that are not a ladder fuel to a larger tree, and are spaced 15-20 
feet from other trees can remain. 

 (iii) Where there are pockets of small diameter conifer reproduction (trees up to 10 feet in height), 
leave the healthiest trees at 15 to 20 foot spacing. 

 (iv). Trees less than 18" in total height shall not be thinned, unless in a pocket of conifer 
reproduction. 

 (v). Tree foliage/canopy shall not overlap; trees will have a distinct gap between tree crowns. 
 (vi). LANDOWNER or its representative may sample mark with orange or white paint all conifer 

trees 4” dbh and larger to be thinned to improve spacing and reduce ladder fuels.  Leave tree 
marking shall be done by tying red flagging on leave trees.   

2. Tree stumps and stems shall be cut as close to the ground as possible, and shall not exceed 6” 
above ground, measured on uphill side, or 6” above natural obstacles such as boulders, etc.  

3. Residual reproduction, poles and timber (leave trees) shall consist of healthy, vigorous dominant 
and codominant trees with full crowns, greater than 40% live crown, free of defect and the best 
phenotypes of the pre-harvest stand.   

4. The operator shall generally maintain the pre-harvest species composition.  Conifer retention 
priority shall generally be in the following order: (1) sugar pine and Douglas-fir, (2) ponderosa 
pine, Jeffrey pine and incense cedar, (3) white fir, and (4)juniper 

5. No hardwood trees or riparian species shall be cut, including California black oak, aspen, 
cottonwood, dogwood, and willow unless mutually agreed upon by Landowner or its 
representative, and marked with paint.  

6. All snags up to and including 14” D.B.H will be cut and treated to the specifications herein if 
marked. All limbs and top shall be treated to the requirements herein. 

7. In dense stands of small trees, LANDOWNER or its representative may indicate the leave trees 
with white paint, or red flagging. 

8. Within the drip line of California black oak and quaking aspen trees, all unmarked conifers less 
than 4” dbh shall be harvested. 

 
B. Tree Pruning Specifications (Forest Stand Improvement): 

 
1. Tree pruning is required on all leave trees at least 4 feet tall. 
2. No more than 50% of the length of live crown will be pruned on any individual tree, nor more 

than 50% of the height of the tree excluding dead branches which shall be pruned as high as 
possible. 

3. For all trees at least 20 feet tall, pruning will generally be done to the length of reach of the 
pruner with a pruning saw, but not less than 10 feet nor higher than 17 feet above the ground 
surface. Trees less than 20 feet tall will be pruned to a minimum height of 50% of the length of 
the live crown for pine species, and 65% for Douglas-fir, incense cedar and white fir (as 
measured down from the top of the tree). 



Forest Restoration Contract  15 
Susanville Ranch Park Mountain Meadow Restoration Project 

4. All dead branches of black oak trees less than 6” in diameter within 10 feet of the ground surface 
shall be pruned.  Live branches of black oak trees shall be pruned to not more than 35% of the 
total tree height or 8 feet above the ground surface, whichever is less. 

5. Pruned stems shall be flush cut with the trunk without stubs, and without damaging the trunk. 
6. Pruned material will be piled and burned (subject to LANDOWNER approval), broadcast 

chipped, or where feasible, piled outside of the Watercourse and Lake Protection Zone (WLPZ) 
for future treatment by a mechanical thinning contractor to the requirements herein.  
CONTRACTOR shall consult with LANDOWNER’S representative prior to treating pruned 
material. 

 
C. General Slash Treatment Specifications (All Treatments):  

 
1. Pockets of pre-existing slash either from natural mortality, or current and past tree harvest 

operations shall be treated to reduce the remaining volume and height of fuel concentrations.  
2. Contractor is expected to include woody debris greater than 2” diameter (small end) and 3’ long 

as treated material.  
3. All cut and pre-existing slash material shall be treated to the specifications herein. 
4. Seventy-five percent (75%) of harvested conifer trees, or branches, or sound downed woody 

material larger than 4" in diameter will be broadcast chipped or piled by CONTRACTOR. 
5. Some material may be left at LANDOWNER’s discretion in specific locations for use in the park. 

 
D. Slash Treatment Specifications – Piling (permissible at Lanodwner’s option): 

 
1. All woody material created from thinning and pruning, and pre-existing downed woody material 

shall be piled in openings so that leave trees will not receive scorching damage when the piles are 
burned. 

2. Slash piles shall not be greater than six (6) feet wide or four (4) feet high. 
3. Burn piles will be constructed (tee pee style) with a height of 1.5 times higher than their radial 

width (at the pile base).  However, pile height will not exceed 4 feet unless there are limited 
openings for piles to avoid residual scorch, due to the amount of material to be disposed and by 
approval of LANDOWNER’S RPF. 

4. Heavier materials should be placed inward into the burn pile interior and each pile containing 
material protruding greater than 2 feet will be trimmed back and placed on pile. 

5. Burn piles will be constructed free of dirt and non-combustible material to ensure a clean safe 
burn. 

6. Piles will be located away from stumps and rotten logs, and sufficient distance away from 
residual trees or other vegetation to reduce scorch. 

7. Piles will be managed to burn clean and level to the ground.  Throwing unburned chunks of slash 
and woody debris into piles will be necessary at least one time after the piles have had time to 
burn down, and more may be required for satisfactory consumption.  Chunking will include not 
only unburned pile material, but also any burning fuel, which is creeping from a pile to prevent 
further creep and/or escape.  

8. Covering piles.  Each pile will have Kraft paper placed during its construction on at least 50% of 
pile surface.  Small logs or slash will secure covering. 

9. Contractor will not be responsible for burning piles 
 

E. Slash Treatment Specifications – Broadcast Chipping: 
 
1. Vegetative material cut within the project area may be disposed of via broadcast chipping if 

approved by the RPF and LANDOWNER prior to operations. Chips shall be broadcast within the 
unit according to the following specifications: 



Forest Restoration Contract  16 
Susanville Ranch Park Mountain Meadow Restoration Project 

(i). Chips may be blown evenly across the ground during operations. At no time shall 
concentrations of broadcast chips exceed six (6) inches in depth or be concentrated into a pile or 
piles. 
(ii). Chipped material shall not be piled against residual vegetation, including residual tree boles. 

2. At landowner discretion, some piles of chips may be left at specified locations for use by the 
landowner in park landscaping. 

3. Chipper may not enter Watercourse Protection Zones (buffer 25’ from each side of Class III) 
watercourse or Equipment Exclusion zones (See exhibit B). Material will need to moved outside 
of these zones to the chipper, and chips must be blown away from the zones. 

 



 

1 
HLVRCD Board Adopted_6/25/2014 Amended________ 

 
POLICY TITLE:  Employee Status 
POLICY NUMBER:  2003 

2003.1  It is the policy of the Honey Lake Valley RCD to accurately classify the 
status of each District employee. An “employee” of the HLVRCD is a person who 
regularly works for the HLVRCD for wages. Unless specifically stated otherwise in 
writing, all HLVRCD employees are “at-will” employees. “Employees” may include 
exempt and non-exempt; regular full-time, regular part time, and temporary persons; and 
others employed with the HLVRCD who are subject to the control and direction of the 
HLVRCD in the performance of their duties. Independent contractors are not 
“employees” of the HLVRCD. 

2003.2  An “Exempt” employee is one whose position meets specific criteria 
established by the Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA) and who are otherwise exempt from 
the minimum wage and overtime pay requirements. Exempt employees meet specific 
professional-level or administrative responsibilities and may be paid a set salary, 
regardless of the number of hours that they work each work week. Exempt employees 
may have whole-day deductions made from their weekly salary for personal leaves of 
absences, unpaid sick leave, or disciplinary suspensions, as well as other deductions 
permitted by state and federal law (e.g., Federal Insurance Contributions Act-FICA).  

2003.3  A “Non-exempt” employee is one whose position entitles them to 
minimum wage and overtime pay under the FLSA criteria and are paid one and one-half 
their regular rate of pay for hours worked in excess of 40 hours per workweek. 

2003.4 A "Regular" employee is one who has been hired to fill a regular position in any 
job classification and has completed their probationary period. 

 2003.4.1 A regular employee may be full time (80 hours per pay period) or 
part time (less than 40 hours per week). 

2003.5 A "Probationary" employee is one who has been hired to fill a regular position in 
any job classification and has less than 12 continuous months of service with the District.  
Upon completion of 12 months of continuous service with the District in said 
classification, and upon the District Manager’s, or in the case of the District Manager, the 
Board of Directors, decision to retain said employee, said employee shall be granted 
regular employee status. 

2003.5.1 A probationary employee will receive not less than the minimum 
rate for the job and will be eligible for sick leave pay, holiday pay, vacation pay, 
insurance coverage or items of a similar nature, as they become eligible.   

2003.6 A "Temporary" employee is one who is hired to work within any job 
classification, but whose position is not regular in nature.  The duration of the work 
assignment of a temporary employee may range from one day to a maximum of 6-months 
of continuous service. 

2003.6.1 Employees hired to replace a regular employee who is on a leave 
of absence shall be hired as temporary employees unless said leave of absence is 
in excess of 180 days. 

Laurie Tippin
CA Labor Code Sec 515 defines part-time as less than 40 hrs/wk



 

2 
HLVRCD Board Adopted_6/25/2014 Amended________ 

2003.6.2 A temporary employee will receive not less than the minimum rate 
for the job and will be eligible for sick leave pay, holiday pay, and vacation pay 
determined on a prorated basis by total hours worked during a pay period. A 
temporary employee will not be eligible for medical insurance coverage, accruing 
seniority or leave of absence rights, or items of a similar nature. 

2003.6.3 If a temporary employee is reclassified to probationary or regular 
status, they will be credited with all continuous service in determining eligibility 
for such benefits that may accrue to them in their new status. 

  

 



 

HLV RCD Board Adopted_________ Amended__________ 
1 

 POLICY TITLE:  Workplace Violence Prevention 
 POLICY NUMBER:  2827 
 
 
2827.1  It is the policy of the HLVRCD to provide a work environment that is free of 
disruptive, threatening, or violent behavior involving any employee, appointed or elected official, 
volunteer, contractor, client, and/or visitor. As such, the HLVRCD maintains a zero tolerance 
standard of violence in the workplace. This policy provides District employees with guidance 
that will maintain an environment at and within District premises and facilities as well as events 
that are free of violence and the threat of violence. 
 
2827.2  Violent behavior of any kind or threats of violence, either implied or direct, in 
District premises and facilities as well as at District sponsored events or in the field, are 
prohibited. Such conduct by a District employee will not be tolerated. An employee who exhibits 
violent behavior may be subject to criminal prosecution and shall be subject to disciplinary 
action up to and including dismissal. Violent threats or actions by a non-employee may result in 
criminal prosecution.  
 
2827.3  The District will investigate all complaints filed and will also investigate any 
possible violation of this policy of which District management is made aware.  
 
2827.4  Retaliation against a person who makes a good faith complaint regarding violent 
behavior or threats of violence made to him/her is also prohibited. 
 
2827.5  Definitions: 

a) Workplace Violence: Behavior in which an employee, former employee, contractor, 
client or visitor to a workplace inflicts or threatens to inflict damage to property, serious 
harm, injury, or death to others at the workplace. 

b) Threat: The implication or expression of intent to inflict physical harm or actions that a 
reasonable person would interpret as a threat to physical safety or property. 

c) District premises or District facilities means all property of the District including, but not 
limited to the offices, facilities, surrounding areas on District-owned or -leased property, 
parking lots, storage areas, and field workplaces. The term also includes District-owned 
or -leased vehicles and equipment, wherever located, as well as pump station, sites, sewer 
line, excavation sites, and similar locations. 

d) Intimidation: Making others afraid or fearful through threatening behavior. 
e) Zero-tolerance: A standard that establishes that any behavior, implied or actual, that 

violates the policy will not be tolerated. 
f) Court Order: An order by a Court that specifies and/or restricts the behavior of an 

individual. Court orders may be issued in matters involving domestic violence, stalking 
or harassment, among other types of protective orders, including Temporary Restraining 
Orders. 

 
  



 

HLV RCD Board Adopted_________ Amended__________ 
2 

2827.6  Prohibited Behavior: 
Violence in the workplace may include, but is not limited to, the following list of prohibited 
behaviors directed at or by a co-worker, supervisor, Director, contractor, or member of the 
public: 

a) Direct threats or physical intimidation. 
b) Implications or suggestions of violence.  
c) Stalking, including following to and from work. 
d) Possession of weapons of any kind on District premises, including parking lots, other 

exterior premises or while engaged in activities for District in other locations or at 
District sponsored events. 

e) Assault of any form. 
f) Physical restraint or confinement. 
g) Dangerous or threatening horseplay. 
h) Loud, disruptive or angry behavior or language that is clearly not part of the typical work 

environment. 
i) Blatant or intentional disregard for the safety or well-being of others. 
j) Commission of a violent felony or misdemeanor on District premises. 
k) Any other act that a reasonable person would perceive as constituting a threat of violence. 

 
2827.7  The District shall establish, implement, and maintain a Workplace Violence 
Prevention Plan in compliance with California Labor Code section 6401.9, which is incorporated 
by reference into this policy, that includes the following components: 
 
 2827.7.1 Employee workplace violence training and communication. 
 2827.7.2 Workplace violence hazard assessments. 
 2827.7.3 Accepting and responding to reports of workplace violence. 
 2827.7.4 Emergency response. 
 2827.7.5 Maintenance of a Violent Incident Log. 

2827.7.6 Other requirements, such as methods to coordinate implementation of the 
plan with other employers, assignment of persons responsible for plan 
implementation, and procedures for regular plan review. 

 
 



 

Policy 2827, Workplace Violence Prevention Plan  1 

Workplace Violence Prevention Plan 
Honey Lake Valley RCD 

 
July 1, 2024 

 
 

Date of Last Review:_______________   Date of Last Revision:_______________ 
 
 

The HLVRCD is committed to providing a work environment that is free of disruptive, threatening, or 
violent behavior involving any employee, appointed or elected official, volunteer, contractor, client, 
and/or visitor. In accordance with Policy 2827 and California Labor Code (CLC) section 6401.7, this 
Workplace Violence Prevention Plan (WVPP) has been developed for the purposes of protecting 
employees and other personnel from aggressive and violent behavior at the workplace. 
 
Our establishment’s Workplace Violence Prevention Plan (WVPP) addresses the hazards known to be 
associated with the four types of workplace violence as defined by CLC section 6401.9. 
 

I. Definitions 
a. Emergency – Unanticipated circumstances that can be life threatening or pose a risk of 

significant injuries to employees or other persons 
b. Engineering controls – An aspect of the built space or a device that removes a hazard 

from the workplace or creates a barrier between the employee and the hazard. 
c. Log – The violent incident log required by CLC section 6401.9. 
d. Plan – The workplace violence prevention plan required by CLC 6401.9. 
e. Serious injury or illness – Any injury or illness occurring in a place of employment or in 

connection with any employment that requires inpatient hospitalization for other than 
medical observation or diagnostic testing, or in which an employee suffers an 
amputation, the loss of an eye, or any serious degree of permanent disfigurement, but 
does not include any injury or illness or death caused by an accident on a public street or 
highway, unless the accident occurred in a construction zone. 

f. Threat of violence – Any verbal or written statement, including, but not limited to, texts, 
electronic messages, social media messages, or other online posts, or any behavioral or 
physical conduct, that conveys an intent, or that is reasonably perceived to convey an 
intent, to cause physical harm or to place someone in fear of physical harm, and that 
serves no legitimate purpose. 

g. Workplace violence – Any act of violence or threat of violence that occurs in a place of 
employment. 

h. Workplace violence includes, but is not limited to, the following: 
i. The threat or use of physical force against an employee that results in, or has a 

high likelihood of resulting in, injury, psychological trauma, or stress, regardless 
of whether the employee sustains an injury. 



 

Policy 2827, Workplace Violence Prevention Plan  2 

ii. An incident involving a threat or use of a firearm or other dangerous weapon, 
including the use of common objects as weapons, regardless of whether the 
employee sustains an injury. 

iii. The following four workplace violence types: 
1. Type 1 violence – Workplace violence committed by a person who has 

no legitimate business at the worksite, and includes violent acts by 
anyone who enters the workplace or approaches employees with the 
intent to commit a crime. 

2. Type 2 violence – Workplace violence directed at employees by 
customers, clients, contractors, or visitors. 

3. Type 3 violence – Workplace violence against an employee by a present 
or former employee, supervisor, or manager. 

4. Type 4 violence – Workplace violence committed in the workplace by a 
person who does not work there, but has or is known to have had a 
personal relationship with an employee. 

Workplace violence does not include lawful acts of self-defense or defense of 
others 

i. Workplace practice controls – Procedures and rules which are used to effectively reduce 
workplace violence hazards. 

 
II. Responsibility:  District Management, inclusive of the HLVRCD Board Chair and District 

Manager, has the authority and responsibility for developing, implementing, and 
maintaining this plan and conducting or overseeing any investigations of workplace violence 
reports. 

 
All program coordinators, supervisors, and managers are responsible for implementing and 
maintaining the WVPP in their work areas and for answering employee questions about the 
WVPP. 

 
III. Employee Active Involvement 
The following procedures will be followed to obtain the active involvement of employees in 
developing and implementing the plan. 

a. Management will work with and allow employees and to participate in: 
i. Identifying, evaluating, and determining corrective measures to prevent 

workplace violence.  
ii. Designing and implementing training.  

iii. Reporting and investigating workplace violence incidents. (These procedures 
need to be defined & should include the incident form found in Appendix A, 
which was taken from the Summerland Sanitation District’s WVPP). 

b. Management will ensure that all workplace violence procedures within this written plan 
are clearly communicated and understood by all employees. Managers and supervisors 
will enforce the rules fairly and uniformly. (Need to identify how procedures identified in 
this plan will be communicated to employees & when) 



 

Policy 2827, Workplace Violence Prevention Plan  3 

c. All employees will follow all workplace violence prevention plan directives, policies, and 
procedures, and assist in maintaining a safe work environment. 

d. The plan shall be in effect at all times and in all work areas and be specific to the hazards 
and corrective measures for each work area and operation. 

 
IV. Employee Compliance 
Our system to ensure that employees comply with the rules and work practices that are designed to 
make the workplace more secure, and do not engage in threats or physical actions which create a 
security hazard for others in the workplace, include at a minimum:  

a. Training employees, supervisors, and managers in the provisions of (WVPP). 
b. Effective procedures to ensure that supervisory and nonsupervisory employees comply 

with the WVPP. [Describe how this will be accomplished]. 
c. Providing retraining to employees whose safety performance is deficient with the WVPP. 
d. Recognizing employees who demonstrate safe work practices that promote the WVPP in 

the workplace by [describe how this will be done, for instance by memos/emails or 
certificate of recognition]. 

e. Disciplining employees for failure to comply with the WVPP, up to and including 
termination. 

f. [List and explain other procedures for ensuring employee compliance with the WVPP] 
 

V. Communication with Employees 
We recognize that open, two-way communication between our management team, staff, and other 
employers, about workplace violence issues is essential to a safe and productive workplace. The 
following communication system is designed to facilitate a continuous flow of workplace violence 
prevention information between management and staff in a form that is readily understandable by 
all employees, and consists of the following. 

a. New employee orientation includes workplace violence prevention policies and 
procedures. 

b. Workplace violence prevention training programs. 
c. Regularly scheduled meetings that address security issues and potential workplace 

violence hazards. 
d. Open communication between employees and supervisors about workplace violence 

prevention and violence concerns. 
e. Communication to employees that they can report a violent incident, threat, or other 

workplace violence concern to the District Manager or law enforcement without fear of 
reprisal or adverse action. 

f. Employees will not be prevented from accessing their mobile or other communication 
devices to seek emergency assistance, assess the safety of a situation, or communicate 
with a person to verify their safety.  

g. Employees’ concerns will be investigated in a timely manner and they will be informed 
of the results of the investigation and any corrective actions to be taken. [Describe how 
this will be accomplished] 

 
VI. Communication with Natural Resources Conservation District (NRCS) and Others 



 

Policy 2827, Workplace Violence Prevention Plan  4 

HLVRCD will implement the following effective procedures to coordinate implementation of its plan 
with the NRCS Susanville Office and any other HLVRCD shared office locations to ensure that those 
employers and employees understand their respective roles, as provided in the plan. 

a. All HLVRCD employees will be trained on workplace violence prevention. 
b. NRCS and other shared office space employees will be provided a copy of the HLVRCD 

WVPP and be encouraged to understand the WVPP. 
c. HLVRCD will ensure that if its employees experience workplace violence in the 

NRCS/other shared office or parking lot that HLVRCD will record the information in a 
violent incident log and shall also provide a copy of that log to the NRCS/other shared 
office employer. 

 
VII. Workplace Violence Incident Reporting Procedures 
The following procedures will be implemented so that all threats or acts of workplace violence are 
reported to an employee’s supervisor, who will inform the District Manager. In some instances, 
employees will report incidents directly to the District Manager or the HLVRCD Board Chair if the 
District Manager is the cause of the threat/act or is absent, or if the employee does not feel 
comfortable reporting the incident to the District Manager. 

a. Insert step by step procedures here  
b.  

 
A strict non-retaliation policy is in place. Any instances of retaliation are dealt with swiftly and 
decisively. up to and including termination.  

 
VIII. Emergency Response Procedures 
The following specific measures to handle actual or potential workplace violence emergencies exist. 

a. Describe effective means to alert employees of the presence, location, and nature of 
workplace violence emergencies (eg, what methods of communication and when certain 
methods should be used or not used; evacuation routes, locations of emergency exits, 
and instructions for sheltering in place; how to obtain help from staff, security 
personnel, or law enforcement;  

 
IX. Workplace Hazard Identification and Evaluation 
The following procedures are established and required to be conducted by the District Manager to 
ensure that workplace violence hazards are identified and evaluated. 

a. Inspections shall be conducted when the plan is first established, after each workplace 
violence incident, and whenever the employer is made aware of a new or previously 
unrecognized hazard. 

b. Review all submitted/reported concerns of potential hazards and utilize the HLVRCD 
Hazard Assessment form in Appendix B to address reported hazards. 

 
X. Periodic Inspections 
Periodic inspections of workplace violence hazards will identify unsafe conditions and work 
practices. This may require assessment for more than one type of workplace violence. Joint periodic 



 

Policy 2827, Workplace Violence Prevention Plan  5 

Inspections shall be conducted annually by the District Manager and staff. Utilize the form in 
Appendix B to conduct the annual hazard identification and evaluation assessment. 

 
XI. Workplace Violence Hazard Correction 
Workplace violence hazards will be evaluated and corrected in a timely manner. The HLVRCD will 
implement the following effective procedures to correct workplace violence hazards that are 
identified. 

a. If an imminent workplace violence hazard exists that cannot be immediately abated 
without endangering employee(s), all exposed employee(s) will be removed from the 
situation except those necessary to correct the existing condition. Employees necessary 
to correct the hazardous condition will be provided with the necessary protection. 

b. All corrective actions taken will be documented and dated on the appropriate forms. All 
incidents will be documented on the Workplace Violent Incident Log form in Appendix A 
and all hazard identification and corrective measures will be documented on the 
Environmental Hazard Assessment & Control Checklist form in Appendix B. 

c. Corrective measures for workplace violence hazards will be specific to a given work area. 
 

XII. Procedures for Post-Incident Response and Investigation 
After a workplace incident, the District Manager or their designee will implement the following post-
incident procedures. 

a. Visit the scene of an incident as soon as safe and practicable. 
b. Interview involved parties, such as employees, witnesses, law enforcement, and/or 

security personnel. 
c. Review security footage of existing security cameras if applicable. 
d. Examine the workplace for security risk factors associated with the incident, including 

any previous reports of inappropriate behavior by the perpetrator. 
e. Determine the cause of the incident. 
f. Take corrective action to prevent similar incidents from occurring. 
g. Record the findings and ensure corrective actions are taken. 
h. Obtain any reports completed by law enforcement. 
i. Complete the Violent Incident Log. 
j. Reviewing all previous incidents. 
k. Other post-incident procedures 

 
Ensure that no personal identifying information is recorded or documented in the written 
investigation report. This includes information which would reveal identification of any person 
involved in a violent incident, such as the person’s name, address, electronic mail address, telephone 
number, social security number, or other information that, alone or in combination with other 
publicly available information, reveals the person’s identity. 

 
XIII. Training and Instruction 
All employees, including managers and supervisors, will have training and instruction on general and 
job-specific workplace violence practices. These sessions could involve presentations, discussions, 
and practical exercises. Training and instruction will be provided as follows. 



 

Policy 2827, Workplace Violence Prevention Plan  6 

a. When the WVPP is first established. 
b. Annually to ensure all employees understand and comply with the plan. 
c. Whenever a new or previously unrecognized workplace violence hazard has been 

identified and when changes are made to the plan. The additional training may be 
limited to addressing the new workplace violence hazard or changes to the plan. 

 
Training and instruction will also be provided on the definitions found on page 1 of this plan and 
the requirements listed below. 

a. How employees can participate in development and implementation of the WVPP. 
b. How to report workplace violence incidents or concerns to the employer or law 

enforcement without fear of reprisal. 
c. Workplace violence hazards specific to the employees’ jobs, the corrective measures the 

RCD has implemented, how to seek assistance to prevent or respond to violence, and 
strategies to avoid physical harm. 

d. The violent incident log and how to obtain copies of records pertaining to hazard 
identification, evaluation and correction, training records, and violent incident logs. 

e. Opportunities for interactive questions and answers with a person knowledgeable about 
the plan. 

 
XIV. Access to the Written WVPP 
The HLVRCD ensures that the WVPP plan shall be in writing and shall be available and easily 
accessible to employees, Directors, and representatives of Cal/OSHA at all times. A hard copy of the 
plan will be housed in the District Manager’s office and any other satellite offices the RCD may have. 
The plan will also be posted on the RCD website. 
 
XV. Record Keeping 
Records will be kept, as follows. 

a. Create and maintain records of workplace violence hazard identification, evaluation, and 
correction, for a minimum of five (5) years. 

b. Create and maintain training records for a minimum of one (1) year and include the 
following: 

i. Training dates 
ii. Contents or a summary of the training sessions. 

iii. Names and qualifications of persons conducting the training. 
iv. Names and job titles of all persons attending the training sessions. 

c. Maintain Violent Incident Logs for a minimum of five (5) years. 
d. Maintain records of workplace violence incident investigations for a minimum of five (5) 

years. 
i. Records shall not contain medical information. 

e. All records of workplace violence hazard identification, evaluation, and correction; 
training, incident logs and workplace violence incident investigations required by LC 
section 6401.9(f), shall be made available to Cal/OSHA upon request for examination 
and copying. 

 

https://www.honeylakevalleyrcd.us/
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=6401.9.&lawCode=LAB
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=6401.9.&lawCode=LAB


 

Policy 2827, Workplace Violence Prevention Plan  7 

XVI. Employee Access to Records 
The following records shall be made available to employees and their representatives, upon request 
and without cost, for examination and copying within 15 calendar days of a request: 

a. Records of workplace violence hazard identification, evaluation, and correction/ 
b. Training records. 
c. Violent Incident Logs. 

 
XVII. Review and Revision of the WVPP 
The WVPP will be reviewed for effectiveness at least annually, when a deficiency is observed or 
becomes apparent, after a workplace violence incident, and other times as may be needed. 
 
Review and revision of the WVPP will include the procedures listed in the EMPLOYEE ACTIVE 
INVOLVEMENT section of this WVPP, as well as the following procedures to obtain the active 
involvement of employees in reviewing the plan’s effectiveness. 

a. Review of incident investigations and the Violent Incident Log 
b. Assessment of the effectiveness of security systems, if applicable. 
c. Review that violence risks are being properly identified, evaluated, and corrected. Any 

necessary revisions are made promptly and communicated to all employees. 
 

XVIII. Employer Reporting Responsibilities 
The District Manager will immediately report to Cal/OSHA any serious injury or illness (as defined by 
CCR, Title 8, Section 330(h)), or death (including any due to Workplace Violence) of an employee 
occurring in a place of employment or in connection with any employment. 

 
 
WVPP Approval 

I, Jesse Claypool, Honey Lake Valley Resource Conservation District Chair, hereby authorize and 
ensure, the establishment, implementation, and maintenance of this written workplace violence 
prevention plan and the documents/forms within this written plan. I am committed to promoting a 
culture of safety and violence prevention in our workplace and believe that these procedures will 
help us achieve that goal. 

 
 
 
_________________________________________ ________________________________ 
JESSE CLAYPOOL     Date 
Chair 
 

https://www.dir.ca.gov/title8/330.html


 

 

Appendix A 
WORKPLACE VIOLENT INCIDENT LOG 

This form must be completed for every record of violence in the workplace 

Incident ID #*: Date and Time of Incident: 

Specific Location of Incident: 

* Do not identify employee by name, employee #, or SSI. The Incident ID must not reflect the employee’s identity) 
 

Describe Incident (Include additional pages if needed): 
 

 

Assailant information: 

 Contractor   Client  Customer 

 Family or Friend of Contractor    Family or Friend of Client  Family or Friend of Customer 

 Partner/Spouse of Victim   Parent/Relative of Victim   Co-Worker/Supervisor/Manager 

 Former Partner/Spouse of Victim  Animal   Person In Custody 

 Robber/Burglar  Passenger  Stranger 

 Volunteer  Other: 
 

Circumstances at time of incident: 

 Employee Performing Normal Duties   Poor Lighting  Employee Rushed 

 Employee Isolated or Alone    High Crime Area  Low Staffing Level   

 Unable to Get Help or Assistance   Working in a Community Setting   Unfamiliar or New Location 

 Other:  
 

Location of Incident: 

 Office   Field location  Client property 

 Vehicle    Restroom or Bathroom  Parking Lot or Outside Building 

 Personal Residence   Breakroom   Store or Gas Station 

 Other: 
 

Type of Incident (check as many apply): 

 Robbery    Grabbed  Pushed 

 Verbal Threat or Harassment    Kicked  Scratched 

 Sexual Threat, Harassment, or Assault    Hit with an Object    Bitten 

 Animal Attack  Shot (or Attempted)    Slapped 

 Threat of Physical Force    Bomb Threat  Hit with Fist 

 Threat of Use of Weapon or Object      Vandalism (of Victim’s Property)  Knifed (or Attempted) 

 Assault With a Weapon or Object  Vandalism (of Employer’s Property)     Arson 

 Robbery  Other: 
 

Consequences of incident: 

Medical care provided?  Yes  No  Law enforcement called?  Yes  No Board Chair contacted?  Yes  No  

Did anyone provide assistance to conclude the event?  Yes  No Days lost from work (if any)  

Actions taken by the employer to protect employees from a continuing threat.  Yes  No 

 



 

 

Completed by: 

Name: Title: Date: 

Telephone: Email: 

Signature: Telephone: 

 
  



 

 

Appendix B 
WORKPLACE VIOLENCE PREVENTION 

ENVIRONMENTAL HAZARD ASSESSMENT & CONTROL CHECKLIST 
 

Assessed by:  Title: 

Location(s) Assessed: 

 

This checklist is designed to evaluate the workplace and job tasks to help identify situations that may place employees at 
risk of workplace violence.  

Step 1: Identify risk factors that may increase HLVRCD’s vulnerability to workplace violence events. 

Step 2: Conduct a workplace assessment to identify physical and process vulnerabilities. 

Step 3: Develop a corrective action plan with measurable goals and target dates. 
 
STEP 1: IDENTIFY RISK FACTORS 

Yes No Risk Factors Comments: 
  Does staff have contact with the public?  

  Does staff exchange money with the public?  

  Does staff work alone?  

  Is the workplace often understaffed?  

  Is the workplace located in an area with a high 
crime rate? 

 

  Does staff enter areas with high crime rates?  

  Does staff have mobile workplaces?  

  Does staff perform public safety functions that 
might put them in conflict with others? 

 

  Does staff perform duties that may upset 
people? 

 

  Does staff work with people known or 
suspected to have a history of violence? 

 

  Do any employees have a history of threats of 
violence?  

 

    

    

    

 



 

 

STEP 2: CONDUCT ASSESSMENT 

Building Interior 

Yes No Building Interior Comments: 

  
Are employee ID badges required?  

  
Are employees notified of past workplace 
violence events? 

 

  
Are trained security personnel or staff accessible 
to employees? 

 

  
Are areas where money is exchanged visible to 
others? 

 

  
Is a limited amount of cash kept on hand with 
appropriate signage? 

 

  
Could someone hear an employee who called 
for help? 

 

  
Do employees have a clear line of sight of 
visitors in waiting areas? 

 

  
Do areas used for client or visitor interviews 
allow co-employees to observe problems? 

 

  
Are clients and visitors clearly informed so they 
will not become frustrated? 

 

  
Are private, locked restrooms available for 
employees? 

 

  
Do employees have a secure place to store 
personal belonging? 

 

  
  

  
  

 
  



 

 

 
Buildings Exterior 

Yes No Building Exterior Comments: 

  
Do employees feel safe walking to and from the 
workplace? 

 

  
Are the entrances to the building clearly visible 
from the street? 

 

  
Is video surveillance provided outside the 
building? 

 

  
Is there enough lighting to see clearly?  

  
Are all exterior walkways visible to security 
personnel? 

 

  
  

  
  

  
  

 

Parking Area 

Yes No Parking Area Comments: 

  
Is there a nearby parking lot reserved for staff?  

  
Is the parking lot attended and secure?  

  
Is the parking lot free of blind spots and 
landscape trimmed to prevent hiding places? 

 

  
Is there enough lighting on the parking lot to see 
clearly? 

 

  
  

  
  

  
  

 

  



 

 

Security Measures 

Yes No Security Measures Comments: 

  
Is there a response plan for workplace violence 
emergencies? 

 

  
Are there physical barriers? (between staff and 
clients) 

 

  
Are there security cameras?  

  
Are there alarm systems?  

  
Do doors lock?  

  
Are telephones with an outside line programed 
for 911? 

 

  
Is there a secured entry?  

  
  

  
  

  
  

 
 

 



 

 

 
STEP 3: DEVELOP CORRECTIVE ACTION PLAN 
(Action Plan Types: BI – Building Interior, BE – Building Exterior, PA – Parking Area, SM – Security Measure) 

 

Type Action Item 
Person(s) 

Responsible 
Target 
Date 

Status Comments 

      

      

      

      

      

      

      

      

      

      

      

      

      

      

 



Senate Bill No. 553 (9/30/23, effective 7/1/24) 
Summary 

 
 

Existing law, the California Occupational Safety and Health Act of 1973, imposes safety responsibilities 
on employers and employees, including the requirement that an employer establish, implement, and 
maintain an effective injury prevention program, and makes specified violations of these provisions a 
crime. The act is enforced by the Division of Occupational Safety and Health (division) within the 
Department of Industrial Relations, including the enforcement of standards adopted by the Occupational 
Safety and Health Standards board (standards board). 
 
SB 553 would require an employer, as specified, to also establish, implement, and maintain, at all times 
in all work areas, an effective workplace violence prevention plan containing specified information.  

• The bill would require the employer to record information in a violent incident log for every 
workplace violence incident, as specified.  

• The bill would require the employer to provide effective training to employees on the 
workplace violence prevention plan, among other things, and provide additional training 
when a new or previously unrecognized workplace violence hazard has been identified and 
when changes are made to the plan.  

• The bill would require records of workplace violence hazard identification, evaluation, and 
correction and training records to be created and maintained, and violent incident logs and 
workplace incident investigation records to be maintained, as specified.  

• The bill would require certain records to be made available to the division, employees, and 
employee representatives, as specified.  

• The bill would make these requirements operative on and after July 1, 2024. 



The Honey Lake Valley
Resource Conservation District

Strategic Plan
2024 – 2030

May 23, 2024

Prepared For:

The Honey Lake Valley Resource Conservation District Board of Directors

Prepared By:

Kelsey Siemer, District Manager
Laurie Tippin, Board of Directors



Introduction

The purpose of this plan is to outline the strategic goals the Honey Lake Valley Resource
Conservation District (HLVRCD or District) seeks to achieve, and the appropriate strategies it
should take to achieve them. The timeline for reaching the goals outlined in this plan is six
years. The contents of this plan were developed collaboratively between staff, Directors, and
community partners. This living document will serve as a tool for the HLVRCD to help its
members conduct relevant, on-the-ground conservation work. Annual Work Plans are developed
and adopted each year by the HLVRCD Board of Directors to provide specific information
relative to the programs and projects intended to implement the strategies identified in this
Strategic Plan. The District will monitor and evaluate progress toward meeting Strategic Plan
goals and strategies on an annual basis and present these results in an Annual Report.

Background

Resource Conservation Districts are one of California’s earliest grassroots conservation
organizations that identify conservation needs and support local land managers in implementing
solutions on a voluntary basis. The catastrophic soil losses of the Dust Bowl in the 1930s
sparked national and state recognition that soil erosion was the greatest challenge to the
country’s ability to feed its people and to be a leader in agricultural production. Non-regulatory
Conservation Districts were conceived by the federal government and were later sanctioned by
the State of California in 1938 to provide assistance to local managers in addressing soil and
resource conservation challenges.

The HLVRCD was established by a Resolution of the Lassen County Board of Supervisors on
May 3, 1954, for the purpose of addressing soil and water problems in the District service area.
The District covers over 2,233,711 acres within Lassen County, including the Susan River
watershed, Pine Creek/Eagle Lake watershed, Long Valley Creek watershed, Smoke Creek,
Madeline Plains, and North Feather River watershed.

In July 2007, the Superior Court of Lassen County delegated authority to the HLVRCD to
provide watermaster services to the water rights holders of the Susan River Watermaster Service
Area.

Leadership and Governance

Leadership and governance of the HLVRCD is provided by a five-member volunteer Board of
Directors, which consists of local landowners with diverse backgrounds and interests. The roles
of the Directors are to establish priorities, set policies and guidelines, and oversee general
operations. However, due to the District’s limitations, it is not unusual for a Director to actively
engage in program/project planning or implementation. Currently, day-to-day management is
conducted by a full-time District Manager. The work of the District is performed by the District
Manager, associated project staff, and a full-time Deputy Watermaster. Some services such as
financial and professional forestry services are contracted out.

The District is involved in projects that provide significant benefits to the environment and all
members of the community within the service area. We work closely with the local community

2



to steward our natural resources, support agriculture, and act as the Watermaster for the Susan
River Watermaster Service Area. Our staff completes projects designed to restore the land and
improve production. The HLVRCD is proud to offer these services and seeks to make positive
changes in the local, regional, and greater community of California.

Our mission is to conserve, restore, and sustain local agricultural and natural resources for
those who live, work, or visit the service area.

3



Preplanning Analysis

The HLVRCD has an important and diverse mission that requires significant support to
complete. A strategic plan for implementing programs and projects, funding, and staffing that
fulfills the mission requires significant thought and involvement from interested parties. The
District Manager organized an in-depth review of the strategic plan to be approved by the Board.
Following this, a working-group composed of a diverse cross-section of community
organizations, individuals, and government agencies reviewed the updated strategic plan and
offered suggestions and input.

Strategic Issues

The HLVRCD and partners identified several strategic issues that must be addressed in order for
the District to meet its mission now and into the future. These issues, listed below, were
identified through the analytical step of this planning effort. The topics are important because
they inform all aspects of our organization and determine our success.

1. Build HLVRCD leadership and organizational capacity.
2. Prioritize the conservation needs of the community.

Timeframe

The timeframe to achieve the goals outlined in this plan and clarify these strategic issues is six
years, ending June 30, 2030. This plan is intended to be a living document and will be updated
as significant changes occur. By June 30, 2030, all the action items should be completed or
sustaining. If not, or if items are completed and goals are not realized or new issues arise, further
assessment will occur and goals reconsidered. The HLVRCD will conduct future planning to
update this document and set a new timeline for implementation.

Through the implementation of Annual Plans, the HLVRCD will generate and operate programs,
projects, and services consistent with this Strategic Plan.

4



Goals and Strategies to Address Strategic Issues

Strategic Issue 1: Build HLVRCD leadership and organizational capacity.

To increase the ability to successfully meet its mission, the HLVRCD must build its leadership
and organizational capacity. The HLVRCD has a fully staffed board, with several board
members who have been reelected more than once. The organization is still small but aims to
continue growing its capacity. The resource conservation work planned and completed is
predicated upon the successful award of funding from outside organizations.

Goal 1.1: The HLVRCD Board of Directors actively, knowledgeably, and effectively leads
the District and its employees in the District’s mission.

Strategies:

● Seek diversification of interests and skill sets among Directors.
● Update and improve District policies as needed, and develop new policies and

procedures as needed to improve operations and transparency.
● Increase the District’s visibility.
● Improve financial knowledge and ensure fiduciary responsibilities are met to

reduce risk and prevent waste, fraud, and abuse of District financial resources.
● Build cross-functional knowledge and perspective.
● Leverage opportunities to develop, mentor, and grow employees.

Goal 1.2: The HLVRCD consists of a fully functioning staff with the capacity to increase
program development and delivery from 2023 levels.

Strategies:

● Maintenance of full and part-time staff to fit the needs of the District.
● Identify and schedule staff training.
● Develop and implement appropriate programs to further HLVRCD's mission.
● Increase the District’s visibility.
● Conduct community outreach.
● Increase partnership capacity and collaboration.
● Network and collaborate with other RCDs.

Goal 1.3: Sustain diverse funding to build and expand RCD programs.

Strategies:

● Identify and implement fee-for-service opportunities.
● Track and seek funding opportunities that are appropriate for implementing

District programs.
● Explore funding opportunities.
● Improve grant writing skills and grant administration expertise.

5



Goal 1.4: Provide Watermaster services in a professional and effective manner.

Strategies:

● Enforce the various water decrees.
● Provide necessary training to the Deputy Watermaster.
● Build relationships and networks with water users, partners, and peers.
● Maintain the Watermaster Rules and Regulations as the needs of the Service Area

change.
● Maintain an active Water Advisory Committee.

Strategic Issue 2: Prioritize the Conservation Needs of the Community.

In order for the HLVRCD to stay relevant to the conservation needs of the service area
(community), it must focus resources on priority natural resource conservation issues. Although
the District operations and capacity have expanded, there are still limited financial resources. To
utilize our resources most effectively and efficiently, we must focus attention on prioritizing the
conservation needs identified.

Goal 2.1: Foster partnerships with diverse organizations within our community to help
drive the conservation work the RCD seeks to accomplish.

Strategies:

● Participate and collaborate in programs or on projects complementary to the
District’s mission.

● Provide support to organizations, agencies, and others to assist in their goals as
well as familiarize them with the role of the RCD and the contributions it can
provide.

● Seek new partnerships and collaborative working relationships.

6



Goal 2.2: Increase community understanding on natural resource conservation and the
role of the HLVRCD.

Strategies:

● Utilize outreach strategies to educate local communities on the RCD’s role and
value.

● Develop volunteer opportunities as appropriate.
● Increase conservation education.
● Gain a better understanding of the community’s needs.

Goal 2.3 Expand the availability of resources the RCD can provide.

Strategy:

● The District will seek opportunities and/or implement projects within multiple
categories should resources become available. These categories can include,
but are not limited to:

○ Agricultural land conservation
○ Climate change
○ Range health
○ Soil health
○ Wildlife habitat improvement and conservation

Strategic Plan Implementation

Annual Work Plans (AWP) are developed and adopted each year by the HLVRCD Board of
Directors to provide specific information relative to the programs and projects intended to
implement the strategies identified in this Strategic Plan. The District will monitor and evaluate
progress toward meeting Strategic Plan goals and strategies on an annual basis and present these
results in a 3-Year Report to the public. To implement the programs and achieve our mission,
funds are primarily sought from State and Federal grant programs or agreements with local and
regional government agencies, with the goal articulated herein of also utilizing fee-for-service
agreements with for-profit and nonprofit organizations. Priority work for the District will be
identified in each year's AWP.

7



Appendix: 2024 Organization Chart

8



Honey Lake Valley RCD District Manager Report
Kelsey Siemer - District Manager

May 25th, 2024

RCD Administration:
● Bookkeeping

○ Budget Hearing tonight
○ Monthly reports attached

● Admin
○ Strategic Plan approval tonight

Watermaster:
● Hired a WM Technician, to start after Memorial Day
● Working on Apportionments - semi-completed draft apportionments (still checking some

parcels with Assessors)
○ On-track to be completed by deadline - difficult to figure out having little to no

resources on how to complete - will have to figure out a better SOP system
■ Carrie / Henry left sporadic notes on the Drive / WM Computer (mostly

related to fieldwork), no SOP’s on Apportionments / Direct Billing
● WAC

○ Next Meeting July 11th, 2024 at 5:30pm

Grant Updates:
● DWR: Urban and Multi-benefit Drought Relief Grant Program - Old Channel Project

○ Pipe is in place and functional. Remote operations are to be installed in a few
weeks (dependent on Rubicon’s schedule)

○ All costs are now reimbursements, has been very slow

● DWR: Lahontan Basin IRWM Implementation - Rounds 1 and 2
○ Round 1: Lead Admin Agency for City of Susanville

■ Preparing invoice for Q2 2024
○ Round 2:

■ Approved for Advance Funding for 50% of total grant share
■ Submitting first invoice this week

● DOC: Susanville Ranch Park - Riparian Corridor and Working Lands Restoration
○ Signage should be finished soon, working on final edits.
○ Approval of contract for timber work tonight

● USFS: Post Fire Recovery - Sheep, Hog and Dixie Fire Scars
○ Planting is done for this Spring, planning for Fall spraying / Spring 2025 planting

● NACD: TA2022



○ Reporting was completed, however, PB has not extended all of their funds so we
extended our contract with them to continue providing TA until all funds have
been liquidated

○ Expected to be expended by Q3 2024

● SNC: Modoc RCD Capacity Building
○ Waiting on payment for Invoices 2 and 3
○ Catherine to use remainder of funding on Cone Camp

● Watershed Coalition: Lassen PBA
○ Still figuring out how to spend the remainder of the funds, $10,000 in contractual

to spend
○ Scheduled a meeting with Bill Jacks, he canceled last minute, trying to

reschedule

● NRCS: CARCD Underserved Farmers and Ranchers
○ CARCD wants us to use the remainder of our funding
○ Extended our project to next year
○ Meeting with PB / MRCD to figure out what type of event we want to host /

collaboration roles
■ CARCD wants to schedule a visit during the event

● CAL FIRE Workforce Development Grant:
○ Sent draft agreement to Sierra Riker for review. Hoping to have a fully executed

agreement soon

● CAL FIRE Forest Management Plan Grant:
○ Catherine working with Tim to draft FMPs
○ Some field work / plot training completed
○ Once there is bare ground on the Rancheria (maybe this week?), Catherine will

continue the fieldwork necessary to complete the FMP

Looking Forward to Spring/Summer!
● New WM, on going issues and calls
● Hopeful to start applying for some new grant projects
● New partnerships with LNF and BLM!

○ BLM GNA and project proposals in the works


	HLVRCD_May Agenda_05232024.docx.pdf
	HLVRCD_March Meeting Minutes_03282024.docx.pdf
	HLVRCD_April Meeting Minutes_04252024.docx.pdf
	Honey Lake Reports 2023_2024 - Statement of Activity by Class TYTD.pdf
	Honey Lake Reports 2023_2024 - Statement of Financial Position April 2024.pdf
	Honey Lake Reports 2023_2024 - Statement of Activity April 2024.pdf
	Lassen Co Wildfire Recovery CEQA IS-MND Final_FINAL_05162024
	LFSC_LassenCoWildfireRecovery_MNDInitialStudy_Final_FINAL_Part1_05162024.pdf
	Appendix B - Comments and Response
	CEQA-2024-0089_LAS_HLRCD_Lassen County Wildfire Recovery_Ltr_Final.pdf
	Response to CDFW re Lassen Co. Wildfire Recovery Project 05142024_FINAL

	Lassen Co Wildfire Recovery CEQA ISMND Prep to Ref 05162024

	Susanville Ranch Park MMRP - Forest Restoration Contract 05152024tck.pdf
	SUSANVILLE RANCH PARK FOREST RESTORation Project
	EXHIBIT B – PROJECT SPECIFICATIONS
	1. Small trees 1.0” dbh to 11.0” dbh shall be thinned.  Trees to be harvested shall be chosen by CONTRACTOR based upon the following general spacing guidelines:


	2003. Employee Status_Draft from Drive.pdf
	Draft Policy 2827.-Workplace Violence Prevention.pdf
	Draft HLVRCD Workplace Violence Prevention Plan.pdf
	SB 553 Workplace Violence Prev Plan Summary.pdf
	District Manager Report 05232024.pdf
	HLVRCD Strategic Plan 2024 DRAFT (2)



